TID-24342



# EVALUATION OF EXPERIMENTAL AND THEORETICAL DATA ON RADIAL NOZZLES IN PRESSURE VESSELS





## LEGAL NOTICE

This report was prepared as an account of Government sponsored work. Neither the United States, nor the Commission, nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission:

A. Makes any warranty or representation, expressed or implied, with respect to the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of the information contained in this report, or that the use of any information, apparatus, method, or process disclosed in this report may not infringe privately owned rights; or

B. Assumes any liabilities with respect to the use of, or for damages resulting from the use of any information, apparatus, method, or process disclosed in this report.

As used in the above, "person acting on behalf of the Commission" includes any employee or contractor of the Commission, or employee of such contractor, to the extent that such employee or contractor of the Commission, or employee of such contractor prepares, disseminates, or provides access to, any information pursuant to his employment or contract with the Commission, or his employment with such contractor.

This report has been reproduced directly from the best available copy.

Printed in USA. Price \$3.00. Available from the Clearinghouse for Federal Scientific and Technical Information, National Bureau of Standards, U. S. Department of Commerce, Springfield, Virginia 22151.

#### EVALUATION OF

#### EXPERIMENTAL AND THEORETICAL DATA ON RADIAL NOZZLES

#### IN PRESSURE VESSELS

Ъy

E. C. Rodabaugh<sup>(1)</sup> T. J. Atterbury<sup>(1)</sup> R. L. Cloud<sup>(2)</sup> F. J. Witt<sup>(3)</sup>

to

UNITED STATES ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION

Battelle Memorial Institute, Columbus, Ohio

Contract No. W-7405-eng-92, Task 16

(1) Battelle Memorial Institute, Columbus, Ohio

(2) Westinghouse Electric Corp., Bettis Atomic Power Lab., Pittsburgh Pa.

(3) Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, Tenn.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Preparation of this report was sponsored by the United States Atomic Energy Commission, Battelle Contract No. W-7405-eng-92, Task 16. Major financial contributions to development of theoretical and experimental work used in the report were made by the American Gas Association, U. S. Atomic Energy Commission, U. S. Navy, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, and the Pressure Vessel Research Committee.

Technical guidance and reviews were provided by a Steering Task Group of the Pressure Vessel Research Committee, Subcommittee on Reinforced Openings and External Loadings. This group consisted of J. L. Mershon (Chairman), W. E. Cooper, J. R. Farr, B. L. Greenstreet, B. F. Langer, and E. O. Waters. Major contributions to experimental data were developed by S. C. Grigory, D. E. Hardenbergh, N. C. Lind, M. M. Leven, A. G. Pickett, W. F. Riley and C. E. Taylor; major contributions to theoretical data were made by A. C. Eringen, S. E. Moore and E. O. Waters. The contributions of those listed, as well as the many other contributions indicated by the references in the report, are gratefully acknowledged. The authors also wish to express their appreciation for computer program results furnished by Oak Ridge National Laboratory and by Westinghouse Electric Co., Bettis Atomic Power Laboratory.

 $\bigcirc$ 

#### ABSTRACT

The six sections of this Report were originally issued as six phase reports. the first three (Sections 1, 2, and 3) are on nozzles in <u>spherical</u> shells. the last three (Sections 4, 5, and 6) are on nozzles in <u>cvlindrical</u> shells.

Sections 1 and 4 contain proposed design procedures for nozzles with internal pressure loading. The procedures are relatively concise, being contained on pp. 3, 4, and 5 of Section 1, pp. 6, 7, and 8 of Section 4. The remainder of these two sections contains a brief description of the development of the design procedures and comparisons with other design procedures.

Sections 2 and 5 cover external loadings as well as internal pressure. Comparisons are made between a number of theories and between those theories and test data. Section 2 includes an Appendix giving graphs for obtaining stresses for nozzles in spherical shells due to internal pressure, external loads or combinations thereof. Section 5 includes an Appendix giving tables of stresses for nozzles in cylindrical shells due to internal pressure loading.

Sections 3 and 6 cover the subject of flexibility of nozzles in pressure vessels. The flexibility of the nozzle is significant where the nozzle is attached to a piping system and the external loads on the nozzle arise from piping expansion. (Tables of Contents for each Section are given at the beginning of each Section.)

Section 1

Proposed Reinforcement Design Procedure for Radial Nozzles in Spherical Shells

with Internal Pressure

Section 2

Stresses at Nozzles in Spherical Shells Loaded with Pressure, Moment or Thrust

Section 3

Flexibility of Nozzles in Spherical Shells

Section 4

Proposed Reinforcement Design Procedure for Radial Nozzles in Cylindrical

Shells with Internal Pressure

Section 5

Stresses at Nozzles in Cylindrical Shells Loaded with Pressure, Moment or Thrust.

Section 6

Flexibility of Nozzles in Cylindrical Shells

#### PHASE REPORT NO. 1

on

## PROPOSED REINFORCEMENT DESIGN PROCEDURE FOR RADIAL NOZZLES IN SPHERICAL SHELLS WITH INTERNAL PRESSURE

March 31, 1966

to

#### UNITED STATES ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION

by

R. L. Cloud (Westinghouse Electric Corporation, Bettis Atomic Power Laboratory Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania)

and

E. C. Rodabaugh (Battelle Memorial Institute Columbus, Ohio Battelle Contract No. W-7405-eng-92)

### DISCLAIMER

The work covered by this report was sponsored under contract with the Atomic Energy Commission in cooperation with the Pressure Vessel Research Committee. Although this report is intended to be the first of a series of reports summarizing the results of PVRC research on reinforced openings, it is issued at this time primarily for informational purposes, indicating current thinking concerning development of design procedures for reinforced openings. It has not yet been approved for publication by PVRC, nor has it been submitted for review and consideration by ASME Code Groups. Therefore, it should be understood that it has no status whatever insofar as the ASME Code is concerned.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

148
INTRODUCTION
DESIGN PROCEDURE FOR RADIAL NOZZLES IN SPHERICAL SHELLS UNDER INTERNAL PRESSURE
DESIGN CRITERIA
DEVELOPMENT OF DESIGN PROCEDURE
Uniform Wall Designs
Inwardly Protruding Nozzles
Compact Reinforcing 16
Radii and Transition Sections
DISCUSSION
Uniform Wall Reinforcing
Basic Elastic Analysis18Lengths of Uniform Thickness Reinforcing19Reinforcing on Nozzle and Shell22
Limit Pressure Analysis 22
Inwardly Protruding Nozzles
Compact Reinforcing
Elastic Analysis and Test Data
Radii and Transition Sections
COMPARISON WITH OTHER DESIGN PROCEDURES 41
Current American Practice
Leckie and Penny Analysis
German Practice
REFERENCES

Page

## LIST OF FIGURES

			Page
FIGURE	1.	REINFORCED NOZZLES DETAILS	4
FIGURE	2.	GRAPHS FOR OBTAINING g- AND h- FACTORS	5
FIGURE	3.	BASIC NOZZLE-TO-SPHERE CONFIGURATION	9
FIGURE	4.	REQUIRED REINFORCING ON SPHERE FOR $\overline{\sigma} = 3S$ , WATERS' ANALYSIS	11
FIGURE	5.	REQUIRED REINFORCING ON NOZZLE FOR $\overline{\sigma} = 3S$ , WATERS' ANALYSIS	12
FIGURE	6.	REQUIRED REINFORCING ON SPHERE BY LIMIT ANALYSIS	14
FIGURE	7.	REQUIRED REINFORCING ON NOZZLE BY LIMIT ANALYSIS	15
FIGURE	8.	COMPARISON OF REINFORCING ON SPHERE FOR $\overline{\sigma}_{m} = 1.5S$ WITH LIMIT PRESSURE ANALYSIS	24
FIGURE	9.	COMPARISON OF REINFORCING ON NOZZLE FOR $\overline{\sigma} = 1.5S$ WITH LIMIT PRESSURE ANALYSIS	25
FIGURE	10.	COMPARISON OF FLUSH WITH INWARDLY PROTRUDING NOZZLES, LECKIE-PENNY ANALYSIS AT $\sigma = 2.25S$	27
FIGURE	11.	FILLET RADIUS REINFORCING AREA REQUIRED BY ELASTIC ANALYSIS, $\overline{\sigma}$ = 2.05	30
FIGURE	12.	REINFORCING REQUIRED TO OBTAIN AN AVERAGE NORMAL STRESS EQUAL TO 1.0S	31
F IGURE	13.	REINFORCING AREAS FOR REINFORCING ON THE SPHERE AND COMPACT REINFORCING	32
F IGURE	14.	REINFORCING AREAS FOR REINFORCING ON THE NOZZLE AND COMPACT REINFORCING	33
FIGURE	15.	REINFORCING LENGTHS FOR UNIFORM WALL AND COMPACT REINFORCING	35
F IGURE	16.	SPACE AVAILABLE FOR COMPACT REINFORCING	<b>3</b> 6
FIGURE	17.	COMPARISON OF COMPACT REINFORCING AREA REQUIRED BY PROPOSED RULES WITH THE REINFORCING AREA FOR A FILLET RADIUS, ELASTIC ANALYSIS, $\overline{\sigma} = 2.0S$	37

.

## LIST OF FIGURES (contd)

## Page

FIGURE	18.	EXAMPLE OF VARIATION IN STRESS WITH NOZZLE THICKNESS
FIGURE	19.	REINFORCEMENT ZONE, CURRENT AMERICAN PRACTICE EXCEPT THE ASME NUCLEAR VESSEL CODE
FIGURE	20.	REINFORCEMENT ZONE, ASME NUCLEAR VESSEL CODE 43
FIGURE	21.	NOZZLES NOT REQUIRING REINFORCING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ASME NUCLEAR VESSEL CODE
FIGURE	22.	COMPARISON OF REINFORCEMENT ZONES
FIGURE	23.	SHELL REINFORCING AS REQUIRED BY LECKIE-PENNY ANALYSIS WITH A MAXIMUM STRESS IN THE SPHERE OF 2.25S
FIGURE	24.	NOZZLE REINFORCING AS REQUIRED BY LECKIE-PENNY ANALYSIS WITH A MAXIMUM STRESS IN THE SPHERE OF 2.255
FIGURE	25.	SHELL REINFORCING AS REQUIRED BY GERMAN PRACTICE, DESIGN CRITERIA OF 0.2% MAXIMUM STRAIN
FIGURE	26.	NOZZLE REINFORCING AS REQUIRED BY GERMAN PRACTICE, DESIGN CRITERIA OF 0.2% MAXIMUM STRAIN

#### PROPOSED DESIGN PROCEDURE FOR RADIAL NOZZLES IN SPHERICAL SHELLS WITH INTERNAL PRESSURE

#### INTRODUCTION

In the past, openings in pressure vessels have been reinforced according to the area replacement rule. Vessels so designed have, by and large, performed satisfactorily; however, in the relatively few cases where problems have developed in pressure vessels, those problems have often been associated with the nozzles or openings. Prior to the work of the past few years, the stress levels, fatigue loading resistance, and maximum pressure capacities of nozzles in pressure vessels were known only very roughly.

The trend towards the use of higher strength materials and higher nominal stresses in pressure vessel design, along with the advent of nuclear vessels with their very high reliability requirements, intensified the need for better knowledge of the behavior of reinforced openings in pressure vessels. In recognition of this need, the Sub-committee on Reinforced Openings of the Pressure Vessel Research Committee has sponsored a broad program of both experimental and analytical work directed towards the determination of the behavior of reinforced openings in pressure vessels, considering both the effects of internal pressure and external loads. A summary of this work, as of the time of publication, is given by J. L. Mershon<sup>(1,2)\*</sup>.

This report covers one phase of the overall problem of reinforced openings in pressure vessels; specifically, the development of a design procedure for radial nozzles in spherical shells loaded with internal pressure. The design procedure is intended to define acceptable reinforcing details for radial nozzles in spherical vessels, hemispherical heads, torispherical heads provided the opening is in the spherical section sufficiently away from the toridal section, and ellipsoidal heads in the central section. Reinforcing, if any is required, is assumed to be continuous

\* Numbers refer to the list of references.

with the shells, as contrasted to "welded-on" pads. Since limit analysis is used to establish the design procedure, an implied assumption is that the material of the shells and the weld metal is ductile, e.g., is capable of withstanding several percent of local strain in a complex stress field at all temperatures at which the vessel may be loaded.

The design procedure covers isolated nozzles in which the edge of the opening is remote from any other significant local stress discontinuity. It is suggested that the design of closely spaced nozzles be guided by the existing rules given in the ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Section III, ("Rules for the Construction of Nuclear Vessels").

The "Design Procedure", in a brief form suitable for use in design work, is presented in the following section. The remainder of the report provides the background and basis of the design procedure along with comparison with other design procedures.

It is emphasized that this design procedure covers internal pressure loading only, and that additions or modifications may be necessary to accomodate other super-imposed loadings; particularly, external loadings from an attached piping system and thermally induced stresses. The elastic stress criterion chosen (maximum stress intensity  $\leq$  3S) is the limit which, under the rules of the Nuclear Vessel Code, applies to the sum of the primary and secondary stresses, including pressure, thermal and external loading effects. Since the limit analysis criterion controls almost throughout the dimensional range covered herein, the design procedure inherently contains at least a small margin to accomodate stresses from such additional sources. This general problem will be the subject of further study and recommendations.

#### DESIGN PROCEDURE FOR RADIAL NOZZLES IN SPHERICAL SHELLS UNDER INTERNAL PRESSURE

- Nozzles may be reinforced by increasing the thickness of the nozzle and/or sphere near the nozzle-to-sphere juncture according to Paragraph 3, or by applying extra material around the nozzle-to-sphere juncture according to Paragraph 4. These rules apply to isolated nozzles in which the edge of the opening is at least a distance equal to 2.5 √DT/2 from the nearest edge of any other local stress discontinuity.
- 2. Dimension T is the required\* thickness of the unperforated sphere for the design pressure; t is the required\* thickness of the nozzle (as a cylindrical shell) for the design pressure. Other dimensions and symbols are defined in the following text and Figure 1. All dimensions shall be taken in the "corroded" condition. For elliptical heads, D/2 shall be taken as the largest radius of curvature of the head. It is assumed that the materials used in the sphere, nozzle, weld metal, and reinforcement section (if any) are of equal strength.
- 3. (a) Uniformly thickened nozzle wall, Figure la

$$t' \geq gt$$
,  $l \geq \sqrt{dgt}$ , g obtained from Figure 2a.

(b) Uniformly thickened sphere wall, Figure 1b

 $T' \ge hT$ ,  $L \ge 0.7 - \sqrt{DhT}$ , h obtained from Figure 2b.

(c) Uniformly thickened nozzle and sphere wall, Figure 1c

Determine g' and h' according to:  $\frac{g'-1}{g-1} + \frac{h'-1}{h-1} = 1$ g and h obtained from Figures 2a and 2b, respectively.

t' 
$$\geq$$
 g't,  $\ell \geq \sqrt{dg't}$   
T'  $\geq$  h'T,  $L \geq .7 \sqrt{Dh'T}$ 

(d) Uniformly thickened nozzle wall protruding through sphere, Figure 1d

t'  $\geq$  larger of t or 2gt/3  $\ell \geq \sqrt{dt''}$ , g from Figure 2a. t'' = larger of t or 2gt/3

4. Compact reinforcements, Figures le, 1f, 1g

 $A_r$  is the required cross-sectional area of reinforcement. The reinforcement must be uniform around the nozzle axis. Only the area within the circle defined by the radius  $L_r$  may be taken as contributing to  $A_r$ .

For:  

$$d/D \le \sqrt{0.02/(D/T)}; A_r = 0$$
  
For:  
 $\sqrt{0.02/(D/T)} \le d/D \le \sqrt{0.08/(D/T)}; A_r = (dT)(d/D \sqrt{50D/T} - 1)^{1/2}$   
For:  
 $\sqrt{0.08/(D/T)} \le d/D$ ;  $A_r = dT \cos \emptyset$   
 $\emptyset = \sin^{-1} d/D$   
 $L_c = 1.5 (T/D)^{(2/3)} D$ 

Required thickness according to the appropriate design code; e.g., for the ASME Boiler Code, Section VIII: T = PD/(4S E - 0.4P), where P = internal pressure, D = sphere inside diameter, S = allowable stress, E = joint efficiency of welded joint in the sphere.



A=Reinforcing Area on Each Side of Nozzle **C** 

 $A \ge A_r/2$ 

 $r_3 \ge \frac{2A}{A_r}$ 

 $r_4 \geq \frac{2\Delta}{\Delta_r} T$ 

 $T/8 = r_1 = T/4$ 

/Å/



A Reinforcing Area on Each Side of Nozzle **£** 

 $A \ge A_r/2$ 

///

ППППП

FIGURE Ig

REINFORCING ON NOZZLE

r<sub>0</sub>≥larger of t or T/4

T/8 ≤ ŋ ≤ T/4

Transitions to shell walls shall be equivalent to not more than 20° (included angle) transition sections or by radii not less than shall in no case be less than the larger of t or T/4.

FIGURE I: REINFORCED NOZZLE DETAILS

 $\frac{2A}{A_r}$ t at nozzle wall; $\frac{2A}{A_r}$ T at sphere wall. Outside fillet radii





FIGURE 2: GRAPHS FOR OBTAINING g-AND h-FACTORS

#### DESIGN CRITERIA

The basic problem in determining the proper proportions of a structure is twofold. First, the stresses must be found, and second, allowable values of the stresses must be prescribed. Present day techniques of stress analysis--analytical, numerical, and experimental--are normally sufficient for the determination of stresses in pressure vessels. However, a certain amount of arbitrariness is still exercised in fixing allowable values of elastic stresses.

Static failure of a ductile material is a plastic process, and a rational basis for determining allowable stresses will necessarily involve plasticity considerations. The principles of plastic limit design were used to set allowable stresses in Section III of the ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Nuclear Vessels (3,4). Conservative simplifications and generalizations were made to achieve complete stress limits for all parts of a nuclear vessel. In particular, the 1.5 S<sub>m</sub> limit on local membrane stress was set to insure against local plastic collapse. A satisfactory, consistent nozzle design procedure cannot be constructed with this limit as a basis because it is too restrictive. This can be readily seen by considering very small nozzles, which should require no reinforcement, yet produce local membrane stresses of 2 S<sub>m</sub> in the shell. Therefore, the 1.5 S<sub>m</sub> limit of Section III is replaced in the proposed procedure by an actual limit analysis.

The design procedure presented herein results from a direct application of limit design principles to a specific geometry when subjected to internal pressure. The design philosophy is therefore the same as that of the ASME Nuclear Vessels Code.

It is the intent of the Nuclear Vessels Code to (1) provide a safety margin of 1.5 against plastic collapse when strain-hardening is neglected and (2) to insure shakedown to elastic action. In accordance with this intent, the proposed reinforcements were proportioned so that (1) the collapse pressure is at least 1.5 times the design pressure and

(2) so that the most highly stressed regions of the nozzle will shakedown to elastic action. The collapse limit was established using the results of the plastic-limit analysis described in Reference 5. The shakedown criteria used was that of limiting the maximum elastic stress intensity\* to three times the nominal stress in the unperforated sphere; for materials with design stress intensity values established by the limit of two-thirds of the yield strength, this is the equivalent of limiting the maximum stress intensity,  $\overline{\sigma}$ , to twice\*\* the yield strength of the material. Elastic stresses were calculated according to Reference 6, with the addition of a local flexibility factor at the nozzle-sphere juncture and approximate "thick-wall" shell correction factors. It is re-emphasized that both criteria mentioned, the collapse pressure and the 3 S<sub>m</sub> limit, are met for all nozzle designs recommended by the present design procedure.

<sup>\*</sup> Stress intensity at a point is defined as twice the maximum shear stress at that point.

<sup>\*\*</sup> For vessel materials in which the ratio of ultimate strength to yield strength is less than two, the design stress intensity is one-third of the ultimate strength. For such materials the margins against plastic collapse or continued nonelastic straining are greater than indicated.

#### DEVELOPMENT OF DESIGN PROCEDURE

This section briefly describes how the design procedure was developed. Detailed discussion of the development is given in the subsequent section entitled "Discussion".

The design of a cylindrical nozzle in a spherical shell may be considered as consisting of a basic configuration plus reinforcement. The basic configuration is defined as an outwardly protruding nozzle and spherical shell segment, as shown in Figure 3, in which the nozzle and spherical shell have the same nominal stress for a given pressure. Specifically

For the nozzle: s = Pd/2t
For the sphere: S = PD/4T
where P = internal pressure
 d = inside diameter of nozzle
 t = wall thickness of nozzle
 D = inside diameter of sphere
 T = wall thickness of sphere.

For the basic configuration, by definition, s = S = allowable design stress intensity for the material used in the nozzle and sphere--assumed to be made of equal strength materials.

The design procedure consists of specifications of the dimensions of reinforcing required, if any, in order to meet the design criteria described above.



#### Uniform Wall Designs

A nozzle-shell junction may be reinforced either by using a nozzle and/or sphere with wall thickness increased over the basic configuration, as shown in Figures 1a and 1b. As a first step in deriving the design procedure, an extensive parametric study was made based on E. O. Waters' elastic analysis and covering the parameter ranges:  $.01 \le \frac{d}{D} \le .5$ ,  $10 \le \frac{D}{T}$  1000,  $.0625 \le s/S \le 8$ . The stresses obtained in this parametric study indicated which basic configurations required reinforcing in order to meet the elastic stress criteria  $\overline{\sigma} = 3S$  and how much reinforcing would be required if:

- Reinforcing consisted only of an increase in wall thickness or the sphere, or
- (2) Reinforcing consisted only of an increase in wall thickness of the nozzle.

Figure 4 shows the reinforcement required on the sphere only, in terms on the parameters d/D, D/T and h = T'/T. The line marked h = 1indicates those combinations of D/T and d/D for which the maximum shear stress in the basic configuration (with an adequate fillet radius,  $r_0$ ) does not exceed 3.0 S. The lines marked h>l indicates the thickness required in the sphere so that  $\overline{\sigma} = 3.0$  S. Note that S = PD/4T, not PD/4T'; i.e., the index stress is that of the unreinforced sphere.

Figure 5 shows the reinforcement required on the nozzle only, in terms of the parameters d/D, D/T and g = t'/t. The line marked g = 1 is the same as on Figure 4; higher values of g indicate the thickness required in the nozzle for  $\overline{\sigma} = 3.0$  S.

Using the limit pressure analysis for cylindrical nozzles in spheres developed by R. L. Cloud<sup>(5)</sup>, the necessary increase in wall thickness of nozzle or sphere was calculated, based on the criteria  $P^{L} = 0.98 P^{*}$ , where:

 $P^{L}$  = limit pressure

P\* = nominal yield pressure of sphere =  $4\sigma_0 T/D$ 

 $\sigma_{o}$  = yield strength of material

T = wall thickness of sphere

D = inaide diameter of sphere.



FIGURE 4. REQUIRED REINFORCING ON SPHERE FOR  $\overline{\circ}$  = 3S, WATERS' ANALYSIS



FIGURE 5. REQUIRED REINFORCING ON NOZZLE FOR  $\overline{\sigma}$  = 3S, WATERS' ANALYSIS

The curves resulting from the limit analysis are shown as dashed lines in Figures 6 and 7, and are superimposed over the analogous curves based on elastic analysis. The design graphs (Figures 2a and 2b) were obtained by using the limit pressure curves; the limit pressure curves are more conservative almost\* throughout the range of parameters covered herein  $\neq$ .

The length of reinforcement, as indicated by Figures 1a and 1b must be at least equal to  $\sqrt{DT'/2}$  on the sphere or  $\sqrt{dt'}$  on the nozzle. These lengths are based on elastic theory, limit analysis, evaluation of the attenuation of stresses obtained in tests and comparison of test data with and without finite-length reinforcement on the nozzle or sphere.

The requirements given above relate to either a reinforced sphere or a reinforced nozzle. In many practical designs, it may be desirable to use a combination of reinforcing on the sphere and nozzle, as shown in Figure 1c. While it is possible to construct a number of graphs similar to Figures 2a and 2b which, with interpolation, would cover these cases, in the interest of simplicity a linear relationship was developed, i.e.:

$$\frac{g'-1}{g-1} + \frac{h'-1}{h-1} = 1$$
(1)

where g = t'/t from Figure 2a
g' = partial nozzle reinforcement, 1<g'<g
h = T'/T from Figure 2b
h' = partial sphere reinforcement, 1<h'<h.</pre>

\* For the dimensional parameter range near h = g = 1 with small d/D, the elastic criteria is slightly more conservative than the limit pressure criteria, however, the elastic stress, using the dimensions obtained from the limit pressure analysis, is not more than 3.2 S.









FIGURE 7. REQUIRED REINFORCING ON NOZZLE BY LIMIT ANALYSIS

15

Elastic Analysis,  $\overline{\sigma} = 3S$ 

#### Inwardly Protruding Nozzles

Nozzles which protrude inside the vessel, as shown in Figure 1d, have been analyzed by Leckie and Penny<sup>(7)</sup> for elastic stresses. Limit pressure considerations, along with the elastic analysis, indicate the following rule is adequate:

$$t' \ge 1 \text{ arger of t or } \frac{2gt}{3}; \ \ell \ge \sqrt{dt''}$$
 (2)  
 $t'' = 1 \text{ arger of t or } \frac{2gt}{3}$ 

#### Compact Reinforcing

Both test data and theoretical analysis has shown that reinforcing material placed close to the nozzle-sphere junction is more efficient than a similar amount of reinforcing material placed away from the junction. For example, a large fillet radius as shown in Figure le provides an efficient compact reinforcing. Test data and analysis for nozzles with such reinforcing show that, in the dimensional parameter range covered herein, the reinforcing area required to reduce the maximum stress intensity to 2.0S\* is less than 0.80 dT. The product dT will be recognized as the area of reinforcing required by existing codes, i.e., the inside diameter of the nozzle times the required wall thickness of the sphere. In contrast, the reinforcing area required for uniform-wall reinforcing is as much as 2.3 dT; reflecting the effect of the relatively "spread-out" reinforcing.

As in the case of uniform-wall reinforcing, it is necessary to also consider the limit pressure of the reinforced nozzle. From the basic configuration (s/S = 1.0), it can be shown that reinforcing area,  $A_r$ , equal to dT cos  $\emptyset_0$ , if placed close to the nozzle sphere junction, will insure that the limit pressure of the reinforced nozzle is equal to that of the unperforated sphere.

For a small, unreinforced nozzle in a sphere, the shell-theory elastic stress intensity is essentially equal to 2.0 S. This is highly localized stress and will not lead to any significant gross deformation. The reinforcing required to increase the limit pressure to that of the unperforated sphere is small, i.e.,  $A_r = dT \cos \phi_0$  where d is small.

<sup>\*</sup> The elastic stress limit of 2.0 S was used in this comparison because of the availability of a parametric analysis using the Seal-Shell-2<sup>(15)</sup> computer program.

For small nozzles without reinforcing, the limit pressure is practically equal to that of the unperforated sphere. Accordingly, for small holes in spheres, no reinforcing is required.

On the basis of the above concepts, the following design procedure was developed.

For 
$$d/D \leq \sqrt{\frac{0.02}{D/T}}$$
;  $A_r = 0.$  (3)

This rule permits the use of the unreinforced basic configuration in essentially the same parameter range as shown by Figures 2a and 2b, i.e., the lower left section of the graphs below h = 1 or g = 1.

For 
$$\sqrt{\frac{0.02}{D/T}} \le d/D \le \sqrt{\frac{0.08}{D/T}}$$
;  $A_r = dT (d/D \sqrt{50D/T} - 1)^{1/2}$ . (4)

This rule provides a transition between the parametric ranges where no reinforcing is required and those parametric ranges where the full reinforcing,  $A_r = dT \cos \phi_o$ , is required.

$$r d/D \ge \sqrt{\frac{0.08}{D/T}}; A_r = dT \cos \phi_0,$$
 (5)

where

Fo

$$\phi_{\rm o} = \sin^{-1} (d/D).$$

Compact reinforcing, as shown by Figure 1e, 1f, and 1g, is defined as that reinforcing placed inside a circle with center at the midwall junction of nozzle and sphere and with radius equal to 1.5  $(T/D)^{2/3}D$ . The value of the radius of 1.5  $(T/D)^{2/3}D$  was developed by evaluating the reinforcing areas and reinforcing zones of uniform wall reinforcing in relation to the reinforcing area required for compact reinforcing.

#### Radii and Transition Sections

Selection of radii and transition profiles was based on comparisons of theoretical analysis with test data, along with consideration of current practice as given in various pressure vessel design codes.

#### DISCUSSION

#### Uniform Wall Reinforcing

#### Basic Elastic Analysis

The elastic analysis used is essentially that described in Reference 6, with the addition of the effect of a local flexibility factor<sup>(8)</sup> at the nozzle-sphere junction and an approximate thick-wall correction factor for the stresses.

Test data<sup>(9,10)</sup> are available on 38 photoelastic models of uniform-wall nozzles in spherical shells. Measured stresses are also available<sup>(11,12)</sup> on two steel models of uniform wall nozzles in spherical shells. These models cover the parameter range of d/D from 0.05 to 0.5; D/T from 9 to 240, s/S from 0.39 to 2.0. Comparison of the data with Waters' analysis shows that the anlysis is conservative for all models (with one exception) provided the outside fillet radius is equal to or greater than the nozzle wall thickness, t. Unless the fillet radius is more than two times the nozzle thickness, the degree of conservatism is not large, and, hence, Waters' analysis is deemed to be directly applicable to uniform-wall nozzles in spherical shells with fillet radii about equal to t.

The one exception occurred on a photoelastic model (S-1G) with d/D = 0.05, D/T = 23.7, and s/S = 0.39. A high normal stress ( $\sigma/S = 2.60$ ) occurred on the inside corner of the sphere opening; Waters' analysis predicts only 55 per cent of this stress. The maximum measured stress intensity of this model was 2.78S which, in itself, is acceptable under the elastic design criteria; however, because of the limit pressure design criteria, this particular model would not be acceptable; a g-factor (Figure 2a) of about 5.0, corresponding to an s/S of 0.20, would be required compared to the s/S of 0.39 used in the model.

Because the design procedure is controlled by limit pressure considerations, it is generally quite conservative with respect to measured elastic stresses in test models.

#### Lengths of Uniform Thickness Reinforcing

It is obvious that the length of uniformly increased wall thickness, integral with the sphere or nozzle wall (hereafter referred to as "pad length" for brevity), need not be very large in order for the local stresses at the nozzle-sphere junction to be the same as if the pad length was infinite. The required minimum pad lengths may be estimated in several ways:

 Elastic theory used in a two-piece shell analysis of a nozzle in a sphere gives an approximation of an attenuation length; i.e., that distance from the nozzle shell juncture at which loads applied at the juncture produce negligible stresses in the shells.

Edge loading of the nozzle (cylindrical shell) is characterized by linear combinations of exponential trigonometric functions whose behavior is well known<sup>(13)</sup>. Attenuation of stresses is different for a shear edge load as compared to a moment edge load; however, in either case the stresses due to the edge loads are negligible if

$$\beta X > 1.816$$
, (7)

where

$$\beta = \sqrt[4]{\frac{12(1 - v^2)}{d^2(t')^2}}$$

X = distance from edge.

For a Poisson's ration, v = 0.3, Equation 7 gives

$$X = \sqrt{dt'}.$$
 (8)

Edge loading on the sphere hole, using the Esslinger approximation, is characterized by linear combinations of Kelvin functions whose characteristics are also well known<sup>(13)</sup>. Determination of a a suitable attenuation length from the Esslinger approximation is difficult since the attenuation of the Kelvin functions depends upon the angle  $\phi_0$ , defined by  $\sin \phi_0 = d/D$ , as well as the unknown angle  $\phi_x$ , which defines the attenuation length. For locations on the sphere near the apex, as may be seen from plotted values of the Kelvin functions (or more directly, Schleicher functions; see page 245 of Reference 13), an increase in the argument of the functions by an increment of 1.816 generally reduces the value of the functions to a relatively negligible value. The argument of the Kelvin functions, as used by Waters, is almost  $\lambda \phi$ , where:

$$\lambda = \sqrt[4]{12(1 - v^2) R^2 / (T')^2}$$

 $\phi$  = central angle of sphere as shown in Figure 3

R = D/2 = sphere radius.

With  $\triangle(\lambda \phi)$  equal to 1.816 and  $\phi = X/R$ , the attenuation length on the sphere, X, is found to be  $\sqrt{RT'}$ .

For locations far from the apex, X becomes larger and approaches  $\sqrt{DT'}$  at 90 degrees from the apex.

Attenuation lengths can also be established by evaluation of parametric studies using an elastic analysis. Available data using Waters' analysis give stresses only at the juncture. A parametric study made by F. J. Witt<sup>(14)</sup>, using the C.E.R.L. computer program, gives stresses at various distances from the juncture. These results indicate that  $l = \sqrt{dt^{-1}}$  is adequate for all parameters.  $L = \sqrt{RT^{-1}}$  is adequate for most parameters, but for large D/T combined with large d/D, the attenuation distance is somewhat greater than  $\sqrt{RT^{-1}}$ . However, in view of the transition tapers or radii required by the proposed rules, the required length  $L = \sqrt{RT^{-1}}$  should be sufficient for all parameters covered by the proposed rules.

- 3. Attenuation lengths can be determined by evaluation of the pattern of stresses measured on test models. Test results on photoelastic and steel models indicate that, in general, stresses are near their nominal values at distances from the juncture corresponding to  $\ell = \sqrt{dt'}$  on the nozzle,  $L = \sqrt{RT'}$  on the sphere.
- 4. Some test data are available<sup>(10)</sup> which compare models with an increased wall thickness section on the nozzle with uniform-wall nozzles (photoelastic models N-1C versus N-1E and N-3B with N-3D). These tests confirm the validity of  $\ell = \sqrt{dt'}$ , since stress levels for the comparative models were essentially the same.
- 5. Limit pressure analysis<sup>(5)</sup> also gives minimum required lengths of pads on the sphere or nozzle. These equations are:

On sphere: 
$$\phi_{0} - \phi_{x} = \sqrt{\frac{4(d/D)^{2} + h^{2}}{D/T(h - 1)}}$$
 (9)

On nozzle: 
$$X = \sqrt{\frac{(gd/2)(gt)}{(g-1)}}$$
 (10)

The pad lengths required by Equations 9 and 10 are less than those given by the elastic analysis ( $L = \sqrt{hRT}$  and  $\ell = \sqrt{gdt}$ ) provided that h or g is more than 2. Hence, use of the elastic analysis lengths is conservative for such structures. As h or g approaches 1.0, the lengths required by Equations 9 and 10 approach infinity. At the same time, however, the limit pressure of the unreinforced structure is approaching that of the unperforated sphere. Accordingly, use of the pad lengths given by the elastic analysis along with the transition required by the proposed rules will result in only a small reduction in the theoretical limit pressure of the reinforced structure.

#### Reinforcing on Nozzle and Shell

The approximate rule:

$$\frac{g'-1}{g-1} + \frac{h'-1}{h-1} = 1$$
(11)

gives a simple means of determining the amount of uniform wall reinforcing required when part of the reinforcing is on the sphere and part on the nozzle. This rule is, of course, in agreement with the general analysis at either end of its range; i.e., for either g' = g, h' = 1, or h' = h, g' = 1. This is also a conservative approximation, from an elastic-stress standpoint, throughout the range, as shown by Table 1 wherein the calculated elastic stresses for nozzles reinforced in conformance with the approximate rule, Equation 11, are shown to be less than 3.0S.

#### Limit Pressure Analysis

The limit pressure analysis used as the basis of the proposed design procedure was developed by Cloud<sup>(5)</sup>. This reference also gives the results of tests on annealed, carbon steel test models of uniform wall thickness nozzles in spherical shells. The parameters of the test models were: D/T = 160; d/D = 0.059, 0.119, and 0.245; s/S = 1.0. The test results were in good agreement with the theoretical analyses.

An alternate approach to insure the absence of gross yielding of the nozzle-sphere junction would be to use an additional elastic stress criteria; e.g., the maximum membrane stress intensity limited to 1.5S. Figures 8 and 9 show the resulting shell and nozzle thickening factors, with the limit pressure analysis lines for comparison. For reinforcing on the shell, limiting the elastic membrane stress to 1.5S is more conservative than the limit pressure approach. For reinforcing on the nozzle, however, the elastic limitation is more conservative for small d/D and less conservative for large d/D ratios. From a practical standpoint, reinforcing by use of a heavy nozzle will be principally applied for small d/D ratios. Nozzle-thickening factors of 10 to 50 are not uncommon for small nozzles.

d/D	ד/ת	h	ġ	h'		7/5
0.02	630	1 5	<u> </u>	1 25		1 /
0.02	135	11	40 14	1.25	20.5	1.4
0.10	48	11	7.0	11	4.0	1.4
0.20	20	11	3.6	41	2.3	1.5
0.10	140	2.0	11	1.5	6.0	1.4
0.20	57	11	5.6	ti .	3.3	1.3
0.50	21.5	<b></b>	2.5	11	1.75	1.6
0.10	480	3.0	19	2.0	10.0	1.4
0.20	180	11	8.7	11	4.85	1.5
0.50	73	11	3.6	11	2.3	1.5
0.2	420	4.0	11.5	2.5	6.25	1.7
0.5	180	11	4.8	11	1.95	1.8
0.2	910	50	15.5	3.0	8.25	1.7
0.5	310	11	5.7	11	3.35	1.7
0.5	550	6.0	6.8	3.5	3.90	1.8
0.5	12	1.65	2	1.32	1.5	2.0
0.1	9.5	1.13	3	1.06	2.0	2.1
0.2	14.0	1.4	11	1.20	11	1.7
0.5	44	2.4	**	1.70		1.5
0.02	60	1.02	4	1.01	2.5	2.6
0.05	17.5	1.05	11	1.025	0	1.7
0.10	16.0	1.23	11	1.12		1.6
0.20	107	3.3		2.15		1.5
0.00	60	1 02	~	1 015	2 5	1.0
0.02	30	1 15	0	1.015	3.5	2.2
0.05	34	1.4	ii.	1.075	11	1.5
0.2	69	2.1	<u>с</u> н	1.55	ŤT	1.4
0.5	370	5.3	"	3.15	11	1.7
0.01	240	1.05	10	1.025	5.5	2.9
0.02	95	1.09	11	1.045	11	1.8
0.05	69	1.33	**	1.16	**	1.6
0.1	109	1.8	11	1.40	11	1.4
0.2	265	3.4	11	2.20	11	1.7
0.01	290	1.08	16	1.04	8.5	2.6
0.02	155	1.18	11	1.09	11	1.7
0.05	105	1.55		1.2/5	11	1.5
0.20	1000	2.0 5.1	11	3.05	11	1.4 1.5
0 01	500	1 01	36	1 10	18 5	1.0
0.02	540	1.46	11	1.23	н. то•2	1.8
0.05	970	2.60	Ĥ	1.65	11	1.6
· · · · · ·						

TABLE 1. MAXIMUM STRESS INTENSITY IN NOZZLES DESIGNED ACCORDING TO PAR. 3(c) OF THE DESIGN PROCEDURE, EXAMPLES SELECTED AT MID-RANGES OF EQUATION 1











FIGURE 9. COMPARISON OF REINFORCING ON NOZZLE FOR  $\overline{\sigma}_m = 1.5S$  WITH LIMIT PRESSURE ANALYSIS
At a d/D ratio of 0.5, however, a g-factor of 3.0 means that the nozzle is three times as thick as the sphere and represents a seldom-used construction.

# Inwardly Protruding Nozzles

For inwardly protruding nozzles, as shown in Figure 1d, the proposed design rule is:

t' 
$$\geq$$
 larger of t or 2gt/3;  $\ell \geq \sqrt{dt''}$ . (12)  
t'' = larger of t or 2gt/3

From a limit pressure standpoint, the material in the inwardly projecting nozzle with length equal to  $\sqrt{dt'}$  can be considered to be fully effective in restricting gross plastic deformation of the nozzle-sphere junction. Accordingly, the proposed rule requiring that the increase in nozzle thickness for reinforcing be two-thirds as much as for a nozzle protruding outward only is conservative from a limit pressure standpoint.

Leckie and Penny<sup>(7)</sup> elastic analysis may be used to indicate the comparative stresses in flush and inwardly protruding nozzles. Figure 10 gives such a comparison based on the particular stress limit,  $\sigma_{max} = 2.25S$ . This comparison indicates that the proposed rule gives roughly consistent reinforcing requirements for inwardly protruding nozzles as compared to flush nozzles. While more complex rules could be given to cover the case of inwardly protruding nozzles, the proposed rule is desirable from the standpoint of simplicity.

## Compact Reinforcing

#### Elastic Analysis and Test Data

While Waters' two-piece shell theory applies with sufficient accuracy to uniform-wall nozzles in spheres, where there is a significant



FIGURE 10. COMPARISONS OF FLUSH WITH INWARDLY PROTRUDING NOZZLES, LECKIE-PENNY ANALYSIS AT  $\sigma$  = 2.25S

27

 $\sigma$  = 2.25S;  $\sigma$  = maximum stress in sphere

amount of relatively compact reinforcing (such as a large fillet radius or a triangular-shaped pad), Waters' shell theory is not applicable.

C. M. Friedrich<sup>(15)</sup> has developed a computer program (Seal-Shell-2) for determining stresses in axisymmetric shells with axisymmetric loadings based on a multiplece, thick-shell theory. Comparisons between calculated results using the Seal-Shell-2 computer program and test data on photo-elastic models indicate that the Seal-Shell-2 gives accurate results, provided the change in thickness at the juncture is not too abrupt. A limited parametric study was made using the Seal-Shell-2 program for compact reinforcing provided by fillet radii. This study indicates that the value of  $r_o/t$  required to obtain a maximum stress intensity of 2S\*is approximately given by:

$$r_{o}/t = 0.336 (D/T)^{3/4},$$
 (13)

where

r = fillet radius at nozzle-to-sphere junction
t = nozzle thickness
D = sphere mean diameter
T = sphere wall thickness.

The requirement for  $r_0/t$  to obtain  $\overline{\sigma} = 2S$ , given by Equation 13, can also be expressed in terms of the area ratio, A/dT. The relationship is approximately

$$A/dT = 0.23 (D/T)^{1/2} \frac{d/D}{(d/D + 1)^4} \cos \phi_0, \qquad (14)$$

where

A = reinforcing area provided by the fillet radii such that o = 2S D = sphere mean diameter d = nozzle mean diameter T = sphere wall thickness \$\phi\_0\$ = angle whose sin is d/D.

<sup>\*</sup> The elastic stress limit of 2.0 S was used in this comparison because of the availability of a parametric analysis using the Seal-Shell-2(15) computer program.

Equation 14 is plotted in Figure 11. Recalling that the product dT is the ASME Code replacement area, Figure 11 indicates that a fillet radius with area significantly less than that required by the ASME Code can be used for pressure load reinforcement provided  $\overline{\sigma} = 2S$  is considered as an acceptable design criteria.

The above analysis applies directly to fillet radii reinforcement but might be considered as applicable to other compact reinforcing provided suitable transition sections between reinforcing and shell walls are provided. This type of construction, however, may result in a fairly wide zone in which mean stresses are greater than S. Accordingly, such designs may have a limit pressure less than that of the unperforated sphere.

## Area and Boundary for Compact Reinforcing

It is apparent from equilibrium conditions, as shown in Figure 12, that reinforcing area equal to dT  $\cos \phi_0$ , placed close to the nozzle-sphere junction, is sufficient to insure a limit pressure equal to that of the unperforated sphere. This result is derived rigorously from limit analysis by Cloud<sup>(16)</sup>. A suitable rule was developed for defining "close to the nozzle-sphere juncture" as described in the following.

The reinforcement areas required by the uniform wall reinforcing rules are shown in Figures 13 and 14 for reinforcing on the sphere and nozzle, respectively. Also shown on Figures 13 and 14 are the compact reinforcing areas by the proposed design procedure. Figure 15 shows the reinforcing length for uniform wall reinforcements. These graphs show that the relative reinforcing area required on the nozzle as compared to that on the sphere is roughly inversely proportional to the length of reinforcing. For large d/D the length of reinforcing on nozzle and sphere is about the same, and the area of reinforcing required on the nozzle is also about the same as that required on the sphere. For small d/D the length of reinforcing on the nozzle is shorter (more compact), and the required area is correspondingly smaller. A relatively simple rule for the length of a compact reinforcing, consistent in area-length requirements with uniform wall reinforcing, is:



30

FILLET RADIUS REINFORCING AREA REQUIRED BY ELASTIC ANALYSIS,  $\overline{\sigma} = 2.0S$ 

FIGURE 11.



For force equilibrium normal to plane shown:

~

$$S A_{m} = P A_{p}$$

$$\frac{PD}{4T} A_{m} = P \cdot \frac{d}{2} \cdot \frac{D}{2} \cos \phi_{o}$$

$$A_{m} = dT \cos \phi_{o}$$

(Thin Shells Assumed)

# FIGURE 12. REINFORCING REQUIRED TO OBTAIN AN AVERAGE NORMAL STRESS EQUAL TO 1.0S

Uniform wall reinforcing area on sphere

Compact reinforcing area





- Uniform wall reinforcing area on nozzle

 $\bigcirc$ 

- Compact reinforcing area



FIGURE 14. REINFORCING AREAS FOR REINFORCING ON THE NOZZLE AND COMPACT REINFORCING

ment

$$L_c/D = 1.5 (T/D)^{2/3}$$
 (15)

Figure 15 shows the lengths of uniform wall reinforcing along with the lengths of compact reinforcing as defined by Equation 15. It will be noted that, in general, where the compact reinforcing length is smaller than that required for uniform wall thickness reinforcing, the required area is correspondingly smaller, and vise versa.

From purely geometric considerations, as shown in Figure 16, it is possible to place the required compact reinforcing area entirely outside the shell and within the prescribed zone.

Reinforcing areas required for fillet radii reinforcing, using the Seal-Shell-2 elastic-stress analysis (with  $\overline{\sigma} = 2.0S$ ), are compared with the reinforcing area required by the proposed design procedure for compact reinforcing in Figure 17. It is apparent that the design procedure is conservative with respect to the elastic-stress criteria, except for small d/D ratios where the elastic analysis would require a small amount of reinforcing. However, in these areas, the required minimum fillet radius for all nozzles ( $r_0 \ge larger of t$  or T/4) will be sufficient for pressure loading.

# Radii and Transition Sections

The elastic analysis used as the basis of the procedure does not include stress concentrations that arise on the outside surface at the nozzle-sphere juncture. Comparison of test data with Waters' analysis indicates that, if the outside fillet radius,  $r_0$ , is about equal to the branch thickness, t, or larger, the analysis is not unconservative. With a fillet radius about equal to t, the reinforcing effect of the extra metal roughly compensates for the stress concentration of the notch. Accordingly, the proposed design procedure requires that  $r_0 \ge t$  (t' for a pad on the nozzle).



FIGURE 15. REINFORCING LENGTHS FOR UNIFORM WALL AND COMPACT REINFORCING

35

 $\bigcirc$ 



FIGURE 16 . SPACE AVAILABLE FOR COMPACT REINFORCING

Fillet radii reinforcing,  $\overline{\sigma}$  = 2.0S

 $\bigcirc$ 

----- Compact reinforcing, proposed rules



COMPARISON OF COMPACT REINFORCING AREA REQUIRED BY PROPOSED RULES WITH THE REINFORCING AREA FOR A FILLET RADIUS, ELASTIC ANALYSIS,  $\overline{\sigma} = 2.0S$ FIGURE 17.

Small variations of the inside corner radius, r<sub>i</sub>, on photoelastic test models had relatively little effect on the stress levels. Some radius on the inside corner is desirable from the standpoint of fatigue strength, and a very large inside corner radius would probably weaken the structure because of the reduction in area. Accordingly, the design procedure includes the somewhat arbitrary rule:

$$T/8 \leq r_{i} \leq T/4.$$
 (16)

A change in wall thickness in a cylindrical or spherical shell produces locally increased stresses. This condition exists at the outer edges of the reinforcing prescribed in the design procedure. Design codes prescribe transition tapers between changes in wall thickness; in particular, Figure N-466 of the Nuclear Vessel Code requires a transition with a slope not greater than 1:3. Under the assumption that the stress conditions at the outer edge of the nozzle reinforcings is independent of the opening in the sphere, the same transition taper has been specified in the proposed design procedure.

Compact reinforcing as specified by Figure le, using a large outside fillet radius, directly insures good transition between reinforcing and the shells. Compact reinforcing consisting of a triangular external pad (Figure 1f) has transition radii compatible with those specified for uniform wall reinforcing. Compact reinforcing of arbitrary smooth profiles (Figure 1g) has transition and radii requirements that are comparable to those for the more specific shapes covered by the design procedure.

Requirements for reinforcing are specified in terms of minimums. It is possible, under certain conditions, to increase stress levels by adding reinforcement. For example, in certain parameter ranges of uniformwall nozzle-to-sphere structures, monotonically increasing the nozzle thickness, t, results in a stress variation as indicated by Figure 18. The minimum value of  $\overline{\sigma}$  marked  $\overline{\sigma}_1$  occurs when the stiffness of the nozzle and sphere are particularly compatible. However, reducing  $\overline{\sigma}$  to 3S generally requires a considerably greater nozzle thickness, as indicated by  $\overline{\sigma}_2$ . It is possible that a similar minimum occurs with compact reinforcing.



FIGURE 18. EXAMPLE OF VARIATION IN STRESS WITH NOZZLE THICKNESS

39

 $\bigcirc$ 

More directly, however, increased thickness of reinforcing may result in increased stresses at the outer edges of the reinforcing. Transition sections and radii are specified in the design procedure to minimize this possibility.

The design procedure generally requires increased fillet radii or transition sections in proportion to the amount of over-reinforcing. In Figure 1a, for example,  $r_o$  must be larger than t' rather than gt; if t' is larger than gt (over-reinforced), the required fillet radius is proportionally increased. Similarly, the transition section increases in proportion to (t' - t), not (gt - t). The additional requirement that  $r_o \ge T/4$  insures a transition section reasonably proportioned with respect to the sphere wall, even if the nozzle wall is very thin. Figures 1b, 1c, and 1d are similar, with regard to transitions for over-reinforced designs, to Figure 1a. In Figure 1e the reinforcing area is directly obtained by the fillet radius so that over-reinforcing necessarily requires a larger radius. Transitions in Figures 1f and 1g are directly proportional to the amount of overreinforcing, i.e., by the factor  $2A/A_r$ , where A is the actual reinforcing area on each side of the nozzle centerline, and  $A_r$  is the total required reinforcing area.

#### COMPARISON WITH OTHER DESIGN PROCEDURES

#### Current American Practice

Reinforcement of openings is specified in several American Design (4,17,18,19,20) These codes all require that the material cut out by the opening,  $d_iT$ , be replaced around the opening within a specified zone. For all except the Nuclear Vessel Code, the zone of reinforcement is defined as shown in Figure 19. The Nuclear Vessel Code specifies a reinforcing zone in terms of the foundation modulus of the nozzle or shell, as shown in Figure 20. In this respect, the Nuclear Vessel Code is similar to the proposed design procedure.

A comparison between the reinforcing area required by the proposed design procedure and the area dT is shown in Figure 13, uniform wall reinforcing on shell, and Figure 14, uniform wall reinforcing on nozzle. The required areas of compact reinforcing are also shown on these graphs. Those openings which do not require reinforcing, according to the Nuclear Vessel Code, are shown on Figure 21; these are in general agreement with the proposed rules.

For uniform wall reinforcing, there are combinations of d/D and D/T for which the proposed design procedure requires significantly more reinforcing than the current rule of dT--up to 2.3 times as much. For compact reinforcing, however, the proposed design procedure does not require any more reinforcing than the current rule.

There is, of course, an interdependence between area of reinforcement and the zone in which the reinforcement is placed. Accordingly, whether the current rules are unconservative, as judged by the present analysis, depends upon the "compactness" of the zone of reinforcing specified by the current rules. Since the current rules require a reinforcing area dT, which is greater than that required for compact reinforcing, the current rules are conservative with respect to the proposed design procedure if the zone of reinforcement is no greater than that specified by Equation 15.



FIGURE 19. REINFORCEMENT ZONE, CURRENT AMERICAN PRACTICE EXCEPT THE ASME NUCLEAR VESSEL CODE





FIGURE 20. REINFORCEMENT ZONE, ASME NUCLEAR VESSEL CODE



Reinforcing not required, ASME Nuclear Code (1963) Reinforcing not required, ASME Nuclear Code (1965) Limit Pressure Analysis



FIGURE 21. NOZZLES NOT REQUIRING REINFORCING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ASME NUCLEAR VESSEL CODE

For a pad on the sphere, where current rules specify a zone limit of 0.5d, it may be seen from Figure 22 (compare  $L_2/D$  line with  $L_c/D$  lines) that present rules are unconservative only for combinations of large D/T with large d/D-ratios. For reinforcing on the nozzle, where current rules permit a zone limited to 2.5t, Figure 22 shows (compare  $L_1/D$  lines with corresponding D/T -  $L_c/D$  lines) that the current rules are conservative throughout the parameter range covered.

## Leckie and Penny Analysis

Present British practice for reinforcing nozzles (BS-1500) is essentially the same as ASME Boiler Code Section VIII. However, consideration is being given to a nozzle design procedure based on Leckie and Penny's analysis, with a maximum stress concentration factor of 2.25. Figures 23 and 24 show the h- and g-factors derived on this basis (flush nozzles) and can be compared with the analogous Figures 6 and 7.

Comparisons in Figures 23 and 24 of the solid lines with the dashed lines show that, except near g or h = 1.0, the proposed design procedure requires more reinforcing than the Leckie-Penny analysis with  $\sigma_{max} = 2.25S$ .

## German Practice

In some design procedures for reinforcements of openings, the German practice is essentially the same as the ASME Code, i.e., replacement of the cutout area dT in a prescribed zone close to the opening. For uniform wall reinforcing, however, design charts\* are in use which are based on tests to establish the pressure required to produce a permanent strain

<sup>\*</sup> DK 621.642.02.001.24, Design of Pressure Vessels, AD-Note B9, January, 1960. Vereinigung der Technischen Uberwachungs-Vereine e.V., Essen, Huysenalle 54/56.



Ċ





FIGURE 23. SHELL REINFORCING AS REQUIRED BY LECKIE-PENNY ANALYSIS WITH A MAXIMUM STRESS IN THE SPHERE OF 2.25S





FIGURE 24. NOZZLE REINFORCING AS REQUIRED BY LECKIE-PENNY ANALYSIS WITH A MAXIMUM STRESS IN THE SPHERE OF 2.25S

of 0.2 per cent. In contrast to the purely elastic analysis considered for use in Britain, this German practice corresponds to an experimental limit pressure analysis. The German design chart is apparently based entirely on tests on nozzles in cylindrical shells; however, it is used for nozzles in spherical shells or formed heads. This is analogous to the Leckie-Penny analysis, which is theoretically applicable only to nozzles in spheres but is also used for nozzles in cylinders.

Data given in the German design charts have been converted to h- and g-factors for comparison with the proposed design procedure, as shown in Figures 25 and 26. Figure 25 shows that the German empirically derived limit pressure rules for reinforcing on the sphere are quite similar to the rules derived by a theoretical limit analysis for a nozzle in a sphere, although generally less conservative. Figure 26, for reinforcing on the nozzle, shows that the German rules are different than the analogous curves derived by a limit analysis and that the German rules are less conservative, except for combinations of small d/D and D/T ratios.

RLC/ECR:do/mew

June 8, 1965



FIGURE 25. SHELL REINFORCING AS REQUIRED BY GERMAN PRACTICE, DESIGN CRITERIA OF 0.2% MAXIMUM STRAIN



German Practice

Limit Pressure Analysis



FIGURE 26. NOZZLE REINFORCING AS REQUIRED BY GERMAN PRACTICE, DESIGN CRITERIA OF 0.2% MAXIMUM STRAIN

#### REFERENCES

- Mershon, J. L., "PVRC Research on Reinforcement of Openings in Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 77, May, 1962.
- Mershon, J. L., "PVRC Interpretive Report of Pressure Vessel Research, Section I, Design Considerations, Part 1.6, Reinforcement of Openings Under Internal Pressure", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 95, April, 1964.
- 3. "Criteria of Section III of the ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code for Nuclear Vessels", ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code Committee.
- 4. ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Section III, Rules for Construction of Nuclear Vessels, published by the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 345 East 47th Street, New York, New York.
- 5. Cloud, R. L., "The Limit Pressure of Radial Nozzles in Spherical Shells", Nuclear Structural Engineering, Vol 1, No. 4.
- Waters, E. O., "Stresses Near a Cylindrical Outlet in a Spherical Vessel", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 96, May, 1964.
- Leckie, F. A., and Penny, R. K., "Stress Concentration Factors for the Stresses at Nozzle Intersections in Pressure Vessles", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 90, September, 1963.
- 8. O'Donnell, W. J., "The Additional Deflection of a Cantilever Due to the Elasticity of the Support", Journal of Applied Mechanics, September, 1960.
- Leven, M. M., "Photoelastic Determination of the Stresses in Reinforced Openings in Pressure Vessels", Westinghouse Electric Corporation Report 64-9D7-514-R1, October 30, 1964.
- Taylor, C. E., and Lind, N. C., "Photoelastic Study of the Stresses Near Openings in Pressure Vessels", University of Illinois T & AM Report No. 270, March, 1965.
- Riley, W. F., "Experimental Determination of Stress Distributions in Thin Walled Cylindrical and Spherical Pressure Vessels with Circular Nozzles", IIT Research Inst. Proj. No. M6053, Phase Report No. 1.

- Pickett, Schmidt, and Gregory, "Studies of the Fatigue Strength of Pressure Vessels", Southwest Research Institute Proj. Nos. 03-1274, 03-1275, and 03-1384, Progress Report No. 8, May, 1964.
- Hetenyi, M., "Beams on Elastic Foundation", The University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor, Michigan.
- 14. Witt, F. J., Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, Tennessee. A parametric study of nozzles in spheres using a two-piece-shell theory developed by F. A. Leckie and R. K. Penny with modifications. The study covers the parameter ranges  $0.01 \leq d/D \leq 0.5$ ,  $0.01 \leq t/T \leq 3.0$ ,  $10 \leq D/T \leq 1000$ . Stresses due to internal pressure, axial load on the nozzles, and moment on the nozzle are computed.
- 15. Friedrich, C. M., "Seal-Shell-2, A Computer Program for the Stress Analysis of a Thick Shell of Revolution with Axisymmetric Pressures, Temperatures, and Distributed Loads", Bettis Atomic Power Laboratory Report WAPD-TM-398.
- 16. Cloud, R. L., 'Minimum Weight Design of a Radial Nozzle in a Spherical Shell", Trans. of ASME, Journal of Applied Mechanics, June, 1965, Vol 32, Series E.
- 17. ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Section I, Power Boilers (see Reference 4).
- 18. ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Section VIII, Unfired Pressure Vessels (see Reference 4).
- Code for Pressure Piping, ASA B31.1, American Standards Association,
   10 East 40th Street, New York, New York.
- 20. API Recommended Rules for Design and Construction of Large, Welded, Low Pressure Storage Tanks, API Standard 620, American Petroleum Institute, 111 West 50th Street, New York, New York.

# PHASE REPORT NO. 2

on

ection 7

STRESSES AT NOZZLES IN SPHERICAL SHELLS LOADED WITH PRESSURE, MOMENT OR THRUST

# July 15, 1966

to

# UNITED STATES ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION

by

E. C. Rodabaugh Battelle Memorial Institute Columbus, Ohio (Battelle Contract No. W-7405-eng-92)

> F. J. Witt Oak Ridge National Laboratory Oak Ridge, Tennessee

R. L. Cloud Westinghouse Electric Corporation Bettis Atomic Power Laboratory Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
INTRODUCTION	1
SCOPE	2
SUMMARY	4
NOMENCLATURE	9
COMPARISON OF THEORIES	13
General Comments	13 14 15 23 34 36
Seal-Shell-2 The Battelle Axisymmetric Stress Intensity Code - BASIC	44 51
Use of Computer Programs	54
COMPARISON OF THEORIES WITH TEST DATA	55
General Comments	55 55
Model BUShips D	55 59 93
Moment or Thrust Loading	116
Models with Small Fillet Radius	116 128 137
DISCUSSION OF RESULTS IN RELATIONSHIP TO PRESENT CODES AND PRACTICES	149
Pressure Loading	149
Replacement Area, d <sub>.</sub> T	149 149
Moment Loading, Comparison with ASA B31.1	154

~

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (contd)

	Page
Combined Pressure and Moment Loading	162
Linear Superposition of Stresses	162 163
Relative Magnitude of Stresses from Pressure or Moment Loading	164 172

# APPENDIX

DESIGN	GRAPHS.			•							•	•	•				•									•			A	1
--------	---------	--	--	---	--	--	--	--	--	--	---	---	---	--	--	--	---	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	---	--	--	---	---

# INTRODUCTION

Nozzles in pressure vessels may be loaded by external forces as well as internal pressure. To evaluate critical stress conditions at the nozzles, it is necessary to determine the stresses due to each of these loads and combinations thereof.

Several analytical and experimental investigations have been made to assist the pressure vessel designer to determine stresses at nozzles in spherical vessels or heads. Bijlaard  $(1-6)^*$  developed an analysis for either a rigid plug (references 1, 2, and 5) or a pipe nozzle (references 3, 4, and 6) in a spherical shell, subjected to either moment or thrust loading applied to the plug or pipe nozzle. Graphs were prepared showing stress resultants and displacements for the sphere covering a range of dimensional parameters. The above work by Bijlaard has been replotted in more readable form and presented as a part of a design manual by Wichman, Mershon, and Hopper<sup>(7)</sup>. Since Bijlaard did not compute the stress resultants in the nozzles, the maximum stresses may not be indicated by these references. In addition, the data are somewhat difficult to use in design work because of the required interpolations between graphs.

Leckie and Penny<sup>(8, 9, 10)</sup> developed a somewhat more general analysis for nozzles in spheres, with loadings of internal pressure, moment on the nozzle, thrust on the nozzle or shear on the nozzle. Their Reference 10 presents maximum stresses in the sphere for these three loads. They found it possible to present these maximum stresses as functions of t/T and  $(r/R) \sqrt{R/T}$  only; thereby providing a major advantage in convenience to the user. This design information, however, is limited in two respects: (1) stresses in the nozzles are not given, and (2) since neither the location or direction of the maximum stress in the sphere is given (and, in general, these are not the same for various loads), it is not possible to find the stresses due to a combination of loads.

<sup>\*</sup> Numbers in raised parentheses refer to list of references at end of Report.

Waters<sup>(11)</sup> developed an analysis for nozzles in spheres subjected to internal pressure, including some boundary conditions not considered by Leckie and Penny. This analysis, with some additional refinements, was used by Cloud & Rodabaugh<sup>(12)</sup> to define elastic stress magnitudes in establishing a design procedure for radial nozzles in spherical vessels loaded with internal pressure.

The analyses described above are essentially "two-piece" shell theories, i.e., a cylindrical nozzle joined to a spherical shell segment. These analyses cannot directly indicate the effect of any local reinforcing, such as a fillet radius at the outside of the nozzle-sphere juncture. Computer programs (13, 14) which permit breaking the nozzle-sphere juncture into a "multipiece-shell" of variable midsurface and wall thickness are available; these are useful in evaluating the effect of the local details of the nozzle-sphere juncture. Also, a computer program (15) is available which treats the axisymmetric structure with axisymmetric loading as a three-dimensional elastic problem without the simplifications of shell theory.

In addition to the analytical work discussed above, extensive experimental work has been completed; a major part of which is summarized by Mershon  $^{(16, 17, \& 35)}$ .

# SCOPE

This report presents information on the stresses in the neighborhood of a juncture of a cylindrical nozzle mounted radially on a spherical shell segment. The nozzle is considered to be isolated from other nozzles or geometric discontinuities. Loadings considered are (a) internal pressure, (b) moment applied to the nozzle, and (c) thrust applied to the nozzle. The report consists of:

> A brief discussion and extensive numerical comparisons of various theoretical methods used for calculating stresses for nozzles in spherical shells.

- (2) Comparisons of calculated stresses with measured stresses of nozzles in spheres; these comparisons are made for 70 different test models, involving a wide range of dimensions and details of local reinforcing.
- (3) A discussion of the results of (1) and (2) in relationship to present pressure vessel and piping codes and practices.
- (4) Design Graphs, based on "two-piece" elastic shell theory, from which stresses can be determined at the nozzle-sphere juncture for pressure, moment or thrust loads, or combinations thereof. Examples of the use of the design graphs are included in this part.

Part 4 of the Report is intended to be useable for design work without reference to the remainder of the Report. For this purpose, it is included as an Appendix.

#### SUMMARY

# Comparison of Theories

The "two-piece" shell theories used in this Report are: Bijlaard: Moment or thrust loadings Waters: Internal pressure Leckie-Penny: Internal pressure, moment or thrust loadings Kalnins: Internal pressure, moment or thrust loadings (As a two-piece theory)

The basis of each of these theories is briefly discussed. Within the range of dimensional parameters covered, it was found that Bijlaard, Leckie-Penny and Kalnins theories give essentially the same results. Waters theory gives different results than Leckie-Penny or Kalnins theories; the reasons for these differences are considered and numerical comparisons are given.

"Multi - piece" shell theories used (in the form of computer programs) were those of Kalnins and Seal-Shell-2. The development of these two programs is discussed, along with numerical comparisons: Kalnins theory is based on thin-shell assumptions; Seal-Shell-2 is more applicable to thick shells and, in general, agrees better with test data than Kalnins.

A computer program entitled "BASIC", which uses point matching for axisymmetric bodies of revolution subjected to axisymmetric forces, is briefly discussed and the results for an example are shown.

## Comparison of Theories with Test Data

# Internal Pressure Loading

Comparisons are made between the theories and results from some 55 test models. Most of the test models included a fillet radius at the juncture of nozzle and the sphere; the comparison between two-piece shell theories and test results were, in most cases, strongly dependent upon

the size of the fillet radius,  $r_0$ . For models which were considered as essentially consisting of a uniform-wall nozzle in a uniform-wall sphere, Waters' theory was found to be conservative provided that  $r_0/t$  is greater than about 0.8 and the theory is fairly accurate for predicting the maximum stress for  $r_0/t$  between about 0.5 and 3.

Modifications to Waters' theory involving the actual wall thicknesses at the juncture, "curved-beam" effects and Lame-type effects brought the modified theory into better agreement with test data, particularly with large fillet radii.

Comparisons of test data with the multipiece shell programs gave, in most cases, quite good agreement. Comparisons are limited to models with d/D of 0.2 or larger. There are tentative indications that these programs may be of limited applicability to nozzles with small d/D ratios and an abrupt transition between a small thickness nozzle wall and a large thickness sphere wall.

The significance of stresses at the outer edges of reinforcing is noted; abrupt transitions between heavy reinforcing and thin nozzle or sphere walls can give rise to high stresses, even though the opening, per se, is adequately reinforced.

The Seal-Shell-2 program was used to develop a parametric study of reinforcing provided by a fillet radius. This study results in a simple equation for the size of fillet radius required to achieve a stress intensity index of 2.0. Comparison of this theoretical equation with test data is generally satisfactory. For small d/D ratios and thick-wall spheres, however, a very large fillet radius apparently is required to reduce the maximum stress intensity index to 2.0.

Variations of the inside corner radius, within the range of the test models, had relatively little effect on the magnitude of the stresses.

# Moment or Thrust Loading

Comparisons are made between the theories and results of 14 tests with moment loading; 9 tests with thrust loading. A series of 5 tests on
photoelastic models, when compared with two-piece shell theory, again indicate the strong dependence upon the size of the fillet radius. Semiempirical modifications to two-piece shell theory bring the theory into adequate agreement with the test data. Results from Kalnins' multipiece shell program agree quite well with the test data.

Comparison of two-piece shell theory with two test models with practically zero fillet radius is made, giving generally good agreement between test data and theory at points away from the junctures.

Comparisons are made with six fabricated test models subjected to both moment and thrust loadings. These models had significant reinforcing; adequate agreement between test data and theory is shown at points away from the junctures.

#### Discussions

#### Replacement Area, Pressure Loading

Assuming a design stress criterion that the maximum stress intensity index is limited to 3.0 S, Waters' theory indicates that present code rules of replacement area and associated reinforcement zones are conservative except for reinforcing on the sphere where present code rules (except ASME Section III) may be unconservative for large d/D ratios combined with large D/T ratios.

#### ASME Section III Stress Indices, Pressure Loading

The stress indices in Par I-612(a) of the above Code are compared with Waters' analysis and, in one case, Kalnins' multipiece shell program. These stress indices are in general agreement with the theories, except for reinforcing on the sphere with large d/D ratios combined with large D/T ratios, where it appears that maximum stresses will be some 50% higher than the Code index.

# Moment Loading, Comparison with ASA B31.1

Since nozzles on pressure vessels quite often are at one end of a piping system, the stress intensification factors given in ASA B31.1 for piping components are significant with respect to the design of nozzles. The theoretical elastic stresses for nozzles in spheres are compared with the fatigue-test derived stress intensification factors for other piping components.

#### Combined Pressure and Moment

A brief discussion is given on the questions of (1) are the stresses due to pressure linearily superposable on stresses due to moment and (2) are maximum stress locations the same for pressure loading as for moment loading. The answer given to both of these questions is negative. However, the amount of conservatism introduced by assuming linear superposition is small. The amount of conservatism introduced by assuming that maximum stress locations coincide depends upon the dimensional parameters of the nozzles.

# Relative Magnitude of Stresses, Internal Pressure and Moment Loading

Because moment loadings depend upon the piping system, and may not be established in the early design stage, several limitations to moments in piping systems are discussed. Depending upon which moment limitation is assumed, and the particular dimensional parameters at the nozzles, stresses due to moments may be anywhere from 4 or 5 times those due to pressure down to practically negligible magnitudes.

#### Stresses in Phase I Designs

Phase I Report<sup>(12)</sup> gives dimensions of nozzles that (1) have a plastic collapse pressure of at least 1.5 times the design pressure and (2) have a maximum stress intensity of not more than 3.0 S. Because the plastic collapse pressure is the controlling limit for almost all dimensional parameters, the maximum stress intensity index in these designs is generally less than 3.0. If a maximum stress intensity index of 3.0 for combined loadings is used as a design criteria, the Phase I designs have some capacity for moment loadings. The stress intensities of Phase I designs are given, along with stress intensities due to moment loadings. The moment load capacity of any Phase I design can be obtained from the data presented; several examples are given.

#### Appendix

Design graphs, based on the CERL program results, are given for:

Loadings	Stress Types	Stress Directions	Dimensional Parameters
Internal Pressure	Membrane	Norma1	$10 \leq \frac{\mathrm{D}}{\mathrm{T}} \leq 250$
Moment on Nozzle	Bending	Tangential	$0.01 \leq \frac{d}{D} \leq 0.5$
Thrust on Nozzle			$0.01 \leq \frac{t}{T} \leq 3.0$

The stresses are functions of three independent dimensional parameters. Because three parameters present difficult interpolation problems to the user, the graphs were prepared as functions of two parameters although this entailed some loss in accuracy.

# NOMENCLATURE (See Figure 1)

#### Dimensions

D = mean diameter of sphere, inches d = mean diameter of nozzle, inches R = mean radius of sphere, inches r = mean radius of nozzle, inches (In some parts of the Report, inside dimensions are used, indicated by a subscript i) T = wall thickness of sphere, inches <math>T' and t' are used for locally increased t = wall thickness of nozzle, inches [ thickness near the nozzle-sphere juncture. r = outside fillet radius, inches r.= inside corner radius, inches h = thickness normal to an assumed neutral surface, inches  $h_1$  = normal thickness assumed for nozzle (See Fig. 12)  $h_2$  = normal thickness assumed for sphere (See Fig. 12)  $R_1 = 1$  ocal radius assumed for nozzle, inches (See Fig. 12)  $R_{2}$  = local radius assumed for sphere, inches (See Fig. 12) A = cross-sectional area of reinforcing, sq in Co-ordinates  $\phi$  = meridional angle on sphere (See Fig. 1)  $\theta$  = latitude angle on sphere x = axial direction on nozzle y = circumferential direction on nozzle Loads P = internal pressure, psi M = moment, in 1b, positive as shown in Fig. 1 L = thrust, 1b, positive as shown in Fig. 1 Stress Resultants (See Fig. 1 for positive directions)  $N_{\Omega}$ = force,  $\theta$  - direction, lb/in  $M_{\Omega}$  = moment,  $\theta$  - direction, in-lb/in  $N_{\phi}$  = force,  $\phi$  -direction, lb/in  $M_{\phi}$  = moment,  $\phi$  - direction, in-lb/in  $N_y$  = force, y - direction, lb/in M = moment, y - direction, in-1b/in  $N_x =$  force, x - direction, lb/in M<sub>2</sub> = moment, x - direction, in-lb/in

continued on next page

#### NOMENCLATURE (contd)

#### <u>Stresses</u>

Nominal stresses are designated by S or s, measured or calculated stresses by  $\sigma$ ; with appropriate subscripts.

For Pressure Loading S = PD/4T, psi s = Pd/2t, psi (The ratio s/S is also used as a dimensional parameter, s/S = 2 (d/D) (T/t) For Moment Loading  $S = 4M/\pi d^2 t$ , psi For Thrust Loading  $S = L/\pi dt psi$  $\sigma_{n\theta}$  = membrane stress,  $\theta$  - direction, in sphere, psi  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{b\theta}$  = bending stress,  $\theta$  - direction, in sphere, psi  $\sigma_{n\phi}$  = membrane stress,  $\phi$  - direction, in sphere, psi  $\sigma_{b\phi}$  = bending stress,  $\phi$  - direction, in sphere, psi σny = membrane stress, y - direction, in nozzle, psi σ<sub>by</sub> = bending stress, y - direction, in nozzle, psi = membrane stress, x - direction, in nozzle, psi  $\sigma_{nx}$  $\sigma_{\rm bx}$  = bending stress, x - direction, in nozzle, psi  $\sigma_n$  = stress in  $\theta$  or y - direction  $\sigma_{+}$  = stress in  $\phi$  or x - direction

(Most of the test data gives surface stresses using the  $\sigma_n$ ,  $\sigma_t$  nomenclature. In general, these surface stresses cannot be accurately separated into membrane or bending stresses and, in many cases, the location of maximum stresses cannot be definitely assigned to the sphere or nozzle portion of the test model. In comparison of theory with test data, the stress components listed above are combined to give surface stresses.)

#### Stress Indices $(\sigma/S)$

Stress indices are denoted by the letter K with suitable subscripts. The nominal stress, S, depends upon the load as defined above.

 $K_{n\theta} = \text{stress index, membrane, } \theta - \text{direction, in sphere}$   $K_{b\theta} = \text{stress index, bending, } \theta - \text{direction, in sphere}$   $K_{n\phi} = \text{stress index, membrane, } \phi - \text{direction, in sphere}$  $K_{n\phi} = \text{stress index, bending, } \phi - \text{direction, in sphere}$ 

# NOMENCLATURE (contd)

 $K_{ny} = stress index, membrane, y - direction, in nozzle$  $<math>K_{by} = stress index, bending, y - direction, in nozzle$  $<math>K_{nx} = stress index, membrane, x - direction, in nozzle$  $<math>K_{bx} = stress index, bending, x - direction, in nozzle$ <u>Material Properties</u>

E = modulus of elasticity, psi

v = Poisson's ratio

 $S_a = allowable stress, psi$ 

S<sub>o</sub> = yield strength, psi

Other symbols are defined where used in text.





FIGURE 1. NOMENCLATURE ILLUSTRATION

# COMPARISON OF THEORIES

#### General Comments

Several analytical developments are used in the subsequent section of this Report, "Comparison of Theories with Test Data". These analytical developments were selected principally because of their availability; no implication is intended that these analyses are necessarily better than other similar analyses.

In this section, an attempt is made to bring out those facets of the analyses which are significant with respect to comparison with test data, and those aspects which differentiate the analyses from each other. No attempt is made to describe these developments completely. A more complete review of some of the analyses used herein, and other similar developments, is given by Kraus<sup>(19)</sup>.

## Leckie-Penny Analysis

The Leckie-Penny analysis<sup>(8)</sup> is based on the usual assumptions of thin-shell elastic theory. The most significant of these assumptions, in the present context, is that the shell wall thickness is small compared to the radius of curvature; its significance arising because in most designs of nozzles in spherical shells, this assumption is not valid.

The analysis of the spherical shell is based on asymptotic integration of the basic differential equation of a spherical shell, expressed in terms of a complex stress function. The analysis is applicable either to symmetric loading (e.g., internal pressure, axial thrust on the nozzle) or any loading of the form  $L_n = L \cos n \theta$ . The value of n in the analysis may be any integer, however, calculated results for a range of dimensional parameters are available only for n = 0 and n = 1. The loading with n = 1 represents a bending moment applied to the nozzle. The analysis is applicable to any angle  $\emptyset$ , as contrasted to the Esslinger approximation which is limited to small values of  $\phi$ , or the Geckler approximation for large values of  $\emptyset$ . The use of asymptotic integration implies a further limitation of the "thinness" of the shell. Leckie and Penny<sup>(10)</sup>, in numerical solutions for cylindrical nozzles in spherical shells, limited themselves to D/T values of 60 or larger. Thin shell theory itself should be reasonably valid at somewhat smaller D/T values.

Edge bending solutions for the cylindrical nozzle are given by Hoff<sup>(20)</sup>. For the cases of n = 1, these were further simplified to give the same results as for the axisymmetric case (n = 0). The axisymmetric bending behavior of cylinders is well known<sup>(21)</sup>.

The nozzle in a spherical shell problem was solved<sup>(9)</sup> by the usual technique of requiring that the edge forces (shears and moments) be such that the deflections and rotations of the shell edges are equal.

It should be noted that the edge forces are assumed to be applied at the midsurfaces of the nozzle and sphere; a major point of

difference between this analysis and Waters'analysis discussed later herein. Solutions are included<sup>(10)</sup> for the following type of nozzles:

- Cylindrical nozzle protruding either outward only, inward only or in both directions. The length of the nozzle, inward and/or outward, is assumed to be "semi-infinite".
- (2) Spherical shell of constant thickness or a spherical shell of thickness T' near the nozzle and a thickness T away from the nozzle,  $T' \ge T$ .

# CERL Code

The CERL Code<sup>\*</sup> is a computer program based on the Leckie-Penny analysis. A parametric study using the CERL Code, for outwardly protruding nozzles, provides some detailed data not available in Reference (10).

- Calculations were made for D/T values down to 10, as compared to a lower limit of 60 in Reference (10).
- (2) Calculations were made for t/T values up to 3, as compared to an upper limit of 1.0 in Reference (10).
- (3) Stresses in the nozzles were calculated.

Figure 2 gives the maximum stresses in the sphere with internal pressure loading and corresponds to Figure 2 of Reference (10). The lines for  $t/T \leq 1.0$  are, of course, essentially the same as in Reference (10). The graph also shows the points calculated for each D/T-value to illustrate the degree of approximation involved in using the two independent variables; t/T and  $d/D \sqrt{D/2T}$ . Figure 3 gives maximum stresses in the nozzle with internal pressure loading. It is apparent from Figures 2 and 3 that:

(1) The selection of independent variables of t/T and d/D  $\sqrt{D/2T}$  does not eliminate D/T as an independent variable for maximum stresses in the nozzle, see Figure 3.

\* This program is identified as the CERL-II Code, See Reference (34).





 $\bigcirc$ 

(2) The maximum theoretical stress in the nozzle-sphere structure occurs:

> in the nozzle for  $t/T < \sim .5$ ; in the sphere for  $t/T > \sim 1.0$

For a d/D of 0.01, the transition occurs around t/T = .5. For large d/D, the transition occurs at around t/T = 1.0. An exception occurs when the nozzle-sphere dimensions are such that the bending moment in the nozzle is almost zero (see Figure A 5b\*); near these points the maximum stress in the sphere may be about equal to or slightly exceed the maximum stress in the nozzle. For example, for D/T = 25, d/D = .10, t/T = .068 the maximum stress index in the sphere is about 2.9; that in the nozzle about 2.5.

Figure 4 gives the maximum stresses in the sphere with moment loading and corresponds to Figure 9 of Reference (10). Figure 5 is the analogous graph for stresses in the nozzle. Figures 6 and 7 are corresponding graphs for thrust loading in the sphere and nozzle, respectively. For moment or thrust loads, the maximum stress occurs:

> in the nozzle for t/T < .8in the sphere for t/T > 1.0.

\* Appendix



Ð







# Waters' Analysis

Waters' analysis was developed for outwardly protruding nozzles in spherical shells with pressure loading. The general basis of the analysis is given in Reference (11). Two refinements were later added by Waters, consisting of:

(a) A thick-wall (Lame approximation) correction factor, and

(b) The inclusion of a "local flexibility factor".

A comparison of results obtained from the CERL Code with those obtained from Waters' analysis is given in Table 1. It is apparent from Table 1 that the two analyses give significantly different results throughout the dimensional parameter range covered. The differences between the two analyses are discussed in the following.

(1) Local Flexibility Factor

The CERL Code analyses involves the assumption that at the juncture between nozzle and sphere the tangents to the surfaces do not rotate with respect to each other; analogous to the usual engineering assumption that there is no rotation at the "fixed" end of a cantilever beam. A more precise analysis of the juncture area of cantilever beam with an elastic half-plane shows, of course, that absolute rigidity at the joint cannot be obtained and that there are (usually negligible) deflections and rotations due to local strains in the beam and its support. Waters' analysis includes "local flexibility factors" which approximate the effect of these local strains. The plane strain formulas given in Bettis Atomic Power Laboratory Report WAPD-X (CE)-170, p. 40 were used; these formulas are:

$$\delta_{\rm m} = -2.38 (1 - \sqrt{-2} \sqrt{2}) M_{\rm co} / {\rm Et}$$

$$\psi_{\rm m} = -6.36 (1 - \sqrt{2}) M_{\rm co} / {\rm Et}^2$$

$$\delta_{\rm v} = 1.408 (1 - \sqrt{2}) \Phi Q_{\rm co} / {\rm E}$$

$$\psi_{\rm v} = -\delta_{\rm m} Q_{\rm co} / M_{\rm co}$$

$$\phi = \ell_{\rm H} \frac{r}{t} - \sum_{\rm n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2n(2n+1)(2r/t)2n} + \frac{3}{2}$$

$$\approx \ell_{\rm H} \frac{r}{t} - \frac{1}{24(r/t)^2} + \frac{3}{2}$$
(1)

TABLE 1. COMPARISON OF CALCULATED JUNCTURE STRESSES FOR INTERNAL PRESSURE, WATERS AND CERL

.0316 1.60 -.0364 .489 2.07 , Kpx - .116 .678 .401 .317 .569 .136 **.**243 **.**282 2.08 2.34 1.38 2.54 -1.49 2.51 2.77 1.61 3.11 .810 1.00 .810 1.00 **.**810 1.00 .810 1.00 .005 .090 .225 .050 .320 .320 .125 R nx 2.50 .40 2.50 1.80 In Nozzle -.0109 .0408 .0728 .830 .0950 .0348 .0950 .0845 .147 620 .203 .120 .414 .762 .171 .781 482 934 .447 -K<sup>by</sup> .1 8 .936 2.02 .658 1.54 .297 K ny 2.96 2.82 1.35 1.98 3.48 1.65 2.04 4.95 4.00 2.22 2.30 L.58 2.14 3.64 2.90 2.51 2.40 4.63 2.87 2.73  $\sigma/S$  (S = PD/4T) 0032 .0112 -.0028 .543 .0232 .0058 .0100 .0115 .0044 .0836 .0095 .0950 .0171 .120 .434 .159 .586 .719 .856 -Kpg .401 .777. 1 . .429 .0363 .446 .0079 0013 .0425 .0264 .0011 .0311 .140 .335 .415 .329 .163 .544 .152 340 **.**804 .214 .287 440 .169 .167 K nø In Sphere t t t .0074 .01.64 0004 .0014 .0063 1.07 .976 .0121 .0081 .0912 1.14 .992 .224 .768 .354 •500 •433 318 .122 285 .662 405 .662 .611 К<sub>b</sub>θ ž I ł .826 1.17 .967 1.61 к nθ 1.58 2.01 3**.**64 3**.**53 1.08 1.96 2.23 2.16 1.35 1.92 2.88 2.192.50 2.50 2.68 1.46 1.99 1.88 2.12 2.77 1.792.00 Calculation Waters CERL Waters Waters CERL Method Waters CERL •25 2.0 1,0 2 °0 5.0 2.0 1,0 4**.**0 2.0 5.0 °, 4. w w S. 1.25 2.5 25. 10. 20. 10. ŝ 10. 25. • د H O 10. 2 4. 2.00 .50 •10 •25 .50 •10 .25 .50 °25 •02 •04 •07 01 HE .10 .25 •50 •01 ≽ PIP 10 AlH

24

(contd)
г.
TABLE

					,				25							
		-K bx	.302 1.34	0578 .0586	.488 .563	1.31 2.10	1.27 2.84	.663 3.14		2.88 2.78	2.41 4.17	.987 2.86	4.23 2.95	5.53 7.00	3.09 5.16	0814 .347
	ozzle	Kn Nx	.320	.0267	.960 1.00	•46	•22	.064 .10	2.46 2.50	.96 1.00	.36 .40	.16	2.46 2.50	.96 1.00	•46 •50	.088 .125
	In N	- K <sub>by</sub>	.0906 .401	0173 .0179	.146 .169	• 393 • 630	.382 .853	.199 .944	115 641	<b>.</b> 864 .835	.722 1.25	•296 •858	1.27 .885	1.66 2.10	.927 1.55	0244 .104
PD/4T)		K ny	1.68 1.83	•506 •887	2.34 2.31	2.04 2.15	1.69 2.06	1,08 1,93	4.30 3.37	3.48 2.88	2.40 2.44	1.54 1.95	6.22 5.03	4.45 4.00	2.87 2.90	1.20 1.44
σ/S (S =		−K <sub>b</sub> ø	.470 1.34	0494 .528	- 0024 00006	.0136 .00084	.0353 .00454	.0646 .0314	• 00343	.115 .0278	.408	.590 .714	•202 •0295	.691 .438	1.25 1.29	•447 1.39
	Sphere	K nø	<b>.</b> 510 <b>.</b> 584	809 900	0381 .00058	.0422 .00517	1.85 .0195	.498 .0850	- 0862 00452	.0019 .0286	.190 .130	<b>.</b> 389 <b>.</b> 280	0413 .0703	.137 .173	.316 .316	•762 •451
	In	- K <sub>b</sub> e	•323 •356	.0030 .0491	.0465 .0490	.0329 .0480	<b>.</b> 0067 .0437	0343 .0139	.894 .876	•765 •838	.455 .615	.206 .225	1.29 1.26	.977 1.05	.657 .714	.218 .239
		К nθ	1.65 1.90	.836 1.12	1.97 2.01	1.88 2.00	1.74 1.99	1.43 1.92	2.66 2.64	2.49 2.59	2.12 1.98	1.76 1.98	4 <b>.</b> 31 4.31	3.51 3.76	2.68 2.86	1.54 1.61
	Calculation	Method	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL	Waters CERL
	v.	al os	1.0	• 333	2.0	1.0	•50	.20	5.0	2.0	ω •	4.	5.0	2.0	1.0	•25
	סי	י נין <u>ן</u> נ	5.	1.67	50	25	12.5	5.	125.	50.	20.	10.	125.	50.	25.	6.25
	ų	16	1.0	3.0	•01	•02	•04	•10	•04	•10	•25	•50	.10	•25	•50	2 <b>.</b> 00
	q		-20		-0 <sup>1</sup>				• 10				•25	<u>,</u>	<u> </u>	
	Q	IH	F	>	20			4 	<del>,</del>	<del>.</del>			·			

)

TABLE 1. (contd)

- .101 .179 N<sup>K</sup> .848 .661 2.06 2.22 1.69 2.96 2.40 3.00 2.00 3.40 4.08 5.91 8.38 9.32 5.43 7.45 4.22 2.28 8.57 8.00 7.76 9.31 14.7 .992 1.00 .129 .092 .10 .392 .40 .192 К nx .24 .25 2.49 2.50 2.49 2.50 •49 •50 .96 1.00 •46 • <u>5</u>0 .99 1.00 1.96 2.00 In Nozzle .0302 .0538 •599 1•02 1.27 .685 .506 .888 **.**619 **.**666 **.**254 **.**198 .722 2.33 2.80 1.63 2.24 2.57 2.40 4.41 4.11 1.22 2.51 2.80 . K by K ny 9°95 8.66 1.80 2.01 5.32 4.28 4.04 3.60 2.75 2.76 1.36 1.38 2.31 2.19 2.14 2.12 6.11 4.85 7**.**06 6**.**28 4**.**53 4.30 2.79 2.74 2.50 2.34  $\sigma/S$  (S = PD/4T) .0018 •0006 •00089 .0328 .00365 00408 .175 .106 .0307 -K<sub>b</sub>Ø .173 1.61 1.21 .583 .768 **.**344 1.47 2.24 2.96 2.08 1.86 .0074 .00034 .0473 .00915 .0108 .00247 .0097 .0110 .155 .0406 0474 0864 0342 .879 .817 147 118 263 .178 .366 466 .532 .571 K ng Sphere Ë .926 1.01 •770 •869 **.**136 .394 .131 .161 .046 .633 .675 -K<sub>b</sub>e .155 1.00 .957 .165 .167 1.20 1.23 1.28 1.28 1.47 1.41 1**.**24 1**.**07 3.91 3.99 7.89  $\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{n}\theta}^{\mathrm{K}}$ 1.86 1.99 4.10 4.10 2.67 2.78 2.87 2.78 1.49 1.59 2.01 2.03 1.97 2.03 3.31 3.51 4.04 4.16 2.03 2.04 5**°**73 5**°**80 Calculation Method Waters CERL • 333 1°0 2**.**0 1.0 5.0 2.0 5.0 4.0 2.0 °, 4. ဖျပ ŝ 2. 8.33 62.5 ч Io 25. 250. 125. 50. 250. 100. 625 . 625. 100. 25. 20 .10 •10 •10 .25 •02 •04 •04 50 .50 .01 .25 1.0 3.0 비머 • 10 **2**5 10° 50 PIP 250 20 AIH

TABLE 1. (contd)

27 .119 .459 **.**384 867 9.42 11.6 5.23 6.62 15.6 17.3 14.8 17.2 23.1 24.6 .992 1.00 •992 1.00 •492 •50 .117 .492 .50 .159 1.99 2.00 K nx In Nozzle .0356 .138 .115 .260 -K<sub>by</sub> 2.82 3.48 4.68 5.19 6.93 7.39 4.46 5.16 1.57 K<sup>R</sup>ny 7.91 7.66 2.53 2.44 7.61 6.96 5.05 4.88 4.88 4.76 2.37 2.41  $\sigma/S$  (S = PD/4T) 12.1 11.4 **-**Κ<sub>b</sub>Ø 1.36 1.08 2.93 2.90 2.37 3.47 2.21 1.54 4.57 4.30 5.95 6.62 2.11 4.13 306 307 .622 .566 276 362 .419 .478 .530 .811 .773 174 184 K nø In Sphere .737 .909 -K<sub>b</sub>θ 。681 1.16 1.34 1.33 1.24 1.27 1.55 1.32 1.75 1.67 1.83 1.98  $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{n}\boldsymbol{\theta}}$ 4.67 4.83 2.64 2.55 7.34 7.51 4.92 4.79 2.70 2.63 6.44 6.71 10.8 10.9 Calculation Method Waters CERL .333 •25 1 °0 4.0 2**.**0 1.0 2.0 ဖျပ 31.25 41**.**67 250. 125. 500. 125. ч Jo 250. •50 2,00 •25 •50 •25 1.0 3.0 비머 .50 .25 PIP 250 AH

Ì

In the above:

v = Poisson's ratio
E = modulus of elasticity
Other symbols defined in Figure 8.

In order to determine the magnitude of "local flexibility factor" effects; these factors were eliminated from Waters' analyses and stresses for the dimensional parameters shown in Table 1 were recomputed. Results for typical values of the dimensions covered are shown in Table 1a; identified as "Waters-1". For stresses in the sphere, in general, the effect of the "local flexibility factor" is to decrease the magnitude of the  $\theta$ -stresses and increase the magnitude of the  $\emptyset$ -stresses. In the nozzle, the y-stresses and the x-bending stresses generally increase due to the "local flexibility factor". The effect of the "local flexibility factor" is generally small in the sphere but can be quite large in the nozzle. For example, with dimensions D/T = 250, d/D = .10, t/T = .10, the value of K<sub>bx</sub> is 14.7 including the local flexibility effect; 6.89 without the "local flexibility effect".

#### (2) Location of Juncture Stresses

Juncture stresses from the CERL Code are located at x = 0(nozzle) and  $\emptyset = \emptyset_a$  (sphere) as shown in Figure 9. In Waters' analysis, the nozzle stress is also located at x = 0, but the sphere stress juncture location is taken at  $\emptyset_b$ . To indicate the significance of this difference, the Waters-1 analysis was revised to give the stresses at  $\emptyset = \emptyset_a$ . Results for typical values of the dimensions covered are shown in Table 1a; identified as "Waters-2". The effect of this difference depends upon the nozzle thickness t as compared to the sphere shell decay modulus,  $\sqrt[7]{DT}$ . For large values of t/T, the stresses are quite different for location  $\emptyset_a$ as compared with location  $\emptyset_b$ . For example, with D/T = 250, d/D = .5, t/T = 3.0,  $K_{b0} = -6.46$  at  $\emptyset_a$ ;  $K_{b0} = -2.72$  at  $\emptyset_b$ .

#### (3) Thick Wall Effects

The CERL code is based on thin-wall shell theory; the value of T/D and t/d are assumed to be negligible as compared to unity. Further,



FIGURE 8. DEFINITION OF TERMS IN EQUATION (1), LOCAL FLEXIBILITY EFFECT, WATERS THEORY



# FIGURE 9. DEFINITION OF TERMS USED IN WATERS ANALYSIS

EXAMPLES OF THE EFFECT OF MODIFICATIONS TO THIN-WALL SHELL THEORY INTRODUCED IN WATERS' ANALYSIS TABLE la.

0.302 0.460 0.460 2.06 0.653 LK bx 0.489 0.438 0.438 2.06 2.07 0.653 1.30 1.34 2.22 5.23 5.55 5.55 6.61 6.62 0.32 0.32 0.50 0.50 0.32 0.32 0.50 0.50 0.49 0.49 0.50 0.49 0.49 0.50 0.50 K nx In Nozzle 0.0906 0.619 0.620 0.137 0.137 0.196 0.196 0.666 0.666 0.391 0.401 0.131 -K<sub>by</sub> 0.131 0.619 0.147 1.57 1.66 1.66 1.98 1.99  $\overline{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{ny}}$ 1.58 1.19 1.19 2.14 2.14 1.68 1.30 1.83 1.83 2.31 1.32 1.32 2.18 2.19 4.88 1.66 1.66 4.79 4.79 = PD / 4T0.00089 0.00083 0.00083 0.0112 0.0069 0.0095 0.0096 0.0039 0.0029 Ч Рф 0.470 0.415 2.02 1.30 1.34 5.95 5.66 7.40 6.61 6.62 S σ/s 0.0108 0.00905 0.00243 0.00247 -0.0152 0.0112 0.0113 0.510 -0.154 0.548 0.584 0.163 -0.397 0.490 0.415 0.328 0.161 0.530 к пр 0.522 0.566 In Sphere 0.0013 -0.0014 0.0028 0.0120 0.0121 0.323 0.329 0.356 0.161 0.358 0.554 0.155 0.163 0.165 0.165 -K<sub>b</sub>θ 1.83 1.96 2.41 1.97 1.98 2.03 2.03 2.03 1.46 1.46 2.02 1.99 1.99 1.65 1.75 2.51 1.89 1.90 4.92 6.85 7.14 4.79 4.79 2.01 2.01  $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{n}\theta}$ Calculation Waters-2 Waters-3 Waters-1 Waters-1 Waters-2 Waters-3 Waters-1 Waters-2 Waters-3 Waters-1 Waters-2 Waters-3 Method CERL CERL CERL E Waters Waters CERL Waters Waters 1.0 1.0 s/S 1.0 1.0 d/t 5.0 5.0 125 125 0.02 0.02 t/T1.0 1.0 0.50 0.50 0.01 0.01 d/b D/T 10 250

Waters = Waters analysis.

Э

= Waters-1 with sphere stresses calculated at  $\emptyset_a$  instead of  $\emptyset_b$ . = Waters-2 with "thick-wall" effects taken out. Waters analysis with "Local flexability factor" taken out. Ħ Waters-2 Waters-3 Waters-1

the CERL code is based on the assumption that the juncture forces and moments are transferred at the intersection of the midwall of the cylindrical shell (nozzle) and the spherical shell. Waters' analysis contains thick-wall effects from two aspects.

(a) Correction factors are applied to the "membrane stresses". The correction factors are based on Lame' equations for a sphere or cylinder; approximated by use of a truncated series in R/T or r/t. For example, the midwall membrane  $\sigma_{\theta}$ -stress at section  $\overline{AB}$  (Figure 9) is given by.

$$(\sigma_{\theta})_{mm} = \frac{(R - T/2)^2}{2RT} + f(\lambda \phi_{b})$$
(2)

where  $f(\lambda \phi_b)$  represents the edge-effect solution. In thin-wall shell theory, the first term in equation (2) would be simply R/2T. At points A and B (Figure 9) the membrane stresses are given by:

$$(\sigma_{\theta})_{ma} = \sigma_{mn} \left( \frac{R - T/2}{R} \right)$$
(3)

$$(\sigma_{\theta})_{\rm mb} = \sigma_{\rm mn} (\frac{R}{R - T/2})$$
 (4)

Analogous corrections are used for the nozzle.

(b) Waters assumes (See Figure 9) that the shear force produces a moment about point 0 of:

$$M_{\phi a} = Q_{co} (T - t \sin \phi_a) r/2 \cos \phi_a$$
 (5)

and that the force  $N_{\rm w}$  produces the moment

$$M_{a} = -N_{x}(t/2)(r - t/4)$$
 (6)

further, the rotation at  $\emptyset_a$  produces a displacement of point 0' with respect to point 0 of:

 $\delta = -\frac{(d\emptyset_a) (T - t \sin \theta_a)}{2 \cos \theta_a}$ (7)

Where:  $(d\phi_a) = rotation at \phi_a$ 

To determine the effect of these assumptions, the Waters-2 computer program was altered to a "thin-shell" program and stresses calculated for the dimensional parameters of Table 1. Results for some typical values are shown in Table la: identified as "Waters-3". At this point, the major difference between "Waters-3" and the CERL code is that Waters analysis is based on shallow-shell theory (Esslinger approximation) whereas the CERL code is based on a non-shallow shell theory. As indicated by Table 1a, "Waters-3" and the CERL code results are in good agreement. For d/D of 0.5; there are small differences, particularly in the values of  $K_{n0}$ . It is apparent, however, that the shallow shell theory is of adequate accuracy for d/D up to 0.50 and D/Tup to 250.

It is apparent by comparing "Waters-2" with "Waters-3" of Table 1a that large differences may arise due to the "thick-wall effects" described above. These are particularly significant in the value of K<sub>by</sub>, the axial bending stress in the nozzle.

The Lame type thick-wall factors range from 0.9 to 1.1 for stresses in the sphere and do not account for the differences shown in Table 1a (in particular,  $K_{n0}$ , which often contains a sign reversal between "Waters-2" and "Waters-3"). The axial membrane stress index,  $K_{nx}$ , is obtained directly from static equilibrium; in the CERL code  $\sigma_{nx} = Pd_m/4t$ ; in Waters analysis the exact equation  $\sigma_{nx} = Pd_i^2/4d_m t$  is used. In general, the more significant differences arise when D/T and/or d/t are small.

Some further comparisons between Waters' analysis and the CERL code are made in the subsequent section of this report on "Comparison of Theories with Test Data".

#### Bijlaard Analysis

The pertinent work of Bijlaard with respect to nozzles in spherical vessels is given in References 1 through 6. The development is quite general but detailed results are given only for:

- (a) A solid plug nozzle in a spherical shell; the plug being loaded with radial thrust or moment loading.
- (b) A cylindrical shell nozzle protruding outward from a spherical shell, with loading as in (a).
- (c) A solid plug nozzle in a spherical shell with an annular pad around the nozzle, with loading as in (a).

Bijlaard's analysis for the spherical shell starts with Reissner's<sup>(22)</sup> differential equations for a shallow spherical shell. For axisymmetric (thrust) loading, the "edge effect" solution is the same as given by the Esslinger approximation used by Waters. The analysis of the cylindrical shell for thrust loading is the same as that used by Leckie-Penny and Waters and is the well-known<sup>(21)</sup> solution for a cylindrical

shell subjected to symmetric edge loads. Bijlaard used boundary conditions at the nozzle-sphere juncture analogous to Leckie-Penny assumptions, i,e., shears and moments are transferred at the shell mid-walls and the juncture itself is rigid.

Bijlaard's analysis of the spherical shell with non-symmetrical loading is analogous to the Leckie-Penny analysis in that the stress function is assumed to be of the form  $F = F_n \cos n\theta$  and  $w = w_n \cos n\theta$ . However, because of the shallow shell assumption, Bijlaard's analysis is significantly simplified. Bijlaard's analysis of the cylindrical shell is based on Donnell's<sup>(25)</sup> equations which, for the "edge-effect" solution, moment loading (n = 1), give:

where 
$$\alpha = (1/r) \left\{ 1 - (\nu/2) + \left[ 3(1 - \nu^2)(r/t)^2 + 1 - .75\nu^2 \right]^{1/2} \right\}^{1/2}$$
  
 $\beta = (1/r) \left\{ -1 + (\nu/2) + \left[ 3(1 - \nu^2)(r/t)^2 + 1 - .75\nu^2 \right]^{1/2} \right\}^{1/2}$ 

 $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are constants.

It is apparent that for moderately large values of r/t,  $\alpha \approx \beta \approx \sqrt[4]{3(1-v^2)}/\sqrt{rt}$  and Equation (8), except for the cos  $\theta$  factor, is the same as the symmetrical loaded edge-effect solution. Leckie-Penny used the simplified solution for w, while Bijlaard retained Equation (8). For small values of r/t, which are often encountered in pressure vessel nozzles, Bijlaard's analysis may be more accurate in this respect.

Because Bijlaards published data are somewhat limited in choice of dimensional parameters, a computer program based on Bijlaard's.

theoretical development was prepared. This program was used to compute stresses for comparison with CERL results. Table 2 shows this comparison for thrust loading; Table 3 for moment loading. It is apparent that for thrust loading, Bijlaard and CERL results are essentially the same. The differences between the two theories increase slightly with increasing d/D, but even at d/D = 0.5, the differences are small in an engineering sense and indicates that the shallow-shell theory is reasonably valid for d/D up to .5 with D/T of 100 or less. For moment loading the differences between Bijlaard and CERL are significant when the diameter-to-thickness ratio of the nozzle is small, e.g., 2.5. As discussed above, there is a difference between these two theories in the analysis of the nozzle as a cylindrical shell which may account for the differences in results.

#### Kalnins Analysis and Computer Program

The preceding analyses are applicable to uniform wall thickness, spherical or cylindrical shell segments which geometrically contain an axis of revolution. Kalnins' analysis and computer program, along with the "Seal-Shell-2" program discussed later, is more general in that the wall thickness may vary in an arbitrary manner, and the meridian curve is not restricted; provided that the wall thickness is small compared to the radius of curvature.

Two approaches have been taken to the numerical solution of the general shell of revolution.

- (1) Finite difference approach, in which a set of grid points are chosen and the differential equations for the shell are replaced by finite difference equations defined at the grid points.
- (2) Direct numerical integration of the differential equations for the shell by, for example, the Runge-Kutta technique.

CERL
AND
BIJLAARD
LOADING,
THRUST
FOR
STRESSES
JUNCTURE
CALCULATED
OF
COMPARISON
2.
TABLE

$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	K bx	.635 .666	.582	•560 •562	.552	3.74 3.85	2.48 2.54	L.24 L.25	.773 .775	2.72	4.81 5.02	5.11	4.38 4.60		
	-K	1.00 1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	, 00.1		
	In No	K <sub>by</sub> .	.190 .200	.173	.168 .168	.166 .166	1.12 1.16	.745 .762	•371 •375	•232 •232	.816 .855	1.44 1.51	1.75 1.83	1.31	
	-K ny	•303 •299	•306 •306	<b>.</b> 304 .303	<b>.</b> 302	•470 •434	<b>.</b> 558 .544	.450 .445	<b>.</b> 366 .364	1.60 1.55	1.39 1.38	1.45 1.47	1.27		
	Kbø	•0064 •0067	•00092 •00094	.00022	.00006	.935 .964	•155 •159	.0124 .0125	.0012	0.9	4.81 5.02	1.46 1.53	•274 •288		
	<b>−</b> K <sub>nØ</sub>	.0237 .0242	.00589 .00591	.00210 .00211	.00077	•465 •469	.131 .132	.0226 .0226	.00511	2.35 1 2.38 1	1.11 1.13	.473 .489	.159 .165		
	<sup>K</sup> bθ	.271 .273	.110	.0555 .0557	.0278 .0279	2.11 2.11	1.36 1.38	.599 .606	<b>.</b> 244 .247	3.24 3.36	1.90 1.96	1.35 1.38	.910 .937		
	<b>-</b> K <sub>n</sub> θ	.0097 .0092	.00749 .00747	.00459 .00459	.00258 .00258	.310 .306	298 299	.157	.0673 .0677	2.00 2.12	1.43 1.49	1.29 1.35	1.02 1.07		
	*****	Calculation Method	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	
Ddtdsstress IndicesDdtdsCalculationIn SphereIn NozzleDTtSMethodKKKK	ဖူလ	•20	•50	1.0	2.0	•20	•40	1.0	2.5	.25	•50	1.00	2.00		
	чIч	2.5	6.25	12.5	25.0	2.5	5.0	12 •5	31.2	2 •5	5.0	12 •5	50.0		
	$d  t  \underline{d}  \underline{s}  Calculation \qquad \underline{-K} \wedge  \underline{K}_{h, \Omega}  \underline{-K}_{n, \emptyset}  \underline{K}_{h, \emptyset}  \underline{-K}_{h, \emptyset}  \underline{K}_{h, \emptyset}  \underline{-K}_{h, Y}  \underline{K}_{h, Y}  \underline{K}_{h$	비단	.10	•04	•02	•01	•50	•25	•10	•04	2•0	1.0	•50	•25	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-0 <b>.</b>			-	•05				•25		<del>9 31-11</del>				
		คเษ	25	<u></u>				ar en 15 - 18	<del></del>	<del></del>					

(contd)
2.
TABLE

s.

D     d     t     d     stress Indices       D     d     t     stress Indices     stress Indices       D     f     f     stress Indices     stress Indices	K bx	1.36 1.49	3.81 4.16	4.66 5.15	3.64 4.08	1.27 1.28	.771 .774	.640 .640	.586 .586	12.49 12.57	8.67 8.73	3.49 3.51	1.50 1.50	
	ozz1e	-K nx	1.00 1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00 1.00	100       .01       .10       10.0       .20       Bijlaard       .118       .830       .0203       .0127       .412       .381       1.00       1.27         CERL       .118       .831       .0204       .0128       .410       .386       1.00       1.28         .04       25.0       .50       Bijlaard       .0517       .336       .00381       .00124       .351       .231       1.00       .771         .02       50.0       1.00       Bijlaard       .0517       .336       .00381       .00124       .351       .231       1.00       .771         .02       50.0       1.00       Bijlaard       .0517       .336       .00381       .00124       .350       .232       1.00       .774         .02       50.0       1.00       Bijlaard       .0265       .168       .00126       .00026       .326       .192       1.00       .640         .01       100.0       2.00       1.69       .00126       .00026       .326       .192       1.00       .640         .01       .01       .00.0       2.169       .00126       .00026       .326       .192       1.00       .640	1.00 1.00	1.00 1.00	1.00 1.00	1.00			
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	.408 .449	1.14 1.25	1.40 1.54	1.09 1.22	.381 .386	.231 .232	.192 .192	.176 .176	3.75	2.60 2.62	1.05 1.05	.450		
dices		•K ny	1.63 1.69	1.35 1.42	1.41 1.51	1.23 1.36	.412 .410	.351	.326 .326	.313 .313	1.81 1.79	1.58 1.57	.943 .942	.570
Stress In		K <sub>b</sub> ø	12.27 13.44	3.81 4.16	1.17 1.29	.227	.0127 .0128	.00123	.00026 .00026	.00006	3.12 3.14	.542 .546	.0349 .0351	<b>.</b> 0024 .0024
	phere	- K <sub>n</sub> ø	3 <b>.</b> 05 3.26	.922 1.00	.416 .457	.167 .186	.0203 .0204	.00381 .00381	.00126	<b>.</b> 00045 <b>.</b> 00045	.780 .782	.208 .209	.0273	<b>.</b> 00470 .00475
In S <sub>1</sub>		К <sub>b</sub> ө	3.55 3.89	1.33 1.43	•772 •796	•465 、470	.830 .831	•336 •337	.168 .169	.0843 .0844	3.85 3.86	2.76 2.77	1.27 1.28	•520 •523
		-K <sub>n</sub> θ	2.25 2.54	1.33 1.48	1.23 1.37	.982 1.12	.118 .118	.0517	.0265 .0265	.0134 .0134	1.74 1.75	1.34 1.34	.651 .654	•271 •272
		Calculation Method	Bi jlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL
		ၯ႞ၯ	•333	1 °00	2.00	4.00	•20	•50	1.00	2.00	.20	.40	1.00	2.50
		비미	4.17	12.5	25.0	50.0	10.0	25.0	50°0	100.0	10.0	20.0	50.0	125.0
		비면	3.00	1,00	•50	•25	.10	•04	•02	•01	<b>5</b>	•25	.10	•04
:		୴୲ୠ	•50		<u></u>	: 	- 01				•05			-
		ЯH	25				100	·						

•		- 7
Ť	t	3
	Ē	i
	ē	5
	2	5
	۲	1
	`	2
		-
		•
.0		1
F	Ŧ	1
÷		l
Ę.	Y	٦
	⊲	1
-F		i
- 25	•	

5.28 5.42 10.18 10.07 10.42 9.89 10.73 10.46 7.798.36 7.68 8.45 2.37 2.51 K bx 13.2 13.5 -K nx 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 In Nozzle .711 K by 2.34 3.02 1.58 1.63 3.06 3.14 3.95 4.06 2.97 3.22 2.30 2.54 -K ny 4**.06** 4**.1**4 4.90 5.14 3.47 3.70 2.58 2.83 3**.**59 3**.**68 2.90 2.99 3.18 3.43 Stress Indices 5.33 5.41 К<sub>b</sub>ø .629 .480 10.18 10.46 3.29 3.39 7.79 8.36 2.47 2.68 21.4 22.6 21.1 -K<sub>n0</sub> •530 .173 .981 1.06 .433 .472 .170 1.27 1.30 3.57 3.78 2.97 3.03 In Sphere К bθ **.**567 6.03 6.18 1.16 2.44 2.60 3.34 3.42 1.92 1.95 1.15 1.16 6**.**15 6.52 -Kne 5**.**92 6**.**09 5.67 6.05 3.01 3.28 4.14 4.26 3.45 3.55 2.65 2.74 3.75 2.33 2.59 3.47 Calculation Bijlaard CERL Bijlaard CERL Bijlaard CERL Bijlaard CERL Bijlaard CERL Bijlaard CERL Bijlaard Bijlaard Method CERL CERL .333 •50 1.00 2.00 1.00 2.00 4.00 .25 က က 16.67 200.0 200.0 50.0 50.0 100.0 10.0 20.0 4 JO •50 .25 •25 1.°0 3.0 1.0 2.0 ŝ HIH .50 •25 PIP 100 100 AH

CERL
AND
BIJLAARD
LOADING,
MOMENT
FOR
STRESSES
JUNCTURE
CALCULATED
OF
COMPARISON
Э
TABLE

	K bx	1.08 .389	.740 .507	.6 <b>3</b> 9	.591	1.70 .988	1.20 .815	<b>.</b> 778 .632	.622 .569	2.41 2.34	4 <b>.</b> 09 4 <b>.</b> 05	4.98 5.07	3.79 3.90	
lozzle	-K nx	1.00 1.00	1.00 1.00	1.00 1.00	1,00 1,00	1,00 1,00	1.00 1.00	1.00 1.00	1.00	1.00	1,00 1,00	1.00 1.00	1.00	
In N	K <sub>by</sub>	.325	.152	.192 .158	.177 .180	.508 .296	<b>.</b> 360 <b>.</b> 244	.233	.187	.724 .702	1.23 1.21	1.49 1.52	1.14 1.17	
	-K ny	.280 .275	<b>.</b> 294	<b>.</b> 298	•300 •298	.193 .140	<b>.</b> 264 <b>.</b> 245	<b>.</b> 295	<b>.</b> 300	.731	.675	<b>.</b> 860 .625	.857 .756	
	K <sub>b</sub> ø	.0108 .00389	.00118	.00026 .00021	.00006	.424 .247	.0751	.00778 .00632	.00099	9.65 9.36	4.09 4.05	1.25 1.27	•237 •244	
phere	− K <sub>n</sub> ø	.0157 .0180	.00487 .00540	.00191 .00204	.00073	.123 .144	•0520 •0552	.0145 .0149	<b>,</b> 00435 <b>,</b> 00440	1.33 1.49	• 738 • 800	<b>.</b> 361 .382	.134 .140	
In S	К <sub>b</sub> θ	.0378 .0447	.0183 .0186	.00948 .00952	.00481 .00481	.735	•505 •530	.225	.0922 .0925	3.08 3.34	1.89 1.98	1.43 1.47	1.01 1.04	
	-Kne	0156 0178	00480 00532	00187 00199	00071 00074	0706 0850	0205 0226	00101 00125	.00116 .00112	.829 .840	.596	668	.597 .622	
	Calculation Method	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	
	ທ່ານ	.20	•50	1,00	2.00	.20	.40	1.00	2.50	•25	• 20	1.00	2.00	
	ب ام	2.5	6.25	12.5	25.0	2 • 5	5 • 0	12.5	31.2	2 •5	5.0	12.5	50.0	
	비니	.10	•04	•02	•01	•50	.25	.10	•04	2.0 U=1.61	1.0	•50	•25	
	미미	-0.				• 02				• 25				
	ЯH	25									<u></u>			

contd
з. Э
TABLE

d t d $\underline{s}$ Calculation $\overline{r}$ $\overline{r}$ $\overline{r}$ $\overline{r}$ $\overline{r}$ $\overline{r}$ $\overline{r}$ $\overline{r}$	K <sub>by</sub> -K <sub>nx</sub> K <sub>bx</sub>	.437 1.00 1.46 .444 1.00 1.48	1.13 1.00 3.76 1.18 1.00 3.92	1.39 1.00 4.63 1.49 1.00 4.96	1.10 1.00 3.66 1.20 1.00 4.00	.226 1.00 .754 .173 1.00 .576	.185 1.00 .617 .165 1.00 .550	.173 1.00 .578 .165 1.00 .550	.168 1.00 .560 .150 1.00 .500	1.94 1.00 6.46 1.96 1.00 6.52	1.35 1.00 4.50 1.36 1.00 4.53	.568 1.00 1.89 .561 1.00 1.87	.283 1.00 .943 .280 1.00 .932	
	-K ny	1.20 1.01	1.02 .770	1,16 .985	1.09 1.04	.288 .286	.297 .296	•299 •299	•300 •300	.374 .265	•502 •460	.426 .415	.355	
d + d s Calculation	K <sub>b</sub> ø	13.1 13.3	3.76 3.92	1.16 1.24	.229	.00754	,00099 ,00088	.00023	.00006	1.62 1.63	.281 .283	.0189	.00151 .00149	
	-K <sub>n</sub> ø	2.44 2.73	•803 •882	.385 .424	.161 .179	.0110	.00298 .00304	.00112 .00113	<b>.</b> 00043 .00043	•333 •359	.0890 .103	.0161 .0187	•00370 •00370	
	К <sub>b</sub> θ	3.89 4.23	1.43 1.54	925	<b>.</b> 564	.186 .188	.0765 .0765	.0385 .0386	.0193 .0193	2.47 2.45	1.76 1.76	.803 .805	•328 •330	
	-K <sub>n</sub> θ	1.64 1.89	.957 1.08	.981 1.09	.835 .950	00862 00908	00201 00208	00063 00065	<b>-</b> .00018 00019	.174 .146	•232 •228	• 131 • 131	.0561 .0564	
	Calculation Method	Bi jlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bijlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	Bi jlaard CERL	-
	ຑໄຒ	.333	1.00	2.00	4.00	•20	•50	1.00	2.00	•20	•40	1.00	2.50	
	u ام	4.17	12 •5	25.0	50.0	10.0	25.0	50.0	100.0	10.0	20.0	50.0	125.0	
	비단	3.00	1.00	•50	•25	.10	•04	•02	•01	•50	•25	•10	•04	
	নান	-50			-	-01	<del></del>	<u>, _, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,</u>		•05	<u> </u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	AIH	25				100	<u> </u>		<u></u>			· · · · · · · · ·	<b>~</b>	

Õ
$\sim$
σ
Ū.
q
0
- C)
J
ന
[r]
щ
E
3LE
BLE
ABLE
ABLE

5.20 5.25 7.81 8.25 9.71 9.88 2.49 2.58 7.93 8.64 12.9 13.2 10.3 10.6 10.0 10.8 N DX -K nx 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 In Nozzle **.**748 2.34 2.48 3.01 3.24 3.87 3.96 2.38 2.59 3.09 3.18 к by 1.56 1.57 2.91 2.96 -K ny 3.71 3.52 2.90 2.63 2.83 2.60 2.49 2.40 4**.**29 4**.**38 3.05 2.95 2.92 2.85 2.52 .497 .540 K<sub>b</sub>ø .643 .662 2.51 2.69 9.71 9.88 3**.**23 3**.**31 7.81 8.25 22 **.**5 23 **.**3 20.8 21.0 .481 .496 .925 .998 **4**23 458 .169 .181 -Knø .167 .171 3.29 3.51 1.07 In Sphere 2.36 2.43 К<sub>b</sub>θ .643 .650 1.37 6.54 6.87 2.52 2.65 1.24 1.28 6**.**18 6.45 3.40 3.64 2.11 2.14  $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{n}\boldsymbol{\theta}}$ 2.67 2.74 2.75 3.00 2.92 2.98 2.24 2.31 4.98 5.40 3,03 2.22 2.46 4.11 4.24 Calculation Bijlaard CERL Bijlaard CERL Bijlaard CERL Bijlaard CERL Bi jlaard CERL Bi jlaard CERL Bijlaard CERL Bijlaard CERL Method •3<u>33</u> 2.00 4.00 1.00 2.00 •50 1.00 .25 ဖျပ 16.67 200.0 100.0 100.0 50.0 50.0 10.0 20.0 4 Ja •50 •25 •25 .50 1°0 1•0 3.0 2 °0 HE .50 .25 PIP 100 100 ALH

The finite difference approach has been used as the basis for a number of computer solutions for axisymmetric shell problems. One problem which arises in this technique is the selection of a grid spacing sufficiently fine so that adequate accuracy is achieved. A fine grid spacing results in the generation of large square matrices which must be inverted.

The numerical integration approach is more directly applicable to initial-value problems rather than shell-of-revolution problem in which it is necessary to take account of boundary loads at both ends of the shell. The integration technique may be applied, however, by assigning an arbitrary (e.g., unity) value to each variable at the starting edge of the shell. The shell equations are then integrated over the shell length to get six (symmetric loading) or eight (non-symmetric loading) equations relating the values of the variables at the remote edge to the (unit) values at the starting edge. Since three (or four for nonsymmetric loading) of the variables are known at each edge of the shell, the remaining six (or eight) unknown values are obtained by solving the six (or eight) simultaneous equations. While this technique works well for "short" shells, a major difficulty develops with "long" shells. In long shells, application of self-equilibrating boundary loads on one edge results in very small effects at the opposite edge. The numerical integration method, in such "long" shells, gives equations which are almost singular and truncation errors completely obliterate the desired answers. Kalnins overcomes this difficulty by applying the numerical technique to a shell broken up into short segments. The solutions for the short segments are then combined so that the continuity conditions at the junctures and the boundary conditions are satisfied. A major advantage is that the size of the matrix required for the final solutions is small as compared to that required in the finite difference approach; at the same time adequate accuracy can be maintained through control of the accuracy of the numerical integration.

While the approach used by Kalnins is different than the analytic approach used by Leckie and Penny, the basic theory, including continuity

conditions at junctures, are the same. The asymptotic integration used by Leckie and Penny might, for small values of D/T and/or d/t, lead to some differences between the results. Tables 4, 5, and 6 give comparisons between Kalnins' results and CERL (Leckie-Penny) results for Pressure, Thrust and Moment Loading, respectively. The dimensional parameters were chosen to represent the extremes investigated in this Report. Table 7 gives some comparisons for several test models. It is apparent, from Tables 4 through 7, that Kalnins and CERL computer programs give essentially the same results over the range of dimensional parameters covered.

In the above comparisons, Kalnins' program is used as a "two-piece" shell theory--simply to establish its consistency with respect to the CERL Code. In the subsequent section of this Report, Kalnins' program is used as a "multipiece" shell theory in comparison with results from the Seal-Shell-2 computer program.

#### Seal-Shell-2

(13)

The Seal-Shell-2 computer program permits dividing an axisymmetric shell into from 2 to 100 segments. Each segment may have a curved middle surface (considered as part of an ellipsoid) or the middle surface may be straight (part of a plate, cone, or cylinder). Thick shell geometry is used in the analysis, with basic assumptions that plane sections remain plane and the shear stress varies parabolically through the wall thickness. By application of the princip<sup>1e</sup> of virtual work to the strain energy of each segment, the forces on each segment are determined in terms of the deflections. Influence coefficients are then obtained and the conditions of continuity at the segment junctures are imposed to obtain a "stiffness matrix"; the solution of which gives the forces connecting the shell segments; the strain energy relationshipsthen give local stresses and strains.

Seal-Shell-2 is similar to CERL, Bijlaard and Kalnins developments in that forces and moments between segments are assumed to be transferred at the shell midsurfaces; it is different than Waters' development in this respect.

LOADING
PRESSURE
CERL,
MTTH
KALNINS
OF
COMPAR IS ON
4.
TABLE

.568 .661 .515 .458 1.32 2.77 2.77 2.372.51 24.6 24.6 K bx .250 .166 .500 K nx 2.00 1.00 2.00 1.04 010 In Nozzle .199 .170 .164 .830 .830 .717 .401 .155 .137 7.38 К by K ny 2.30 4.00 2.02 2.02 1.85 1.83 2.33 2.33 1.29 2.44 2.44 11.4 Stress Indices .00006 .00007 .0044 .0044 .515 .148 .157 K<sub>b</sub>ø 1.32 1.34 1.541.544.12 4.13 .00118 .00034 .0425 K nø .285 .586 .584 .540 .540 .362 362 .772 In Sphere .0132 .0088 .166 .355 .412 .961 .992 .412 К bθ 1.32 1.32 1.16 1.16 к п 2.62 2.63 1.96 2.04 2.04 2.00 3.49 3.53 1.87 1.90 1.45 10.9 Calculation Method Kalnins CERL Kalnins CERL Kalnins CERLS Kalnins CERLS Kalnins CERL Kalnins CERL Kalnins CERL Kalnins CERL .333 4.00 2.00 4.00 1.00 2.00 .50 .02 ဖျပ 5.0 41.7 2.5 2.5 250. 500. 20. 10. чIФ .25 3.00 .04 .01 .25 1.00 01 1.0 비日 .01 01 PIP ŝ ŝ 250 10 AIH

TABLE 5. COMPARISON OF KALNINS WITH CERL, THRUST LOADING

.544 .547 .661 .661 .552 2.42 2.48 2.56 2.62 3.65 3.66 10.5 10.6 K bx 13.5 13.5 K nx 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 In Nozzle 1.00 .163 .161 .727 .199 - K<sub>by</sub> .787 3.16 1.10 4.05 4.06 1.10 .299 .598 .385 .292 .815 .335  $^{\mathrm{K}}_{\mathrm{ny}}$ 4.54 4.56 9.27 Stress Indices .000054 .00086 .00007 .845 .846 .151 .155 2.56 2.62 K<sub>b</sub>ø 10.5 32.9 32.9 .00114 .00860 .00035 K nø .937 .935 .182 .189 .189 2.162.17 4.003.98 In Sphere .0130 .0515 .0513 .426 .663 .664 .411 .167 .167 к bθ 1.03 6.29 6.22 9.57 .00019 .00478 .00344 .0352 .583 .628 .669 .735 к nθ 4.29 4.30 10.2 1 1 Calculation Kalnins CERL Kalnins CERL Kalnins Kalnins Kalnins Kalnins Kalnins Kalnins Method CERL CERL CERL CERL CERL CERL .333 2.00 .50 4.00 **1.**00 2.00 4.00 02 ဖျပ 2.5 2.0 2 • 5 41.7 500. 250 μlα 20 10 .25 .01 .04 .25 1.00 01. 1.00 3.00 비머 .01 .01 PIP ŝ ŝ 250 10 AIH

46

TABLE 6. COMPARISON OF KALNINS WITH CERL, MOMENT LOADING

K px 0.689 0.675 3.74 3.76 3.96 4.00 7.68 1.93 1.32 3.94 3.92 16.2 16.2 13.8 13.8 -K nx 0.986 1.00 0.973 0.859 0.974 .970 0.937 0.782 0.998 0.981 0.997 1.00 1.00 In Nozzle 0.584 0.396 0.207 0.202 К<sub>by</sub> 1.20 1.25 1.18 1.32 1.21 2.31 4.994.86 4.14 4.14 Stress Indices -K ny 0.348 0.315 0.322 0.315 1.11 0.770 1.20 1.04 1.74 4.43 4.26 8.678.51 1.71 3.473.27 0.164 0.00590 0.00110 0.163 0.00590 0.00108 0.0773 0.0768 0.120 0.116 0.248 0.250 0.862 0.862 K<sub>b</sub>∳ 3.94 3.92 16.2 16.2 33.7 33.9 0.895 0.0784 0.900 0.0828 In Sphere 0.178 0.179 0.0305 0.0306 •К -К 0.870 0.882 0.188 0.188 3.83 3.83 1.42 1.44 К bθ 0.723 0.726 0.567 9.89 9.90 1.49 1.46 1.54 5.92 5.92 L.47 θu M-0.0243 0.0240 0.0915 0.0855 0.950 0.954 1.10 1.08 9.53 1.45 1.45 3.66 3.62 4.19 4.19 Computer Kalnins CERL Program Kalnins CERL s/S 0.8 5.0 4.0 1.0 2.0 .33 0.2 4.0 62.5 10.0 50.0 12.5 25.0 41.7 0.10 250.0 0.25 500.0 d/t 1.00 3.00 0.25 0.25 0.04 t/T1.0 0.50 0.50 d/b 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.5 0.5 25 250 ALH

COMPARISON OF CALCULATED RESULTS FOR MOMENT LOADING, KALNINS WITH CERL COMPUTER PROGRAM, PHOTOELASTIC TEST MODELS TABLE 7.

$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$											Trino Princo		
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$								Calcula	ted stre	sses* at	Juncture		
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$							In Spi	here			In No	zzle	
Image: $\overline{R}$ $\overline{T}$ $\overline{L}$ Program but time       Out       In       <	۲۳ 	1	Ę	Ş	Computer	0	4	6	. 0	ъ×		Ь	y
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	ie.	되民	네타	-l +j	Program	Out	In	Out	In	Out	In	Out	In
GERL       2.40       -1.50       3.00       .82       8.50       -6.50       4.05	50A	.50	25.5	25.0	Kalnins	2.40	-1.49	3.00	.84	8.36	-6.47	4.33	.19
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$					CERL	2.40	-1.50	3.00	.82	8,50	<b>-</b> 6.50	4.05	47
CERL       2.57       -1.68       3.32      08       9.66       -7.66       4.10       -1.0         OC       .27       25.9       27.5       Kalnins       .62      29       2.63       .23       7.93       -6.01       3.78       -       -         OD       .13       25.4       13.3       Kalnins       .45      20       2.19      93       6.17       -4.30       2.48       -       -         OD       .13       25.4       13.3       Kalnins       .45      20       2.19      93       6.17       -4.30       2.48       - </td <td>10B</td> <td>.27</td> <td>25.5</td> <td>14.1</td> <td>Kalnins</td> <td>2.55</td> <td>-1.67</td> <td>3.34</td> <td>- 04</td> <td>9.49</td> <td>-7.69</td> <td>4.42</td> <td><b>-</b> 85</td>	10B	.27	25.5	14.1	Kalnins	2.55	-1.67	3.34	- 04	9.49	-7.69	4.42	<b>-</b> 85
iOC       .27       25.9       27.5       Kalnins       .62      29       2.63       .23       7.93       -6.01       3.78      6         CERL       .62      29       2.62       .21       8.01       -6.00       3.58      1         OD       .13       25.4       13.3       Kalnins       .45      20       2.19      93       6.17       -4.30       2.48      1         OD       .13       25.4       13.3       Kalnins       .45      20       2.19      93       6.17       -4.30       2.48      1					CERL	2.57	-1.68	3.32	• 08	9.66	-7.66	4.10	-1.09
CERL       .62      29       2.62       .21       8.01       -6.00       3.58       -       -         50D       .13       25.4       13.3       Kalnins       .45      20       2.19      93       6.17       -4.30       2.48       -       -         50D       .13       25.4       13.3       Kalnins       .45      20       2.19      93       6.17       -4.30       2.48       -       -         CERL       .45      20       2.18      94       6.27       -4.26       2.38       -	00	.27	25.9	27.5	Kalnins	.62	29	2.63	•23	7.93	<b>-</b> 6.01	3.78	45
50D .13 25.4 13.3 Kalnins .4520 2.1993 6.17 -4.30 2.48 GERL .4520 2.1894 6.27 -4.26 2.38			•		CERL	. 62	29	2.62	.21	8.01	-6.00	3.58	• 59
CERL .4520 2.1894 6.27 -4.26 2.38	009	.13	25.4	13.3	Kalnins	• 45	20	2.19	<b>-</b> -93	6.17	-4.30	2.48	70
	5				CERL	•45	20	2.18	- 94	6.27	-4.26	2.38	- 79

\* The magnitude of the moment loading, M, is such that M/HF fore also stress indices as defined in the Nomenclature.

Seal-Shell-2 is similar to Kalnins program in that a shell may be broken up into a large number of pieces for a more accurate analysis. However, Seal-Shell-2 includes thick-wall effects which appear to lead to a more accurate solution for the thick-wall nozzle-in-sphere geometry. In Kalnins program, the midsurface is also the neutral surface whereas, in Seal-Shell+2, the midsurface is not necessarily the neutral surface. Seal-Shell+2 should be capable in principle, of directly indicating the non -linear distribution of stress in the transition zone between nozzle and sphere, analogous to the "curved-beam approximation" discussed later herein in comparing test data with Waters' two-piece shell theory. The Seal-Shell-2 computer program is limited to axisymmetric loads; i.e., it is not directly applicable to a bending moment applied to the nozzle.

Table 8 shows some comparisons between Seal-Shell-2 and Kalnins' computer program for internal pressure loading and various amounts of reinforcing supplied by a fillet radius.

WITH FILLET	
NOZZLES	
STRESSES,	
CALCULATED	
AND SEAL-SHELL-2	
ON OF KALNINS'	RETNFORCEMENT
COMPARIS	P A D T I S
TABLE 8.	

RADIUS REINFORCEMENT

'S	Inside	- 0.34 - 0.45	- 0.33 - 0.59	- 0.38 - 0.67	- 0.61 - 0.64
σ <sub>t</sub> )	Outside	1.19 1.14	1.40 1.28	1.78 1.43	2.10 1.65
'S	Inside	1.81 1.31	1.64 1.40	1.73 1.54	1.71 1.55
и b	Outside	1.47 1.88	1.71 2.05	2.25 2.30	2.61 2.25
Committee	Program	Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins	Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins	Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins	Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins
~	diT	0.101	0.079	0.109	0.099
ч	ᇉᅇ	3.75	3.75	7.5	7.5
c	ນ <b>ໄ</b> လ	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
	аЮ	0.20	0•50	0.20	0.50
	ΩĮН	25	25	100	100

#### The Battelle Axisymmetric Stress Intensity Code - BASIC

BASIC<sup>(15)</sup> is a computer program developed to apply the point matching approach to determine the stresses in axisymmetric bodies of arbitrary shape loaded by axisymmetrically distributed forces or with specified axisymmetric boundary displacements. To use the approach, it is first necessary to set up a series solution to the problem. The series is truncated at some finite number of terms. The coefficients of the series are chosen so that the boundary conditions of the problem are satisfied (in the least squares sense) at some large but finite number of boundary points.

The critical part of this approach is the choice of a series solution that converges sufficiently rapidly for the given problem. In BASIC, the solution can be obtained by using a stress function series whose terms are either spherical functions or toroidal functions or both.

The spherical functions give solutions with singularities either on the axis of rotation or at infinity. The ring functions are used when the solution has a ring singularity. These latter singularities exist in the neighborhood of stress raisers such as notches or fillets. By combining a number of series of toroidal and spherical functions, it is generally possible to set up a solution that converges sufficiently well to give an accurate solution to a given problem.

As implied above, the BASIC computer program is not yet developed to the point of routine application to nozzles in spherical shells.

The BASIC computer program was used to compute the stresses in test model WN-7B<sup>(25)</sup>; results are compared with test data in Figure 10; results using the Seal-Shell-2 program for the same test model are shown in Figure 10a. The BASIC program results match the measured peak stresses better than Seal-Shell-2. In this preliminary trial, the length of the sphere section used in the analysis was too short to develop the attenuation effects present in the actual test model.

Model WN-7B was selected for analysis because Seal-Shell-2 did not agree very well with the test results, in contrast to a number of other test



FIGURE 10. COMPARISON OF "BASIC" COMPUTER PROGRAM RESULTS WITH TEST MODEL WN-7B



FIGURE 10a. COMPARISON OF "SEAL-SHELL-2" COMPUTER PROGRAM RESULTS WITH TEST MODEL WN-7B

models where Seal-Shell-2 was in good agreement with the test results. It should be noted that Seal-Shell-2 requires a certain amount of judgement in selecting a middle surface and associated normal thicknesses; the data shown possibly does not represent an optimum use of Seal-Shell-2.

## Use of Computer Programs

Computer programs for the "two-piece" shell theories (CERL, Waters, Bijlaard) require only simple input data, e.g., three dimensional ratios and the load. The computer time, on a Control Data 3400 computer, is very short; around 3 or 4 seconds per model. Accordingly, it is relatively easy to compute an extensive parametric study of nozzles in spheres with such programs.

Both Kalnins' and Seal-Shell-2 programs require considerably more input data. Also, these programs require the selection of a midsurface (or reference surface) and thicknesses normal to that surface. In the transition zone between nozzle and sphere, particularly with a significant amount of local reinforcing, this selection may be somewhat arbitrary, hence, a degree of judgement on the part of the user is required. Both of these programs require boundary condition in-put data; in some cases, these boundary conditions must be quite accurately calculated in order to get reasonable results. The computer time for Kalnins' program runs about 1 to 2 minutes (CD-3400 computer) for typical models; the Seal-Shell-2 program runs about 20 minutes for the same model on the same computer.

As applied to reinforced nozzles in spheres, insufficient experience exists with the BASIC computer program to generalize the amount of input data and computer time required. For Model WN-7B in particular, the computer time was about 6 minutes.

It is apparent that an extensive parametric study using any of the last three mentioned computer programs would be relatively expensive. However, in view of the more accurate results which apparently can be obtained with these programs, it may be desirable to investigate one or more "standardized-shapes" of nozzle reinforcing--those shapes preferably being such that they would be easy to forge and/or machine and hence, an economical kind of reinforced nozzle detail.

## COMPARISON OF THEORIES WITH TEST DATA

#### General Comments

The test data used herein are abstracted from reports by Taylor and Lind<sup>(24)</sup>, Leven<sup>(25)</sup>, Riley<sup>(26)</sup>, Maxwell, Holland, and Cofer<sup>(27)</sup> and Dally<sup>(28)</sup>. The first two references are compilations of extensive tests on photoelastic models, the last three references give data on steel models using strain gages.

The above references describe in considerable detail the test models and test methods, hence this information is not included herein. References (24) and (25) discuss the accuracy of photoelastic test results. The accuracy of strain gage results is well known, as well as the difficulty in accurately determining stresses with such gages in a zone of rapidly varying stress. The photoelastic method is also least accurate in zones of rapidly varying stress. Comparison of theory with test data gives no reason to loubt the accuracy of the test data. In general, as discussed in this section, comparisons between theory and test data indicate that as refinements are made to the theories so that such theories should be more applicable to the test models, the theoretical results tend to agree better with the test results.

In comparisons herein, theoretical results are based on a Poisson's ratio of 0.5 for comparison with photoelastic models; 0.3 for comparison with steel models. For some dimensional parameters, a difference between Poisson's ratio of 0.3 and 0.5 can lead to significant differences in calculated stresses\*.

#### Internal Pressure Loading

#### Model BUShips D

The available test data on stresses at nozzles in spheres includes one model with dimensions such that it does not violate the shell-theory

\* See Table 10 of Reference (35) and Appendix B of Reference (36).

assumption that the radius of curvature is everywhere large compared to the thickness; that model being BUShips D shown in Figure 11. The stresses for this model were calculated using Kalnin's Computer Program, the results are shown in Figure 11a along with the test data. The agreement between theory and test data is good; discrepancies that exist are well within the range of experimental data scatter\*. This comparison gives added confidence both in the accuracy of the photoelastic test data and shell theory, where the latter is directly applicable.



<sup>\*</sup> As shown in Figure 11 , the thickness of BUShip D was 0.0615" in the nozzle, 0.057" at the juncture of toroidal section to the sphere and 0.063" in the sphere. Variation of thickness between points indicated is not known. The theoretical stress calculations were based on a constant thickness of 0.062". Thickness variations could account for a major part of the discrepancies between calculated and measured stresses. Also, there was some difference in test data depending upon whether a 60-mil or 12-mil subslice was used in the photoelastic evaluation.



FIGURE 11. PHOTOELASTIC TEST MODEL Bu.S-D





# UNIFORM WALL MODELS

Dimensions and Comparison with Waters' Analysis. Test data considered as "Uniform Wall Models" consist of:

- Photoelastic tests of 42 models, conducted at the University of Illinois<sup>(24)</sup> and Westinghouse Electric Corporation<sup>(25)</sup>.
- (2) Strain gage tests of a steel model, conducted at ITT Research Institute<sup>(26)</sup>.
- (3) Strain gage tests of two steel models, conducted at the University of Tennessee .

There are, of course, continuous distributions of stresses occurring in each of these test models. The surface stresses are given, in the above references, in the form of "stress-profiles", i.e., stresses plotted as a function of location in the test model. In the case of nozzles in spheres, because of symmetry, a plane containing the axis of the nozzle represents stresses everywhere in the test model. The four principal surfaces stresses are:

> $\sigma_n$  - outside surface  $\sigma_n$  - inside surface  $\sigma_t$  - outside surface  $\sigma_t$  - inside surface

where  $\sigma_n$  is a stress normal to the plane containing the nozzles axis,  $\sigma_t$  is a stress tangential to a surface cut by that plane. References (24) and (25) give experimentally determined stress profiles using the above nomenclature. Reference (26) and (27) use different nomenclature but the correlation is obvious.

From an engineering standpoint, the maximums of these four surface stresses are of greatest interest. Because of this, and in order to more concisely present the significant data, only the <u>maximum</u> measured values of each of the four principal surface stresses are compared with the maximum calculated values of those stresses. Calculated stresses were obtained using Waters' analysis; in this analysis two results are obtained for each of these four surface stresses, i.e., at section  $\overline{AB}$  and  $\overline{CD}$  of Figure 9. The calculated stress, for comparison with test data, is arbitrarily taken as the larger of the stresses at sections  $\overline{AB}$  and  $\overline{CD}$ .

The dimensional parameters of the 45 "uniform wall models" are shown in the left group of columns of Table 9. Measured stresses are shown in the next group of five columns of Table 9;  $\sigma_{\rm m}$  being the largest measured stress. The next group of five columns of Table 9 shows calculated stresses using Waters' analysis;  $\sigma$  being the largest calculated stress. The column headed  $\sigma/\sigma_{\rm m}$  gives the ratio of maximum calculated to maximum measured stress.

It is apparent that the size of the fillet radius  $r_o$  is a significant factor in comparing theory with test data. For a very small fillet radius the theory would be expected to be unconservative because of the stress concentration at the juncture; for large fillet radii the theory would be expected to be conservative because of the added thickness of the nozzle and sphere walls at the juncture. Table 9 indicates that, except for Model S-1G, if  $r_o/t$  is greater than about 0.8, the theory is conservative with respect to the test results; i.e., $\sigma_c/\sigma_m$  is greater than unity. Where  $0.5 < r_o/t < 3$ , the test results and theory agree in a qualitative sense in that models such as IIT-S1, S-2AZ, and S-3C had relatively high stresses, both theoretically and experimentally. Models such as N-2BM, N-4E, S-5AW, and S-1G theoretically have relatively low stresses with the exception of Model S-1G.

In a more quantitative sense, Table 9 shows larger discrepancies between theory and test results than indicated by the above comparisons. As shown in Table 9, there are several models in which maximum stresses occurred either at different surfaces or different directions than indicated by the theory. Also, stresses other than the maximums are often in poor agreement, e.g., model N-8G,  $\sigma_t$  - inside, where the test data gives -0.38; theory gives -1.69.

ANAL YSIS
WATERS'
WITH
DATA
TEST
Ő
AR ON
COMP /
AND
DIMENSIONS
MODEL
MALL
UNIFORM
TABL

	000	а н (4)		1.27	1.27	2.28 1.38	0.84	1.04	1.45	1.56	1.36	0.94	1.03	1.09	1.04	0.89	1.22	1.07	0.96	1.31	0.9/ 1.33	1.99	1.83 1.26	1.10	0.67	0.98	1.06	L.30	0.8/ 0.95	1.05	0.89	1.12 3.39	1.17	(2)	(2)			
	S/ 50	(4)		2.79	2.75	4.27 2.79	1.69	3.21	3.17	3, 18 5 20	3.44	1,72	1.88	1.88 2.08	1.87	1.87	3.11	1.88	1.72 3.62	3.55	3.89	3.20	3.20 4.95	2.53	2.94	2.95 2.95	2.92	20.2	2.24 4.67	3.01	2.03	4.05 4.78	6.59	2.69	4, 16			
atare (3)	S	Inside		-1.20	-1.21	-2.69	-0.52	-1.69	-1.67	-1.69	-1.36	0.14	-0.04	-0.39 -0.33	-0.06	-0.07	-1.63	-0.09	-0.12	-1.66	-1.25	-1.69	-1.69 -3.41	-0.66	-0.99	10.1-	-1.00	-0.33	0.13 -2.55	-0.95	-0.15	-1.46 -2.70	-5.22	-2.03	-3, 19			
od Ctraccac (W	/+0	Outside	JL U	2.06	2.03 1.75	3.65 2.05	0.94	2.56	2.52	2.54 5.00	2.62	1.17	1.27	L.24 1.31	1.26	1.25	2.46	1.25	1.1/ 2.99	2.83	2.92 2.92	2.56	2.55 4.45	1.75	1.85	1.85	1.85	1.1	3.67	2.03	1.14	3.15 3.80	6.30	2.48	4.16			•
Calculate		Inside	1 41	1.67	1.66	1.67 1.67	1.39	1.55	1.55	1.74	1.90	1.45	1.46	1.40 1.44	1.46	1.46 1.42	1.53	1.46	1.60	1.77	2.33 2.32	1.55	1.80	1.60	1.73	1.73	1.72	200 L	1.93	1.93	2.03	2.29	3.29	1.72	2.01			
	on/S	Outside	1 20	2.79	2.75	4.27	1.69	3.13	3.17	3.18	3.44	1.72	1.88	2.08	1.87	2 00	3.11	1.88	3.62	3.55	3.87	3.20	3.2U 4.95	2.53	2.94	2.95	2.92 2.01	10.2	4.67	3.01	2.03	cu.4	6.59	2.69	4.06		1 the nozzle.	4
	σ_/S	(4)	2 ED	2.2	2.17	1.87 2.03	2.02	3.1 2.66	2.19	2,04 4,6	2.53	1.83	1.82	1.91	1.80	2.10	2.55	1.75	2.72	2.70	4.0 2.90	1.61	3.92	2.29	4.4	3.00	2.75 1.56	1.JU	4.9	2.87	2.23	3.02 1.41	5.70	2.98	4.24	all".	ches 0.5 s/S or	
(		Inside	U 30	-0.28	-0.24	-0.06	-0.34	-0.54	-0.37	-0.38	-0.23	-0.14	-0.14	-0.40	-0.15	-0.30	-0.77	-0.11	-0.78	-0.35	-0.25	-0.16	-1.62	-0.31	-1.03	-0.96	-0.83 -0.46	0 12 -0 12	-1.78	-0.60	-0.41 -0.66	-0.04	-2.02	-2.09	-3.08	s as "uniform w	id <sub>oł</sub> /S approad	
ired Stresses <sup>(3</sup>	o <sub>t</sub> /S	Outside	1 02	1.25	1.0/	1.20	1.39	1.90	1.26	4.0	1.52	1.83	1.11	1.75	1.68	2.10	1.74	1.54	1.84	1.55	1.70	1.22	3.06	1.96	4.3	2.74	2.40 1.32	2.02 2.45	4.2	2.50	1.93 2.60	1.12	5.68	2.20	3.30	consider models	roaches s/S ar	
Meast		Inside	2.60	2.2	2.1/	1.87 2.03	2.02	2.18	2.00	2.04 2.6	2.14	1.58	1 22 1	1.77	1.64	1.81	2.04	1.58	2.01	2.23	2.62	1.61	2.83	2.06	1.88	1.81	1.95	1 78	2.34	2.00	1.68 2.45	1.16	3.44	2.32	2.82	s sufficient to c	here, $\sigma_{\rm n}/{\rm S}$ app	55 - 1999
	on/S	Outside	1.14	2.2	16.1	1.17	1.68	2.66	2.19	1.90 4.6	2.53	1.70	1.80 1.80	1.91	1.80	2.00 1.96	2.55	1.75	2.72	2.70 4.0	2.90	1.37 1.61	3.92	2.29	4.4	3.00	2.75 1.55	2.58	4.9	2.87	3.67	1.41	5.70	2.98	4.24	thickness wa	unity on the sp	
а а		- +-	0.80	2.42	4.9 4.9	4.9 2.4	0.73	0.72	1.81	0.88	1.89	0.45	0.56 0.56	0.73	0.55	1.54 0.73	1.33	1.56	1.59	1.25	1.24	1.35	0.50	0.35	0.13	0.61	0.85	0.15	0.25	0.24 0 EE	0.50	0.56	~1.4	0~	0~	with increased	$\sigma_{\rm f}/{\rm S}$ approach	
	٩	d <sub>i</sub> T <sup>(2)</sup>	0.086	0.0022	0.0011	2.00 2.00	0.015	0.0037	0.023	0.0013	0.016	0.014	0.014	0.015	0.015	0.015	0.016	0.10	0.016	0.034	0.024	0.67 0.086	0.013	0.071	0.0002	0.0035	0.0064 0.15	0.0039	6000.0	0.0046	0.0056	0.72	0.0018	ţ	t	ngth of nozzle	ning $\sigma_{\rm n}/{\rm S}$ and	
	ر ٥	+-	1.76	0.81	67.0	47.3 28.0	0.73	0.72	1.81	0.74	1.89	0.45 0.56	0.56	0.73	0.55	0.73	1.33	1.56 0.45	1.59	2.37	2.39	10.5 3.78	1.6	1.2	0.13	0.61	0.85 3.58	0.49	0.79	0.78	1.10	20.3	~1.4	۰ ۲	0~	$J_{\bullet} * \equiv The let$	e from the oper	
	di	+-	3.82	11.6	11.3	35.5 11.5	4.66	11.3	11.5	32.5	11.8	3.88 A 80	4.00 4.81	6.34	4.76 A 75	6.33	11.5	<b>4.</b> 80 3.90	13.7	11.5	11.4	11.7	27.2	3.2	11.6	11.6	11.6 4.37	7.35	35.3	11.6	11.5	37.2	120	19	40	, 25, 26 and 2	opening; remot	ss. rollah 17 mon
	ţ	F	0.311	0.103	0.051	0.100	0.471 0.261	0.269	0.266	0.264	0.178	1.29	1.00	0.815	1.10 1 06	06/.0	0.429	1.03	0.368	0.201	0.202	0.412	0.500	1.10	0.783	0.806	0.675	1.64	1.00	1.04	0.50	1.01	0.99	0.333	U.16/	References 24	sses near the (	Figures 14 th
	S	s	0.39	1.01	1.96	1.01	0.63	1.00	1.01 0 99	66°0	1.48	0.38	0.46	0.55	0.42 0.44	0.57	0.98	0.39 0.39	1.13	1.38 1.99	1.98	1.02	1.10	+C.U	1.01	1.00	1.24	0.66	1.02	1.10	2.00	0.96	1.00	0.49	1.01	se given in Fradius	ficant stree	rately see
	Di		23.7	23.8	11.5	71.5 24.2	17.1 23.7	23.6	23.9 24 5	66.4	16.3	24.9 28.0	24.0	25.7	26.3 25.2	24.8	24.6	24. / 23.8	25.1	10.8 11.6	11.6	24.0 24.0	50.2	50°.	23.6	24.4	7.65	24.1	70.5	24.1	11.5	78.8	240	80.5 00 E	<b>C.</b> U8	e as in thos of the fille	Ximum signi	nussed sena – عام
	-i-	Di	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.129 0.129	0.129	0.129	0.129	0.129	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.27	/7•0	0.38	0.38	0.38 0.38	0.50	0.50	u.50 0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.079	u.U63	sectional area	resses are ma	un incasuru - Iodels are disc
	Model	No.(1)	S-1G	S-1A C-1AB	S-IC	WS-1LB WS-1LB	N-8C N-8H	N-8F	N-8G N-8G	S-2AZ	N-8D	N-4F N-1E	N-1EA	N-3D N 10*	N-2B*	N-3B*	N-IAA N_2DM*	N-4E*	N-1A	S-3C	S-3CB	WN-10D	WN-50B	1-C-00	N-9E N-9A	N-9B N 00	WAI-1	S-5E	S-5AZ	S-5AW	S-5C	MS-5LM	IS-1II	ORNL-5 ORNL-6		<ol> <li>Model numbe</li> <li>A<sub>2</sub> = cross ;</li> </ol>	(3) Tabulated st $(4)$ $\pi = maximu$	(5) The ORNL m

Table 9 61 & 62

FOLDOUT FRAME 2

Infough I/. FOLDOUT FRAME / ß 20

 $\checkmark$ 

Semi-Empirical Modifications to Analysis. There are several reasons why the "two-piece" shell theory may not give accurate stresses for the test models. Three of the more important reasons are discussed in the following, along with semi-empirical modifications made in an attempt to bring theory and test data into better agreement.

## (1) Normal plane thickness\*

The fillet radius may be considered as altering the thicknesses of the shells at a critical location, i.e., at the juncture between nozzle and sphere. If it is assumed, for relatively small amount of reinforcing added by the fillet, that the "two-piece" shell theory gives a good estimate of the forces and moments at and near the nozzle-sphere juncture, then the stresses are given by the equations:

$$\sigma_{\rm m} = \frac{\rm N}{\rm h} \tag{9}$$

$$\sigma_{\rm b} = \frac{6M}{h^2} \tag{10}$$

where:

 $\sigma_{m}$  = membrane stress, psi

N = normal force, 1b/in

 $\sigma_{\rm b}$  = bending stress, psi

M = bending moment, in-1b/in

h = normal thickness of section, in.

The value of h is not well defined in the juncture zone; the zone of principal interest since maximum stresses are usually found therein. The thickness h in the transition zone has been somewhat arbitrarily defined as shown by Figure 12. For models under consideration, planes radiating from the fillet radius center appear to be suitable for use as "normal planes" in the transition zone.

<sup>\*</sup> This concept was originally used by Atterbury<sup>(29)</sup> in correlating and interpolating test data on nozzles in cylindrical shells, leading to a development of rules for design of such structures.



FIGURE 12. DEFINITION OF NORMAL THICKNESSES AND RADII IN THE TRANSITION SECTION

Using the h-values obtained from large-scale (10 times actual size) drawings of the transition sections, the "two-piece" shell theory was modified by the factors:

 $T/h_2$  for membrane stress at sections  $\overline{AB}$  $(T/h_2)^2$  for bending stress at section  $\overline{AB}$  $t/h_1$  for membrane stress at section  $\overline{CD}$  $(t/h_1)^2$  for bending stress at section  $\overline{CD}$ 

where:

- T = wall thickness of spherical shell
- t = wall thickness of nozzle

 $h_1$  and  $h_2$  are normal thicknesses as defined by Figure 12. AB and  $\overline{CD}$  are sections corresponding to Waters' two-piece shell theory, as shown by Figure 12.

The maximum calculated stress  $\sigma'$  is compared with test data in Table 10. By comparing rows marked  $\sigma$  with those marked  $\sigma'$ , it is apparent that the major discrepancies occurring in those models with large fillet radii are significantly reduced however, in general, this type of correction by itself tends to underestimate the stresses as compared to the test data. Table 11 gives a summary of computed-to-measured stress ratios.

Because of the assumption that the forces and moments are given by "two-piece" shell theory, it is apparent that the empirical modification discussed above is applicable only for small amounts of reinforcing. That is, a large amount of reinforcing would significantly alter the forces and moments. A more direct method of accounting for local reinforcing thickness is available by use of "multi-piece" shell theories such as those contained in Seal-Shell-2 or Kalnins' computer programs. Even with these theories, however, arbitrary selection of a midsurface and normal thicknesses in the juncture zone is required. Comparison of these theories with test data is given later herein.

### (2) Curved Beam Factor

From general considerations of stress concentrations, a high stress would be expected to develop in models with small fillet radii. This effect implies a non-linear distribution of stresses through the wall thickness and cannot be evaluated by thin-shell theory. Taylor and Lind<sup>(24)</sup> show stresses through the wall thickness for models N-1A, S-5C, and N-1EA, illustrating to some extent the non-linear character of stresses as a function of position in the wall.

			Stress	Indices	
		$\sigma_n/$	S	σ <sub>t</sub> /s	5
lode1	Stress				
No.	(1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside
S-1G	Test Data	1.14	2.60	1.02	30
	σ	1.38	1.41	.76	52
	σ'	1.19	1.23	.59	+ .24
	σ"	1.20	1.23	.69	+ .29
	σ"	.83	1.97	.57	13
S-1A	Test Data	2.20	2.20	1.25	28
	σ	2.79	1.67	2.06	- 1.20
	σ	2.02	1.66	1.31	64
	σ"	2.17	1.71	1.74	41
	σ"	2.11	2.72	1.74	41
S-1AB	Test Data	1.51	2.17	1.07	24
0 1110	a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	2 75	1.66	2.03	- 1.21
	σ'	1 60	1 /3	34	- 05
	۰ ۳	1.64	1 45		+ 03
	σ"י	1.01	3.02	.38	80
S-10	Test Data	1 90	2 90	1.00	20
5-10	Test Data	2 81	2.50	1 75	- 18
	σ!	2.01	1 87	1 17	- 18
	ں حال	2.00	1 00	1.40	+ 23
	σ""	2.10	2.99	1.40	- 1.30
WS-1LM	Test Data	1.17	1.87	1.20	06
	σ	4.27	1.63	3.65	- 2.69
	σ'	1.21	.97	.07	+ .02
	σ"	1.22	.98	.08	+ .02
	σ"'	.83	1.68	.06	95
WS-1LB	Test Data	1.07	2.03	1.13	17
	σ	2.79	1.67	2.05	- 1.21
	σ'	1.55	1.39	.18	+ .03
	σ"	1.56	1.40	.19	+ .03
	σ"'	.66	4.21	.13	75
N-8C	Test Data	1.68	2.02	1.39	34
	σ	1.69	1.39	.94	52
	σ'	1.55	1.28	.78	37
	σ"	1.63	1.31	1.09	23
	σ""	1.46	1.93	1.04	43

TABLE 10. COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH WATERS' THEORY AND EMPIRICAL MODIFICATIONS, UNIFORM WALL MODELS

d stresses

σ

= calculated stresses, Waters' theory = calculated stresses with normal thickness modification σ'

= calculated stresses with normal thickness and curved  $\sigma^{H}$ 

- beam modifications
- $\sigma^{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{r}}$ = calculated stresses with normal thickness, curved beam and thick-wall modifications.

Model No.         Stress (1)         Outside         Inside         Outside         Inside           N-8H         Test Data $\sigma$ 3.10         2.06         2.75        98 $\sigma'$ 2.84         1.54         2.16         - 1.69 $\sigma'$ 2.84         1.54         2.16         - 1.37 $\sigma''$ 3.14         1.64         3.37        82 $\sigma'''$ 3.14         2.67         3.37        884           N-8F         Test Data         2.66         2.18         1.90        68 $\sigma'''$ 2.51         1.51         1.82         - 1.12 $\sigma''''$ 2.66         2.63         2.48        75 $\sigma''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''$			<b>5</b>	Stress	Indices	× · · ·
$\begin{array}{l c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		_	°n′	5	°,	<b>D</b>
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Model No.	Stress (1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	N-8H	Test Data	3.10	2.06	2.75	98
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ	3.21	1.56	2.56	- 1.69
$\sigma'' = 3.14 = 1.64 = 3.37 =82 \\ \sigma''' = 3.14 = 2.67 = 3.37 =82 \\ \sigma''' = 3.13 = 1.55 = 2.49 = -1.64 \\ \sigma' = 2.51 = 1.51 = 1.82 = -11.25 \\ \sigma'' = 2.67 = 1.60 = 2.48 =75 \\ \sigma'' = 2.67 = 1.60 = 2.48 =75 \\ \sigma'' = 2.66 = 2.63 = 2.48 =85 \\ \hline n-8E = Test Data = 2.19 = 2.00 = 1.26 =37 \\ \sigma = 3.17 = 1.55 = 2.52 = -1.67 \\ \sigma' = 2.05 = 1.43 = 1.21 =64 \\ \sigma'' = 2.16 = 1.48 = 1.43 =48 \\ \sigma''' = 1.93 = 2.49 = 1.43 =86 \\ \hline n-8G = Test Data = 1.96 = 2.04 = 1.29 =38 \\ \sigma'' = 2.16 = 1.48 = 1.43 =86 \\ \hline n-8G = Test Data = 1.96 = 2.04 = 1.29 =38 \\ \sigma'' = 2.01 = 1.41 = 1.08 =35 \\ \sigma'' = 2.01 = 1.41 = 1.08 =35 \\ \sigma'' = 2.01 = 1.41 = 1.08 =35 \\ \sigma'' = 2.01 = 1.41 = 1.08 =36 \\ \sigma'' = 2.01 = 1.41 = 1.08 =36 \\ \sigma'' = 2.01 = 1.41 = 1.08 =36 \\ \hline s-2AZ = Test Data = 4.60 = 2.60 = 4.00 = -2.10 \\ \sigma = 5.30 = 1.74 = 5.00 = -4.07 \\ \sigma' = 4.14 = 1.68 = 3.58 = -2.80 \\ \sigma'' = 4.14 = 1.68 = 3.58 = -2.80 \\ \sigma'' = 4.48 = 3.25 = 4.97 = -2.01 \\ \hline n-8D = Test Data = 2.53 = 2.14 = 1.52 =23 \\ \sigma = 3.44 = 1.90 = 2.62 = -1.36 \\ \sigma'' = 2.20 = 1.53 = 1.25 =43 \\ \sigma'' = 2.37 = 1.60 = 1.45 =29 \\ \sigma''' = 2.07 = 2.82 = 1.45 = -1.03 \\ \hline n-4F = Test Data = 1.70 = 1.58 = 1.83 =14 \\ \sigma'' = 1.56 = 1.42 = 1.21 = .30 \\ \sigma''' = 1.49 = 1.51 = 1.18 = .09 \\ \hline$		σ'	2.84	1.54	2.16	- 1.37
$\sigma^{""} 3.14 2.67 3.3784$ $N-8F Test Data 2.66 2.18 1.9068 \sigma 3.13 1.55 2.49 - 1.64\sigma' 2.51 1.51 1.82 - 1.12\sigma'' 2.66 2.63 2.4875\sigma''' 2.66 2.63 2.4885 N-8E Test Data 2.19 2.00 1.2637 \sigma 3.17 1.55 2.52 - 1.67\sigma' 2.05 1.43 1.2164\sigma'' 2.16 1.48 1.4348\sigma''' 1.93 2.49 1.4348 \sigma''' 1.93 2.49 1.4348 \sigma''' 1.93 1.37 .94466 \sigma'' 2.01 1.41 1.0835 \sigma'' 2.01 1.41 1.0835 \sigma'' 4.14 1.68 3.58 - 2.80 \sigma'' 4.14 1.68 3.58 - 2.80 \sigma'' 4.48 1.82 4.97 - 2.01 N-8D Test Data 2.53 2.14 1.5223 \sigma'' 4.14 1.68 3.58 - 2.80 \sigma'' 4.14 1.68 3.58 - 2.80 \sigma'' 4.14 1.68 3.58 - 2.80 \sigma'' 2.01 1.51 1.5223 \sigma'' 2.01 1.53 1.2543 \sigma'' 2.01 1.53 1.2543 \sigma'' 2.01 1.53 1.2543 \sigma'' 2.01 1.53 1.2543 \sigma'' 2.01 1.53 1.2523 \sigma'' 2.07 2.82 1.45 - 1.03 N-4F Test Data 1.70 1.58 1.8314 \sigma'' 1.50 1.41 .99 1.51 1.18 .09$		σ"	3.14	1.64	3.37	82
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σΠ	3.14	2.67	3.37	84
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	N-8F	Test Data	2.66	2.18	1.90	68
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ	3.13	1.55	2.49	- 1.64
$\sigma'' = 2.67 = 1.60 = 2.48 = .75$ $\sigma''' = 2.66 = 2.63 = 2.48 = .85$ N-8E Test Data = 2.19 = 2.00 = 1.26 = .37 $\sigma = 3.17 = 1.55 = 2.52 = -1.67$ $\sigma' = 2.05 = 1.43 = 1.21 = .64$ $\sigma'' = 2.16 = 1.48 = 1.43 = .48$ $\sigma''' = 1.93 = 2.49 = 1.43 = .48$ N-8G Test Data = 1.96 = 2.04 = 1.29 = .38 $\sigma = 3.18 = 1.55 = 2.54 = -1.69$ $\sigma' = 1.93 = 1.37 = .94 = .466$ $\sigma'' = 2.01 = 1.41 = 1.08 = .35$ $\sigma''' = 2.01 = 1.41 = 1.08 = .35$ $\sigma''' = 2.01 = 1.41 = 1.08 = .35$ $\sigma''' = 2.01 = 1.41 = 1.08 = .366$ S-2AZ Test Data = 4.60 = 2.60 = 4.00 = 2.10 $\sigma = 5.30 = 1.74 = 5.00 = .4.07$ $\sigma' = 4.14 = 1.68 = 3.58 = -2.80$ $\sigma'' = 4.48 = 1.82 = 4.97 = -2.01$ $\sigma'' = 4.48 = 1.82 = 4.97 = -2.01$ $\sigma'' = 4.48 = 3.25 = 4.97 = -2.01$ N-8D Test Data = 2.53 = 2.14 = 1.52 = .23 $\sigma'' = 2.01 = 3.44 = 1.90 = 2.62 = -1.36$ $\sigma' = 2.20 = 1.53 = 1.25 = .43$ $\sigma'' = 2.37 = 1.60 = 1.45 =29$ $\sigma''' = 2.07 = 2.82 = 1.45 = -1.03$ N-4F Test Data = 1.70 = 1.58 = 1.83 = -114 $\sigma'' = 1.50 = 1.41 = .99 = .18$ $\sigma''' = 1.50 = 1.41 = .99 = .18$ $\sigma''' = 1.50 = 1.41 = .99$		σ'	2.51	1.51	1.82	- 1.12
$\sigma''' 2.66 2.63 2.4885$ N-8E Test Data 2.19 2.00 1.2637 $\sigma$ 3.17 1.55 2.52 - 1.67 $\sigma'$ 2.05 1.43 1.2164 $\sigma'' 2.16$ 1.48 1.4348 $\sigma''' 1.93 2.49$ 1.4386 N-8G Test Data 1.96 2.04 1.2938 $\sigma$ 3.18 1.55 2.54 - 1.69 $\sigma'$ 1.93 1.37 .9446 $\sigma'' 2.01$ 1.41 1.0835 $\sigma''' 1.74 2.37$ 1.0886 S-2AZ Test Data 4.60 2.60 4.00 - 2.10 $\sigma$ 5.30 1.74 5.00 - 4.07 $\sigma' 4.14$ 1.68 3.58 - 2.80 $\sigma'' 4.48$ 1.82 4.97 - 2.01 $\sigma'' 4.48$ 3.25 4.97 - 2.01 N-8D Test Data 2.53 2.14 1.5223 $\sigma$ 3.44 1.90 2.62 - 1.36 $\sigma'' 2.20$ 1.53 1.2543 $\sigma'' 2.37$ 1.60 1.4529 $\sigma''' 2.07 2.82$ 1.45 - 1.03 N-4F Test Data 1.70 1.58 1.8314 $\sigma' 1.50$ 1.41 .99 .18 $\sigma''' 1.49$ 1.51 1.18 .09		σ"	2.67	1.60	2.48	75
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ"	2.66	2.63	2.48	85
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	N-8E	Test Data	2.19	2.00	1.26	37
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ	3.17	1.55	2.52	- 1.67
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ'	2.05	1.43	1.21	64
$\sigma''' = 1.93 = 2.49 = 1.43 = .86$ N-8G Test Data = 1.96 = 2.04 = 1.29 = .38 $\sigma$ = 3.18 = 1.55 = 2.54 = -1.69 $\sigma'$ = 1.93 = 1.37 = .94 = .46 $\sigma'' = 2.01 = 1.41 = 1.08 = .35$ $\sigma''' = 1.74 = 2.37 = 1.08 = .86$ S-2AZ Test Data = 4.60 = 2.60 = 4.00 = 2.10 $\sigma$ = 5.30 = 1.74 = 5.00 = 4.07 $\sigma' = 4.14 = 1.68 = 3.58 = 2.80$ $\sigma'' = 4.14 = 1.68 = 3.58 = 2.80$ $\sigma'' = 4.48 = 1.82 = 4.97 = 2.01$ $\sigma'' = 4.48 = 1.82 = 4.97 = 2.01$ N-8D Test Data = 2.53 = 2.14 = 1.52 = .23 $\sigma = 3.44 = 1.90 = 2.62 = 1.36$ $\sigma' = 2.20 = 1.53 = 1.25 = .43$ $\sigma'' = 2.37 = 1.60 = 1.45 = .29$ $\sigma''' = 2.07 = 2.82 = 1.45 = -1.03$ N-4F Test Data = 1.70 = 1.58 = 1.83 = .14 $\sigma' = 1.72 = 1.45 = 1.17 = .14$ $\sigma' = 1.50 = 1.41 = .99 = .18$ $\sigma''' = 1.50 = 1.41 = .99$		σ <b>1</b>	2.16	1.48	1.43	48
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ'''	1.93	2.49	1.43	86
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	N-8G	Test Data	1.96	2.04	1.29	38
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ	3.18	1.55	2.54	- 1.69
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ'	1.93	1.37	.94	46
$\sigma''' = 1.74 = 2.37 = 1.08 = .86$ S-2AZ Test Data $4.60 = 2.60 = 4.00 = 2.10$ $\sigma$ 5.30 $1.74 = 5.00 = 4.07$ $\sigma' = 4.14 = 1.68 = 3.58 = 2.80$ $\sigma'' = 4.48 = 1.82 = 4.97 = 2.01$ $\sigma''' = 4.48 = 3.25 = 4.97 = 2.01$ N-8D Test Data $2.53 = 2.14 = 1.52 = .23$ $\sigma$ $3.44 = 1.90 = 2.62 = 1.36$ $\sigma' = 2.20 = 1.53 = 1.25 = .43$ $\sigma'' = 2.37 = 1.60 = 1.45 = .29$ $\sigma''' = 2.07 = 2.82 = 1.45 = -1.03$ N-4F Test Data $1.70 = 1.58 = 1.83 =14$ $\sigma' = 1.50 = 1.41 = .99$ $\sigma''' = 1.50 = 1.41 = .99$ $\sigma''' = 1.50 = 1.41 = .99$ $\sigma''' = 1.50 = 1.41 = .99$		$\sigma^{ii}$	2.01	1.41	1.08	35
S-2AZTest Data $4.60$ $2.60$ $4.00$ $-2.10$ $\sigma$ $5.30$ $1.74$ $5.00$ $-4.07$ $\sigma'$ $4.14$ $1.68$ $3.58$ $-2.80$ $\sigma''$ $4.48$ $1.82$ $4.97$ $-2.01$ $\sigma'''$ $4.48$ $3.25$ $4.97$ $-2.01$ N-8DTest Data $2.53$ $2.14$ $1.52$ $23$ $\sigma$ $3.44$ $1.90$ $2.62$ $-1.36$ $\sigma''$ $2.20$ $1.53$ $1.25$ $43$ $\sigma''$ $2.37$ $1.60$ $1.45$ $29$ $\sigma'''$ $2.07$ $2.82$ $1.45$ $-1.03$ N-4FTest Data $1.72$ $1.45$ $1.17$ $.14$ $\sigma'$ $1.50$ $1.41$ $.99$ $.18$ $\sigma'''$ $1.56$ $1.42$ $1.21$ $.30$ $\sigma''''$ $1.49$ $1.51$ $1.18$ $.09$		σ	1.74	2.37	1.08	86
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	S-2AZ	Test Data	4,60	2.60	4.00	- 2.10
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ	5.30	1.74	5.00	- 4.07
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ'	4.14	1.68	3.58	- 2.80
$\sigma''' \qquad 4.48 \qquad 3.25 \qquad 4.97 \qquad -2.01$ $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σu	4.48	1.82	4.97	- 2.01
N-8DTest Data2.532.141.5223 $\sigma$ 3.441.902.62-1.36 $\sigma'$ 2.201.531.2543 $\sigma''$ 2.371.601.4529 $\sigma'''$ 2.072.821.45-1.03N-4FTest Data1.701.581.8314 $\sigma'$ 1.501.41.99.18 $\sigma''$ 1.561.421.21.30 $\sigma'''$ 1.491.511.18.09		σ	4.48	3.25	4.97	- 2.01
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	N-8D	Test Data	2.53	2.14	1.52	23
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ	3.44	1.90	2.62	- 1.36
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ'	2.20	1.53	1.25	43
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		σ"	2.37	1.60	1.45	29
N-4FTest Data $1.70$ $1.58$ $1.83$ $-$ .14 $\sigma$ $1.72$ $1.45$ $1.17$ .14 $\sigma'$ $1.50$ $1.41$ .99.18 $\sigma''$ $1.56$ $1.42$ $1.21$ .30 $\sigma'''$ $1.49$ $1.51$ $1.18$ .09		σ'"	2.07	2.82	1.45	- 1.03
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	N-4F	Test Data	1.70	1.58	1.83	- 14
$\sigma'$ 1.501.41.99.18 $\sigma''$ 1.561.421.21.30 $\sigma'''$ 1.491.511.18.09		σ	1.72	1.45	1.17	.14
$\sigma''$ 1.561.421.21.30 $\sigma'''$ 1.491.511.18.09		σ'	1.50	1.41	.99	.18
σ'" 1.49 1.51 1.18 .09		$\sigma^{**}$	1.56	1.42	1.21	.30
		σ'"	1.49	1.51	1.18	.09

TABLE 10 (contd.)

	an an an ann an Anna a Anna an Anna an		Stress	Indices	
		σ	/s	σ / 9	3
Model	Strees	n, n	Ľ	, t	
No.	(1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside
N-1E	Test Data	1.82	1.80	1.77	14
	σ	1.88	1.46	1.27	04
	σ'	1.60	1.39	1.04	.04
	σ"	1.66	1.40	1.28	.17
	σ'"	1.58	1.60	1.25	26
N-1EA	Test Data	1.80	1.77	1.67	23
	σ	1.88	1.46	1.24	10
	σ'	1.66	1.39	1.06	08
	σĦ	1.74	1.40	1.35	.12
	σ''	1.64	1.71	1.31	32
N-3D	Test Data	1.91	1.77	1.75	40
	σ	2.08	1.44	1.31	39
	σ	1.79	1.33	1.08	30
	σ"	1.88	1.36	1.40	19
	σ'''	1.78	1.87	1.37	56
N-1C	Test Data	1.80	1.64	1.68	15
	σ	1.87	1.46	1.26	06
	σ	1.63	1.40	1.06	.02
	σ"	1.71	1.41	1.32	.16
	σ'''	1.62	1.66	1.29	27
N-2B	Test Data	2.00	1.70	2.10	30
	σ	1.87	1.46	1.25	07
	σ'	1.64	1.40	1.06	04
	σ"	1.72	1.41	1.33	.14
	O <sup>T II</sup>	1.63	1.68	1.30	29
N-3B	Test Data	1.96	1.81	1.74	38
	σ	2.00	1.42	1.25	36
	σ'	1.74	1.32	1.04	29
	σ"	1.82	1.35	1.35	18
	σ'"	1.71	1.84	1.32	51
N-1AA	Test Data	2.55	2.04	1.74	77
	σ	3.11	1.53	2.46	- 1.63
	σ'	2.27	1.38	1.59	94
	σ"	2.36	1.44	1.94	71
	σ'"	2.34	2.35	1.94	89

TABLE 10 (contd.)

Ì

TABLE 10 (contd.)

...

	<u></u>		Stress	Indices	
		ം പ്	S	$\sigma_{t}/t$	S
Model No.	Stress (1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside
	Toat Data	1 75	1 5 8	1 5/	- 11
	IESL Dala	1 99	1.50	1.05	11
	o al	1.00	1.40	1.25	09
	0 ·	1.32	1.19	.80	.07
	-111	1.00	1.20		.13
	0	1.22	1.32	•84	38
N-4E	Test Data	1.79	1.77	1.72	16
	σ	1.72	1.45	1.17	.12
	σ'	1.53	1.42	1.01	.15
	$\sigma^{\mu}$	1.60	1.42	1.25	.28
	σ'"	1.52	1.56	1.21	10
N- 1A	Test Data	2.72	2.01	1.84	78
	σ	3.62	1.60	2.99	- 2.01
	σ'	2.35	1.47	1.65	94
	σ"	2.45	1.53	1.98	72
	σ'''	2.41	2.60	1.98	96
N <b>-</b> 5B	Test Data	2.70	2.23	1.55	35
	σ	3.55	1.77	2.83	- 1.66
	σ'	2.17	1.45	1.34	57
	σĦ	2.27	1.51	1.52	43
	σ'''	2.06	2.61	1.52	- 1.00
S-3C	Test Data	4.00	2.60	3,40	- 1.05
5 30	σ	3.89	2.33	2 94	- 1 25
	σ <sup>1</sup>	3 25	2.55	2.30	- 8/
	σ"	3 40	2 • • •	2.50	- //8
	σ <sup>1</sup> 11	3 30	2.23	2.72	- 1 25
	0	2.22	J.TT	2.52	- 1.25
S-3CB	Test Data	2.90	2.62	1.70	25
	σ	3.87	2.32	2.92	- 1.25
	σ'	2.36	1.73	1.39	32
	Q II	2.52	1.76	1.56	22
	QIII	2.23	3.04	1.56	- 1.24
WN-108	Test Data	1.37	1.61	1.22	- 16
111 200		3,20	1.55	2 56	- 1.69
	σ <b>ι</b>	1 56	1 15	£1	- 15
	σII	1 57	1 16	- L C C	. 11
	σ in	1 20	1 82	•JJ 51	20
	~	2001	1.02	- J L	07

TABLE 10 (contd.)

			Stress	Indices	
		σ/	S	σ <sub>t</sub> /	S
Model	Stress				
No.	(1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside
WN-10D	Test Data	1.61	1.75	1.51	28
	σ	3.20	1.55	2.55	- 1.69
	σ'	2.19	1.41	.86	39
	OH	2.24	1.45	.96	32
	Q   11	2.04	2.48	.96	98
WN-50B	Test Data	3.92	2.83	3.06	- 1.62
	σ	4.95	1.80	4.45	- 3.41
	σ	3.22	1.70	2.33	- 1.60
	Q II	3.37	1.79	2.83	- 1.26
	0.11	3.29	3.33	2.83	- 1.34
Bu.S-1	Test Data	2.29	2.06	1 <b>.96</b>	31
	σ	2.53	1.60	1.75	66
	σ	2.22	1.42	1.46	48
	σ"	2.29	1.44	1.70	32
	Q 1 11	2.22	2.11	1.68	80
N-9E	Test Data	4.40	1.88	4.30	- 1.03
	σ	2.94	1.73	1.85	99
	σ	2.91	1.73	1.85	99
	συ	3.64	1.88	4.33	41
	0111	3.62	2.87	4.33	88
N-9A	Test Data	4.00	1.86	3.80	- 1.00
	σ	2.95	1.73	1.88	- 1.01
	σ'	2.87	1.73	1.88	- 1.01
	σ"	3.32	1.86	3.30	51
	GIII	3.28	2.84	3.30	<del>-</del> .95
N-9B	Test Data	3.00	1.81	2.74	96
	σ	2.95	1.73	1.85	97
	σ'	2.72	1.72	1.77	94
	σ"	2.92	1.80	2.38	60
	O I II	2.86	2.68	2.38	- 1.03
N-9C	Test Data	2 <b>.9</b> 5	1 <b>.9</b> 5	2.40	83
	σ	2.92	1.72	1.85	- 1.00
	σ'	2.64	1.68	1.74	92
	σ"	2.75	1.76	2.20	63
-	0.111	2.76	2.58	2.20	- 1.03

-5

TABLE	10	(contd.	)
LADLC	TO	(conca.	

		Stress Indices σ/S σ/S			
	_	°n′	נ	0	t <sup>75</sup>
Model No.	Stress (1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside
WAI-1	Test Data	1.55	1.7/	1.32	46
	σ	2.01	2.02	1.17	35
	σ'	1.62	1.54	.74	17
	σ"	1.64	1.55	.81	12
	σ!"	1.41	1.97	.77	79
S-5E	Test Data	2.58	1.78	2.45	43
	σ	2.24	1.88	1.45	.13
	σ'	2.24	1.88	1.45	.13
	σ"	2.33	1.89	1.72	.17
	σ"	2.30	2.31	1.70	.17
S-5AZ	Test Data	4.90	2.34	4.20	- 1.78
	σ	4.67	1.93	3.62	- 2.55
	σ'	4.08	1.91	2.94	- 1.99
	σ"	4.30	2.04	3.91	- 1.42
	σ'"	4.30	3.47	3.91	- 1.94
S-5A	Test Data	2.87	2.00	2.50	60
	σ	3.01	1.93	2.03	95
	σ'	2.69	1.92	1.75	76
	σ"	2.83	1.97	2.22	47
	σ!"	2.78	2.61	2.21	96
S-5AW	Test Data σ ຜ່ ຜ່ ຫຼາ ອ່າ	2.29 2.03 1.96 2.07 2.00	1.68 2.03 1.95 1.97 2.15	1.93 1.14 1.08 1.41 1.39	41 15 13 .05 46
S-5C	Test Data	3.62	2.45	2.60	66
	σ	4.05	2.29	3.15	- 1.46
	σ'	3.69	2.21	2.78	- 1.21
	σ''	3.83	2.30	3.35	83
	σ'''	3.83	3.41	3.35	- 1.31
WS-51M	Test Data	1.41	1.16	1.12	04
	σ	4.78	2.00	3.80	- 2.70
	σ'	1.24	.99	.56	19
	σ"	1.25	.99	.58	17
	σ'"	1.19	1.04	.57	97
IIT-Sl	Test Data	5.7 <i>5</i>	3.44	5. <b>72</b>	- 2.02
	σ	6.59	3.29	6.30	- 5.22
	σ'	5.66	3.14	4.78	- 3.87
	σ"	5.75	3.20	5.77	- 3.17
	σ"	5.75	3.20	5.77	- 3.17

OF	
RATIOS	STRESS
THE	IMUMI
OF	<b>MAX</b>
ERRORS	ASURED 1
AGE	Æ
ER/	Q
AV	SS
AND	STRE
AVERAGES,	MAX IMUM
RANGES,	COMPUTED
11.	
TABLE	

					1			
	7	All Models	; of Table	6	Models	s of Table	e 9 Where	r <sub>o</sub> /t < 6
Stress Ratio <sup>(1)</sup>	Ra Min.	nge Max.	Avg.	Avg. Error	Rang Min.	ge Max.	Avg.	Avg. Error
				Waters				
α/σ <sub>m</sub>	0.54	3.39	1.21	0.29	0.54	1.56	1.08	0.17
σ'/σ <sub>m</sub>	0.47	1.25	0.87	0.15	0.47	1.04	0.86	0.14
σ''/σ <sub>m</sub>	0.47	1.28	0.92	0.11	0.47	1.09	0.92	0.10
σ'''/σ <sub>m</sub>	0.76	2.08	1.01	0.14	0.76	1.40	0.98	0.11
				Thin Shell				
σ/σ <sub>m</sub>	0.86	3,55	1.55	0.55	0.86	2.19	1.40	0.41
σ'/σ <sub>m</sub>	0.65	1.47	1.08	0.17	0.65	<b>1.</b> 36	1.09	0.17
σ''/σ <sub>m</sub>	0.78	1.93	1.23	0.29	0.78	1.93	1.24	0.29
σ'''/σ m	0.89	2.44	1.32	0.33	0.94	1.93	1.30	0.31
$(1) \sigma = st$	cress cald	culated by	/ indicate	d theory ("W	aters" or	"thin she	alı").	
р 1	alculated	d stresses	; with nor	mal thicknes	s modifica	ition.		

 $\sigma'' = calculated stresses with normal thickness and curved-beam modifications.$ 

 $\sigma^{11} = calculated stresses with normal thickness, curved beam, and Lame-type modifications.$ 

 $\sigma_{\rm m}$  = maximum measured stress.

It has been suggested by Lind  $(^{30})$  that these stress concentration factors might be approximated by analogy with the theory of curved beams. Curved beam theory was used to modify the shell theory by equations of the type:

For tangential stresses

$$\sigma''_{t} = \sigma'_{t} \pm (i-1) \sigma'_{tb}$$
(11)

For normal stresses

$$\sigma''_{n} = \sigma'_{n} \pm \nu (i - 1) \sigma'_{tb}$$
(12)

where

- σ" = tangential surface stress with modifications for both normal plane thickness and curved beam factor
- σ'<sub>t</sub> = tangential surface stress with normal plane thickness modification

v = Poisson's ratio

i for outside of shell, i for inside of shell.

The stress concentration factor i is used in the form

$$\sigma = \frac{6M}{h^2} i$$
 (13)

where

M = moment applied to curved beam

h = thickness of curved beam sections
From the Winkler-Bach theory for curved beams:

$$i_{o} = \frac{\left[\frac{c}{a} - 1 \\ \frac{1}{\log_{e} c/a} - 1\right] (c - 1)}{6\left[\frac{1}{2} (c + 1) - \frac{c}{a} - 1 \\ \frac{1}{\log_{e} c/a}\right]}$$
(14)

$$i_{i} = \frac{\frac{a}{c} (\frac{c}{a} - 1)}{6 \left[ \frac{1}{2} (\frac{c}{a} + 1) - \frac{\frac{c}{a} - 1}{\log_{e} c/a} \right]}$$
(15)

As applied to nozzles in spheres, in equations (11) and (12):

$$\frac{c}{a} = \frac{r_{o} + h_{1}}{r_{o}}$$
 for section CD of Figure 12.

$$\frac{c}{a} = \frac{r_o + h_2}{r_o}$$
 for section  $\overline{AB}$  of Figure 12.

A graph of the curved beam factors,  $i_0$  and  $i_i$ , is shown as Figure 13. The maximum calculated stress  $\sigma''$ , including both the normal plane thickness and curved beam factor modifications is shown in Table 10 in the rows marked  $\sigma''$ . Some additional improvement in correlation with test data is obtained; as shown in Table 11 the average of  $\sigma''/\sigma_m$  is closer to the ideal value of 1.00.

#### (3) Lame'-type Factor

In several models the normal stress at the inside corner of the juncture was the maximum measured stress, e.g., Model S-1G with a stress concentration factor of 2.6 and Model S-1C with a stress concentration factor of 2.9. Neither the shell theory nor the two modifications discussed above predict these stress concentrations.

If it is assumed that there is a transition in radii through the junction zone from the radius of the cylindrical nozzle to the radius of the sphere, with intermediate radii being normal to the midsurface of the junction zone, significant thick-wall-shell stresses can arise. With "normal radii" defined as shown in Figure 12, the additional stresses due to the thick wall effect was approximated by equations of the type:



FIGURE 13. STRESS-CONCENTRATION FACTORS, CURVED BEAM THEORY

Section AB, normal stress, outside surface

$$\sigma_{n}^{""} = \sigma_{n}^{"} + \sigma_{ab}^{'} \left[ (1 + T/D_{i}) (1 - h_{2}/2R_{2}) - 1 \right]$$
(16)

- where  $\sigma_n^{\prime\prime\prime}$  = normal stress at A (Figure 9) with modifications for
  - n normal thickness, curved beam factor and Lame factor. σ<sub>n</sub> = normal stress at A with modifications for normal thickness and curved beam factor.
    - $\sigma_{ab}$  = midwall stress at section  $\overline{AB}$  (Figure 9) with modification for normal plane thickness.
    - T = wall thickness of sphere.
    - D<sub>i</sub> = inside diameter of sphere.
    - $h_2$ ,  $R_2$  defined by Figure 12.

The correction factor is obtained by a truncated series expansion of Lame equations for spheres and cylinders in terms of the thickness-to-radius ratio. Since Waters' equations contain a correction of this type (T/2R or t/2r) the additional correction factor  $(h_2/2R_2 \text{ or } h_1/2R_1)$  is included so that when T/D =  $h_2/2R_2$  or t/d =  $h_1/2R_1$ , Waters' stresses are not changed.

Table 10 shows  $\sigma$ "' in the rows so marked. While improved correlation is apparent in some models (S-1G and S-1C in particular), and the average of  $\sigma$ "'/ $\sigma_m$  (Table 11) is brought very close to the ideal value of 1.00, the normal stress on the inside corner is grossly overestimated in some models; S-1AB, WS-1LB, WN-10D in particular. Examination of the detailed geometry of these models indicates why this overestimate occurs, however, a general rule for accurate modifications applicable to all test models has not been found.

The series of modifications is more productive than directly indicated in the above discussion in the sense that all four stress groups are usually brought into better agreement by these modifications.

<u>Comparisons with "Thin-Shell" Theory</u>. As pointed out earlier, Waters' analysis contains a number of refinements designed to make thinshell theory more applicable to nozzles in pressure vessel heads. The Leckie-Penny analysis and CERL computer programs do not include these refinements. The "Waters-3" computer program gives results essentially the same as the CERL computer program (for internal pressure, externally protruding nozzle), hence it was used to obtain a comparison between the Leckie-Penny analysis and the test results. Computed stresses directly from the Waters-3 (thin-shell) program, along with computed stresses including the modifications discussed above, are shown in Table 12 and are summarized in the lower part of Table 11.

In general, the thin-shell theory over-predicts stresses, as compared to test data. In some models, of course, its results are closer to test results than Waters', but in general Waters' analysis is closer to the test results. The thin-shell (Waters-3, Leckie-Penny, CERL) analysis has some advantage in that it is almost always conservative as compared to test results.

		Stress Indices σ <sub>n</sub> /S σ <sub>t</sub> /S			
Model No.	Stress (1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside
S-1G	Test Data	1.14	2.60	1.02	30
	σ	3.22	1.70	3.01	- 2.63
	σ'	1.69	1.48	1.23	99
	σ"	1.76	1.50	1.52	79
	σ"	1.45	2.87	1.52	79
S-1A	Test Data	2.20	2.20	1.25	28
	σ	3.67	1.71	3.29	- 2.27
	σ'	2.60	1.71	2.07	- 1.28
	σ'	2.78	1.78	2.79	87
	σ''	2.62	3.15	2.79	92
S-1AB	Test Data	1.51	2.17	1.07	24
	σ	3.68	1.71	3.32	- 2.35
	σ'	1.95	1.48	.52	18
	σ'	2.02	1.52	.58	13
	σ''	1.27	3.56	.58	13
S-1C	Test Data	1.90	2.90	1.00	20
	σ	3.11	1.92	2.17	20
	σ'	2.26	1.80	1.44	.06
	σ'	2.65	1.86	1.74	.23
	σ''	2.25	3.38	1.74	98
WS-1LM	Test Data	1.17	1.87	1.20	06
	σ	4.30	1.62	4.20	- 3.18
	σ'	1.32	.99	.05	.02
	σ'	1.33	1.00	.05	.02
	σ''	.91	1.82	.05	97
WS-1LB	Test Data	1.07	2.03	1.13	17
	σ	3.67	1.71	3.31	- 2.32
	σ'	1.89	1.45	.09	.02
	σ''	1.90	1.46	.10	.02
	σ''	.85	4.96	.10	87
N-8C	Test Data	1.68	2.02	1.39	34
	σ	3.20	1.56	2.94	- 2.31
	σ'	2.64	1.47	2.26	- 1.71
	σ''	2.85	1.51	3.11	- 1.23
	σ''	2.55	2.63	3.11	- 1.23

 TABLE 12.
 COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH THIN-SHELL THEORY AND

 EMPIRICAL MODIFICATIONS, UNIFORM WALL MODELS

(1) Test Data = m easured stresses

 $\sigma$  = calculated stresses, thin-shell theory.

- $\sigma'$  = calculated stresses with normal thickness modification
- σ" = calculated stresses with normal thickness and curved beam modifications
- σ'" = calculated stresses with normal thickness, curved beam and thick-wall modifications.
TABLE 12 (contd)

		σ_/	Stress S	Indices $\sigma_t/S$		
Model No.	Stress (1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside	
N-8H	Test Data	3.10	2.06	2.75	98	
	σ	4.40	1.61	4.45	- 3.42	
	σ'	3.85	1.60	3.73	- 2.80	
	σ'	4.41	1.73	5.97	- 1.79	
	σ ι ιι	4.24	3.17	5.97	- 1.79	
N-8F	Test Data	2.66	2.18	1.90	64	
	σ	4.37	1.61	4.41	- 3.41	
	σ'	3.44	1.58	3.21	- 2.37	
	σ''	3.74	1.69	4.45	- 1.68	
	σ''	3.57	3.13	4.45	- 1.68	
N-8E	Test Data	2.19	2.00	1.26	37	
	ອ	4.39	1.61	4.44	- 3.43	
	ອ່	2.51	1.49	2.07	- 1.40	
	ອ່າ	2.66	1.57	2.49	- 1.10	
	ອ່າ	2.42	2.98	2.49	- 1.10	
n-8g	Test Data	1.96	2.04	1.29	38	
	o	4.41	1.61	4.47	- 3.47	
	o'	2.35	1.44	1.60	- 1.03	
	o''	2.46	1.50	1.87	83	
	o''	2.10	2.85	1.87	85	
S-2AZ	Test Data	4.60	2.60	4.00	- 2.10	
	σ	6.08	1.84	6.81	- 5.81	
	σ'	4.67	1.80	4.85	- 4.02	
	σ"	5.15	1.93	6.79	- 2.93	
	σ"	5.08	3.63	6.79	- 2.93	
N-8D	Test Data	2.53	2.14	1.52	23	
	σ	4.15	1.60	3.86	- 2.39	
	σ'	2.69	1.54	1.81	84	
	σ'	2.92	1.63	2.12	62	
	σ''	2.47	3.31	2.12	87	
N-4F	Test Data	1.70	1.58	1.83	14	
	σ	2.08	1.23	1.82	75	
	σ'	1.81	1.13	1.50	55	
	σ"	1.92	1.18	2.02	34	
	σ'"	1.76	1.81	1.97	74	

TABLE 12 (contd.)

and and a second se	ander af her of the product of the state of th	Stress Indices				
		$\sigma_n$	S	$\sigma_t$	5	
Model No.	Stress (1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside	
N-1E	Test Data	1.82	1.80	1.77	14	
	σ	2.20	1.25	1.87	86	
	σ	1.95	1.14	1.48	71	
	σ"	2.06	1.19	1.97	47	
	Q 1 11	1.81	1.85	1.93	85	
N- 1EA	Test Data	1.80	1.77	1.67	23	
	σ	2.29	1.30	1.76	- 1.06	
	σ	2.14	1.22	1.46	94	
	σ"	2.28	1.27	2.01	63	
	σ	2.02	2.03	1.97	87	
N-3D	Test Data	1.91	1.77	1.75	40	
	σ	2.77	1.37	2.19	- 1.64	
	σ	2.44	1.27	1.83	- 1.33	
	σ"	2.60	1.32	2.47	95	
	0111	2.37	2.18	2.47	95	
N-1C	Test Data	1.80	1.64	1.68	15	
	σ	2.20	1.27	1.83	87	
	σľ	2.03	1.18	1.50	79	
	σ"	2.15	1.22	2.02	53	
	0111	1.89	1.93	1.98	87	
N-2B	Test Data	2.00	1.70	2.10	30	
	σ	2.20	1.28	1.80	95	
	σ	2.07	1.19	1.49	85	
	σ"	2.20	1.24	2.02	57	
	στμ	1.94	1.98	1.98	87	
N-3B	Test Data	1.96	1.81	1.74	38	
	σ	2.74	1.40	2.17	- 1.64	
	σ	2.44	1.29	1.84	- 1.36	
	Q 11	2.60	1.34	2.50	98	
	0111	2.37	2.21	2.50	98	
N-1AA	Test Data	2.55	2.04	1.74	77	
	σ	4.47	1.63	4.55	- 3.57	
	σ'	3.17	1.47	2.90	- 2.13	
	Q.II	3.34	1.54	3.59	- 1.66	
	σιμ	3.17	2.79	3.59	- 1.66	

TABLE 12 (contd)

<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	<u>n na sena na s</u>	σ <sub>n</sub> /	Stress S	Indices σ_/s	5
Model No.	Stress (1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside
N-2 <u>BM</u>	Test Data	1.75	1.58	1.54	11
	σ	2.24	1.29	1.78	- 1.00
	σ'	1.71	1.05	1.07	61
	QII	1.76	1.07	1.25	48
	0111	1.51	1.59	1.20	83
N-4E	Test Data	1.79	1.77	1.72	16
	σ	2.09	1.24	1.80	75
	σ	1.87	1.16	1.52	62
	σu	1.99	1.20	2.06	39
	0.111	1.79	1.87	2.01	76
N-1A	Test Data	2.72	2.01	1.84	78
	σ	4.87	1.70	5.07	- 3.94
	σ'	3.05	1.56	2.73	- 1.93
	σu	3.20	1.64	3.33	- 1.52
	σι	3.05	3.07	3.33	- 1.52
N-5B	Test Data	2.70	2.23	1.55	35
	σ	4.68	1.67	4.70	- 3.31
	σ	2.63	1.52	2.15	- 1.25
	σu	2.75	1.59	2.49	- 1.01
	στυ	2.50	3.15	2.49	- 1.01
S-3C	Test Data	4.00	2.60	3.40	- 1.05
	σ	4.37	1.64	3.98	- 1.98
	σ'	3.61	1.63	3.10	- 1.37
	σu	3.83	1.78	3.98	85
	011	3.63	3.61	3.98	85
S-3CB	Test Data	2.90	2.62	1.70	25
	σ	4.37	1.64	3.98	- 2.00
	σ	2.85	1.56	1.86	59
	σ"	3.04	1.65	2.10	41
	στι	2.51	3.56	2.10	85
WN-10B	Test Data	1.37	1.61	1.22	16
	σ	4.55	1.64	4.65	- 3.63
	σ	1.83	1.23	.56	25
	σĦ	1.85	1.25	.60	21
	σιμ	1.52	2.21	.60	88

TABLE 12 (contd.)

<u>,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,</u>		σ	Stress S	s Indices σ /s	5
Model No.	Stress (1)	n Outside	Inside	t Outside	Inside
WN-10D	Test Data	1.61	1.75	1.51	28
	σ	4.54	1.64	4.65	- 3.63
	σ'	2.58	1.51	1.50	95
	σ''	2.64	1.55	1.69	81
	σ'''	2.33	2.95	1.69	95
WN-50B	Test Data	3.92	2.83	3.06	- 1.62
	σ	6.08	1.89	6.55	- 5.44
	σ'	3.68	1.79	3.39	- 2.60
	σ"	3.87	1.88	4.16	- 2.08
	σ'"	3.77	3.66	4.16	- 2.08
Bu.S-1	Test Data	2.29	2.06	1.96	31
	σ'	2.82	1.18	2.39	- 1.43
	σ'	2.47	1.14	1.98	- 1.12
	σ''	2.55	1.20	2.36	86
	σ''	2.43	2.13	2.33	- 1.39
N-9E	Test Data	4.40	1.88	4.30	- 1.03
	σ	3.77	1.39	3.36	- 2.35
	σ'	3.77	1.39	3.36	- 2.35
	σ''	4.86	1.58	7.72	- 1.18
	σ''	4.67	2.99	7.72	- 1.18
N-9A	Test Data	4.00	1.86	3.80	- 1.00
	σ	3.80	1.40	3.41	- 2.39
	σ'	3.80	1.39	3.41	- 2.39
	σ'	4.47	1.56	6.10	- 1.37
	σ''	4.29	2.97	6.10	- 1.37
N-9B	Test Data	3.00	1.81	2.74	96
	σ	3.73	1.37	3.30	- 2.31
	σ'	3.67	1.34	3.23	- 2.25
	σ''	3.97	1.46	4.46	- 1.57
	σ'''	3.80	2.79	4.46	- 1.57
N-9C	Test Data $\sigma'$ $\sigma''$ $\sigma'''$	2 <b>.9</b> 5 3.78 3.60 3.83 3.65	1.95 1.40 1.35 1.44 2.72	2.4 <b>0</b> 3.38 3.17 4.09 4.09	83 - 2.38 - 2.20 - 1.63 - 1.63

TABLE 12	(contd.	)
----------	---------	---

	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	 σ_/	Stress S	s Indices σ <sub>1</sub> /8	5
Mode1	Stress			Ľ	
No.	(1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside
WAI-1	Test Data	1.5 <b>5</b>	1.71	1.32	46
	σ	3.19	1.44	2.76	- 1.52
	σ	2.12	1.29	1.58	67
	σ"	2.15	1.31	1.71	56
	Q I 11	1.78	2.61	1.71	74
S-5E	Test Data	2.58	1.78	2.45	43
	σ	2.81	1.32	2.75	- 1.45
	σ'	2.81	1.32	2.75	- 1.45
	σ"	2.97	1.37	3.48	- 1.00
	Q 1 11	2.86	2.02	3.44	- 1.31
S-5AZ	Test Data	4.90	2.34	4.20	- 1.78
	σ	4.89	1.19	4.26	- 3.24
	σ	4.73	1.24	4.07	- 3.07
	σu	5.05	1.41	5.36	- 2.29
	σιπ	4.98	3.19	5.36	- 2.33
S-5A	Test Data	2.87	2.00	2.50	60
	σ	3.32	1.19	2.78	- 1.68
	σ	3.23	1.19	2.53	- 1.54
	σ"	3.41	1.30	3.27	- 1.09
	σ"	3.24	2.46	3.27	- 1.41
S-5AW	Test Data	2.29	1.68	1.93	41
	σ	2.62	1.24	1.98	87
	σ'	2.49	1.22	1.87	79
	σ"	2.64	1.30	2.53	44
	Q I II	2.39	2.44	2.47	81
S-5C	Test Data	3.62	2.45	2.60	66
	σ	4.88	1.85	4.72	- 2.72
	σ'	4.41	1.78	4.15	- 2.29
	σ"	4.64	1.88	5.06	- 1.69
	0.111	4.42	3.78	5.06	- 1.69
WS-5LM	Test Data	1.41	1.16	1.12	04
	σ	5.00	1.26	4.52	- 3.44
	σ'	1.32	.86	.64	28
	σ"	1.32	.86	.66	27
	0111	1.25	.94	•65	- 1.06

			Stress	Indices	
Model	Stress	σ <sub>n</sub> /	'S	σ <sub>t</sub> /	5
No.	(1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside
IIT-51	Test Data	5.7 <b>5</b>	3.44	5.72	- 2.02
	σ σ'	6.67 5.97	2.80	7.04 5.96	- 6.03 - 5.04
	011 0111	6.08 6.04	2.75 2.79	7.22 7.22	- 4.15 - 4.15

TABLE 12 (contd)

ORNL Models. The Oak Ridge National Laboratory models ORNL-5 and ORNL-6\* are particular pertinent in comparing test data with theory because, by elimination of the fillet radius, these test models are geometrically the same as the theoretical models of two-piece shæll theories. Figures 14 through 17 compare test data with theory for these two models. The theoretical data was obtained using Kalnins computer program, however, essentially the same results would be expected using the CERL computer program.

In plotting the theoretical data, it has been assumed that the nozzle starts (x = 0) at the outer surface of the sphere, the sphere starts ( $\emptyset = \emptyset_0$ ) at the outer surface of the nozzle. This leaves a section at the juncture (a rectangle, with dimensions t by T) which is undefined by the theory. One strain gage was placed on this section; on the inside of the nozzle at the mid-surface of the sphere. This test data point is arbitrarily shown in Figures 14 through 17 at a location of -t on the sphere. One might expect  $\sigma_n$  from this gage would be comparable with the mid-wall  $\sigma_n$  calculated at the opening in the sphere; as can be seen in Figures 14 and 16, agreement does exist. The value of  $\sigma_t$  from this gage, however, is not comparable with shell theory because, as a point on the sphere  $\sigma_t = 0$ , as a point on the nozzle the thickness is indeterminate.

As can be seen in Figures 14 through 17, agreement of test data with theory is good, except for the tangential stresses on the outside of the sphere\*\*. The reason for the disagreement of theory and test data for the tangential stress on the outside of the sphere is not known.

<sup>\*</sup> These are two (configurations 5 and 6) of the six models included in Reference 27. The other models had internally protruding nozzles which are not covered in this report.

<sup>\*\*</sup> The same discrepancy also occurs for moment or thrust loading.

Presumably there was a high local stress at the nozzle-sphere juncture due to the sharp re-entrant corner. Possibly this high local stress persisted for some distance along the sphere, leading to the high measured tangential stresses on the outer surface of the sphere.

Juncture stresses obtained from Waters' analysis are also shown on Figures 14 through 17. These stresses agree somewhat closer than Kalnins' results with maximum measured stresses, however, since the maximum measured stresses are not exactly at the juncture, the better agreement of Waters' analysis cannot be taken as meaning that the analysis is more accurate. The discrepancy for the tangential stress on the outside surface of the sphere is about the same for Waters' results as for Kalnins' results.



FIGURE 14. NORMAL STRESSES IN MODEL ORNL 5, INTERNAL PRESSURE



FIGURE 15. TANGENTIAL STRESSES IN MODEL ORNL 5, INTERNAL PRESSURE



FIGURE 16. NORMAL STRESSES IN MODEL ORNL 6, INTERNAL PRESSURE



FIGURE 17. TANGENTIAL STRESSES IN MODEL ORNL 6, INTERNAL PRESSURE

Inside Corner Radii. All of the photoelastic test models, as well as model IIT-Sl, had inside corner radii as shown in Table 9 as  $r_i/t$ . The test data indicates that variations in the inside corner radius, of the magnitude used in the test models, have relatively little effect on the magnitude of the maximum stress. Some radius on the inside corner is desirable to provide a smooth surface for optimum fatigue strength, and a very large fillet radius would probably weaken the structure because of reduction of reinforcing area at the juncture. Between these rather wide bounds, however, the inside corner radius appears to be relatively insignificant.

Fillet Radii. The significance of the fillet radius has been discussed and illustrated for the test models in the preceeding, in which the ratio  $r_0/t$  has been used as a parameter. In References (24) and (25), the ratio  $r_0/T$  is shown. In Reference (16), the effect of the fillet radius is discussed in terms of  $r_0/T$  and some design codes specify the fillet radius in terms of T. The question arises as to whether  $r_{r}/t$  or  $r_{r}/T$  is a more significant parameter. From a theoretical standpoint, either parameter may be more significant because the effect depends upon the relative increase in the nozzle thickness as compared to the increase in the sphere thickness, as well as the relative stress levels of the nozzle and sphere. For the test models considered, the theoretical effect of the fillet radius on the nozzle is almost always much more significant than in the sphere, hence the ratio of  $r_{\rm c}/t$  appears more significant than  $r_{\rm c}/T$ . In some extreme cases (not included in the test models), the ratio of  $r_0/\sqrt{rt}$  or  $r_0/\sqrt{RT}$  may be significant because if  $r_{o} \ll \sqrt{rt}$  or  $\ll \sqrt{RT}$ , the maximum stress may occur at the edge of the fillet radius and be approximately the same as given by the theory for the juncture stress.

Two series of test models were run in which essentially the only variable was the size of the fillet radius. These models are included in Table 10; part of the data is tabulated again below:

			Maximum S	Stresses	on Outside	Surface	2
			σ <sub>n</sub> /s			σ <sub>t</sub> /S	
Model No.	$\frac{r_{o}}{t}$	Waters	0 <sup>11 1</sup>	Test	Waters	Ott I	Test
N-8H N-8F N-8E N-8G	.40 .72 1.81 2.53	3.21 3.13 3.17 3.18	3.14 2.66 1.93 1.74	3.10 2.66 2.19 1.96	2.56 2.49 2.52 2.54	3.37 2.48 1.43 1.08	2.75 1.90 1.26 1.29
N-9E N-9A N-9B N-9C	.13 .25 .61 .85	2.94 2.95 2.95 2.92	3.62 3.28 2.86 2.76	4.40 4.00 3.00 2.95	1.85 1.88 1.85 1.85	4.33 3.30 2.38 2.20	4.30 3.80 2.74 2.40

Waters analysis is not dependent upon  $r_o$ , hence it gives essentially the same stresses for each set of models. After modifications as discussed previously, however, the  $\sigma$ "' stresses agree reasonably well with the test data and parallel the trends indicated by the test data. Similar comparisons may be made from Table 11 (thinshell, Waters-3, Kalnins, CERL), however, starting with the thin shell basic theory, the modified ( $\sigma$ "") stresses are high with respect to the test data.

Fillet radii reinforcing is considered further in the subsequent section on "Models with Local Reinforcing", wherein certain trends of the effectiveness of fillet radii reinforcing with respect to other dimensional parameters is discussed.

## MODELS WITH LOCAL REINFORCING

The distinction between "Uniform Wall Models" and "Models with Local Reinforcing" is, of course, arbitrary. Uniform Wall Models included only models with reinforcing consisting of a fillet radius. In some models the fillet radius was quite large; these models are discussed again in this section of the report, along with a general study of fillet radius reinforcing. Also, results of tests on Model WN-50B are given in detail along with comparison with Kalnins' computer program results.

Test data is compared with results from Kalnins and Seal-Shell-2 computer programs in the following. Some judgement is required by users of these programs in selecting midsurfaces (or reference surfaces) and appropriate normal thicknesses. While considerable time was expended in preparing input data for the models discussed herein, further refinements in input data would probably give closer agreement between calculated results and test results.

<u>Model WN-50B</u>. Figure 18 gives a comparison of test results for Model WN-50B with calculated results using Kalnins program. The maximum stress, which is the  $\sigma_n$ -stress on the outside surface, is quite closely predicted by the calculations. Kalnins program is based on thin-shell theory and therefore does not include non-linear effects such as represented by the "curved beam effect" discussed previously. Qualitatively, corrections to Kalnins' theory analogous to the "curved beam effect" would bring calculations and test data into better agreement, except for the very sharp peak in the measured normal stress on the inside surface. In this particular respect, Waters' theory with adjustments is closer to the test data; 3.33 calculated vs. 2.83 test (See Table 10).



FIGURE 18. TEST DATA AND CALCULATED (KALNINS) RESULTS, MODEL WN-50B, INTERNAL PRESSURE

<u>Comparison with Seal-Shell-2 and Kalnins</u>. Basic dimensions of models with local reinforcing are shown in Table 13, along with a general description of the type of reinforcing. The exact detail of the reinforcing is, of course, important - however, these are shown in References (24) and (25) and hence are not included herein. A summary of maximum measured stresses is given in Table 13 analogous to the summary of Table 9.

Table 14 compares test data with Seal-Shell-2 and Kalnins calculated results for a number of test models with local reinforcing. In general, agreement between these test results and calculated results is quite satisfactory. The number of comparisons made was limited by available time and funds; all models have d/D ratios of 0.20 or larger. There are tentative indications, however, that these calculation methods may be of limited applicability to small d/D-ratios where substantial reinforcement is present; or at least considerable more care in setting up the theoretical models will be required. Also, calculation of stresses at abrupt changes in wall thickness (such as in Model N-4G, in the sphere at the toe of the "fillet weld") is impossible with Kalnins' program and difficult, at best, with the Seal-Shell-2 program.

Figures 19 through 22 give "stress-profiles" for Models W-1B and WS-5LB, comparing both Kalnins and Seal-Shell-2 calculated results with the test data. In these comparisons, the developed middle surface is shown as the abcissa, stress index as the ordinate. As noted in discussion of Model WN-50B, Kalnins results do not include the"curved beam effect" and some better agreement might be obtained by a modification of this type. Figure 10a gives another example of a stress-profile calculated by the Seal-Shell-2 program as compared with test data.

The Seal-Shell-2 program was also used to calculate stresses for a "inverted nozzle", Model WN-6BR. The calculated results and test results compare quite closely, except for the tangential stress in the nozzle. This systematic discrepancy appears to indicate either an error in the input boundary conditions or in the computer program. An attempt

was made to calculate this same model using Kalnins' program, however, certain difficulties arise because of the required direction of integration along the shell. This problem has arisen for other shells using Kalnins' program and can be overcome, in some cases at least, by mapping the actual geometry into an imaginary plane such that the radius of curvature is entered as a negative quantity with appropriate changes in surface forces and boundary conditions. This technique has not yet been attempted for the "inverted nozzle" problem.

STRESS <b>ES</b> ,	
MEASURED	CING
AND	NFOR
DIMENSIONS	LOCAL REI
ОF	WITH
SUMMARY	MODELS
TABLE 13.	

					Aa		Measured St	resses(2)		
No.	q	<u>o</u>	S	Type of	2   L P	on 'S		/10	S	
<b>E</b>	ó	H ا	s	Reinforcement	(3)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside	Comments
WS-1LM	0.05	71.5	1.01	External fillet radius	2.0	1.17*	1.87	1.20*	-0.06	* Stress location near the
WS-1LB	0.05	24.2	0.99	External fillet radius	2.0	1.07*	2.03	1,13*	-0.17	intersection of the reinforcing with the subere
WN-6F	0.10	28.7	0.75	Balanced	1.1	1.10*	1.12	1.11*	1.12*a	
										<sup>+</sup> Stress location near the
WN-10B	0.20	24.0	1.02	External fillet radius	0.67	1.37*	1.61	1.22*	-0.16	intersection of reinforcing
MN-10D	0.20	24.0	1.02	External fillet radius	0.0	1.61	1.75	1.15	-0.28	with the nozzle
N-1B	0.20	25.2	96.0	Pad on nozzle	0.55	$1.91^{*}$	1.80	1.73*	-0.23	
N-4A	0.20	24.8	0.97	Tapered pad on nozzle	0.65	1.77*	1.77	1.76*	-0.15	a, Inside corner, $\sigma_{\rm f}/S = -0.47$
N-4D	0.20	23.3	1.03	Tapered pad	0.80	1.62*	1.62	1.73*	-0.08	b, Inside corner, $\sigma_i/S = -0.93$
N-4G	0.20	23.8	0.99	Pad on nozzle	0.75	2.10*	1.68	2.24*	-0.12	c, Inside corner, $\sigma_1/S = -0.03$
N-5A	0.20	16.2	1.48	Pad on nozzle	0.35	2.06*	2.13	1.85*	-0.40	
N-6A	0.20	24.3	0.99	Balanced	0.95	1.35*	1.28+	1.26*	-0.15	
N-6D	0.20	23.8	1.00	Balanced	0.65	2,00*	1.35+	1.55*	-0.49	
N-6E	0.20	24.0	1.00	Balanced	1.0	1.90*	1.11+	2.09*	-0.63	
N-7A	0.20	25.2	0.95	Pad on sphere	0.00	1.82+	1.49+	1.25+	-0.21	
WN-6B	0.20	23.9	1.01	Balanced, drainable	0.65	1.18*	1.30	1.03*	-0.35	
WN-6C	0.20	24.7	1.00	Balanced, non-drainable	0.65	2.09*	1.42*	2.24*	1.21*b	
WN-7B	0.20	23.9	1.01	Tapered pad on sphere	0.85	1.26 +	1.45	1.03*	-0.17	
BuSA	0.34	156.6	1.92	Balanced	1.0	+ 96.1	1.20*	1.07	1.22* c	
WS-5LB	0.50	24.4	1.00	Compound external fillet radii	0.65	1.26*	1,28	1.13*	-0.15	
WS-5LM	0.50	78.8	0.96	External fillet radius	0.72	1.41*	1.16	1.12*	-0.04	
MS-5LO	0.50	71.5	1.02	Balanced	0.65	1.22*+	1.17	*66.0	-0.14	
	Inverted Nozzles		÷							
WN-6BR	0.20	23.7	0.98	Balanced	0.65	2.05	-1.45+	-0.54	1.50*	
WN-6CR	0.20	24.0	1.00	Balanced	0.65	1.90*	1.56*	1.90*	1.77*	
(1) Model	numbers N- (e.g. N-	1B) are from vimum signifi	Reference 24	; all other models are from Reference 24	5. Amote from th	a onening ~ /S	and ~ /S annro	arh 1 û in the sr	here' ~ /S annr	sethes s/S and s./S annitoaches

(2) I abulated stresses are maximum significant stresses due to the opening or reinforcement; remote from the opening  $\sigma_{n}/S$  and  $\sigma_{t}/S$  approach 1.0 in the sphere;  $\sigma_{n}/S$  approaches s/S and  $\sigma_{t}/S$  approaches 0.5 s/S in the nozzle. 0.5 s/S in the nozzle. (3)  $A_{a} =$  area of reinforcing provided by reinforcement in excess of the basic configuration described by  $d_{i}/D_{i}$ ,  $D_{i}/T$  and s/S.  $A_{a}$  is not the same as the reinforcing area computed according to usual code rules because (1) no reinforcing provided by reinforcing from an excess nozzle thickness (s/S < 1.0) or excess sphere thickness (s/S > 1.0) is not included.

			Stress	Indices		
Model No.	Stress from:	on Outside	/S Inside	σ <sub>t</sub> Outside	/S Inside	<sup>°</sup> c <sup>°</sup> m (1)
N-1B	Test Data Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins	1.91 1.75 1.72	1.80 1.83 1.21	1.73 1.50 1.30	-0.23 -0.02 -0.48	0.96
N-4A	Test Data Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins	1.77 1.68 1.74	1.77 1.54 1.37	1.76 1.54 1.46	-0.15 -0.03 -0.50	0.95 0.98
N-7A	Test Data Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins	1.82 1.64 1.75	1.49 1.51 1.42	1.25 1.13 1.17	-0.21 -0.23 -0.42	0.90 0.96
WN <b>-</b> 6B	Test Data Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins	1.18 1.38 2.04	1.30 1.44 1.32	1.03 1.13 0.92	-0.35 -0.19 -0.48	 1.11 1.57
WN-7B	Test Data Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins	1.20 1.28 1.06	1.45 1.27 1.87	1.03 0.90 1.30	-0.17 0.10 -0.03	0.88 1.29
WS-5LB	Test Data Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins	1.26 1.04 1.19	1.28 1.07 1.06	1.13 0.94 0.99	-0.15 0.00 -0.17	0.84 0.93
WS-5LM	Test Data Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins	1.41 1.35 1.00	1.16 0.96 1.00	1.12 1.26 1.05	-0.04 0.03 -0.23	0.96 0.75
WS-510	Test Data Seal-Shell-2 Kalnins	1.22 1.12 1.63	1.17 0.75 1.19	0.99 0.83 0.78	-0.14 -0.22 -0.43	0.92 1.33
WN-6BR	Test Data Seal-Shell-2	2.05 1.99	1.13 1.13	-0.54 (2)	1.50 1.46	0.97

## TABLE 14: COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH THEORY, MODELS WITH LOCAL REINFORCING

(1)  $\sigma_{\rm m}$  = maximum measured stress,  $\sigma_{\rm c}$  = maximum calculated stress

(2) Calculated stress incorrect, possibly due to inaccurate boundary conditions.



FIGURE 19. TEST DATA AND SEAL-SHELL-2 CALCULATED RESULTS, MODEL N-1B





TEST DATA AND SEAL-SHELL-2 CALCULATED RESULTS, MODEL WS-5LB FIGURE 21.

101

 $\bigcirc$ 



TEST DATA AND KALNINS CALCULATED RESULTS MODEL WS-5LB

Stresses at Reinforcing Edges. Table 13 indicates that many of the maximum stresses are associated with the way that the reinforcing blends in with the nozzle or sphere walls. These stresses can be minimized by the use of very gradual transitions in wall thickness. For example (see Figure 23), Model WN-6B with 65% reinforcing and gradual transitions has a maximum stress index of 1.30 (not at the reinforcing edge) whereas Model WN-6C with 65% reinforcing has a maximum stress index of 2.24. Model N-4G (which is quite realistic in representing a typical fillet-welded, reinforced nozzle) has 7.5% reinforcing and a maximum stress index of 2.24. It seems unlikely that further increase in the nozzle thickness of model N-4G would significantly reduce the maximum stress and might increase it.

In some models (e.g., N-1B, N-5A) the maximum stresses are quite clearly associated with the problem of a nozzle in a sphere. For other models (e.g., N-7A at the pad-sphere intersection, WS-5LM, N-4D) the stress may be due primarily to the thickness change and only indirectly connected with the problem of a nozzle in a spherical shell. For example, Model WS-5LB includes results on the intersection of the spherical head with a cylindrical shell of equal diameter with an approximation 3:1 transition taper; stresses at this transition were as high as those in the vicinity of the nozzle.



REINFORCING EDGES

<u>Fillet Radius Reinforcing</u>. It is apparent from Table 9 that, in certain dimension ranges, a relatively small amount of reinforcing provided by a fillet radius significantly reduces the elastic stresses, as compared to two-piece shell theory stresses. An example of this is Model WS-5LM, for which Waters' theory gives a maximum elastic stress index of 4.78 as compared to the measured maximum stress index of 1.41. The area of reinforcement provided for the fillet radius is 0.65  $d_iT$ , i.e., 65% of the area of reinforcing required by pressure vessel and piping design codes.

In order to obtain a general indication of the effectiveness of fillet-radii reinforcing, a parametric study\* was made using the Seal-Shell-2 computer program. Results of this parametric study are shown in Table 15.

To generalize this study into terms of area of reinforcing, the following steps were made.

- (1) It was assumed that the maximum stress intensity index,  $K_2^{**}$ , would be limited to 2.0 as a design criteria.
- (2) Values of the stress intensity from Table 15 were plotted as functions of  $r_0/t$  and D/T. From these graphs, it was found that the value of  $r_0/t$  required to obtain  $K_2 = 2.0$ is approximately given by the equation:

$$\frac{r_{o}}{t} = 0.336 \left(\frac{D}{T}\right)^{3/4}$$
(17)

The parametric study was limited to basic dimensions such that s/S = 1.0; accordingly, equation (17) is applicable only for s/S = 1.0.

(3) The amount of reinforcing area, as a ratio of  $A'/d_iT$ , provided by the fillet radius  $r_o/t$  was obtained using equation (17) and the geometry of the models. The resulting relationship is:

<sup>\*</sup> This study is somewhat limited in extent because of the relatively high cost of using the Seal-Shell-2 program. Some of the models were also run using Kalnins program (See Table 8).

<sup>\*\*</sup> Stress intensity at a point is defined as twice the maximum shear stress at that point. The symbol K<sub>2</sub> to define this quantity is the same as that used in References (24) and<sup>2</sup>(25).

D	<u>d</u>	ro	_ <u>A</u>	Maximum St	ress, σ/S	Maximum Stress	s Intensity, $\overline{\sigma}/S$
Т	D	t	d <sub>i</sub> T	Surface	Midwall	Surface	Midwall
			(1)	(2)	(2)	(2)	
25	0.05	7.5	0.157	2.83 n,i	1.34 n	2.77 i	1.55
	0.05	10.0	0.0272	$2.69 \text{ n}_{,1}$	1.25 n	2.03 1	1.40
	0.20	3 75	0.0275	$1.90 \text{ m}_{1}$	1.74 II	2.22 1 2 1/ <del>i</del>	1.60
	0.20	1 875	0.023	233 n 0	2.02 n	2.14 I 2.33 o	2 02
	0.50	3.75	0.079	1.71 n,o	1.63 n	1.98 i	1.72
100	0.05 0.05 0.20 0.20	7.5 10.0 15.0 7.5 15.0	0.042 0.074 0.164 0.109 0.404	1.99 n,i 2.02 n,i 1.96 n,i 2.25 n,o 1.49 n,o	1.71 n 1.58 n 1.42 n 1.83 n 1.34 n	2.30 i 2.30 i 2.17 i 2.25 o 1.52 o	1.90 1.80 1.63 1.91 1.38
	0.50	7.5	0.099	2.61 n,o	1.99 n	2.61 o	2.04
	0.50	15.0	0.344	1.46 n,o	1.30 n	1.46 o	1.37
400	0.05 0.05 0.20 0.50	30.0 40.0 30.0 30.0	0.168 0.296 0.437 0.406	1.85 n,o 1.81 n,i 1.89 n,o 1.77 n,o	1.55 n 1.41 n 1.53 n 1.53 n	1.85 o 1.81 i 1.89 o 1.77 o	1.55 1.41 1.54 1.57

TABLE 15. SUMMARY OF SEAL-SHELL-2 STUDY ON FILLET RADIUS REINFORCING

(1) A = cross sectional reinforcing area provided by the fillet radius

(2) n = normal stress direction

i = maximum stress or stress intensity located at inside surface

o = maximum stress or stress intensity located at outside surface.

$$\frac{A}{d_{1}T} = 0.23 \left(\frac{D}{T}\right)^{1/2} \frac{d/D}{(d/D+1)^{4}} \cos \phi$$
(18)

where A  $/d_i T$  is that particular ratio required to obtain  $K_2 = 2.0$ 

Equation (18) is plotted in Figure 24. Because  $d_i^T$  is the ASME Code replacement area, Figure 24 indicates that a fillet radius with area much less than that required by the ASME Code can be used provided: (1)  $K_2 = 2.0$  is considered as an acceptable stresscriteria and (2) loadings other than internal pressure are negligible.

Equations (17) and (18) are based on a limited number of theoretical results, hence, it is pertinent to compare these theoretical equations with test data. Equation (18) is compared with test data in Figures 25 thru 29. In general, of course, the test data do not give  $K_2 = 2.0$ , but in some cases this value of  $K_2$  is bracketed by the test data or can be extrapolated from the test data. To the extent that the test data can be interpolated or extrapolated to cross the  $K_2 = 2.0$  line at the same place as given by Equation (18), the theory and test data are in agreement. For example, in Figure 25 a line drawn between Models S-5AZ, WS-5LO, and WS-5LM (all approximately with d/D = 0.5, D/T = 70, s/S = 1) passes almost exactly through the value of  $A'/d_{1}T$  calculated by Equation (18). Similar agreement exists for the test data shown in Figure 26. This close agreement does not exist for all the test data; for example, in Figure 26 the series of test results (for d/D = 0.38, D/T = 24, s/S = 1) extrapolate to an  $A'/d_{1}T$  ratio of about 0.05 whereas the value of  $A'/d_{1}T$  calculated by Equation (18) is about 0.1.

There are two apparent general trends in the combination of test data and calculated results:

- (1) As d/D decreases, the effect of increasing A/d<sub>i</sub>T becomes smaller (except for the data at d/D = 0.38), where A is now considered as a variable amount of reinforcing area.
- (2) As D/T increases, the effect of A/d<sub>i</sub>T becomes larger. This trend refers to the slope of the lines shown in Figures 25 through 29. The intercept of the lines with  $K_2 = 2.0$  is roughly given by Equation (18), which indicates that A' increases in proportion to D/T.

For d/D of 0.05 and D/T of 24 (Figure 29), the above trends combine such that even for  $A = 2d_1T$ , the intended value of  $K_2 = 2.0$  has not been reached. However, for D/T = 71.5 and d/D = 0.05 (Model WS-1LM) a fillet radius with area  $A = 2d_1T$  reduces  $K_2$  to 1.93. Presumably this trend will exist for even smaller d/D ratios combined with small D/T ratios, i.e., it will require a large value of A/d<sub>1</sub>T to reduce the maximum shear stress intensity index to 2.0.

Figures 25 through 29 show all the available photoelastic data with  $s/S \cong 1.0$ , along with model Bu.S-A, where s/S = 1.92 but where probably the intersection stress, as distinct from the stress at the juncture of the fillet with the nozzle, would have been about the same for s/S = 1.0. Several of these models had "balanced reinforcements", i.e., WN-6B, WN-6C, WS-5LO, and Bu.S-A. Three of the models fall reasonably well in line with models with external reinforcing only. The fourth, WN-6C, had a high tangential stress on the outside surface at the fillet. The fillet radius was only 0.326t' (thickness of nozzle at base) or 0.298T. With a fillet radius of t' instead of 0.326t', model WN-6C might fall in line with the other test data. These somewhat scant available data do not directly indicate any large difference in the efficiency of compact inside reinforcing as compared with compact outside reinforcing. However, the test models with inside reinforcing had about an equal area of reinforcing inside and outside. Mershon<sup>(35)</sup> discusses the relative effectiveness of reinforcing entirely inside as compared to entirely outside. It appears that reinforcing entirely inside may be less effective, in reducing maximum stresses, than an equal amount of reinforcing placed entirely on the outside. Accordingly, caution should be used in extrapolating test data for models with reinforcing entirely outside to obtain stresses for designs with reinforcing entirely inside.





FIGURE 25. COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH CALCULATED FILLET REINFORCING, d/D = 0.5

111

()

÷







×.


FIGURE 29. COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH CALCULATED FILLET REINFORCING, d/D = 0.05

## MOMENT OR THRUST LOADING

Experimental data on nozzles in spheres with moment or thrust loading is relatively limited. Table 16 summarizes the dimensions and test results for 14 tests in which moment loading was applied to the nozzle; 9 tests in which thrust loading was applied to the nozzle. Dimensions are given in the left group of columns of Table 16. The column headed "Load" indicates the type of loading applied to the nozzle. Measured stresses are shown in the next group of five columns,  $\sigma_m$  being the largest measured stress. The next group of five columns shows calculated stresses using either the CERL, Bijlaard or Kalnins analysis;  $\sigma_c$  being the largest calculated stress. The column headed  $\sigma_c/\sigma_m$  gives the ratio of maximum calculated to maximum measured stress. Table 16 is similar to Table 9 (internal pressure loading) and gives the same kind of stress comparisons. For the six models tested by Dally<sup>(28)</sup>, stresses in the sphere and in the nozzle are shown separately since they illustrate certain aspects of the tests discussed later.

The test data is conveniently classified into three groups for discussion:

- The five photoelastic models and IIT-S1, all of which contain a relatively small fillet radius.
- (2) The two ORNL models with essentially no fillet radius.

(3) The six fabricated test models with significant local reinforcing. These three groups of tests are discussed separately in the following.

#### Models with Small Fillet Radius

Table 16, in the column labeled  $\sigma_c/\sigma_m$ , indicates that calculated stresses are higher than measured stresses. As in the case of pressure loading, this discrepancy appears to be related to the fillet radius reinforcing and the "curved-beam" type of stress intensification. Table 17 shows calculated stresses with adjustments for (1) normal thickness at juncture, indicated by  $\sigma'$ , and (2) normal thickness and curved beam factors, indicated by  $\sigma$ ". These adjustments are identical to those discussed

previously in connection with internal pressure loading. Agreement between test data and adjusted calculated results is fairly good, except for models WN-50C and WN-50D. However, in these two models the maximum stress occurred almost at the start of the fillet radius. Application of the same adjustment to the results of the two-piece shell theory along the nozzle also indicate that the maximum stress occurs at about this location. Figure 30 gives a plot of tangential stresses for model WN-50D along with the test data. It is apparent in Figure 30 that the adjusted theory is in adequate agreement with the test data.

The normal thickness adjustments can be directly introduced into a theoretical model using Kalnins' program. Figures 31 through 35 show the results of such calculations along with the test data. Table 17 includes the maximum stresses obtained from the calculations. Maximum stresses agree quite well. The principal discrepancies between test data and theory apparent in Figures 31 through 35 occur at the inside corners. Kalnins' program is strictly a thin-shell theory, hence it does not reflect stresses analogous to the "curved beam effect". Qualitatively, adjustments to Kalnins' results of this type would produce better agreement, particularly on the inside surface.

							Å				Measured St	ress(4)				Calculated 5	tress(4)			
Model	τ	c	u	+	q	ر. ۵	P L P	Ŀ!	had	σ <sub>n</sub> /,	5	o <sub>1</sub> /S		σ <sub>m</sub> ∕S	σ <sub>n</sub> /S		ot/?		0°c/S	οc
90 (-)	-   0	<u>⊣</u>  ⊢	•   · <b>s</b>	·		' <b> </b> +•	- (2)	+-	(3)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside	(2)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside	(2)	ω
								c c	:	5	1 24	r of	-1 OK	<u>г</u> 85	4.05	0 R7	8 50	-6.50	8.50	1.45
WN-50A1	0.50	51	1.96	0.51	20	1.96	0.004/	90.0	Z	4.0/	+c.1	0.0	<b>C017</b>	2.0	00.1	10.00	3			
WN-50A2	0.50	23	1.95	0.51	20	1.58	0.0030	0.50	×	4.67	1.17	5.92	-3.13	5.92	4.07	0.83	8.55	-6.56	8.55	L.45
WN-50R	0.27 0.27	1 13	111	0.49	28	1.62	0.013	0.50	W	4.56	1.27	5.72	-3.29	5.72	4.10	1.09	9.66	-7.66	9.66	1.69
WN. KOC	0.27	5 5	2.13	0.25	5	3.20	0.014	1.00	W	3.75	1.47	4.36	-2.70	4.36	3.58	0.59	8.01	-6.00	8.01	1.84
WN-50D	0.13	20 %	1.06	0.25	51	3.20	0.072	1.00	×	2.84	1.18	3.11	-1.44	3.11	2.38	0.94	6.27	-4.26	6.27	2.02
117.61	U EU	240	1.00	66 U	120	4	0.0018	~1.4	W	8.66	4.17	13.1	4.69	13.1	9.74	1.85	13.8	-11.8	13.8	1.05
16-111	0.50	240	1.00	0.99	120	-1.4	0.0018	≁l.4		10.4	-3.80	12.9	3.80	12.9	10.2	2.33	13.9	-11.9	13.9	1.08
	0.087	18	0.49	0.33	20	7	0 ۲	1	W	4.73	-1.25	4.67	-2.85	4.73	2.90	-1.67	7.92	-6.14	7.92	1.68
ORNI-5	0.082	5 2	0.49	0.33	20	2	- <b>7</b>	1	. <b>_</b>	-4.64	-1.84	-6.20	4.37	-6.20	-5,19	1.14	-11.56	9.56	-11.56	1.87
ORNL-6	0.084	81	1.01	0.17	41	ና	ና	١	W	2.37	0.96	3.38	-2.18	3.38	1.93	-0.95	5.01	-3.08	5.01	1.48
ORNL-6	0.084	81	1.01	0.17	41	7	ີເ	I	ت.	-3.61	-1.76	-4.55	3.38	-4.55	-3.27	-0.42	66.9-	4.99	-6.99	1.53
(1) Model	mhore aro th	96 0mc9 0	ainen in Re	oferences ()	5) (26) (	27) and (28	) The WN- m	odels are fro	vm Reference	(25). IIT-S1 is	from Referenc	e (26), ORNL-5	and -6 and fr	om Reference	(27) and model	ls 1 thru 6 and	1 from Referenc	e (28). WN-50	B is actually	/ two

- " (1) MODEL NUMBERS are the same as given in vehiclences (23), (20), (21) and (20). The manual models; one tested with internal pressure, the other with moment applied to the nozzle.

(2)  $A_a = reinforcing area provided by the fillet radius for the WN- and IIT-S1 models. <math>A_a = reinforcing area provided by fillet welds and inwardly protruding nozzles for models 1 thru 5, plus the excess (over 0.77<sup>#</sup>) thickness in the pad for model 6.$  $(3) <math>M = moment applied to the nozzle. L = thrust applied to nozzle. For models WN- and IIT-S1, stresses are shown at <math>\theta = 180^{\circ}$  (See Nomenclature, Figure 1). For the other models stresses are at  $\theta = 0$ . References (25), (26) and (27) give stresses as a function  $\theta$ , the theoretical relations)  $(\phi)_{\theta} = (\cos \theta) (\phi)_{\theta} = 0$  applies with good accuracy.

(4) For moment loading:  $S = M/\pi r^2 t$ . For thrust loading:  $\tilde{S} = L/2r$ rt. (5)  $\sigma_m = maximum measured stress. <math>\sigma_c = maximum calculated stress.$ (6) For Model No. 6, first line is for pad thickness ( $T = 1.63^{m}$ ), second line is for sphere thickness ( $T = 0.77^{m}$ ).

TABLE 16. (CONTINUED)

						Aa				Measured St	resses(4)				Calculated	Stresses <sup>(4)</sup>			
Model	þ	0	ŝ	<b>ب</b>	G	, Lip	head		0.1	1/S	01/5		σ <sub>m</sub> /S	on/	S	ot/2		σ <sub>c</sub> /S	σc
E		<b>-</b>	S	<b></b> .		(2)	(3)	Part	Outside	Insíde	Outside	Inside	(2)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside	(2)	αШ
-	0.094	80	0.22	0.86	8.7	0.5	×	Head	-1.6	0.8	-2.3	1.8	-2.3	-3.61	2.44	-6.35	4.72	-6.35	2.76
								Nozzle	-1.3	1.1	-2.0	1:1	-2.0	-2.70	1.77	-8.45	6.46	-8.45	4.22
								Head	-3.0	0.7	-4.1	1.7	-4.1	-6.21	1.05	-9.45	6.60	-9.45	2.30
								Nozzle	-2.7	-1.7	-3.5	-1.6	-3.5	-5.65	0.82	-11.80	9.78	-11.80	3.37
2	0.097	16	0.19	1.01	8.7	0.6	W	Head	-2.5	0.7	-4.0	2.7	-4.0	-4.31	2.68	-8.80	6.78	-8.80	2.19
								Nozzle	-1.3	-0.8	-1.9	-1.2	-1.9	-2.92	1.65	-8.65	6.61	-8.65	4.55
							_	Head	-3.7	0.8	-5.6	1.8	-5.6	-7.26	0.97	-12.60	9.10	-12.60	2.25
								Nozzle	-2.1	-2.0	-2.0	-1.8	-2.1	-6.06	0.29	-11.60	9.60	-11.60	5.50
e	0.10	16	0.28	0.72	12.6	0.45	W	Head	-1.9	0.7	-2.7	1.9	-2.7	-3.82	2.17	-5.57	4.11	-5.57	2.45
								Nozzle	-0.7	-0.8	-1.6	-1.4	-1.6	-3.60	2.06	-10.40	8.41	-10.40	6.50
							Ļ	Head	-3.0	0.6	4.0	1.3	4.0	-6.28	0.66	-1.71	5.41	-7.71	1.93
								Nozzle	-2.1	-1.7	-1.8	2.7	2.7	-6.57	1.09	-13.8	11.8	-13.8	5.05
4	0.104	16	0.58	0.36	26.4	0.3	Ŵ	Head	-1.3	0.5	-1.4	0.6	-1.4	-3.52	1.46	-1.55	0.97	-3.52	2.52
								Nozzle	-1.3	0.9	-1.3	-1.5	-1.5	-4.07	1.85	-10.90	8.86	-10.90	7.26
								Head	-2.0	0.2	-1.8	-0.3	-2.0	-4.99	0.21	-1.98	1.20	-4.99	2.50
								Nozzle	-1.7	6.0-	-1.1	-1.7	-1.7	-6.30	1.19	- 13.50	11.50	-13.50	7.94
ضر	0.113	37	0.48	0.47	8.8	0.3	W	Head	-0.9	0.5	-1.0	0.7	-1.0	-1.98	1.48	-1.32	0.72	-1.98	1.98
								Nozzle	-1:0	-0.6	-2.0	-1.2	-1.2	-1.68	1.01	-5.46	3.50	-5.46	4.55
							_	Head	-1.8	0.6	-2.0	-1.2	-2.0	-3.41	0.94	-2.18	1.12	-3.41	1.71
								Nozzle	-1.7	-1.3	-2.1	-1.5	-2.1	-3.53	0.83	-8.26	6.30	-8.26	3.93
( <u>9</u> )	0.104	40	0.44	0.47	8.8	j,	W	Head	-1.0	0.3	-1.3	0.9	-1.3	-2.26	1.59	-1.40	0.80	-2.26	1.74
Þ	0.104	85	0.21	1.00	8.8	1.7		Nozzle	-0.9	-0.3	-1.5	-1.1	-1.5	-2.04	1.01	-5.79	4.17	-5.79	3.86
							ابت.	Head	-2.6	-1.1	-3.1	1.5	-3.1	-4.59	1.74	-2.82	1.52	-4.59	1.48
				1	-			Nozzle	-1.9	-1.7	-1.9	-1.7	-1.9	-4.48	1.42	-10.80	8.84	-10.80	5.70

		<u> </u>	Stress In	dices <sup>(2)</sup>		
Model	Streeg	σ <sub>n</sub>	/s	σ <sub>t</sub>	/s	σ <mark>c</mark> σ
No.	(1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside	(3)
WN- 50A1	Test Data	4.67	.90	5.85	-2,85	
	σ σ' σ" Kalnins	4.05 3.25 3.65 4.46	.82 .80 .97 01	8.50 6.25 7.30 5.70	-6.50 -4.90 -3.77 -3.93	1.45 1.07 1.25 .97
WN-50A2	Test Data	4.67	1.17	5.92	-3.13	ana saa
	σ σ' σ" Kalnins	4.07 3.50 3.91 4.26	.83 .79 1.04 01	8.55 6.55 6.85 5.32	-6.56 -4.85 -3.95 -3.56	1.45 1.11 1.16 .90
WN <b>-</b> 50B	Test Data	4.56	1,27	5,72	-3.29	
	σ σ' σ" Kalnins	4.10 3.10 3.46 4.06	1.09 .36 .24 1.17	9.66 5.40 7.03 5.11	-7.66 -4.26 -3.42 -3.38	1.69 .94 1.23 .89
WN- 50C	Test Data	3.75	1.47	4.36	-2.70	-
	σ σ' σ" Kalnins	3.58 3.47 3.58 3.71	.59 .06 .33 1.23	8.01 2.73 3.13 4.39	-6.00 -1.01 -1.33 -2.64	1.84 .79 .80 1.00
WN-50D	Test Data	2.84	1.18	3.11	-1.44	
	σ' σ' σ" Kalnins	2.38 2.54 2.66 2.24	.94 1.18 1.14 .78	6.27 1.82 2.12 2.80	-4.26 82 62 -1.34	2.02 .82 .86 .90
IIT-S1	Test Data	8,66	4.17	13.1	-4.69	·
(Moment Load)	ס סי סיי	9.74 8.45 9.23	1.85 2.01 2.50	13.8 11.7 14.3	-11.8 -9.92 -8.17	1.05 .89 1.09

## TABLE 17. COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH TWO-PIECE, THIN-SHELL THEORY AND MODIFICATIONS THEREOF, MODELS WITH MOMENT OR THRUST LOAD

Footnotes on next page

TABLE 17. (contd.)

			Stress Inc	dices <sup>(2)</sup>		
	<b>G 1 1 1 1 1</b>	σ <sub>n</sub>	/s	σ <sub>t</sub>	/s	σ <u>-</u> σ_
Model No.	(1)	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside	(3)
IIT-S1	Test Data	10.4	3.80	12.9	-3.80	- ÷
(Thrust Load)	σ σ' σ" Kalnins	10.2 8.95 9.73 10.1	2.33 2.45 2.98 2.31	13.9 11.7 14.3 13.9	-11.9 -9.91 -8.15 -11.8	1.08 .91 1.11 1.08

(1)  $\sigma$  = two-piece thin-shell theory calculated stress.

 $\sigma'$  = theory with modification for normal thickness.

 $\sigma"$  = theory with modifications for normal thickness and curved beam effect.

Kalnins = stress calculated using Kalnins computer program as a multi-piece shell theory.

(2) S =  $M/\pi r^2 t$  for moment loading.

S =  $L/2\pi rt$  for thrust loading.

- (3)  $\sigma_c$  = maximum calculated stress.
  - $\sigma_{\rm m}$  = maximum measured stress.



FIGURE 30. TEST DATA AND CALCULATED (CERL WITH MODIFICATIONS) RESULTS FOR MODEL WN-50B, MOMENT LOADING







FIGURE 32. TEST DATA AND CALCULATED (KALNINS) RESULTS FOR MODEL WN-50A2



FIGURE 33. TEST DATA AND CALCULATED (KALNINS) RESULTS FOR MODEL WN-50B



FIGURE 34. TEST DATA AND CALCULATED (KALNINS) RESULTS FOR MODEL WN-50C





### Models Without a Fillet Radius

The values of  $\sigma_c/\sigma_m$  shown in Table 16 for the two ORNL models is informative mainly in illustrating that using very small strain gages placed very close to points of maximum theoretical stress still may give measured stresses significantly less than the theoretical (and probably actual) maximum stress.

Stress-location profiles are shown in Figures 36 through 43 for these two models. The theoretical data was computed using Kalnins' program; presumably either Bijlaard's analysis or the CERL program would give essentially the same results. The same assumptions were made in plotting this data as were made and discussed previously in connection with internal pressure loading on these same two models. As in the case of pressure loading, the results from the strain gage placed on the inside of the nozzle at the mid-surface of the sphere agree well with the calculated  $\sigma_n$  at the mid-wall of the sphere. Also, as in the case of pressure loading, all other test results agree quite well with the theory except for the tangential stress on the outside surface of the sphere.



FIGURE 36. NORMAL STRESSES IN MODEL ORNL-5, MOMENT LOADING



FIGURE 37. TANGENTIAL, STRESSES IN MODEL ORNL-5, MOMENT LOADING







FIGURE 39. TANGENTIAL STRESSES IN MODEL ORNL-5, THRUST LOADING



FIGURE 40. NORMAL STRESSES IN MODEL ORNL-6, MOMENT LOADING



FIGURE 41. TANGENTIAL STRESSES IN MODEL ORNL-6, MOMENT LOADING



FIGURE 42. NORMAL STRESSES IN MODEL ORNL-6, THRUST LOADING



FIGURE 43. TANGENTIAL STRESSES IN MODEL ORNL-6, THRUST LOADING

## Fabricated Models with Local Reinforcing

The six models tested are described in detail in Reference (28). The models are generally described in the following tabulation.

Model No.	Type of Model					
1	Hemispherical head; 36" radius, 0.90" wall.					
	Nozzle; 3.39" radius, 0.77" wall.					
2	Flanged and Dished Head; 35" radius in center, 0.77" wall.					
	Nozzle; 3.39" radius, 0.78" wall.					
3	Flanged and Dished Head; 30" radius in center, 0.77" wall.					
	Nozzle; 3.50" radius, 0.55" wall.					
4	Flanged and Dished Head; 35" radius in center, 0.77" wall.					
	Nozzle; 3.64" radius, 0.27" wall.					
5	Flanged and Dished Head; 30" radius in center; 1.63" wall.					
	Nozzle; 3.38" radius, 0.77" wall.					
6	This model was made by cutting out the central part of					
	Model Number 5 at about 15" diameter and inserting it					
	into the outer portion of Model Number 4. The mid-walls					
	of the two pieces were aligned and apparently a linear					
	taper was formed on the outer $\sim 1.4"$ of periphery of the					
	section from Model Number 5.					

A single nozzle was welded to the center of each head with a fillet weld inside and out. Legs of the fillet weld were 3/4". The nozzle protruded inward approximately 1" inside the inside surface of the heads.

These tests are particularly valuable in that they represent the only tests in which nozzle were tested in other than hemispherical heads. It has been assumed that the theory and test data for nozzles in spheres can be applied to nozzles in heads provided only that the local radius of curvature is essentially constant near the nozzle, i.e., for a distance of about  $\sqrt{DT}$  from the nozzle. These tests on flanged and dished heads give some experimental confirmation of this assumption.

Stresses in the Heads. The tests by Dally<sup>(28)</sup> were run, in part, for comparison with Bijlarrd's computed results. At that time, interest was directed towards stresses in the heads. Dally shows detailed comparisons of test results with theory for stresses in the heads. As indicated earlier, Bijlaard's analysis, the CERL computer program, and Kalnins' computer program (as a two piece shell theory) all give practically the same results for externally protruding nozzles. Accordingly, detailed comparisons of results for stresses in the heads are not repeated herein, except for Model Number 6. Table 16 shows that the ratios of maximum calculated to measured stresses in the heads range from 1.5 to 2.8. The reasons that these ratios are significantly greater than unity are:

- (1) The fillet welds and inward pro truberance of the nozzles provided a substantial amount of reinforcing as shown by the column in Table 16 headed "A<sub>g</sub>/d<sub>i</sub>T".
- (2) The strain gage on the head surface closest to the nozzle (at which the maximum measured stress occurred) was 1" away from the nozzle.Away from the nozzle-head juncture, however, fairly good correlation between theory and test data was obtained, as discussed by Dally.

Model Number 6 includes results for stresses at the transition between the pad and the head. As discussed previously, juncture details between reinforcing and the nozzle or head is important since maximum stresses may occur at the reinforcing juncture. In Model Number 6, maximum measured stresses in the head did occur at the pad-head transition for both moment and thrust loading. Details of the transition are not known, however, apparently it consisted of a linear taper between the pad thickness of 1.63 to the head thickness of 0.77", starting at a radius of about 5.9" and extending to a radius of about 7.3". Calculated stresses for this model, using Kalnin's program, are shown in Figures 44 thru 47, along with measured stresses. Calculated stresses are different than Dally's calculated results in that the tapered transition sections are calculated as such using Kalnins program, rather than as a step change in thickness as assumed by Dally. For moment loading, comparison of test data with theory is about as expected, i.e., a suppression of normal stresses near the juncture because of the local reinforcing and some increase in bending because the local reinforcing constrains

most of the bending to take place in the sphere. The same general trends occur for thrust loading, however, the increased tangential bending is significantly higher than theory; the measured tangential mean stress is about that given by theory. It should be noted that the foundation length of the head ( $\sim \sqrt{\text{RT}}$ ) is  $\sim 7.3$ " for the pad section,  $\sim 5$ " for the outer section. Accordingly, the pad and transition section are well within the region influenced by the nozzle-head juncture details. The measured stresses may have been influenced by the head radius change at the transition section; in the pad section the radius was 30", in the outer section the radius was 35"; 32.5" radius was used in the calculations. Incidentally, the transition shown in Figure 44 would not be acceptable in ASME pressure vessel designs because the transition length is considerably less than four times the change in thickness.







FIGURE 45. TANGENTIAL STRESSES ON HEAD, DALLY MODEL 6, MOMENT LOADING



FIGURE 46. NORMAL STRESSES ON HEAD, DALLY MODEL 6, THRUST LOADING



Stresses in Nozzles. Table 16 shows that the ratio of maximum calculated to measured stresses in the nozzle range from 3.4 to 7.9. Theoretically, maximum stresses occur in the nozzle for all models except Number 2. Measured stresses, however, were larger in the head then in the nozzle for Models 1, 2, and 3 and about the same for Models 4, 5, and 6. The reasons for the calculated-to-measured stress ratio being greater than unity include those discussed previously with regard to stresses in the head. In addition, and more important, the outside fillet weld covers a substantial part of the foundation length of the nozzles. Stresses were measured at the outside fillet weld only on Model Number 1; for which model these stresses were the highest measured stresses on the nozzle. It seems reasonably certain that stresses on the outside fillet weld would have also been the highest stress on the nozzle for all the other models. Also, the nozzles used in these tests were relatively short, the flanges on the nozzles may have reduced the magnitude of the stresses as compared to otherwise equal but longer nozzles.

Figures 48 thru 51 show calculated measured stresses in the nozzles of models 1 and 2 which are typical of all 6 models. Agreement between theory and test data is similar to that obtained in the heads, i.e., the test data roughly confirm the validity of the theory at locations away from the (significantly reinforced) nozzle-to-head intersection.

It is pertinent to note that all six models had nozzles with wall thickness from 2 to 5 times that required for pressure; i.e.,  $s/S \cong 0.5$  to 0.2. Nevertheless, the stresses at the juncture of the nozzle with the fillet weld might be sufficient to cause fatigue failure in the nozzle rather than in the head if these models were subjected to cyclic external loads to produce fatigue failures.







		Theory	Test
Tangential Stresses	Outside		O
Dally Model No. I	Inside		۲







FIGURE 50. NORMAL STRESSES ON NOZZLE, DALLY MODEL 2, MOMENT AND THRUST LOADING

 $\bigcirc$ 



TANGENTIAL STRESSES ON NOZZLE, DALLY MODEL 2, FIGURE 51. MOMENT AND THRUST LOADING

# DISCUSSION OF RESULTS IN RELATIONSHIP TO PRESENT CODES AND PRACTICES

## Pressure Loading

Replacement Area, d<sub>i</sub>T

Present pressure vessel and piping design codes require that the material cut out of the pressure vessel shell or pipe by an opening must be replaced by added material around the opening within a specified zone. Whether these design rules are adequate, from the standpoint of elastic stresses, depends upon the selected design stress limit. Reference (12), using a stress intensity index limit of 3.0, concludes in general that present design rules are conservative for compact reinforcing and for reinforcing placed on the nozzle within the code zone limits; however, for reinforcing placed on the head, the present code rules (except ASME Section III) may be unconservative for large d/D-ratios combined with large D/T-values.

### ASME Section III Stress Indices

The ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Section III, Nuclear Vessels, in Paragraph I-612(a) gives stress indices for nozzles in spherical shells and formed heads when subjected to pressure loading. The indices apply if:

- (1) The nozzle is normal to the vessel wall
- (2) The nozzle is isolated from other nozzles
- (3) The dimensional ratios are not greater than D/T = 100, d/D = 0.5
- (4) The nozzles are designed in accordance with the applicable rules of N-450 to N-467
- (5) The inside corner radii and outside fillet radii meet the requirements of the Nuclear Code, Figure I-613.

The requirements of Par N-450 to N-467 require that the cross sectional area cut out by the nozzle opening be replaced in a zone close to



the opening. This requirement can be met, within the scope of two-piece shell theory, by either a uniform-wall, integral pad on the sphere; by a heavy-wall nozzle, or by a combination thereof. Table 18 shows the stress indices obtained from CERL program results along with the Nuclear Code stress indices for reinforcing entirely on the sphere. This requires an integral pad thickness, T', equal to two times the nominal sphere thickness T with nozzle thickness t such that Pd/2t = PD/4T, i.e., there is no excess thickness in the nozzle. Table 19\* shows the stress indices for reinforcing entirely on the nozzle. The nozzle wall thickness t' was determined by the equation:

150

$$\frac{d_{i}T}{2} = (t' - t) \frac{\sqrt{r_{m}t'}}{2}$$
(19)

where

d<sub>i</sub> = inside diameter of the nozzle

T = sphere wall thickness

 $r_m$  = mean radius of the nozzle

- t = nominal wall thickness of nozzle such that Pd/2t = PD/4T
- t' = required wall thickness of nozzle to provide required area replacement, d<sub>i</sub>T/2 on each side.

Tables 18 and 19 indicate that two-piece shell theory agrees with the Nuclear Vessel Code, Par. I-612(a), in that the computed stresses are usually not higher than those given by the Code. Considering the applicable outside fillet radii requirement of the Code, i.e.,  $r_0 \ge 1$  arger of t'/2 or T'/2, for reinforcing on the nozzle (Table 19) it is probably that the fillet radii will reduce stresses to not more than the Code values throughout the range of parameters covered. For reinforcing on the sphere, however, at large D/T and d/D, it appears that stresses will be higher than the Code values. Figure 52 is a sketch of the juncture detail of a nozzle in a sphere with D/T = 100, D/T' = 50, d/D = 0.5,  $r_0 = T'/2$ . Also shown in Figure 52 are calculated stress values using Kalnins' program and taking into account the fillet radius. It is apparent that the fillet radius is not sufficient to bring the stresses down to the Code values, i.e., 2.8 from the calculations is somewhat higher than the 2.0 index given by the Code.

<sup>\*</sup> The calculations of Table 19 were limited to D/T and d/D combinations such that t'/T < 3. Larger values of t'/T are not ordinarily used in designs of nozzles in pressure vessels.
(1)			σr	,/S (2)	σ <sub>t</sub>	/S <sup>(2)</sup>
	$\frac{d}{D}$	Part	Inside	Outside	Inside	Outside
20	.01	Sphere	1.0	1.0	0	0
	10	Nozzle	1.1	1.2	•2	•0
	• TO	Sphere	•9 1 0	L.J 1 2	0	1 0
	25	Nozzie	1.0	1.6	0	1
	•25	Nogelo	•0	1.6		•± 1 8
	50	Sphere	1 0	1 7	- 2	1.0 6
	06	Nozzle	.9	1.8	-1.1	2.1
50	.01	Sphere	1.0	1.0	0	0
	-	Nozzle	1.1	1.2	•2	•8
	.10	Sphere	.9	1.5	0	0
		Nozzle	1.0	1.5	3	1.3
	.25	Sphere	1.0	2.0	1	•2
		Nozzle	.9	2.2	-1.7	2.8
	.50	Sphere	1.2	2.2	4	.8
		Nozzle	1.0	2.5	-2.0	3.0
100	.01	Sphere	1.0	1.0	0	0
		Nozzle	1.0	1.2	•2	•8
	.10	Sphere	•9	1.7	0	0
		Nozz1e	1.0	1,8	.9	1.9
	.25	Sphere	1.3	2.4	1	.3
		Nozzle	•9	3.0	-3.0	4.0
	•20	Sphere	1.6	2.7	7	1.2
		Nozzle	1.0	3.2	-3.2	4.2
Nuclea	ar Vesse	<u>1 Code</u>				
			σ	n/S	σ	⊧∕s
D T			Inside Corner	Outside Corner	Inside Corner	Outside Corner
<u>&lt;</u> 100	<u>≤.</u> 5	and had the sector of the s	2.0	2.0	-0.2	2.0

TABLE 18. COMPARISON OF NUCLEAR VESSEL CODE STRESS INDICES WITH CERL CALCULATED STRESSES, REINFORCING ON THE <u>SPHERE</u>

ing on the sphere

(2) S = PD/4T, not PD/4T'.

'n	а	(1)		σ	n/S	σ	t/S
<u>р</u> Т	D D	$\frac{U}{T}$	Part	Inside	Outside	Inside	Outside
20	.01	.180	Sphere	1.8	1.8	•2	•3 2 5
	.1	1.08	Sphere	1.7	1.3	-2.4 2	1.2
	.25	1.91	Sphere	1.4	$1_{•}4$	2	•/ 1.4
	•50	2.88	Sphere Nozzle	1.3 1.1	1.8 1.2	1 4 0	1.9 .3
50	.01	.385	Sphere	1.9	1.3 2.0	.1	•7 2 1
	<b>.</b> 05	1.19	Sphere Nozzle	1.6 1.0	1.1 1.2	1 5	1.1
	.1	1.76	Sphere Nozzle	1.0 .8	1.2 .9	•2 • •1	1.3 .2
	.25	2.82	Sphere Nozzle	1.2 1.1	1.6 1.2	2 0	1.6 .2
100	•01	•65	Sphere Nozzle	2.0	1.0 1.5	•1 •1.2	1.1 1.2
	•025	1.17	Sphere Nozzle	1.7	1.0 1.1	.1 4	1.1
	.05	1.70	Sphere Nozzle	1.4	1.1 1.1	•2 - •1	1.0 .2
	.10	2.40	Sphere Nozzle	1.3 1.1	1.3 1.1	•2 - •1	1.2 .2
<u>Nuclea</u>	ar Vessel	Code					
				σ <u>1</u>	/S	σ	<sub>E</sub> /S
D T	d D			Inside Corner	Outside Corner	Inside Corner	Outside Corner
<u>&lt;</u> 100	<u>&lt;</u> .5			2.0	2.0	-0.2	2.0

 TABLE 19.
 COMPARISON OF NUCLEAR VESSEL CODE STRESS INDICES WITH

 CERL CALCULATED STRESSES, REINFORCING ON THE NOZZLE

(1)  $t' = wall thickness of nozzle to provide required reinforcing area of d.T. Calculations are limited to D/T and d/D combinations such that <math>t'/T < 3^{i}$ . Larger values of t'/T are not ordinarily used in designs of nozzles in pressure vessels.

.



RADIUS EFFECT

## Moment Loading, Comparison with ASA B31.1

The computed stress intensification factors for nozzles in spheres due to moment loading become quite high for some combinations of dimensions. It is significant, from a design standpoint, to compare these computed factors with these given in the ASA Code for Pressure Piping<sup>(18)</sup>. The ASA Code does not, of course, include factors for nozzles in heads. However, the factors given for elbows and for tees are pertinent with respect to the general design problem of nozzles in heads. The computed stress intensification factors for nozzle in heads are based on elastic theory and hence are not directly comparable with the "fatigue-test" derived factors given in the ASA Code. However, an indication of the relationship of the elastic stress intensification factors to the fatigue-test factors may be obtained from the factors for elbows. The theoretical elastic stress intensification factor for elbows is approximately twice the fatigue-test factors given in the ASA Code. While the theoretical factor would be reduced somewhat by end effects (i.e., the influence of the pipe welded to the elbows), this would be a relatively small effect for in-plane bending for the elbows used in the fatigue tests. Accordingly, the fatigue-test factors for elbows may be multiplied by a factor of two for comparison with elastic stress factors. While no theory exists for the theoretical elastic stress concentration factor for tees, presumably the relationship of 2:1 for elastic-to-fatigue factors would roughly also hold for tees.

Figure 53 shows the maximum computed stress intensification factors for nozzles in spheres plotted against r/t for the nozzle, in which s/S = 1.0; d/D = 0.01, 0.05, 0.25, and 0.50. For comparison, Figure 53 also shows the stress concentration factors for ASA B16.9 welding elbows (Bend radius is approximately three times the cross sections radius, in the graph this ratio has been taken as exactly three). The stress concentration factor for the elbows is twice the factor given in ASA B31.1.\* Figures 54 and 55 are

<sup>\*</sup> The theoretical stress concentration factor for in-plane bending of an elbow as given by Rodabaugh and George (31) for r/t > 10, zero internal pressure, is about 4% higher than twice the factor given in ASA B31.1.

similar to Figure 53 except that they are for nozzles in spheres with s/S = 2.0 and 0.5, respectively.

A ratio of s/S = 2.0 could be obtained by local thickening of the sphere around the nozzle to 2T, thereby meeting the usual rules for reinforcing an opening by area replacement. With such reinforcing, the stress factors for nozzles in spheres, for d/D up to 0.25, are no higher than for ASA B16.9 long radius elbows. In many piping systems, therefore, the controlling component in restricting load magnitudes might be an elbow rather than a nozzle in a head. Also, the calculated maximum stresses for nozzle in spheres with  $d/D \leq 0.25$  are tangential stresses in the nozzle, a fillet radius would serve to substantially reduce the stress levels.

A ratio of s/S = 0.5 represents a nozzle twice as thick as required for internal pressure in the nozzle considered as a pipe. This would not, in general, meet the usual rules for area replacement. However, for small d/D, doubling the nozzle thickness is quite effective in reducing stress levels. For large d/D, d/D = 0.5 in particular, doubling or tripling the nozzle wall thickness does little to reduce the stress levels and in some cases increases them. This is because the maximum stress for large d/D, occurs in the sphere; increasing the nozzle thickness may increase this stress or decrease it only slightly. It is apparent, therefore, that for momment loading such large nozzles should be reinforced on the sphere rather than on the nozzle.

Figure 56 compares calculated maximum stresses for nozzles in spheres with twice ASA B31.1 Code factors for fabricated tees. For reducing tees, the Code factors are given in ASA B31, Code Case 53, July, 1963. Figure 57 is similar except it shows Code factors for manufactured tees to ASA B16.9. Since ASA B16.9 tees are fully reinforced for pressure loading, the comparison is made with nozzles in spheres with s/S = 2.0, which may also be considered as fully reinforced by present codes for pressure loading.

In comparing the curves on Figures 56 and 57, the significant difference between nozzles in spheres and nozzles in cylinders (tees) should be kept in mind. Two of these are:

 For tees, available data indicates that maximum elastic stresses may be significantly higher for out-of-plane bending as compared to in-plane bending. Figures 55 and 56 give code factors for out-of-plane bending. For

nozzles in spheres, of course, there is no distinction.

(2) For nozzles in spheres, with pressure, moment or thrust loading, the maximum stress as a function of d/D generally reaches a peak somewhere between d/D = 0.2 and 0.5. It is apparent that such a peak must exist since for d/D = 1.0, a nozzle in a sphere becomes a straight pipe of the nozzle dimensions. For nozzles in cylinders (tees), however, available data indicate that probably the maximum stress increases continuously with increasing d/D up to d/D = 1.0.

In a broad sense the kind of agreement between calculated elastic stress factors and fatigue-test derived factors shown by Figure 57 seems reasonably consistent. The general tendency for the slope of the calculated stress factors lines (d/D> 0.05) to agree with the fatigue-test data (which slope, in turn, is derivable from elbow theory) is interesting and perhaps basically significant.







FIGURE 54. STRESS INTENSIFICATION FACTORS (MOMENT LOADING) FOR NOZZLES IN SPHERES WITH s/S = 2.0 AND FOR ASA B16.9 WELDING ELBOWS



FIGURE 55. STRESS INTENSIFICATION FACTORS (MOMENT LOADING) FOR NOZZLES IN SPHERES WITH s/S = 0.5 AND FOR ASA B16.9 WELDING ELBOWS









## Combined Pressure and Moment Loading

Nozzles in pressure vessels attached to piping systems will, in general, be subjected to both internal pressure and to loads applied to the nozzle by the attached piping. These two kinds of loads are, of course, independent in magnitude and time history. A fatigue analysis of such a nozzle becomes quite complicated because of the independence of the two loads and the location of critically stressed points for each of the loads. Where the cycles of load is limited to a relatively small number, it may be possible to satisfy design requirements by showing that the maximum stress (or stress intensity) does not exceed a prescribed value when the nozzle is subjected to the combination of maximum design pressure and maximum design loads imposed by the piping on the nozzle. This aspect of design is discussed in the following.

Two questions arise for which positive answers would be desirable for simplification of design work, i.e.,

- (1) Are stresses due to internal pressure and those due to external loads linearily superposable?
- (2) Is the location of the maximum stress (or stress intensity) the same for pressure loading as for external loads?

These questions are briefly discussed in the following two sub-sections.

#### Linear Superposition of Stresses

The usual assumption of linear superposition of stresses for combinations of loads on thin-wall shells is sometimes invalid (See for example, Reference 31). Bijlaard<sup>(1)</sup> develops the theory and gives an example for combined thrust load and internal pressure applied to a "plug" nozzle in a spherical shell. The example is for a sphere with R/T = 100, stress in the sphere due to internal pressure = 13,000 psi, E = 30,000,000 psi, v = 0.3 and  $U = 1.815 (r/R)(R/T)^{1/2} = 0.1$ . For this example, Bijlaard finds that maximum deflections are reduced 4 to 5% by the internal pressure as compared to zero internal pressure; stresses are reduced by 2%.

Experimental data on Configuration No. 1, Reference 27, (D/T = 81, d/D = .08) also indicated that superposition of stresses for nozzles in spheres is usually quite accurate. A combined test load was run with p = 400 psi, corresponding to S = pD/4T = 8130 psi, combined with a thrust load on the nozzle of 6000 lb. The average results for 24 strain gages indicated that linear superposition overpredicted actual stresses under combined loading by around 2%.

In view of the somewhat limited data on spheres, a study was made of superposition tests on tees run by Hardenbergh<sup>(37)</sup>, Riley<sup>(26)</sup>, and Cranch<sup>(38)</sup>. All of these tests, as well as the theory for nozzles in the spheres or cylinders, indicates that linear superposition would be conservative. Hardenbergh's tests (D/T = 19) indicate linear superposition is not more than 1% conservative; Riley's test  $(\frac{D}{T} = 240)$ , not more than 5%; Cranch's tests (D/T = 78), not more than 22% conservative.

The review of the available theoretical and experimental data led to the following conclusions.

- (1) The interaction between pressure and external loads for nozzles in spheres appears to be negligible (less than 5%) for any D/T up to 50 and for d/D up to 0.5 and probably is small (less than 25%) for D/T up to 100 when the nominal stress due to internal pressure is around 15,000 psi or less.
- (2) The interaction effects are probably smaller for moment loading than for thrust loading.
- (3) Use of linear superposition for calculating stresses under combined loads is apparently always conservative.

#### Location of Maximum Stresses

Test data is available on 4 models which were tested under both internal pressure and moment loads. These are models WN-50B\*, IIT-S1

<sup>\*</sup> WN-50B was actually two photoelastic models, one tested with internal pressure, the other with a moment on the nozzle.

ORNL-5 and ORNL-6. In models WN-50B and IIT-S1, the maximum stress occurred in essentially the same place for both pressure and moment loading (and thrust loading for IIT-S1), i.e., a tangential stress on the outside surface in the fillet radius. Also, for both models the maximum stress intensity location is at the same location. The maximum <u>measured</u> stresses in Models ORNL-5 and ORNL-6 were not at the same locations:

<u>Model</u>	Pressure	Moment	Thrust
ORNL-5	n,o, sphere	n,o, nozzle	t,o, nozzle
ORNL-6	n,o, nozzle	t,o, nozzle	t,o, nozzle

where n signifies a normal stress, t tangential stress and o the outside surface. (Actually, in these two models, because of the "zero" fillet radius, the maximum stress probably occurred in the sharp corner for all loadings.)

The maximum stress location is a function of d/D, D/T, and s/S. The degree of conservatism introduced by assuming the same maximum stress locations for various loads depends upon these dimensional ratios, as well as the relative magnitude of the loads. The graphs given in the Appendix can be used to obtain maximum stresses and locations for any desired combination of pressure, moment or thrust loading for an extensive range of the dimensional ratios: d/D, D/T, and s/S (or t/T).

## Relative Magnitude of Stresses from Pressure or Moment Loading

The magnitude of the internal pressure, in relationship to the dimensions of a nozzle, is relatively well established in the early design stage. That is, the designer may assume that the design pressure is such that S = PD/4T, where S is some established stress limit depending upon the material and operating temperature. The magnitude of the loads applied by a piping system to the nozzle, however, is generally not known at the early design stage. This problem arises because quite often the detailed piping layout is not yet established, hence forces from the piping cannot be calculated.

An ultraconservative approach, in the early design stages, consists of assuming that the nozzle must withstand whatever moment the attached pipe is capable of applying to it. This might be assumed to be the limit load of the pipe in bending, i.e.:

$$M_{max} = 1.3 S_{o} Z_{p}$$

where M<sub>max</sub> = maximum moment applied to nozzle by attached piping S<sub>o</sub> = yield strength of the pipe material

= section modulus of pipe.

The significance of this assumption for the maximum moment can be illustrated, for some specific cases, with the additional assumptions:

- The pipe, nozzle, and sphere or head are made of the same material.
- (2) Reinforcing consists of an increase in thickness of the sphere in an area around the nozzle such that s/S = 2.0, i.e., the local thickness T' is twice the basic sphere thickness, T.

Because  $S_b$ , from the maximum moment assumption, is equal to 1.3  $S_o$  and usually  $S_p$  would be limited to 2/3 of  $S_o$  or less, the ratio of  $S_b/S_p$  would be 1.95 or greater. It is, therefore, possible that the maximum stress due to moment load will be considerably larger than the maximum stress due to pressure. For example, at d/D = 0.25, r/t = 50, from Figure 58:

$$\frac{(\sigma_{\max})_b}{(\sigma_{\max})_p} = \frac{(\sigma_{\max})_b}{S_b} \cdot \frac{S_p}{(\sigma_{\max})_p} \cdot \frac{S_b}{S_p} = \frac{12.}{5.7}$$

Several comments concerning the above comparison are:

 The comparison is purely theoretical, based on the CERL computer program parametric study. A reasonable size fillet radius at the juncture of the nozzle and sphere



would reduce stresses by a significant amount. However, the ratio of stresses  $(\sigma_{\max})_b/(\sigma_{\max})_p$  might not be greatly changed by the fillet radius.

(2) For small d/D nozzles, the stress due to the moment could be drastically reduced by using a nozzle with thickness of say 4 to 10 times that required for pressure only, considering the nozzle as a pipe. This would be more or less typical of small d/D nozzles as customarily designed for pressure vessels. For large d/D nozzles, similar nozzle thickening might lead to unreasonably heavy forgings and also an inefficient reinforcing for thin-wall spheres, since the maximum stress occurs in the sphere.

It is apparent that the design assumption  $M_{max} = 1.3 S_0 Z_p$  leads, in some cases, to requirements for a large amount of reinforcing to support the assumed moment load. To the extent that the assumption is overconservative, penalties are occurred in unnecessary fabrication costs and, possibly, to increased problems with stresses due to thermal gradients. There are a number of reasons why the assumption that  $M_{max} = 1.3 S_0 Z_p$ is, in most cases, unnecessarily conservative. These are discussed briefly in the following.

- (1) In a critical pipeline it would seem reasonable to restrict the maximum stress (or stress intensity) to the same level as the maximum stress in the nozzle. With this restriction the ratio of  $(\sigma_{max})_b/(\sigma_{max})_p$ , for the examples shown in Figure 58, ranges from 1.2 for small d/D, thin-wall spheres to about 2.1 for large d/D, thin-wall spheres.
- (2) In most present-day critical piping systems, one or more ASA B16.9 elbows are usually in the system. Assuming that the maximum stress in the elbow is to be restricted to the same maximum stress permitted for the nozzle, these elbows potentially provide a limit to the maximum moment that can be applied to a nozzle in a pressure vessel. Of course, the moment at the elbow or elbows will not, in general, be the

.

same as at the nozzle. However, in the early design stage, it would seem reasonable to base the nozzle design on the assumption that it will need to carry no more moment than can be transmitted by an elbow in the pipe line. Figures 53, 54, and 55 illustrate the significance of this assumption. Figure 54, in particular, shows that if the assumed moment is restricted by a specified maximum stress in an elbow, nozzles with s/S = 2.0 and d/D < 0.25 would automatically be restricted to the same or lower maximum stress levels insofar as moment loading is concerned.

(3) Equipment attached to the pipeline may also constitute a limit for moments that can be tolerated in the pipeline and thus provide some early design guide for moments applied on nozzles. NEMA Standard No. SM 20-1958<sup>(32)</sup> gives limits on allowable forces and moments acting on the steam inlet, extraction or exhaust connections of steam turbines. This standard gives several limitations, one of which states:

The total resultant force and total resultant moment imposed on the turbine at any connection must not exceed the following:

$$F = \frac{500^{-1} e - M}{3}$$
(19)

F = resultant force, 1bs

M = resultant moment, ft 1bs

d<sub>e</sub> = pipe size of the connection in sizes up to 8" diameter =(16 + I.P.S.)/3 for sizes larger than 8" diameter.

Assuming that the resultant force is negligible, Equation (19) gives:

$$M_{max} = 6000 d_{e} (in.-1bs)$$
 (20)

(4) Rossheim and Mark1<sup>(33)</sup>, from a review of a large number of piping system calculations involving pipeline connections to pumps, gave the following averages for the end reactions:

Vertical thrust	(including	weight	loads)	3.25	(d +	3) 3
Lateral thrust				1.50	(d +	3) <sup>3</sup>
Moment				60.00	(d +	3) <sup>3</sup>

where d = outside diameter of pipe.

Figure 59 summarizes all five of the limits to maximum moment discussed above for a particular case where P = 600 psi, S = 20,000 psi = 0.667 S<sub>0</sub>, and t = Pr/S. The equations become:

(1) Moment limit by limit load of pipe:

$$M_{max} = 1.3 S_{o} Z_{p} = 1.95 S \cdot \pi r^{2} t = 1.95 S \pi r^{3} \frac{P}{S}$$

(2) Moment limit by S-limit on pipe:

$$M_{max} = S \pi r^3 \frac{P}{S}$$

(3) Moment limit by S-limit on elbows:

$$M_{\text{max}} = \frac{S \pi r^{3}}{i} \cdot \frac{P}{S}$$
  
$$i = \frac{1.8}{h^{2/3}} = 1.8 \left(\frac{r}{3t}\right)^{2/3} = 0.866 \left(\frac{S}{P}\right)^{2/3}$$

(4) Moment limit by NEMA Standard SM 20-1958, permissible moment on steam turbine pipe connections:

 $M_{max} = 6000 d_{e}$  $d_{e} = 2r \text{ for } r = 4$  $d_{e} = (2r + 16)/3 \text{ for } r = 4$ 

(5) Average moment, Rossheim and Markl:

$$M = 60 (2r + 3)^3$$

In the above equations, and Figure 59, it should be noted that while the assumption t = Pr/S simplifies the comparisons, for small nozzles the thickness is unrealistic. For example, at r = 1, P = 600, S = 20,000: t = 0.030". A 2" standard weight pipe has a thickness of 0.154". This explains why the Rossheim-Markl average moment is higher than the limit load moment for small nozzles in Figure 59. For large nozzles, the NEMA steam turbine limit is a small fraction of the other limits; at r = 10", the NEMA limit is about two percent of the limit load moment; 34 percent of the elbow stress limit.

In summary, the relative significance of stresses from internal pressure as compared to the stresses due to moment loading depends, of course, on the relative magnitude of the pressure and moment loads. The moment load, in the absence of specific information, may be estimated in several ways; the most conservative of these estimates leads to high stresses due to moment as compared to those due to pressure.



MOMENTS APPLIED TO NOZZLES

## Stresses in Phase I Designs

Phase I Report, "Proposed Reinforcement Design Procedures for Radial Nozzles in Spherical Shells with Internal Pressure"<sup>(12)</sup> gives reinforcing dimensions (as a function of d/D and D/T) such that the nozzles with such reinforcing meet two design criteria: (1) the plastic collapse or plastic limit pressure is at least 1.5 times the design pressure, and (2) the maximum stress intensity is not more than 3.0 S, where S = PD/4T. Because the plastic collapse pressure is the controlling criteria for almost all values of d/D and D/T, the maximum stress intensity ( $\overline{\sigma}$ ) is generally less than 3.0 S. If a maximum stress index of 3.0 is used for combined loadings, the Phase I designs have some capacity for other loadings such as moment, thrust or torsional loads on the nozzle, or for thermally induced stresses.

For Phase I nozzles with reinforcing consisting of a uniform increase in wall thickness of nozzle or sphere, for a distance from the juncture such that the increased thickness may be considered as effectively infinite, the stresses can be calculated by Waters' analysis, for internal pressure. Figure 60 shows the Phase I designs, Figure 61 and 62 show the maximum stress intensities due to internal pressure for these designs. As noted in Reference (12), and is apparent in Figures 61 and 62, for small values of g = t'/t or h = T'/T at small d/D ratios, the design criteria of  $\overline{\sigma} \leq 3.0$  S is slightly exceeded. For other dimensional parameters, however,  $\overline{\sigma}$  is less than 3.0 S by amounts which can be determined from Figures 61 and 62. It should be noted that, for uniform wall nozzle designs to Phase I (Figure 60) requirements, a given value of D/T and d/D establishes a value of g or h. More general design data is given in the Appendix.

For nozzles attached to piping systems, the major external loading is usually the applied moment. Accordingly, Figures 63 and 64 were prepared using Bijlaard's analysis to compute the maximum stress intensity  $(\overline{\sigma})$  due to a moment applied to the nozzle. By making the assumption that stress intensities from these two loads occurs at the same location (which in some dimensional ranges is theoretically correct; in others the assumption may be appreciably conservative) the moment capacity of any nozzle designed to Figure 60 can be obtained from Figures 61 or 62 along with Figures 63 and 64. The use of these graphs is illustrated by several examples in the following.

## Example 1.

Assumed basic dimensions: d/D = .13, D/T = 100.

Nozzle is to be reinforced with an increased wall thickness of the sphere around the opening. From Figure 60b, for such reinforcing:

h = T'/T = 2.0, T' is the required local thickness of reinforcing on the sphere for a distance  $\sqrt{DhT}$  from the nozzle.

From Figure 61 for d/D = 0.13, h = 2.0 :  $\overline{\sigma}/S = 2.76$ From Figure 63 for d/D = 0.13, h = 2.0 :  $\overline{\overline{\sigma}}/S_b = 3.90$ With the further assumptions:

(1) P (internal pressure) is such that  $S = PD/4T = S_a$  where  $S_a$  is the allowable stress for the nozzle material and service conditions.

(2)  $\overline{\sigma} + \overline{\overline{\sigma}} = 3.0 \text{ S}_{a}$  is the design criteria.

The allowable bending stress, S<sub>ba</sub>, is then

$$S_{ba} = \frac{3.0 - \overline{\sigma}/S}{\overline{\sigma}/S_{b}} \times S_{a} = \frac{0.24}{3.90} \times S_{a} = 0.0615 S_{a}$$

The moment capacity of the nozzle is  $S_{ba} = 0.0615 S_{a}$ , or  $M_{a} = 0.0615 S_{a} \cdot Z_{n}$ , where  $M_{a}$  is the allowable moment at the nozzle,  $Z_{n}$ is the section modulus of the nozzle ( $\pi r^{2}t$ ). In this example the moment capacity is low. For comparison, an ASA B16.9 elbow in the piping attached to the nozzle would be limited to a moment such that  $S_{ba} = 0.27 S_{a} -$ assuming the same design criteria ( $\overline{\sigma} + \overline{\sigma} = 3.0 S_{a}$ ) for the elbow as for the nozzle and a stress due to pressure of  $\overline{\sigma} = 1.0 S_{a}$ . Example 2.

Assumed basic dimensions:  $\frac{d}{D} = 0.03$ ,  $\frac{D}{T} = 30$ . Nozzle is to be reinforced with an increased wall thickness of the nozzle near the juncture. From Figure 60 a, for such reinforcing:

g = t'/t = 4.0, t' is the required local thickness of the reinforced section of the nozzle, for a distance  $\sqrt{dgt}$  from the juncture. From Figure 62 for d/D = 0.03, g = 4.0 :  $\overline{\sigma}/S = 1.67$  From Figure 64 for d/D = 0.03, g = 4.0 :  $\overline{\sigma}/S_b = 0.53$ With the further assumptions: (1) P (internal pressure) is such that  $S = PD/4T = S_a$ , where  $S_a$  is the

allowable stress for the nozzle material and service conditions. (2)  $\overline{\sigma} + \overline{\overline{\sigma}} = 3.0 \text{ S}_{a}$  is the design criteria.

The allowable bending stress, S<sub>ba</sub>, is then:

$$S_{ba} = \frac{3.0 - \overline{\sigma}/S}{\overline{\sigma}/S_{b}} \times S_{a} = \frac{1.33}{0.53} \times S_{a} = 2.50 S_{a}$$

It should be noted that the reference stress in Figure 64 is with respect to pipe attached to a locally thickened (t' = gt) nozzle, the attached pipe is assumed to be such that s/S = 1.0. If the piping itself is such that s/S = 2dT/Dgt = 0.25, then the allowable bending stress for that pipe (t<sub>p</sub> = gt) is:

$$S'_{ba} = \frac{2.50}{4} S_a = 0.625 S_a$$

In this case, the pipe attached to the nozzle would be definitely "thickwall", d/t being 3.75. An ASA B16.9 elbow of this wall thickness ratio would have an allowable bending stress,  $S_{ba} = 2.0 S_{a}$ ; assuming the same design criteria ( $\overline{\sigma} + \overline{\overline{\sigma}} = 3.0 S_{a}$ ) for the elbow as for the nozzle and a stress due to pressure of  $\overline{\sigma} = 1.0 S_{a}$ .

The above example, along with Figures 60 through 64, indicate that the moment capacity of Phase I designs is highly variable, ranging from none up to the maximum moment capacity of piping attached to the nozzle.

The effect of the assumption that maximum shear stresses due to pressure and moment load are additive can be illustrated by a more detailed consideration of Example 1. The stress indices for this example (d/D = .13, D/T = 100, T'/T = 2.0) are tabulated below.

	Outs	ide	Inside		
Part	σ <sub>n</sub> /s	σ <sub>t</sub> /s	σ <sub>n</sub> /S	σ <sub>t</sub> /s	
	Pressure	Stresses,	S = PD/4T		
Sphere	1.78	1.10	.96	08	
Nozzle	2.42	2.33	1.39	-1.37	
	Moment S	tresses, S	$= \pm M/\pi r^2 t$		
Sphere	1.32	.09	53	01	
Nozz1e	1.56	3.90	19	-1.90	

In order to obtain the maximum shear stress for pressure and moment loading, it is necessary to examine 32 combinations of the stresses listed above. First, considering the stress normal to the surface as essentially zero, there are 16 combinations of the type  $[(\sigma/S \pm \sigma/S_b) - 0.]$ . Then, considering shear stresses from  $(\sigma_n - \sigma_t)$ , there are an additional 16 combinations of the type:  $[(\sigma_n/S \pm \sigma_n/S_b) - (\sigma_t/S \pm S_t/S_b)]$ . For the present example, where S = PD/4T is assumed to equal S<sub>a</sub> and  $\overline{\sigma} + \overline{\overline{\sigma}} = 3.0$  S<sub>a</sub>, the limiting combination is that which arises from the  $(\sigma_n - \sigma_t)$  combination on the inside of the nozzle, i.e.

 $(1.39 \text{ s} - .19 \text{ s}_{b}) - (-1.37 \text{ s} - 1.90 \text{ s}_{b}) = 2.76 \text{ s} + 1.81 \text{ s}_{b}$ 

from which

$$S_{ba} = \frac{3.0 - 2.76}{1.81} S_{a} = .132 S_{a}$$

Simple addition of the individual maximum shear stresses gave  $S_{ba} = 0.061 S_{ba}$ , hence in this particular example this approach is conservative by a factor of about two.

The graphs in the Appendix give data for evaluation of both maximum stresses and maximum shear stresses for an extensive range of d/D, D/T and s/S (or t/T), with any desired combination of pressure, moment or thrust load, at the midwall as well as at the surfaces. It should be noted that the particular combination (of the 32 possible combinations) that will give the controlling maximum shear stress depends upon the relative magnitudes of the loads. In the above example, for relatively large stresses due to pressure, the combination given will be controlling. If, however, the stresses due to moment loading were high compared to those due to pressure, then the controlling combination would be the tangential stresses at the inside of the nozzle, i.e.,  $(2.33 \text{ S} + 3.90 \text{ S}_b)$ .





 $\bigcirc$ 















#### REFERENCES

- Bijlaard, P. P., "Computation of the Stresses from Local Loads in Spherical Pressure Vessels or Pressure Vessel Heads", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 34 (March, 1957).
- Bijlaard, P. P., "Local Stresses in Spherical Shells from Radial or Moment Loadings", The Welding Journal, 36 (5), Research Supplement 240-S to 243-S (1957).
- Bijlaard, P. P., "Stresses in Spherical Vessels from Radial Loads Acting on a Pipe", Welding <sup>R</sup>esearch Council Bulletin No. 49, pages 1 to 30 (April, 1959).
- 4. Bijlaard, P. P., "Stresses in Spherical Vessels from External Moments Acting on a Pipe", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 49, pages 31 to 62 (April, 1959).
- 5. Bijlaard, P. P., "Influence of a Reinforcing Pad on the Stresses in a Spherical Vessel Under Local Loading", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 49, pages 63 to 73 (April, 1959).
- Bijlaard, P. P., "Stresses in Spherical Vessels from Local Loads Transferred by a Pipe", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 50, pages 1 to 9 (May, 1959).
- Wickman, K. R., Mershon, J. L., and Hopper, A. G., "Local Stresses in Spherical and Cylindrical Shells Due to External Loadings", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 107 (August, 1965).
- Leckie, F. A. & Penny, R, K., "A Critical Study of the Solutions for Asymmetric Bending of Spherical Shells", Welding Research Council Bulletin No.90, pages 1 - 7, (September, 1963).
- Penny, R. K. & Leckie, F. A., "Solutions for the Stresses at Nozzles in Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 90, pages 8-18 (September, 1963).
- Leckie, F. A. & Penny, R. K., "Stress Concentration Factors for the Stresses at Nozzle Intersections in Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 90, pages 19-26, (September, 1963).
- 11. Waters, E. O., "Stresses Near a Cylindrical Outlet in a Spherical Vessel", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 96, (May, 1964).
- 12. Cloud, R. L. and Rodabaugh, E. C., "Proposed Reinforcement Design Procedure for Radial Nozzles in Spherical Shells with Internal Pressure", Phase 1 Report on Analysis of Data for Reinforced Openings to the U.S. Atomic Energy Commission, Battelle Memorial Institute (Columbus, Ohio) Contract No. W-7405-3ng-92.
- Friedrich, C. M., "Seal-Shell-2, A Computer Program for the Stress Analysis of a Thick Shell of Revolution with Axisymmetric Pressures, Temperatures, and Distributed Loads", Bettis Atomic Power Laboratory Report WAPD-TM-398.

- Kalnins, A., "Analysis of Shells of Revolution Subjected to Symmetrical and Nonsymmetrical Loads", ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, Sept., 1964.
- 15. Grieser, D. R., Reider, W. G., Hulbert, L. E., Bell, J. C., Smith, J. C, and Allen, C. M., "A Study of Rotary-Shaft-Sealing Concepts for Pressurized Water-Reactor Applications." Battelle Memorial Institute Report No. BMI-1676, June 30, 1964.
- 16. Mershon, J. L., "PVRC Research on Reinforcement of Openings in Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 77, (May, 1962).
- Mershon, J. L., "PVRC Intrepretive Report of Pressure Vessel Research, Section I, Design Considerations, Part 1.6, Reinforcement of Openings Under Internal Pressure", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 95, (April, 1964).
- American Standard Code for Pressure Piping, ASA B31.8-1956, ASA B31.3-1962, ASA B31.4-1959, ASA B31.8-1963. Published by the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 345 E. 47th St., New York, N. Y. 10017.
- Kraus, H., "A Review and E<sub>v</sub>aluation of Computer Programs for the Analysis of Stresses in Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 108, pages 11-28, (September, 1965).
- 20. Hoff, N. J., "Boundary Value Problems of the Thin-Walled Circular Cylinder", Journal of Applied Mechanics, 24, 243-250, (1950).
- 21. Timoshenko & Woinowsky-Krieger, "Theory of Plates and Shells", Second Edition, 1959, p. 466, McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York.
- 22. Reissner, E., "Stresses and Small Displacements of Shallow Spherical Shells", Part I, Journal of Math. and Phys., 25, 80-85, (1946).
- Donnell, L. H., "Stability of Thin Walled Tubes Under Torsion", NACA Technical Report No. 479, 1933.
- Taylor, C. E. and Lind, N. C., "Photoelastic Study of the Stresses Near Openings in Pressure Vessels", University of Illinois, T. & A.M. Report No. 270, (March, 1965). Also, see Reference (35).
- Leven, M. M., "Photoelastic Determination of the Stresses in Reinforced Openings in Pressure Vessels", Westinghouse Research Laboratories Research Report 64-9D7-514-R1, (October 30, 1964). Also, see Reference (35).
- Riley, W. F., 'Experimental Determination of Stress Distributions in Thin-Walled Cylindrical and Spherical Pressure Vessels with Circular Nozzles", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 108, pages 1-11, (September, 1965).



- 27. Maxwell, R. L., Holland, R. W., and Cofer, J. A., "Experimental Stress Analysis of the Attachment Region of Hemispherical Shells with Radially Attached Nozzles", University of Tennessee, Engineering Experiment Station, Knoxville, Tenn., Report ME-7-65-1.
- 28. Dally, J. W., "An Experimental Investigation of the Stresses Produced in Spherical Vessels by External Loads Transferred by a Nozzle", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 84 (January, 1963).
- Atterbury, T. J., Vagins, M., and McClure, G. M., "Branch Connections -Development of Rules for Design", Battelle Memorial Institute Report to the American Gas Association, January 30, 1961.
- Lind, N. C., Hradek, R. W., and Cook, R. D., "Influence of Fillet Radii on Stresses Near Outlets in Pressure Vessels", University of Illinois, T. & A. M. Report No. 167 (March, 1961).
- Rodabaugh E. C., and George, H. H., "Effect of Internal Pressure on Flexibility and Stress-Intensification Factors of Curved Pipe or Welding Elbows", ASME Trans., May, 1957.
- 32. National Electrical Manufacturers Association, "Mechanical Drive Steam Turbines", Pub. No. SM 20-1958 (Revised November, 1959), 155 E. 44th Street, New York 17, N. Y.
- 33. Rossheim, D. B. and Mark1, A.R.C., "The Significance of, and Suggested Limits for, the Stress in Pipe Lines Due to the Combined Effects of Pressure and Expansion", ASME Trans., 1940.
- 34. Moore, S. E. and Witt, F. J., "CERL-II, A Computer Program for Analyzing Hemisphere-Nozzle Shells of Revolution with Axisymmetric and Unsymmetric Loadings", Oak Ridge National Laboratory, ORNL-3817, October, 1965.
- 35. Mershon, J. L., "Preliminary Evaluation of PVRC Photoelastic Test Data on Reinforced Openings in Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 113 (April, 1966) pp 53-70. This bulletin also contains References (24) and (25).
- 36. Witt, F. J. and Greenstreet, B. L., "Analysis of Axisymmetrically Loaded Cylinder-to-Sphere Attachments", Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, ORNL-3755.
- 37. Hardenbergh, D. E. Zamrik, S. Y., and Edmondson, A. J., "Experimental Investigation of Stresses in Nozzles in Cylindrical Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 89 (July, 1963).
- 38. Cranch, E. T., "An Experimental Investigation of Stresses in the Neighborhood of Attachments to a Cylindrical Shell", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 60 (May, 1960).

# APPENDIX

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
DEVELOPMENT OF DESIGN GRAPHS	A 1
Parametric Study	A-1
Stress Indices	A 1
Juncture Stresses	<b>A-4</b>
Design Graphs for Stress Indices	
at Juncture	A-5
Combinations of Variables	A <del>-</del> 5
Dimensional Limits	A 6
APPLICATION OF DESIGN GRAPHS	A <b>-</b> 9

No.	• Titles		
A1	Nomenclature and Sign Conventions		
A2	$K_{n\theta}$ for Internal Pressure		
A3	$K_{b\theta}$ for Internal Pressure		
A4	K <sub>n</sub> ø for Internal Pressure		
A5a	$K_{b0}$ for Internal Pressure, t/T $\geq$ 0.1		
A5b	$K_{b \emptyset}$ for Internal Pressure, t/T $\leq 0.1$		
Аб	K for Internal Pressure ny		
А7	${\tt K}_{{\tt n} heta}$ for Moment Loading		
A8	$K_{b\theta}$ for Moment Loading		
A9	K for Moment Loading		
A10a	$K_{b} \phi$ for Moment Loading, t/T $\geq$ 0.1		
A10b	$K_{b \emptyset}$ for Moment Loading, t/T $\leq 0.1$		
A11	K for Moment Loading		
A12	${f K}_{{f n} heta}$ for Thrust Loading		
A13	$\mathtt{K}_{b \theta}$ for Thrust Loading		
A14	K for Thrust Loading		
A15a	$K_{b0}$ for Thrust Loading, t/T $\geq$ 0.1		
A15b	$K_{b0}$ for Thrust Loading, t/T $\leq$ 0.1		
A16	K for Thrust Loading		

71+1
#### DEVELOPMENT OF DESIGN GRAPHS

#### Parametric Study

The design information presented herein is based on a parametric study\* conducted at Oak Ridge National Laboratory using the CERL II computer  $program^{(34)}$ . A Poisson's ratio of 0.3 was used. The nomenclature and sign conventions are shown in Figure A-1, page A-2.

The parametric study covered the following: 1. Sphere diameter to thickness ratio, D/T

 $\frac{D}{T}$  = 10, 25, 50, 100, 250, 750, 1000.

2. Nozzle diameter to sphere diameter ratio, d/D

$$\frac{d}{D} = .01, .025, .05, .1, .25, .3, .4, .5$$
.

3. Nozzle thickness to sphere thickness ratio, t/T

$$\frac{r}{r}$$
 = .01, .0133, .02, .04, .10, .25, .3, .4, .5, .6, .8, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, 3.0.

4. Loadings

Internal pressure, moment applied to nozzle, thrust applied to nozzle.

#### Stress Indices

It is obvious that, in order for the design data to be generally applicable, dimensions must be presented as dimensionless ratios, e.g.,

<sup>\*</sup> The authors wish to acknowledge the efforts of S. E. Moore, who was instrumental in obtaining the results from the CERL Code (see Reference 34).

Ny <sup>\</sup>Μ<sub>v</sub> <u>d</u> 2 Nozzie **∦**Μγ θ +<sub>Ny</sub> Section A ۱N<sub>e</sub> Nozzle Me Out-side Sphere <u>d</u> 2 Sphere-Me Ne M X L Nozzle t



FIGURE A1, NOMENCLATURE ILLUSTRATION

D/T. It is then necessary to also present the stresses as dimensionless ratios, or "stress indices". A question arises as to what stress indices would be most informative to the user of the design data. For pressure loading, the designer will normally know the nominal stress in the sphere or sphere segment and will be interested in the stresses in the vicinity of the nozzle relative to the nominal stress in the sphere. For moment or thrust loading, the designer will generally know the external loads as supplied, for example, by a piping system flexibility analysis\*, and will be interested in the stresses in the vicinity of the nozzle relative to the nominal stress in the nozzle, i.e., stress intensification factors analogous to those presently used for piping system components<sup>(18)</sup>. This reasoning leads to the stress indices:

Pressure Loading

$$K_{ij} = \frac{\sigma_{ij}}{PD/4T}$$
(A1)

Moment Loading

$$K_{ij} = \frac{\sigma_{ij}}{4M/\pi d^2 t}$$
(A2)

Thrust Loading

$$K_{ij} = \frac{\sigma_{ij}}{L/\pi dt}$$
(A3)

where:

= stress index corresponding to  $\sigma_{ii}$ K<sub>ii</sub> Ρ = internal pressure, psi Μ = moment applied to nozzle, in-1b L = thrust applied to nozzle, 1b = sphere mean diameter, inches D = sphere wall thickness, inches т = nozzle mean diameter, inches d = nozzle thickness, inches t

$$\bigcirc$$

<sup>\*</sup> The flexibility of the nozzle must be known for the piping system analysis. This aspect of nozzles in spheres will be covered in a subsequent report.

The stresses at the nozzle-sphere juncture are given by the equations:

Sphere

$$\sigma_{\theta} = S \left( K_{n\theta} \pm K_{b\theta} \right)$$
 (A4)

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{0}} = S \left( K_{n\mathbf{0}} \pm K_{b\mathbf{0}} \right)$$
 (A5)

Nozzle

$$\sigma_{y} = S \left(K_{ny} \pm v \left(\frac{T}{t}\right)^{2} K_{b} \right)$$
 (A6)

$$\sigma_{\rm x} = S \left(\frac{d}{D} \frac{T}{t} \pm \left(\frac{T}{t}\right)^2 K_{\rm b} \phi\right)$$
 for pressure-loading (A7a)

$$\sigma_{x} = S \left(-1 \pm \left(\frac{T}{t}\right)^{2} K_{b} \emptyset\right) \text{ for moment or thrust}$$
 loading (A7b)

where

S = nominal stress, psi S = PD/4T for pressure loading S =  $4M/\pi d^2t$  for moment loading S =  $L/\pi dt$  for thrust loading  $\nu$  = Poisson's ratio = .3

For moment loading, equations (A4) through (A7) are multiplied by the factor (cos  $\theta$ ), where  $\theta$  is the angle from the plane of the applied moment, as shown on Figure A1.

The directions of  $\sigma_{\theta}$ ,  $\sigma_{\phi}$ ,  $\sigma_{x}$ , and  $\sigma_{y}$  are shown in Figure Al. The normal stress are  $\sigma_{\theta}$  and  $\sigma_{y}$ ; tangential stresses are  $\sigma_{\phi}$  and  $\sigma_{x}$ .

A tensile stress is defined as positive; a compressive stress as negative. The + part of the  $\pm$  signs applies to the inside surface, the - part of the  $\pm$  signs applies to the outside surface. For the midwall (average) stress, the bending component  $(K_{b\theta}, K_{b\theta})$  is taken as zero.

The signs of the stress components are for the loadings applied in the directions shown in Figure Al. For reversed loading directions, all signs are reversed. One may, for such loads, define P as -P (in the absence of instability), M as -M or L as -L. For moment loading, the signs of the stresses are for that section where the moment produces nominal compressive stresses in the nozzle, Section A of Figure Al. These stresses are proportional to  $\cos \theta$  (Figure Al), hence their signs are reversed at  $\theta = 180^{\circ}$ .

### Design Graphs for Stress Indices at Juncture

The values of the five stress indices required in Equations A4 through A7 ( $K_{b\theta}$ ,  $K_{n\emptyset}$ ,  $K_{b\emptyset}$ , and  $K_{ny}$ ) are presented in:

Pressure Loading	Figures A2 through A6
Moment Loading	Figures A7 through All
Thrust Loading	Figures A12 through A16.

A discussion of the dimensional variables, dimensional limits and accuracy is given below.

### Combinations of Variables

It is apparent that the geometric description of a nozzle in a sphere requires four independent dimensions, i.e., D, T, d, and t. The stress indices are necessarily functions of three dimensional ratios; for the design graphs the ratios D/T, d/D, and t/T were selected. If these ratios are not in some way interdependent, with respect to the stress indices, then concise graphical presentation of design data becomes difficult since for each stress index and loading, a double family of curves is required. Leckie and Penny<sup>(1)</sup>, however, noted that the maximum stresses in the sphere could be presented as a function of two independent variables;  $(d/D) \sqrt{D/2T}$  and t/T, with relatively little effect of the D/T variable by itself. This reduction of independent variables from three to two is, of course, a major advantage in presentation of the design data since only a single family of curves is required for any particular dependent variable.

Further investigation of the two independent variables  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/2T}$ and t/T shows that, for pressure loading, the maximum stress index is "practically independent" of D/T. The term "practically independent" is defined herein as meaning that the stress index plotted against  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/2T}$ , for a given t/T-value, may be represented by a single line for 10 < D/T < 250with an accuracy, as compared to the computed stress, of  $\pm 20\%$ . For the individual stress indices, except  $K_{b0}$  and  $K_{ny}$ , these same two independent variables  $[(d/D)\sqrt{D/2T}, t/T]$  work equally well in reducing the independent variables from three to two. For  $K_{b0}$ , elimination of the D/T-variable occurs only at t/T-values of 1 and larger; for  $K_{ny}$ , only for midrange (.1 to 1.0) values of t/T.

In the case of moment or thrust loading (the design graphs are quite similar for these two loadings), the same two independent variables [(d/D)  $\sqrt{D/2T}$  and t/T] almost eliminate the D/T-variable (± 20% accuracy) for  $\rm K_{n\theta}$  and  $\rm K_{b\theta}$ , as well as for  $\rm K_{b\emptyset}$  with t/T  $\geq$  .15. For  $K_{bd}$  with small values of t/T, D/T is a significant variable. Also, for moment or thrust loading, it is necessary to divide the stress index by suitable dimensional ratios in order to eliminate the D/T-variable. It is unfortunate that this division is necessary, since the significance of the stress index, in relation to nominal stresses, is not directly apparent from the design graphs. For the stress indices  $K_{n0}$  and  $K_{nv}$ , the parameter (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/2T}$  does not eliminate the D/T-variable nor does there appear to be any other combination of dimensions which, over the parameter range covered, is successful in eliminating the D/T-variable. The independent variables d/t and t/T have been used for plotting  $K_{nv}$ . These variables eliminate the D/T-variable for small values of t/T  $(\leq .04)$  and partially eliminates the D/T-variable for larger values of t/T.

#### Dimensional Limits

The design graphs encompass the following dimensional ranges

10 < D/T < 250 .01<d/D < .5 .01<t/T < 3

Probably a large majority of pressure vessel nozzles will be included in these limits. The lower limit of D/T is based on the applicability of thin-shell theory. The parametric study included values of D/T up to 1,000; however, the method for reducing the design charts to two independent variables does not hold for large D/T and are not included in this report. The upper limit of d/D was established in conformance with the ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Section VIII, which suggest that for openings in heads with d/D larger than 0.5, the opening should be designed as a reversed curve section.

There are two areas within the parametric study for which the design graphs are of limited significance. First, for certain combinations of D/T, d/D, and t/T the value of d/t is too small to be within the range of thin-shell theory. For example, the combination of d/D = .01, t/T = 0.1 and D/T = 10 gives d/t = 1.0. The results from models with d/t < 2.5 have been excluded from the design graphs. Secondly, for combinations of small t/T with large d/D, the nozzles are inadequate from the standpoint of nominal stresses due to pressure loading. This area can be examined in terms of the parameter

$$\frac{s}{S} = \frac{2d/D}{t/T}$$

where s = nominal stress in nozzle due to pressure loading s = Pd/2t S = nominal stress in sphere due to pressure loading

S = PD/4T

For a combination of d/D = .5, t/T = .01, the value of s/S is 100. Models with such large values of s/S are not used in pressure vessels. However, where the sphere wall thickness is increased, locally or generally, as a means of reinforcing the opening, the designer may be

A<del>-</del> 7



interested in models with s/S > 1; reference (12) indicates s/S values up to around 5 as potentially of interest. Limiting s/S to a maximum of 5 gives the following limits to t/T and d/D combinations.

t/T	Maximum d/D		
•01	.025		
• 02	• 05		
• 04	.10		
<b>.</b> 10	•25		
.20	• 50		

As an aid in interpolation, combinations of t/T and d/D giving s/S larger then 5 are shown on the design graphs, except where their presence would detract from the readibility of the graphs.

#### APPLICATION OF DESIGN GRAPHS

The stresses at the juncture between nozzle and sphere are determined by substituting the values of  $K_{n\theta}$ ,  $K_{b\theta}$ ,  $K_{n\emptyset}$ ,  $K_{b\emptyset}$ , and  $K_{n\gamma}$ from Figures A2 through A16 into Equations (A4) through (A7). These figures are based on the assumption that Poisson's ratio of the material used is equal to 0.3 and that the nozzle and sphere materials have the same modulus of elasticity; otherside the properties of the materials do not enter into the stress calculations.

Application of the procedure for obtaining stresses from the design graphs is illustrated in the following by several examples.

### Example 1

A 6" standard weight (6.625" O.D. x .280" nominal wall thickness, .245" minimum wall thickness) pipe nozzle is welded to a spherical head with 50" mean diameter, 0.500" nominal (.490" minimum) wall thickness. An internal pressure of 784 psi is the only loading. Stresses at the nozzle-sphere juncture are determined as follows. Step 1: Calculate the ratios:

$$\frac{D}{T} = \frac{50}{.5} = 100$$

$$\frac{d}{D} = \frac{6.625 - .280}{50} = .127$$

$$\frac{t}{T} = \frac{.245}{.490} = .5$$

$$\frac{d}{D} \sqrt{\frac{D}{2T}} = .127 \times \sqrt{50} = .90$$

Step 2:

Enter Figures A2 through A6 with  $(d/D) \sqrt{D/2T} = .90$  to intersection with t/T = 0.5 and D/T = 100:

from Figure A2:  $K_{n\theta} = 2.45$ from Figure A3:  $K_{b\theta} = -.53$ from Figure A4:  $K_{n\emptyset} = .30$ from Figure A5:  $K_{b\emptyset} = -1.1$ from Figure A6:  $K_{ny} = 2.45$ 

$$S = \frac{PD}{4T} = \frac{784 \times 50}{4 \times .49} = 20,000 \text{ psi}$$

$$\sigma_{\rm A}$$
 = 20,000 (2.45 ± -.53)

On inside surface:  $\sigma_{\theta} = 20,000 \ (1.92) = 38,400 \ \text{psi}$ On outside surface:  $\sigma_{\theta} = 20,000 \ (2.98) = 59,600 \ \text{psi}$ At midwall  $\sigma_{\theta} = 20,000 \ (2.45) = 49,000 \ \text{psi}$ 

 $\sigma_{0} = 20,000$  (.30 ± -1.1)

On inside surface:  $\sigma_{ab} = 20,000 \ (-.80) = -16,000 \ \text{psi}$ On outside surface:  $\sigma_{ab} = 20,000 \ (1.40) = 28,000 \ \text{psi}$ At midwal:  $\sigma_{ab} = 20,000 \ (.30) = 6,000 \ \text{psi}$ 

Stresses in the nozzle

 $\sigma_y = 20,000 [2.45 \pm 0.3 \times (\frac{1}{.5})^2 \times (-1.1)]$ = 20,000 (2.45 ± -1.32)

On inside surface:  $\sigma_y = 20,000 (1.13) = 22,600 \text{ psi}$ On outside surface:  $\sigma_y = 20,000 (3.77) = 75,400 \text{ psi}$ At midwall:  $\sigma_y = 20,000 (2.45) = 49,000 \text{ psi}$ 

$$\sigma_{x} = 20,000 [.127 \times \frac{1}{.5} \pm (\frac{1}{.5})^{2} \times (-1.1)]$$

$$= 20,000 (.25 \pm -4.40)$$

## Example 2

The same nozzle and head as in Example 1, but the loading consists of a moment applied to the nozzle such that the nominal stress in the nozzle is 20,000 psi, i.e.,  $4M/\pi d^2 t = 20,000$ .

Step 1: Calculate the dimensional ratios as in Step 1 of Example 1 and, in addition;

$$\frac{d}{t} = \frac{6.345}{.245} = 25.9$$

Step 2: Enter Figures A7, A8, and A10 with (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/2T} = .90$ , Figures A9 and A11 with d/t = 25.9. Proceed to intersection with t/T = 0.5, D/T = 100.

from Figure A7: 
$$K_{n\theta} = -.06 (D/T)^{1/2} (D/d)^{1/4}$$
  
Figure A8:  $K_{b\theta} = .28 (D/T)^{1/2}$   
Figure A9:  $K_{n\phi} = -.51$   
Figure A10:  $K_{b\phi} = .17 (D/T)^{1/2} (D/d)^{1/4}$   
Figure A11:  $K_{ny} = -1.45$ 

Step 3: Calculate values of  $K_{n\theta}$ ,  $K_{b\theta}$ ,  $K_{n\phi}$ ,  $K_{b\phi}$ ,  $K_{ny}$ :  $K_{n\theta} = .06 \times (100)^{1/2} \times (\frac{1}{.127})^{1/4} = .06 \times 10 \times 1.67 = -1.0$   $K_{b\theta} = .28 \times 10$   $K_{n\phi} = .28 \times 10$  c.80c.51

$$K_{b\phi} = .17 \times 10 \times 1.67 = 2.84$$
  
 $K_{ny} = -1.45$ 



Stresses in sphere at  $\theta = 0$ 

It was assumed that  $S = 4M/\pi d^2 t = 20,000$ , hence

 $\sigma_{\theta} = 20,000$  (-1.0 ± 2.80)

On inside surface :  $\sigma_{\theta} = 20,000 \ (1.80) = 36,000 \ \text{psi}$ On outside surface:  $\sigma_{\theta} = 20,000 \ (-3.80) = -76,000$ At midwall:  $\sigma_{\theta} = 20,000 \ (-1.0) = -20,000$ 

$$\sigma_{\phi} = 20,000 (-.51 \pm 2.84)$$

On inside surface :  $\sigma_{\phi} = 20,000 \ (2.33) = 46,600 \ \text{psi}$ On outside surface :  $\sigma_{\phi} = 20,000 \ (-3.35) = -67,000$ At midwall:  $\sigma_{\phi} = 20,000 \ (-.51) = -10,200$ 

Stresses in nozzle at  $\theta = 0$ 

$$\sigma_{y} = 20,000 [-1.45 \pm 0.3 \times (\frac{1}{.5})^{2} \times (2.84)]$$
  
= 20,000 [-1.45 ± 3.41]

On inside surface :  $\sigma_y = 20,000 (1.96) = 39,200 \text{ psi}$ On outside surface :  $\sigma_y = 20,000 (-4.86) = -97,200$ At midwall:  $\sigma_y = 20,000 (-1.45) = -29,000$ 

 $\sigma_{\rm x} = 20,000 \left[ (-1) \pm \left( \frac{1}{.5} \right)^2 \times (2.84) \right]$ 

$$= 20,000 \pm [(-1) \pm 11.36)]$$

On inside surface :  $\sigma_x = 20,000 (10.36) = +207,000 \text{ psi}$ On outside surface :  $\sigma_x = 20,000 (-12.36) = -247,000$ At midwall:  $\sigma_x = 20,000 (-.1) = -20,000$ 

Step 5: Stresses at  $\theta \neq 0$ .

Multiply stresses obtained in Step 4 by  $\cos \theta_{\bullet}$ 

# Example 3

The same nozzle and head as in Example 1, except that an integral, uniform wall thickness pad around the opening is used to reinforce the opening. The thickness of this pad is T' and is equal to 2T. The length of the pad is assumed to be greater than  $\sqrt{DT'}$  hence, the design graphs are applicable. With an internal pressure of 784 psi, the question is what moment can be applied to the nozzle as limited by a maximum midwall stress intensity of 30,000 psi; maximum surface stress intensity of 60,000 psi.

Step 1: Calculate the ratios

$$\frac{D}{T'} = \frac{50}{1} = 50$$

$$\frac{d}{D} = .127$$

$$\frac{t}{T'} = .25$$

$$\frac{d}{D} \sqrt{\frac{D}{2T'}} = .127 \times \sqrt{25} = .64$$

$$\frac{d}{t} = 25.9$$

Step 2: Calculate the stresses due to pressure as in Example 1.

$$\sigma_{\theta} = 10,000 \ (2.5 \pm -.78) = 17,200 \text{ psi inside} \\ = 32,800 \text{ psi outside} \\ = 25,000 \text{ psi midwall} \\ \sigma_{\emptyset} = 10,000 \ (.13 \pm -.30) = -1,700 \text{ psi inside} \\ = 4,300 \text{ psi outside} \\ = 1,300 \text{ psi midwall} \\ \sigma_y = 10,000 \ [2.6 \pm (.3) \ (\frac{1}{.25})^2 \ (-.30)] = 11,600 \text{ psi inside} \\ = 40,400 \text{ psi outside} \\ = 26,000 \text{ psi midwall} \\ \sigma_x = 10,000 \ [.51 \pm (\frac{1}{.25})^2 \ (-.30)] = -42,900 \text{ psi inside} \\ = 53,000 \text{ psi outside} \\ = 5,100 \text{ psi midwall} \end{cases}$$

Step 3: Calculate stresses due to moment as in Example 3, except that  $S = 4M/\pi d^2 t$  is retained as a factor.

 $\sigma_{\theta} = S(-.32 \pm 1.56) = 1.24 \text{ S inside at } \theta = 0$ = -1.88 S outside = -.32 S midwall  $\sigma_{\phi} = S (-.14 \pm .33) = .19 \text{ S inside}$ = -.47 S outside = -.14 S midwall  $\sigma_{y} = S(-.62 \pm 1.58) = .96 \text{ S inside}$ = -.62 S outside = -.62 S midwall  $\sigma_{x} = S (-1. \pm 5.28) = 4.28 \text{ S inside}$ = -6.28 S outside + -1.0 S midwall

Step 4: Determine stress intensities due to pressure plus moment

A-14

 $S = \frac{PD}{PD} = \frac{784 \times 50}{784 \times 50} = 10,000$  pci

Stress intensities are defined by the quantities:

$$(\sigma_{\theta} - \sigma_{\theta}), (\sigma_{\theta} - \sigma_{r}), (\sigma_{\theta} - \sigma_{r})$$
  
 $(\sigma_{y} - \sigma_{x}), (\sigma_{y} - \sigma_{r}), (\sigma_{x} - \sigma_{r})$ 

The radial stress is equal to -P on the inside surface, zero on the outside surface and, as an approximation, -P/2 at the midwall. Since the stresses due to the moment vary with  $\theta$ , this variation must be considered. However, only the values at  $\theta = 0$  and  $\theta = 180$  are significant in this example; intermediate values of  $\theta$  will give intermediate values of the stress intensities.

From Steps 2 and 3:

	Inside	Outside	Midwall
σ <sub>θ</sub> - σ <sub>r</sub>	18,000 + 1.24 S +	32,800 + 1.88 S *	25,400 + .32 S *
∽ø-∽ <sub>r</sub>	- 90019 S *	4,300 + .47 S *	1,700 + .14 S *
σ <sub>θ</sub> - σø	+18,900 + 1.05 S /	+28,500 + 1.41 S *	+23,700 + .18 S *
σ <sub>y</sub> -σ <sub>r</sub>	12,400 + .96 S <del>/</del>	40,400 + 2.20 S *	26,400 + .62 S *
σ σ σ x r	-42,100 - 4.28 S *	53,000 + 6.28 S *	5,500 + 1.0 S *
orrorrorrorrorrorrorrorrorrorrorrorrorr	+54,500 + 3.32 S *	-12,600 - 4.08 S *	+20,900 + .38 S #

 $\neq$  at  $\theta = 0^{\circ}$ 

\* at θ = 180°

In the above tabulation, the stresses due to the moment have been taken at  $\theta = 0$  or  $\theta = 180$  so that they add to the stress intensity due to pressure and hence indicate the maximum absolute value of the stress intensity around the nozzle. Step 5: Determine maximum value of S (=4 $M/\pi d^2 t$ ).

(a) Midwall stress intensity limited to 30,000 psi.

Each of the six stress intensity values listed under "Midwall" are equated to 30,000 and solved for S; the smallest value of S must be used. The controlling stress intensity is  $\sigma_v - \sigma_r$ , giving:

$$26,400 + .62 \text{ s} = 30,000$$

$$S = \frac{30,000 - 26,400}{.62} = 5,800 \text{ psi}$$

جومني المرابعة والمراجعة

(b) Surface stress intensity limited to 60,000 psi.

Each of the twelve stress intensity listed under "Inside" and "Outside" are equated to 60,000 psi and solved for S; the smallest value of S must be used. The controlling stress intensity is  $\sigma_x$  on the outside surface (actually  $\sigma_x - \sigma_r$ , where  $\sigma_r = 0$ ), giving:

53,000 + 6.28 s = 60,000

$$S = \frac{60,000 - 53,000}{6.28} = 1,110 \text{ psi}$$

Step 6: Determine maximum permissible moment.

メ

The value of S must be limited to 1,110 psi in order to limit the maximum stress intensity on the surface to 60,000 psi. This value of S will also insure that the maximum midwall stress intensity is less than 30,000 psi.

$$S = \frac{4M}{\pi d^2 t} = 1,110$$

$$M = \frac{1.110 \ \pi d^2 t}{4} = \frac{1.110 \ \pi \ \pi \ x \ (6.345)^2 \ x \ .280}{4} = 9,800 \ \text{in-lb.}$$

Accordingly, the maximum moment that can be applied to the nozzle, within the prescribed stress limits, is 9,800 in-1b. If higher moment load capacity is desired, an obvious next step would be to make the nozzle of heavier pipe, e.g., 6" Sch 80, at least for a distance of  $\sqrt{dt}$  from the juncture.





 $\bigcirc$ 



A-21



9





 $\bigcirc$ 









)



FIGURE A-10a.  $K_{b 0}$  FOR MOMENT LOADING (continued)



Underlined numbers are values of t/T.

Single line indicates applicable for  $10 \le D/T \le 250$ . Branched or multiple lines are for D/T as indicated.







 $\bigcirc$ 





 $\bigcirc$ 





FIGURE A-15a.  $K_{b0}$  FOR THRUST LOADING (continued)

 $\bigcirc$ 

Underlined numbers are values of t/T.

Single line indicates applicable for  $10 \le D/T \le 250$ . Branched or multiple lines are for D/T as indicated.







A-35

 $\bigcirc$ 

# PHASE REPORT No. 3

on

# FLEXIBILITY OF NOZZLES IN SPHERICAL SHELLS

June 28, 1966

to

## UNITED STATES ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION

by

E. C. Rodabaugh and T. J. Atterbury

Contract No. W-7405-eng-92

BATTELLE MEMORIAL INSTITUTE Columbus Laboratories 505 King Avenue Columbus, Ohio 43201
# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
INTRODUCTION	1
SUMMARY	2
NOMENCLATURE	3
THEORY	5
COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH THEORY	9
FLEXIBILITY OF PHASE 1 DESIGNS	15
SIGNIFICANCE OF FLEXIBILITY OF NOZZLES	18
DESIGN GRAPHS FOR FLEXIBILITY FACTORS	21
REFERENCES	32

### INTRODUCT ION

In many critical piping systems, one of the design problems consists of the determination of the forces and moments in the system when the piping undergoes thermal expansion or contraction or, in some cases, due to weight, wind load, shock, or vibration. The solution of the general problem of a three-dimensional piping system with two or more anchor points, while basically simple, involves a large amount of computations. Prior to about 1950, considerable effort was devoted to approximate and thereby simplified solutions. With such approximate methods, accurate characteristics of the piping components were not particularly useful since the methods were approximate. The advent of high-speed digital computers, however, has made it possible to quickly and economically obtain "exact" solutions for moments and forces acting on piping systems.

The adjective "exact" in the above paragraph is used to distinguish between the approximate methods and the computer methods. The computer solutions are, of course, limited in accuracy by the available knowledge of the characteristics of components used in the actual piping systems. One such source of inaccuracy is the local deformation of a nozzle in a pressure vessel head. In most present analyses of piping systems attached at one end to such a nozzle, it is assumed that the nozzle constitutes a rigid anchor. The "anchor" assumption is usually\* conservative since forces will be overestimated. The degree of conservatism in some piping systems may be excessive and lead to unnecessary expense in construction of the piping system.

<sup>\*</sup> The "anchor" assumption may be unconservative for shock or other dynamic loading.

### SUMMARY

Design graphs are presented by means of which the flexibility can be determined for nozzles in spherical heads, or in heads which are locally spherical in the vicinity of the nozzle. Graphs are applicable for  $10 \leq D/T \leq 250$ ,  $d/D \leq 0.5$ , and  $t/T \leq 3.0$ . Both the nozzle and sphere are assumed to have constant wall thickness in the vicinity of the nozzle and the nozzle protrudes externally only. Graphs for flexibility are given for both moment and thrust loadings applied to the nozzles.

The design graphs are based on the theoretical development by Bijlaard<sup>(1)\*</sup>. Numerical comparisons of Bijlaard's "shallow shell" theory with 'hon-shallow shell" theories show that Bijlaard's relatively simple theory gives sufficiently accurate results for the dimensional ranges covered herein. Comparisons between Dally's<sup>(2)</sup> test results and Bijlaard's theory are given.

Flexibility factors for moment loading are given for the designs of the report, "Proposed Reinforcement Design Procedure for Radial Nozzles in Spherical Shells with Internal Pressure". This report<sup>(3)</sup> constitutes the first phase report on nozzles in pressure vessels and gives specific reinforcing dimensions for nozzles in spheres such that the reinforced nozzles meet specified design criteria. The flexibility factors of Phase 1 designs do not exceed a value of 10 and usually are in the range of 1 to 8.

The significance of the flexibility of nozzles in heads, as a part of a piping system, is illustrated by calculation of forces and moments in a number of simple piping systems with (a) the usual assumption of the nozzle as an anchor and (b) with the nozzle flexibility included. For this particular set of examples, the ratio  $\binom{M}{n} \binom{/\binom{M}{n}}{K}$  ranges from 2.5 to 6, i.e., the moment at the nozzle is overestimated by factors of 2.5 to 6 by using the "anchor" assumption. These examples were selected to show where the nozzle flexibility factor can be significant; in many piping systems the effect of the nozzle flexibility will be insignificant.

\* References on page 32

### NOMENCLATURE

```
(See Figure 1)
```

# Dimensions

D = mean diameter of sphere, inches d = mean diameter of nozzle, inches R = mean radius of sphere, inches r = mean radius of nozzle, inches T = wall thickness of sphere, inches t = wall thickness of nozzle, inches T', t' are used for locally increased thickness near the nozzle-sphere juncture  $Z_n = \pi r^2 t$  (section modulus of nozzle), in.<sup>3</sup>  $I_n = \pi r^3 t$  (moment of inertia of nozzle), in.<sup>4</sup>  $A_n = 2\pi rt$  (cross-sectional metal area of nozzle), in.<sup>2</sup>

## **Coordinates**

 $\varphi$  = meridional angle on sphere

- $\theta$  = latitude angle on sphere
- $\rho = R \sin \varphi$ , inches

### <u>Loads</u>

- P = internal pressure, psi
- M = moment applied to nozzle, in.-1b
- L = thrust load applied to nozzle, 1b

## **Displacements**

w = radial displacement at  $\rho$  = r ( $\theta$  = 0 for moment loading)  $\alpha$  = w/r (rotation of axis of nozzle, moment loading)

Flexibility Factors  $K_{\alpha} = \alpha/(Md/EI_n)$  - moment loading  $K_w = w/(Ld/EA_n)$  - thrust loading

## Material Properties

E = modulus of elasticity, psi

v = Poisson's ratio



FIGURE 1. NOMENCLATURE ILLUSTRATION

### THEORY

There are several theoretical developments, available in the form of digital computer programs, which can be used to determine local deformations of nozzles in spherical shells or in heads which are spherical in the neighborhood of the nozzle. Three of these developments (1, 4, & 5) were compared with each other in Reference (7) with respect to stresses due to thrust or moment loading applied to the nozzle. References (4) and (5) are based on "non-shallow" shell theory whereas the first reference, by Bijlaard, is based on "shallow" shell theory. It was found that the differences in stresses for d/D up to 0.5, D/T up to 250 were small.

Radial displacements calculated using Bijlaard's analysis are compared with those calculated by Kalnins' computer program<sup>(5)</sup> in Table 1. Kalnins' analysis does not use the "shallow-shell" assumption. For moment loading, Bijlaard and Kalnins' analysis give almost the same results except for a cos  $\varphi$  factor. That is, for d/D = 0.1, (cos  $\varphi \cong 1.00$ ) the two methods give the same deflections within 1 percent. For d/D =0.5 (cos  $\varphi=0.866$ ), Kalnins gives a displacement of 0.866 times that given by Bijlaard, within a few percent. For thrust loading, at small D/T values, there is a small additional discrepancy between Kalnins and Bijlaard results. This apparently arises because, for thrust loading. the displacements of the spherical shell remote from the nozzle can be significant; the shallow-shell theory is not accurate at large values of  $\varphi$ , e.g.,  $\varphi = \pi/2$ . The comparisons shown in Table 1, with respect to Kalnins' computer program, were made for a hemispherical head with the edges of the hemisphere at  $\varphi = \pi/2$  assumed fixed. Other types of heads or spherical shells (e.g., a tori-spherical head) would lead to slightly different displacements.

While there are some discrepancies between Bijlaard's "shallowshell" analysis and the theoretically more accurate "non-shallow-shell" analysis, these differences are small in an engineering sense and, since Bijlaard's analysis is much simpler and more economical to use than

			w/(2r <sup>2</sup> M/EI <sub>n</sub> ) - Moment Loading			
D T	<u>d</u> D	<u>t</u> T	Bijlaard	<u>Bijlaard</u> (a) X cos Ø	Kalnins	
25 25 25 25	0.10 0.10 0.50 0.50	0.04 0.25 0.25 1.00	0.148 0.828 0.996 1.76	0.147 0.825 0.865 1.52	0.147 0.825 0.840 1.53	
250 250 250 250	0.10 0.10 0.50 0.50	0.10 1.00 0.25 3.00	7.37 25.28 3.97 12.63 w/(2rL/E	7.35 25.2 3.44 10.97 A) - Thrust	7.30 25.1 3.28 10.40 Loading	
			Bijlaard	<sup>n</sup> <u>Bijlaard</u> (a) X cos Ø <sub>0</sub>	Kalnins	
10 10 10 10	0.01 0.01 0.5 0.5	0.01 0.04 0.25 1.00	0.066 0.263 0.654 1.425	0.066 0.263 0.575 1.23	0.077 0.302 0.645 1.72	
250 250 250 250	0.01 0.01 0.5 0.5	0.01 1.00 0.25 3.00	1.79 145.7 4.075 13.47	1.78 145.7 3.53 11.65	1.81 148. 3.46 12.20	

# TABLE 1. COMPARISON OF CALCULATED RADIAL DISPLACEMENTS, BIJLAARD AND KALNINS

(a) Bijlaard analysis results multiplied by  $\cos \phi_{o}$ 

Kalnins' computer program, design information given herein was developed using Bijlaard's analysis. Theoretically, increased accuracy is obtained by multiplying the results from Bijlaard's analysis by  $\cos \phi_o$ , however, in this report the maximum value of d/D is limited to 0.5, hence the correction factor of  $\cos \phi_o$  is not greater than 0.866.

For thrust loading, the significant displacement is given by the radial displacement, w. For moment loading, the significant displacement is the rotation of the nozzle given by

$$\alpha = \frac{(w)_{\rho=r, \theta=0}}{r} \qquad (1)$$

The value of  $\alpha$  could, of course, be used directly in a piping system analysis to account for the flexibility of a nozzle in a spherical shell. However, a more informative parameter is obtained by defining a f lexibility factor, K, by the equation:

$$K_{\alpha} = \frac{\alpha}{(Md/EI_n)}$$
 (2)

The quantity  $(Md/EI_n)$  in Equation (2) is simply the rotation in a nozzle of one-diameter length, subjected to a moment, M. The utility of a flexibility factor as defined by Equation (2) arises from two considerations:

- (1) The  $K_{\alpha}$ , for a given nozzle and piping system, immediately indicates whether the flexibility of the nozzle is significant. For example, if  $K_{\alpha} = 2$  and the length of the pipe attached to the nozzle is 50d, then is local flexibility of the nozzle will have only a small effect on the flexibility of the piping system. If, on the other hand,  $K_{\alpha} =$ 10 and the length of the pipe attached to the nozzle is 2d, then the local flexibility of the nozzle may have a very significant effect on the flexibility of the piping system.
- (2) The use of a flexibility factor as defined by Equation (2) is analogous to the flexibility factor for elbows or curved pipe presently given in the ASA Code for Pressure

Piping<sup>(6)</sup> and generally used in piping flexibility analyses\*.

The flexibility of a nozzle under thrust loading is usually not significant in piping systems; in most piping flexibility analyses the axial displacements due to axial loads are not included. In unusual piping systems, in which a pipe extends from a nozzle to an anchor with little or no offset, the flexibility of a nozzle due to thrust load could be significant. Also, in applications such as nozzles for control-rod insertion in nuclear pressure vessels, the dispacement for thrust loading may be significant. In analogy to the flexibility factor for moment loading, a flexibility factor for thrust loading has been defined as:

$$K_{W} = \frac{W}{(Ld/EA_{n})}$$
 (3)

The quantity  $(Ld/EA_n)$  is the axial displacement in the nozzle of one-diameter length, subjected to the axial load, L.

<sup>\*</sup> The analogy, however, is imposed by definition rather than inherent. The flexibility of a nozzle in a sphere is inherently a lumped parameter whereas the flexibility of an elbow or curved pipe is inherently a distributed parameter associated with a unit length and, for an exact solution, an integration over the elbow length must be carried out.

COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH THEORY

Test data on the flexibility of nozzles in heads is quite limited. The only data known to the authors is that given by Dally<sup>(2)</sup>, who reports tests on six fabricated steel test models briefly described in the following tabulation:

.. . .

No.	Type of Model*
1	Hemispherical head, 36-inch radius, 0.90-inch wall. Nozzle; 3.39-inch radius, 0.77-inch wall.
2	ASME Flanged and Dished Head, 35-inch crown radius, 0.77-inch wall. Nozzle; 3.39-inch radius, 0.78-inch wall.
3	ASME Flanged and Dished Head, 35-inch crown radius, 0.77-inch wall. Nozzle; 3.50-inch radius, 0.55-inch wall.
4	ASME Flanged and Dished Head, 35-inch crown radius, 0.77-inch wall. Nozzle; 3.64-inch radius, 0.27-inch wall.
5	ASME Flanged and Dished Head, 30-inch crown radius, 1.63-inch wall. Nozzle; 3.39-inch radius, 0.77-inch wall.
6	See Figure 2.

\* Radii are average of midwall radii; wall thicknesses are average of measured thicknesses.

A single nozzle was welded into the center of each head, with a fillet weld inside and out. Legs of the fillet welds were 3/4 inch. The nozzles protruded inward approximately 1 inch inside the inside surface of the heads.

Tests consisted of applying either a thrust load or a moment to the nozzle. Stresses were measured by means of resistance strain gages, radial displacements of the head were measured (presumably with dial gages). The radial displacements of the head are significant with respect to the flexibility of a nozzle in a head. Measurements were taken at various radial distances from the center of the nozzle, starting at a radius,  $\rho$ ,



FIGURE 2. CROSS-SECTION OF DALLY<sup>(2)</sup> MODEL NO. 6

of 5 inches. These measured radial displacements are then compared with Bijlaard's<sup>(1)</sup> theoretical radial displacements. In all tests the largest displacement occurred at the radial location closest to the nozzle. A summary of the ratios of theoretical to measured displacements at  $\rho = 5$  inches is given in Table 2.

Model No. 6 is basically different than Models 1 through 5; the results for it are discussed separately later herein. For Models 1 through 5, Table 2 shows the ratios of theoretical to experimental radial deflections,  $w_t/w_x$ , consistently larger than unity. The theory slightly over-predicts radial displacements for thrust loading, and significantly over-predicts radial displacements for moment loading. Considering the significant reinforcing provided by the fillet welds and inwardly protruding portion of the nozzles, which as shown in Table 2 gives an area reinforcement of 30 to 60 percent of the cut-out area (d<sub>i</sub>T), that the theory over-predicts radial displacements for moment loading is not unexpected. The relatively good agreement between test and theory for thrust loading is somewhat unexpected.

For moment loading, Table 2 indicates a rough parallel between reinforcing (as measured by  $A_a/d_iT$ ) and agreement with theory; i.e., as  $(A_a/d_iT)$  decreases,  $w_t/w_x$  becomes closer to 1.0; therefore, results from Models 1 through 5 indicate that Bijlaard's theory is sufficiently accurate, in an engineering sense, for calculating flexibility factors for nozzles in heads in the absence of a large amount of local reinforcing at the nozzle-head juncture.

As shown in Figure 2, test Model No. 6 is different than Models 1 through 5 in that the thickness of the head is not constant. Bijlaard's analysis, as used by Dally for comparison with experimental results, is not applicable to the test model in that:

- (a) The theory used by Dally for Model 6 assumes that the nozzle is a solid plug of 7.5-inch outside diameter.
- (b) The theory assumed a step change in thickness from 1.63 to 0.77 inches at  $\rho$  = 7.5 inches whereas the actual model had a linear taper starting at about  $\rho$  = 5.9 inches and ending at about  $\rho$  = 7.3 inches (see Figure 2).

Model No.	d D	D T	t T	$\frac{A_a}{d_i T}$ (1)	Loading	$\frac{w_t}{w_x}$ (2)
1	0.094	80	0.86	0.5	Thrust Moment	1.09 1.48
2	0.097	91	1.01	0.6	Thrust Moment	1.05 1.54
3	0.10	91	0.72	0.45	Thrust Moment	1.09 1.40
4	0.104	91	0.36	0.3	Thrust Moment	1.08 1.31
5	0.113	91	0.47	0.3	Thrust Moment	1.05 1.22
6	0.104	40 85(3)	0.47 1.00(3)	 1.7	Thrust Moment	0.61 0.71

TABLE	2.	SUMMARY OF COMPARISONS, DALLY TEST	С
		DATA WITH BIJLAARD THEORY	

(1)	A	=	reinforcing	provided	by	fillet	welds	and	inwardly	
	a		protruding n	nozzle.						

(2)  $w_t$  = theoretical (Bijlaard) radial displacement at  $\rho$  = 5 in.  $w_x$  = measured (Dally) radial displacement at  $\rho$  = 5 in.

(The outside radius of the nozzles in these tests was 3.75 in.)

(3) First line is for pad thickness (T ' = 1.63"); second line is for sphere thickness (T = .77").

- (c) The spherical radius of the pad section was 30 inches; the spherical radius of the outer section (near the pad) was 35 inches. The calculated results given by Dally are based on R = 32.5 inches.
- (d) In common with Models 1 through 5, significant local reinforcing was provided by fillet welds and in inwardly protruding nozzle stub.

Figure 3 gives test results for Model No. 6, along with displacements calculated using Kalnins' computer program. In this analysis:

- (a) The theoretical model has a nozzle with r = 3.385 inches, t = 0.766 inch.
- (b) The linear taper is included in the theoretical model.
- (c) The theoretical model uses R = 30 inches to the OD of the taper, R = 35 inches to the beginning of the knuckle; a toridal segment representing the flanged and dished-head knuckle, and a cylindrical section representing the flange on the head.
- (d) The local reinforcing is included in the theoretical model as an increased head thickness near the nozzle.

It is apparent from Figure 3 that the more complete analysis described above agrees much better with the test data than does Bijlaard's analysis. This better agreement arises primarily from inclusion of construction details not in Bijlaard's analysis and not from inaccuracies in Bijlaard's analysis for construction details for which it is directly applicable.



FIGURE 3. COMPARISON OF MEASURED AND THEORETICAL DISPLACEMENTS, DALLY MODEL NO. 6

## FLEXIBILITY OF PHASE 1 DESIGNS

Phase 1 report, "Proposed Reinforcement Design Procedures for Radial Nozzles in Spherical Shells with Internal Pressure"<sup>(3)</sup> gives reinforcing dimensions (as a function of d/D and D/T) such that the nozzles with such reinforcing meet two design criteria: (1) the plastic collapse or limit pressure is at least 1.5 times the design pressure, and (2) the maximum stress intensity is not more than 3.0S, where S = PD/4T. Phase Report No. 2, "Stresses at Nozzles in Spherical Shells Loaded with Pressure, Moment or Thrust"<sup>(7)</sup> gives the stress intensities, with internal pressure or moment loading, for Phase 1 designs in which reinforcing consists of a uniform increase in wall thickness of nozzle or sphere. Figure 4 gives the required reinforcing dimensions of Phase 1 designs. Figure 5 gives the calculated flexibility factors for Phase 1 designs. It should be noted that, for uniform wall reinforced nozzles to Phase 1 design requirements, a given value of D/T and d/D establishes a value of g = t'/t or h = T'/T. More general data on flexibility factors is given in the subsequent section, "Design Graphs for Flexibility Factors".

In Figure 5,  $K_{\alpha}$  is defined as  $\alpha/(Md/EI_n)$ . For reinforcing on the nozzle (g = t'/t), it is assumed that the nozzle is of increased thickness t' near the nozzle-sphere juncture, but the pipe thickness is t. If the entire pipe is of thickness t', the flexibility factor with respect to that pipe is (t'/t) times the value of  $K_{\alpha}$  obtained from Figure 5.





FIGURE 5. FLEXIBILITY FACTORS OF PHASE 1 DESIGN NOZZLES IN SPHERICAL SHELLS, MOMENT LOADING

d/D

### SIGNIFICANCE OF FLEXIBILITY OF NOZZLES

Forces and moments in a piping system will be decreased by the flexibility of a nozzle attached to the piping system. It is conservative to ignore the flexibility of the nozzle under static loading conditions; whether ignoring the flexibility of a nozzle (or nozzles) results in excessive conservatism depends upon the particular piping system. Ob-viously, if the lengths of the straight pipe sections are many times that of the nozzle flexibility factor times the pipe diameter ( $\ell >> Kd$ ), then the nozzle flexibility will have little effect on the forces and moments. For "tight" systems, however, where the pipe lengths and total piping system length is not large compared to Kd, ignoring the nozzle flexi-bility factor can result in gross over-estimates of forces and moments.

To illustrate how the nozzle flexibility factor influences end reactions, calculations were made for the simple piping system shown in Figure 6. The assumed lengths of straight pipe have been varied as shown in Table 3, along with the resulting forces and moments. From the standpoint of design of the nozzle, the moment at the nozzle is of particular significance. As shown by the last column in Table 3, the moment at the nozzle may be overestimated by factors of 2.5 to 6.5 if the flexibility of the nozzle is ignored; i.e.,  $K_{\alpha}$  taken as zero.



Assumptions for Calculations Shown in Table 3

- Vessel Head is tori-spherical, with a crown mean-radius of 25", wall thickness of 0.500".
- (2) Pipe is 4" std. wt. (4.5" O.D. x .237" wall)
- (3) Pipe increases in length due to temperature increase, the increase in length is (εΔΤ)L, where εΔΤ was taken as 10<sup>-4</sup> in/in ε = unit expansion of pipe material. (The ratio of (F, M)<sub>k=k</sub> is not dependent upon the value of εΔΤ.)

Flexibility Factor of Nozzle in Head

For this example: D/T = 50/.5 = 100t/T = .237/.5 = .474d/D = 4.263/50 = .085

From Figure 10, for these ratios,  $K_{\alpha} \cong 7$ .

FIGURE 6. SIMPLE PIPE SYSTEM USED TO ILLUSTRATE THE EFFECT OF INCLUSION OF THE FLEXIBILITY OF A NOZZLE ON THE CALCULATED FORCES IN THE SYSTEM

Figu	ire 6		<del></del>				(M <sub>n</sub> ) <sub>K<sub>0</sub>=0</sub>
L <sub>x</sub> , inches	L <sub>y</sub> , inches	κ <sub>α</sub>	F <sub>x</sub> , 1bs	F <sub>y</sub> , 1bs	M <sub>o</sub> , in1b	M <sub>n</sub> , in1b	$(M_n)_{K_{\alpha}=7}^{\alpha}$
20	80	7. 0	75 106	324 1065	2146 2969	2612 15779	6.05
20	60	7. 0	101 142	293 895	2270 3073	2038 12472	6.13
20	40	7. 0	166 224	267 732	2750 3525	1475 9218	6.25
20	20	7. 0	533 651	297 651	5720 6507	999 6507	6.51
40	20	7. 0	661 732	134 224	8740 9218	907 3525	3.89
60	20	7. 0	833 895	94 142	12064 12472	1035 3073	2.97
80	20	7. 0	1009 1065	75 106	15405 15779	1189 2969	2.50

ويسويد ويروني وسيوف ويسوده

TABLE 3. FORCES AND MOMENTS FOR THE PIPING SYSTEM SHOWN IN FIGURE 6

## DESIGN GRAPHS FOR FLEXIBILITY FACTORS

Based upon the reasoning and assumptions presented earlier, flexibility factors for design purposes can be obtained from Bijlaard's<sup>(1)</sup> analysis. A series of design graphs have been prepared and are presented in this section of the report.

Calculations are based on a Poisson's ratio of 0.3 and it was assumed that the materials in the nozzle and sphere have the same modulus of elasticity; otherwise the properties of the materials do not enter into the flexibility factors. Figures 7 through 11 give flexibility factors for moment loading. Figures 12 through 16 give flexibility factors for thrust loading. The graphs are applicable to nozzles in spherical shells or shells which are spherical in the region of the nozzle, e.g., a tori-spherical head with the nozzle in the center. The graphs are applicable to nozzles with local reinforcing as provided by a heavywall nozzle, and/or an integral pad on the spherical shell, provided the reinforcing lengths, measured from the nozzle-sphere juncture, less than  $\sqrt{dt'}$  along the nozzle axis;  $.7 \sqrt{DT'}$  along the sphere surface.

$$K_{\alpha} = \frac{\alpha}{Md/E!_{n}}$$



FIGURE 7. FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, MOMENT LOAD, D/T = 10



FIGURE 8. FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, MOMENT LOAD, D/T = 25



FIGURE 9. FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, MOMENT LOAD, D/T = 50



FIGURE 10. FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, MOMENT LOAD, D/T = 100

 $K_{\alpha} = \frac{\alpha}{Md/EI_{n}}$ 



FIGURE 11. FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, MOMENT LOAD, D/T = 250



 $K_w = \frac{w}{Ld/EA_n}$ 



FIGURE 12. FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, THRUST LOAD, D/T = 10



FIGURE 13. FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, THRUST LOAD, D/T = 25



FIGURE 14. FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, THRUST LOAD, D/T = 50



FIGURE 15. FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, THRUST LOAD, D/T = 100



FIGURE 16. FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, THRUST LOAD, D/T = 250

31

### REFERENCES

- Bijlaard, P. P., "Stresses in a Spherical Vessel from Radial Loads Acting on a Pipe" and "Stresses in a Spherical Vessel from External Moments Acting on a Pipe", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 49 (April, 1959).
- (2) Dally, J. W., "An Experimental Investigation of the Stresses Produced in Spherical Vessels by External Loads Transferred by a Nozzle", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 84 (January, 1963).
- (3) Cloud, R. L. and Rodabaugh, E. C., "Proposed Reinforcement Design Procedure for Radial Nozzles in Spherical Shells with Internal Pressure", Phase Report No. 1 to U.S. Atomic Energy Commission (Contract No. W-7405-eng-92) (March 31, 1966).
- (4) Penny, R. K. and Leckie, F. A., "Solutions for the Stresses at Nozzles in Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 90 (September, 1963).
- (5) Kalnins, A., "Analysis of Shells of Revolution Subjected to Symmetrical and Nonsymmetrical Loads", ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics (September, 1964).
- (6) American Standards Association, "Code for Pressure Piping, ASA B31. 1-1955", published by the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 345 E. 47th St., New York, New York 10017.
- (7) Rodabaugh, Witt, and Cloud, "Stresses at Nozzles in Spherical Shells Loaded with Pressure, Moment or Thrust", Phase Report No. 2 to U.S. Atomic Energy Commission (Contract No. W-7405-eng-92) (July. 1966).

# PHASE REPORT NO. 4

on

# PROPOSED REINFORCEMENT DESIGN PROCEDURE FOR RADIAL NOZZLES IN CYLINDRICAL SHELLS WITH INTERNAL PRESSURE

(Battelle Contract No. W-7405-eng-92)

Task 16

to

UNITED STATES ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION

December 22, 1967

Ъy

E. C. Rodabaugh Battelle Memorial Institute Columbus, Ohio

and

R. L. Cloud Westinghouse Electric Corporation Bettis Atomic Power Laboratory Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

### DISCLAIMER

The work covered by this report was sponsored under contract with the Atomic Energy Commission in cooperation with the Pressure Vessel Research Committee. Although this report is one of a series of reports summarizing the results of PVRC research on reinforced openings, it is issued at this time primarily for informational purposes, indicating current thinking concerning development of design procedures for reinforced openings. It has not yet been approved for publication by PVRC, nor has it been submitted for review and consideration by ASME Code Groups. Therefore, it should be understood that it has no status whatever insofar as the ASME Code is concerned.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>P</u> .	age
INTRODUCTION	1
NOMENCLATURE	3
LIMITATIONS	5
DESIGN PROCEDURE FOR RADIAL NOZZLES IN CYLINDRICAL	6
SHELLS UNDER INTERNAL INCOURSE	
DESIGN CRITERIA	9
DEVELOPMENT OF DESIGN PROCEDURE	11
Reinforcing on Nozzle or Shell	11 18
Length of Uniform Thickness.	20
Compact Reinforcing	21
Distribution of Reinforcing	30
Fillet Radii	30
Transition Sections	50
COMPARISON WITH OTHER DESIGN PROCEDURES	32
Current American Practice	32
Required Thicknesses	32
Required Areas	35
United Kingdom to ISO Proposal	38
German Rules, AD-Merkblatt B9	47
Nozzles in Spheres vs Nozzles in Cylinders	52
REFERENCES	55
PROPOSED REINFORCEMENT DESIGN PROCEDURE FOR RADIAL NOZZLES IN CYLINDRICAL SHELLS WITH INTERNAL PRESSURE

## INTRODUCTION

Phase Report No. 1, "Proposed Reinforcement Design Procedure for Radial Nozzles in Spherical Shells With Internal Pressure" covers one aspect of the general subject of reinforced openings in pressure vessels. This Phase Report No. 4 gives analogous information for nozzles in <u>cylindrical</u> pressure vessels. The design procedure is intended to define acceptable reinforcing details for radial nozzles in cylindrical shells based on the criteria:

- (1) The maximum calculated stress intensity in the cylindrical shell is limited to 3S, where S is the nominal stress due to pressure in the unperforated cylinder
- (2) The calculated limit pressure of the nozzle-cylinder is essentially equal to the yield pressure of the unperforated cylinder.

The "Design Procedure", in a brief form suitable for use in design work, is presented in the section following the "Nomenclature". The remainder of the report provides the background and basis of the design procedure along with comparisons with other design procedures.

It is emphasized that this design procedure covers internal pressure loading only, and that modifications may be necessary to accommodate other superimposed loadings; particularly external loadings from the attached piping system and thermally induced stresses. The elastic stress criterion chosen (maximum stress intensity  $\leq$  3S) is the limit which, under the rules of the ASME Nuclear Vessel Code<sup>(1)</sup>, applies to the sum of the primary and secondary stresses, including pressure, thermal and external loading effects. Since the limit analysis criterion controls almost throughout the dimensional range covered herein, the design procedure inherently contains at least a small margin to accommodate stresses from additional sources\*.

<sup>\*</sup>For nozzles in spherical shells, Phase Report No. 2 gives graphical data from which the stresses due to moment or thrust loading can be obtained. For nozzles in cylindrical shells, Phase Report No. 5 gives empirical data and Bijlaard's theory from which estimates of stresses due to moment or thrust loads can be obtained. Work is under way to extend the theory of radial nozzles in cylindrical shells to include moment and thrust loadings on the nozzle.





## FIGURE 1. NOMENCLATURE ILLUSTRATION

D = inside diameter of shell, inches

d = inside diameter of nozzle, inches

T = basic thickness of shell, inches

= required thickness of the shell, as an unperforated cylinder, for the design pressure

t = basic thickness of the nozzle, inches

(It is assumed that D, T, d, and t are related by the equation

D/T = d/t

T' = reinforced thickness of the shell, inches

t' = reinforced thickness of the nozzle, inches

h = T'/T

g = t'/t

S = nominal stress in shell, psi

= PD/2T

s = nominal stress in nozzle, psi

= Pd/2t

P = internal pressure, psi

 $\overline{\sigma}$  = maximum stress intensity, psi

Stress intensity = 2 × (shear stress)

 $\phi$  = location angle, see sketch above.

A = reinforcing area (in excess of basic configuration) on each side of nozzle centerline, sq in.

## LIMITATIONS

The design procedure is limited, as indicated by the title, to internal pressure loading only. Other limitations are listed below.

(1) Small nozzles as defined by:

$$\frac{d}{D} \leq \frac{1}{3} \text{ and } \frac{d}{D} \sqrt{\frac{D}{T}} \leq 1.1.$$

These limitations are on the elastic analysis used as a basis herein. The limit pressure analysis does not have any inherent (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T}$ limitation and is considered valid (as judged by comparison with test data) up to a d/D of 0.5.

- (2) Nozzles are cylindrical, mounted radially to the shell cylinder surface and isolated from other nozzles or from any other significant local stress discontinuity.
- (3) Any reinforcement must be integral with the shells, as contrasted to "welded-on" pads or saddles.
- (4) Since limit analysis is used to establish the design procedure, an implied assumption is that the material of the shells and the weld metal is ductile; e.g., is capable of withstanding several percent of local strain in a complex stress field at all temperatures at which the vessel may be loaded.

# DESIGN PROCEDURE FOR RADIAL NOZZLES IN CYLINDRICAL SHELLS UNDER INTERNAL PRESSURE

- 1. Nozzles may be reinforced by increasing the thickness of the nozzle and/or shell near the nozzle-to-shell juncture according to Par. 3, or by applying extra material around the nozzle-to-shell juncture according to Par. 4. The reinforcing requirements apply to all planes passing through the axis of the nozzle. These rules apply to isolated nozzles in which the edge of the opening is at least a distance equal to 2.5  $\sqrt{DT/2}$  from the nearest edge of any other local stress discontinuity.
- 2. Dimension T is the required\* thickness of the unperforated shell for the design pressure; t is the required\* thickness of the nozzle (as a cylindrical shell) for the design pressure. Other dimensions and symbols are defined in the following text and Figure 2. All dimensions shall be taken in the "corroded" condition. It is assumed that the materials used in the shell, nozzle, weld metal and reinforcement section (if any) are of equal strength.
- 3. (a) Uniformly thickened nozzle wall, Figure 2a

 $t' \ge gt$ ,  $\ell \ge \sqrt{dgt}$ , g obtained from Figure 3a.

(b) Uniformly thickened shell wall, Figure 2b

 $T' \ge hT$ ,  $L \ge \sqrt{DhT}$ , h obtained from Figure 3b. (c) Uniformly thickened nozzle and shell wall, Figure 2c

Determine g' and h' according to  $\frac{g'-1}{g-1} + \frac{h'-1}{h-1} = 1$ 

g and h obtained from Figures 3a and 3b, respectively.

$$\begin{array}{ll} \texttt{t'} \geq \texttt{g't}, & \& \geq \sqrt{\texttt{dg't}} \\ \texttt{T'} \geq \texttt{h'T}, & \texttt{L} \geq \sqrt{\texttt{Dh'T}} \end{array}$$

- 4. Compact reinforcements, Figures 2d, 2e, 2f

  - A = actual reinforcing cross sectional area on each side of the nozzle centerline. Only the area within the circle defined by the radius  $L_c$  may be taken as contributing to  $A_r$ .

For:  $d/D \le 0.1414 \sqrt{T/D}$ ;  $A_r = 0$ For:  $0.1414 \sqrt{T/D} \le d/D \le 0.425 \sqrt{T/D}$ ;  $A_r = [2.65(d/D) \sqrt{D/T} - .375] dT$ For:  $0.425 \sqrt{T/D} \le d/D$   $A_r = .75 dT$  $L_c = 0.75 (T/D)^{2/3} D$ 

<sup>\*</sup> Required thickness according to the appropriate design code; e.g., for the ASME Boiler Code, Section VIII: T = PD/(2S\_E - 1.2P), where P = internal pressure, D = shell inside diameter, S\_a = allowable stress, E = joint efficiency of welded joint in shell.

 $\bigcirc$ 



5



Transitions to shell walls shall be equivalent to not more than 20° (included angle) transition sections or by radii not less than  $\frac{2A}{A_r}$  to a nozzle wall;  $\frac{2A}{A_r}$  T at shell woll. Outside fillet radii shall in no case be less than the larger of  $\frac{2A}{A_r}\sqrt{dt}$  or  $\frac{2A}{A_r} \times T/2$ .

Sections are shown in plane transverse to shell axis. Requirements apply to all planes containing the nozzle axis.





## DESIGN CRITERIA

Static failure of a ductile material is a plastic process, and a rational basis for determining allowable stresses will necessarily involve plasticity considerations. The principles of plastic limit design were used to set allowable stresses in Section III of the ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Nuclear Vessels<sup>(1,2)</sup>. Conservative simplifications and generalizations were made to achieve complete stress limits for all parts of a nuclear vessel. In particular, the 1.5  $S_m$  limit on local membrane stress was set to insure against local plastic collapse. A satisfactory, consistent nozzle design procedure cannot be constructed with this limit as a basis because it is too restrictive. This can be readily seen by considering very small nozzles, which should require no reinforcement, yet produce local membrane stresses of 2.5 S in the shell. Therefore, the 1.5  $S_m$  limit of Section III is replaced in the proposed procedure by an actual limit analysis.

The design procedure presented herein results from a direct application of limit design principles to a specific geometry when subjected to internal pressure. The design philosophy is therefore the same as that of the ASME Nuclear Vessels Code.

It is the intent of the Nuclear Vessels Code to (1) provide a safety margin of 1.5 against plastic collapse when strain-hardening is neglected and (2) to insure shakedown to elastic action. In accordance with this intent, the proposed reinforcements were proportioned so that (1) the collapse pressure is at least 1.5 times the design pressure and (2) so that the most highly stressed regions of the nozzle will shakedown to elastic action. The collapse limit was established using the results of the plastic-limit analysis described in Reference 3. The shakedown criteria used was that of limiting the maximum

elastic stress intensity\* to three times the nominal stress in the unperforated shell; for materials with design stress intensity values established by the limit of two-thirds of the yield strength, this is the equivalent of limiting the maximum stress intensity,  $\overline{\sigma}$ , to twice\*\* the yield strength of the material. Elastic stresses were calculated according to Reference 4. The graphs are based on the maximum calculated stress intensity in the shell. Calculated stress intensities in the nozzle are higher; however, as discussed in Phase Report No. 5, test data indicate that with fillet radii as specified herein the calculated nozzle stresses do not occur and can be safely disregarded.

\*Stress intensity at a point is defined as twice the maximum shear stress at that point.

<sup>\*\*</sup>For vessel materials in which the ratio of ultimate strength to yield strength is less than two, the design stress intensity is one-third of the ultimate strength. For such materials the margins against plastic collapse or continued nonelastic straining are greater than indicated.

### DEVELOPMENT OF DESIGN PROCEDURE

The design of a cylindrical nozzle in a cylindrical shell may be considered as consisting of a basic configuration plus reinforcement. The basic configuration is defined as an outwardly protruding nozzle and cylindrical shell segment, as shown in Figure 1, in which the nozzle and shell have the same nominal stress for a given pressure. Specifically:

> For the nozzle: s = Pd/2tFor the shell: S = PD/2T

where P = internal pressure d = inside diameter of nozzle t = wall thickness of nozzle D = inside diameter of shell T = wall thickness of shell.

For the basic configuration, by definition, s = S = allowable design stress intensity for the material used in the nozzle and shell--assumed to be made of equal strength materials.

The design procedure consists of specifications of the dimensions of reinforcing required, if any, in order to meet the design criteria described above.

## Reinforcing on Nozzle or Shell

Within the scope of available analysis, the basic configuration may be reinforced either by increasing the wall thickness of the nozzle or by increasing the wall thickness of the shell, as shown in Figures 2a and 2b. As a first step in developing the design procedure, an extensive dimensional parametric study was made using the analysis and computer program by Eringen<sup>(4)</sup>. The range<sup>\*</sup> of d/D and D/T included is shown in Figure 3. The slant line is the limit:  $(d/D) \sqrt{D/T} = 1.1$ . The parametric study included values of s/S from 1/64 to 4.0. The stresses obtained in this parametric study indicated which basic configurations required reinforcing in order to meet the elastic stress criteria  $\overline{\sigma} = 3S$  and how much reinforcing would be required if:

- Reinforcing consisted only of an increase in wall thickness of the shell, or
- (2) Reinforcing consisted only of an increase in wall thickness of the nozzle.

Figure 4 shows the reinforcement required on the shell only, in terms of the parameters d/D, D/T, and h = T'/T. The line marked h = 1 indicates those combinations of D/T and d/D for which the maximum calculated stress intensity in the basic configuration (with an adequate fillet radius,  $r_0$ ) does not exceed 3S. The lines marked h > 1 indicate the thickness required in the shell so that  $\overline{\sigma} = 3S$ . Note that S = PD/2T, not PD/2T'; i.e., the index stress is that of the unreinforced cylindrical shell.

Figure 5 shows the reinforcement required on the nozzle only, in terms of the parameters d/D, D/T, and g = t'/t. The line marked g = 1 is the same as on Figure 4 for h = 1; higher values of g indicate the nozzle thickness required so that  $\overline{\sigma} = 3S$ .

Using the limit pressure analysis for nozzles in cylindrical shells developed by Cloud and Rodabaugh<sup>(3)</sup>, the reinforcing required to make the limit

<sup>\*</sup> The parametric study and resulting design curves cover up to D/T = 250. This is not an upper limit to the applicability of Eringen's analysis and computer program.





$$g = t'/t$$





X

pressure essentially equal to the yield pressure of the unperforated cylinder was calculated.

The method of calculation gives a conservative margin on the reinforcing thickness by a factor of 8/7, except for h or g close to unity. In addition, test data<sup>(5)</sup> indicate that the fillets required by the design procedure will provide an additional strengthening effect not considered in the theory.

The curves resulting from the limit pressure analysis shown as dashed lines in Figures 6 and 7 and are superimposed over the analogous curves based on the elastic analysis. The limit pressure criterion is more restrictive than the elastic criterion ( $\overline{\sigma}$  = 3S) except for a small area in Figure 7; e.g., d/D = 0.06, D/T = 200. The design graphs, Figure 2, are based on the more conservative of the elastic or limit pressure criteria.

In constructing the design graphs shown in Figure 2, one modification was made<sup>\*</sup>: the line for h = g = 1 was obtained by the equation

$$d = 0.1414 \sqrt{DT}$$
 (1)

This results in shifting the limit pressure lines for h = 1 or g = 1 on Figures 6 and 7 down and to the left. This was done for two reasons:

- (a) A degree of conservatism is introduced in the limit pressure analysis results near h = g = 1.0
- (b) Equation (1) agrees with the limitation given in the ASME Nuclear Vessel Code, Para. N-452(a)(1), below which reinforcing of openings is not required.

\*This modification was also made in Phase Report No. 1, nozzles in spheres.













The lines on Figure 2b for h = 1.1 and 1.2 are interpolated between h = 1.0and h = 1.3 (limit analysis) of Figure 6. The line on Figure 2a for g = 1.0(limit analysis) has been changed to g = 2.0; the lines for higher values of g are the lower of the limit analysis or elastic stress criteria shown in Figure 7.

### Reinforcing on Nozzle and Shell

The requirements given above relate to either a reinforced cylindrical shell or a reinforced nozzle. In many practical designs, it may be desirable to use a combination of reinforcing on the shell and nozzle, as shown in Figure 2c, while it is possible to construct a number of graphs similar to Figures 3a and 3b which, with interpolation, would cover these designs, in the interest of simplicity the following linear relationship was developed:

$$\frac{g'-1}{g-1} + \frac{h'-1}{h-1} = 1$$
 (2)

where g = t'/t from Figure 3a g' = partial nozzle reinforcement, 1 < g' < g. h = T'/T from Figure 3b h' = partial shell reinforcement, 1 < h' < h.

This rule is, of course, in agreement with the general analysis at either end of its range; i.e., for either g' = g, h' = 1, or h' = h, g' = 1. Table 1 shows calculated maximum stress intensities for reinforcements at the mid-range of Equation (1). The maximum stress intensities are shown in the next to last column of Table 1. The calculated values of  $\overline{\sigma}/S$  are all less than 3.0, indicating that the linear approximation is conservative insofar as the elastic

d/D	D/T	h	g	h'	g′	ন/s	$P_{L}/P_{yc}^{(2)}$
0.10	10	1.16	4.2	1.08	2.6	2.4	1.04
0.25	10	1.35	3.1	1.17	2.05	2.7	1.07
0.05	25	1.12	6.2	1.06	3.6	2.4	1.03
0.25	25	1.53	3.8	1.26	2.4	2.5	1.04
0.05	50	1.18	9.6	1.09	5.3	2.4	1.04
0.15	50	1.47	5.9	1.23	3.45	2.6	1.03
0.025	100	1.10	13.	1.05	7.0	2,5	1.02
0.10	100	1.44	9.	1.22	5.0	2.7	1.03
0.01	250	1.03	1.5	1.01	1.25	2.6	1.00
0.05	250	1.37	18.	1.18	9.5	2.7	1.04

TABLE 1. MAXIMUM STRESS INTENSITIES AND LEMIT PRESSURE RATIOS FOR NOZZLES DESIGNED BY THE LINEAR INTERPOLATION EQUATION<sup>(1)</sup>, DESIGN PROCEDURE PARAGRAPH 3(c)

(1) Linear interpolation equation:

$$\frac{g'-1}{g-1} + \frac{h'-1}{h-1} = 1$$

g and h obtained from Figures 3a and 3b, respectively. Examples are at midrange of equation.

(2)  $P_L$  = calculated limit pressure, Reference (3)

Pyc = nominal yield pressure of unperforated, unreinforced cylindrical shell

$$= 2\sigma T/D$$

 $\sigma_{oc}$  = yield strength of material (assumed to be the same for shell, nozzle, and weld material).

stress criteria is concerned. The last column of Table 1 shows calculated limit pressure ratios for the same configurations. The ratios of  $P_L/P_{yc}$  are equal to or greater than unity, indicating the linear interpolation formula is adequate or conservative from the limit pressure aspect.

## Length of Uniform Thickness Reinforcing

The length of uniformly increased wall thickness necessary so that the local stresses at the nozzle-shell juncture will be the same as if that length were infinite may be estimated in two ways:

- (1) The results of an elastic analysis (e.g., Eringen's) can be examined to determine that distance from the nozzle-shell juncture at and beyond which the calculated elastic stresses are essentially those for an unperforated cylinder.
- (2) The results of test data can be examined to determine the length as described in (1) above.

Investigation of the results of a parametric study using Eringen's analysis, as well as examination of available test data, indicate that reinforcement lengths equal to  $\sqrt{dt}$  on the nozzle;  $\sqrt{DT}$  on the shell should be sufficient. This reinforcement length for the nozzle is the same as used in Phase Report No. 1 for nozzles in spheres. For the shell reinforcing length, the value of  $\sqrt{DT}$  is larger than the 0.7  $\sqrt{DT}$  suggested in Phase Report No. 1 for the length of reinforcement on the sphere.

# Compact Reinforcing

Nozzles in pressure vessels are quite often designed with a local reinforcing such as the triangular-shape of Figure 2e. For nozzles in spheres, as discussed in Phase Reports 1 and 2, there are analytical methods for both limit pressure and elastic stresses which were used to guide the design rules for compact reinforcing of nozzles in spheres. For nozzles in cylinders, such analytical methods are not available; the approach used is guided to a large extent by the procedure developed for nozzles in spheres.

Figures 8 and 9 show the area of reinforcing required for uniform-wall reinforcing on the shell and reinforcing on the nozzle, respectively. For compact reinforcing, which may be considered as reinforcing on both the shell and nozzle, it appears appropriate to specify an area equal to about the average of that required in Figures 8 and 9. Figure 10 shows the data from both Figures 8 and 9, along with curves which represent the average thereof. The equations of these average curves are:

For:

$$(d/D) < 0.1414 \sqrt{T/D}$$
 2 A/dT = 0 (3a)

$$0.1414 \sqrt{T/D} < (d/D) < 0.425 \sqrt{T/D}$$
  $2 A/dT = 2.65(d/D) \sqrt{D/T} - .375 (3b)$ 

$$(d/D) > 0.425 \sqrt{T/D}$$
 2 A/dT = .75 (3c)

Equation 3a permits zero reinforcing for the same d/D and D/T ratios as shown in Figure 3. Equation 3b gives the transition between where no reinforcing is required and where 0.75 dT reinforcing is required, Equation 3c. Reinforcement area of 0.75 dT, within the reinforcing zone







AREA OF REINFORCING REQUIRED BY PROPOSED RULES FOR REINFORCING ON THE NOZZLE (A = area on one side of section) FIGURE 9.

 $\bigcirc$ 



FIGURE 10: COMPARISON OF COMPACT AND UNIFORM -WALL REINFORCING AREAS

discussed below, appears\* to give adequate reinforcing insofar as limiting elastic stresses to 3S is concerned.

In connection with compact reinforcing, a reinforcing zone consistent with the areas and lengths of uniform-wall reinforcing is desired. In Phase Report No. 1, a zone radius L as shown in Figure 2f was established, where

$$L_{c} = 1.5 (T/D)^{2/3} D$$

For nozzles in cylinders, in order to suitably limit the zone parallel to the nozzle wall, it is necessary to use the zone radius limit:

$$L_{c} = 0.75 (T/D)^{2/3} D$$
 (4)

This change from nozzles in spheres comes about, in part, because of the relations:

For nozzles in spheres:  $\frac{d}{t} = (1/2)\frac{D}{T}$ For nozzles in cylinders:  $\frac{d}{t} = \frac{D}{T}$ 

Table 2 gives some comparisons of  $L_c$  with reinforcing zone limits of  $\sqrt{DT}$ ,  $\sqrt{dt}$ , and 2.5T\*\* The ratios of  $L_c/\sqrt{DT}$  of from 0.51 to 0.30 may be compared with the ASME Section III rule that two-thirds of the reinforcing must be placed within a zone along the shell of 0.5  $\sqrt{RT} = 0.353 \sqrt{DT}$ . Table 2 indicates that  $L_c$  can be a large multiple of  $\sqrt{dt}$ . However, as illustrated by Table 3, if the rules of Figures 2f are used to compute the  $g_a$ -value  $\stackrel{\neq}{}$  for the design shown in Figure 2a, the  $g_a$ -values are in

\*\* Used in present ASME Code, Section VIII.

<sup>\*</sup> See Phase Report No. 5.

<sup>4</sup> The identification g is used to distinguish these values from those given in Figure 3a.

reasonable accord with those given in Figure 2f. Both  $g_a$  and g converge to 1.0 for  $d/D \leq .1414 \sqrt{D/T}$ ; for  $d/D \geq 0.425 \sqrt{D/T}$ ,  $g_a$  is greater than g.

Table 3 also shows values of  $h_a$  obtained by applying the rules of Figure 2f to the design shown in Figure 2b. Except for d/D close to 0.1414  $\sqrt{D/T}$  (for and below which both  $h_a$  and h converge to 1.0),  $h_a$  is greater than h as obtained from Figure 3b.

As indicated by Figure 11, it is possible to place the required area of reinforcing on the outside of the shell within the zone limit shown in Figure 2f for values of (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T} < 1.1$  and D/T > 10. For D/T less than 15, d/D is limited to about 0.28 if all reinforcing is placed on the outside as shown in Figure 11.

D		L5T	$(L_c - T/2)/\sqrt{dt}$ for d/D of:					
$\frac{D}{T}$		TDT	DT 2.5T	.01	.025	.05	.10	.25
10	.51	.45			7.04	3.52	1.41	1.01
25	•44	.67			6.75	3.37	1.35	
50	.39	.81		12.7	6 <b>.3</b> 8	3.19	÷-	
100	.35	1.19		11.9	5.97	2.98		
250	.30	1.69	19.7	7.85	3.93	1.97	862 <b>66</b> 9	
	كمعداد معديها الأنبيك	0/0						

TABLE 2. COMPARISONS OF ZONE OF REINFORCEMENT FOR COMPACT REINFORCING WITH  $\sqrt{\text{DT}}$ ,  $\sqrt{\text{dt}}$ , AND 2.5T

 $L_{c} = 0.75 (T/D)^{2/3} D$ 

 ת		g <sub>a</sub> for d/D of:							
Ť	.01	.025	.05	.10	.25	.35			
10	1.00	1.00	1.19	3.08	4.38	4.38			
25	1.00	1.00	3.17	6.66	6.66				
50	1.00	2.05	7.22	9.30					
100	1.00	5.90	13.7	13.7					
250	2.30	20.9	23.1	23.1	880 (883				
л		h <sub>a</sub> for d/D of:							
T	.01	.025	.05	.10	.25	.35			
10	1.00	1.00	1.02	1.21	1.84	2.18			
25	1.00	1.00	1.11	1,57	2.42				
50	1.00	1.05	1.31	1.83		, <b></b>			
100	1.00	1.22	1.63	2.27					
250	1.13	1.50	2.11	3.21		640 <u>(</u> 880			

TABLE 3. VALUES OF  $g_a$  AND  $h_a$  OBTAINED FROM THE RULES OF FIGURE 2f FOR DESIGNS OF FIGURES 2a AND 2b

g<sub>a</sub> obtained by:

 $2t(g_a - 1)[.75 (T/D)^{2/3} D-.5T] = (A/dT) dT$ h<sub>a</sub> obtained by:

 $2T(h_a - 1)[.75 (T/D)^{2/3} D-.5T] = (A/dT) dT$ A/dT from Equation (3).



$$L_{c} = .75 (T/D)^{2/3} D$$

$$A_{a} = .785L_{c}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} (t + T)L_{c} + tT/4$$

$$\frac{2A_{a}}{dT} = \frac{.88}{Y} \left(\frac{D}{T}\right)^{1/6} - \frac{.75}{(D/T)^{2/3}} \left(\frac{\sqrt{D/T}}{Y} + 1\right) + \frac{T}{2D}$$

where:

$$Y = (d/D)\sqrt{D/T}$$

For Y < 1.1 and D/T  $\geqq$  10

 $\frac{2A}{dT}$  is greater than 0.75,

except for D/T less than 15, for which d/D is limited to about 0.28.

FIGURE 11. SPACE AVAILABLE FOR COMPACT REINFORCING

# Distribution of Reinforcing

Within the scope of the analysis used as a basis herein, reinforcing, if any is required, must be placed in all planes containing the axis of the nozzle. In some current design codes\*, the reinforcing in the  $\varphi = 0$  plane (see Figure 1) must have an area of dT; the area is permitted to diminish to 0.5 dT in the  $\varphi = 90$ -degree plane. While maximum stresses usually occur in the  $\varphi = 0$  plane, it is not apparent whether reduction in reinforcing as  $\varphi$  goes from 0 to 90 degrees can be justified.

## Fillet Radii

As mentioned on page 10, the design procedure given herein is based on the maximum calculated elastic stress intensity in the <u>shell</u>; the usually higher calculated elastic stress intensity in the nozzle is ignored. The investigation of this aspect given in Phase Report No. 5 leads to the conclusion that the calculated stresses in the nozzle may be disregarded for configurations as shown in Figures 2a, 2b, and 2c herein, provided that the fillet radius is not less than  $\sqrt{dt}$ . A further limitation, in order to insure a reasonable fillet radius even for small, thin-wall nozzles, is that the fillet radius must not be less than T'/2.

## Transition Sections

Transitions between different wall thicknesses in a shell, such as at the outer edges of the reinforcements prescribed herein, can give high local

<sup>\*</sup>For example, ASME Nuclear Pressure Vessels, Figure N-452; ASME Power Boilers, Figure PG-33. ASME Unfired Pressure Vessels does not contain any provision for varying reinforcing around the opening.

stresses unless a suitable transition is used. Based on current code practice, and studies of tapered-wall transition joints in cylindrical shells, a transition slope of 1:3 is specified.

### COMPARISON WITH OTHER DESIGN PROCEDURES

## Current American Practice

Reinforcement of openings is specified in several American design (1,6,7,8,9). These codes all require that the material cut out by the opening, dT, be replaced around the opening within a specified zone. For all except the ASME Nuclear Vessel Code, the zone of reinforcement is defined as shown in Figure 12. The Nuclear Vessel Code specifies a reinforcing zone in terms of the foundation modulus of the nozzle or shell, as shown in Figure 13. In this respect, the Nuclear Vessel Code is similar to the proposed design procedure.

In the following, comparisons between the proposed procedure and current American practice are made in two ways:

- (1) On the basis of required thickness of the shell or nozzle
- (2) On the basis of required reinforcing area.

## Required Thicknesses

Required thickness comparisons are made on the assumption that (a) reinforcing consists of the uniform-wall increase of the shell thickness, or (b) reinforcing consists of a uniform-wall increase of the nozzle thickness. For reinforcing on the shell, the requirement for T' where the reinforcing zone is prescribed as L = d is that T'/T = 2.0. As can be noted in Figure 3b, T'/T = 2.0 is conservative for all combinations of D/T and d/D covered by the proposed rules.

For reinforcing on the nozzle, the requirement of t' (where, in Figures 13 and 13d,  $\ell = 0.5 \sqrt{r_m t'} + 0.5 r_2$  and  $r_2 = 1 \text{ arger of } T/2 \text{ or } t'/2$ ) is



FIGURE 12. REINFORCEMENT ZONE, CURRENT AMERICAN PRACTICE EXCEPT THE ASME NUCLEAR VESSEL CODE



Ţs

Ts

Ì

(d)



(c)

FIGURE 13. REINFORCEMENT ZONE, ASME NUCLEAR VESSEL CODE

shown in Figure 14, superimposed on the proposed rules for values of g = t'/t. This comparison represents the ASME Nuclear Vessel Code rules, Figure 13d herein. It is apparent that the Code rules are conservative with respect to the proposed rules. Another comparison of reinforcing requirements on the nozzle can be made by using l = 2.5 T, Figure 15 herein. The resulting values of t'/t are shown in Figure 15, superimposed on the proposed rules. For large values of D/T, this Code rule is also conservative with respect to the proposed rules.

# Required Areas\*

Required area comparisons for reinforcing consisting of a uniformwall increase of the shell thickness are shown in Figure 8. For shell reinforcing, even though the reinforcing thickness requirement is less than h = T'/T = 2.0, the area required is generally equal to dT, as in present codes, except close to those combinations of d/D and D/T for which no reinforcing is required. This is because the proposed rules herein require a reinforcing length of  $\sqrt{DT'}$  compared to most present rules length of d/2 or less. In the range covered by the proposed rules,  $\sqrt{DT'}$  is always greater than d/2.

Required area comparison for reinforcing consisting of a uniform increase in the nozzle thickness are shown in Figure 9. The area required by the proposed rules is less than about 0.5dT, dT being the area required by present rules.

It should again be emphasized that the proposed rules are for internal pressure loading only, whereas current rules presumably contain some margin for loads other than internal pressure.

<sup>\*</sup>In these comparisons, the area provided by transitions and fillet radii of the proposed rules are not included.



FIGURE 14. COMPARISON OF NOZZLE THICKNESS REQUIREMENTS, PROPOSED RULES WITH ASME NUCLEAR VESSEL CODE,  $\ell = 0.5 \sqrt{r_m t'} + 0.5 r_2$


FIGURE 15. COMPARISON OF NOZZLE THICKNESS REQUIREMENTS, PROPOSED RULES WITH ASME SECTION VIII,  $\ell = 2.5T$ 

#### United Kingdom to ISO Proposal

The proposal by the United Kingdom to the International Organization for Standards (ISO) for the "Design of Openings and Branch Connections for inclusion in the ISO Boiler and Pressure Vessel Codes" is extracted\* from British Standard 3915. The design rules contained therein are based on the amalysis of a radial nozzle in a spherical shell; specifically that developed by Leckie and Penny<sup>(10)</sup>. The design rules are based on the criteria that the calculated maximum stress in the spherical shell is limited to 2.25 S<sub>1</sub>, where S<sub>1</sub> = nominal stress in the unperforated sphere. The reinforcement requirement curves, derived from the nozzle-in-sphere theory, are assumed to be applicable to nozzles in cylindrical shells. Table 4 gives a summary comparison of the basis of the UK-ISO proposal with both Phase Report No. 1 and the present Phase Report No. 4. The UK-ISO proposal is limited to d/D = 0.5 for nozzles in spherical shells; d/D = 0.333 for nozzles in cylindrical shells. The UK-ISO proposal is for internal pressure loading only and states that "the effect of any other loads shall be taken into account".

The design curve from the UK-ISO proposal for flush nozzles is shown herein as Figure 16. This set of curves is predicated upon the approximation t hat the calculated stresses for a nozzle in a sphere (Leckie-Penny analysis) can be expressed as functions of two-dimensional parameters:  $(d/D)\sqrt[4]{D/T'}$  and t'/T'. As discussed in Phase Report No. 2, this approximation is reasonably accurate for the calculated stresses in the sphere but not for the stresses in the nozzle. As discussed in Phase Report No. 5, the approximation is not good for either stresses in the shell or nozzles for nozzles in cylinders\*\*. However,

<sup>\*</sup> With editorial amendments and a few minor changes.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Except where the thickness of the nozzle is negligible, in which case the theory reduces to a function of  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/T}$  alone.

TABLE 4. SUMMARY AND PHA	COMPARISON OF THE BASIS OF T SE REPORT 4 WITH UK-ISO PROP	PHASE REPORT 1 OSAL			
Nozzles in Spheres					
	Phase Report No. 1	UK-ISO			
Elastic Stress Limit	Maximum stress intensity	Maximum stress in spherical shell			
	= <b>3</b> S <sub>1</sub>	$= 2.25s_1$			
	(where S <sub>1</sub> = nominal stress sphere)	in unperforated			
Elastic Theory	Waters	Leckie-Penny			
Limit Pressure	Cloud, nozzles in spherical shells	None			
Nozzles in Cylinders					
	Phase Report No. 4	UK-ISO			
Elastic Stress Limit	Maximum stress intensity	Unknown			
	= 3S				
Elastic Theory	Eringen	Uses theory for nozzles in spherical shells			
Limit Pressure	Cloud and Rodabaugh nozzles in cylindrical shells	None			

20 <u>5</u> 4.5 5.5 4.5 S S 3.5 12.0 0 00 9.0 8.0 - 7.0+ 40 2.0 †'\_T 1 ₽!4#1;6<del>1</del> 71.24 0.5 0 101-2-1-3-1 0 14 1 30 2 40 T/T

UNITED KINGDOM TO ISO PROPOSAL GRAPH FOR REINFORCING OF FLUSH NOZZLES IN SPHERES OR CYLINDERS FIGURE 16.

40

)

the use of  $(d/D) \sqrt{D/T'}$  and t'/T' is a good approximation for the limit pressure analysis for both nozzles in spheres and nozzles in cylinders. Since the rules of both Phase Report Nos. 1 and 4 are essentially based on limit analysis, a presentation like that of Figure 14 could be used, if deemed easier to use than the rules as given.

The UK-ISO reinforcement requirements are compared with Phase Report No. 1 requirements for nozzles in spheres in Figures 17 and 18. Analogous comparisons for nozzles in (cylindrical) shells are shown in Figures 19 and 20. It will be noted that, while using the same graph from the UK-ISO proposal (i.e., Figure 16 herein), the resulting reinforcement curves are not the same for nozzles in spheres as for nozzles in cylinders. The reason for this, as shown in Table 5, is that:

For nozzles in spheres 
$$t/T = 2 d/D$$
  
For nozzles in cylinders  $t/T = d/D$ .

Figure 19, for reinforcing on the cylinder for nozzles in cylinders, indicates that the UK-ISO proposal and the rules proposed herein are quite close to each other. Figures 17, 18\*, and 20 indicate that the UK-ISO proposal rules are unconservative, with respect to Phase Report No. 1 and Phase Report No. 4 proposed rules, except near h = g = 1. It is pertinent to note that the UK-ISO proposal incorporates the same limit for "openings not requiring reinforcing" as is given in the ASME Nuclear Vessel Code, Para. N-452(a)(1); i.e.,  $d \leq 0.14 \sqrt{DT}$ . This limit is also used in Phase Report No. 1 and in the present report, with the slightly different interpretation that the basic configuration of Figure 1 need not be reinforced.

\*The somewhat irregular curves of Figure 18 are similar to the elastic criteria curves shown in Figure 5 of Phase Report No. 1.







FIGURE 18. COMPARISON OF NOZZLE THICKNESS REQUIREMENTS, NOZZLES IN SPHERES, UNITED KINGDOM TO ISO PROPOSAL WITH PHASE REPORT NO. 1



FIGURE 19. COMPARISON OF SHELL THICKNESS REQUIREMENTS, NOZZLES IN CYLINDERS, UNITED KINGDOM TO ISO PROPOSAL WITH PHASE REPORT NO. 4



FIGURE 20. COMPARISON OF NOZZLE THICKNESS REQUIREMENTS, NOZZLES IN CYLINDERS, UNITED KINGDOM TO ISO PROPOSAL WITH PHASE REPORT NO. 4

		Flush Nozzles in Spheres, t/T = 2d/D	Flush Nozzles in Cylinders, t/T = d/D
(a)	She1	1 reinforcement (t = t')	Same procedure as for
	(1)	Select values of $h = T'/T$ and $d/D$	nozzies in spheres except
	(2)	Calculate corresponding value of $T'/T' = t/T'$ by:	
		$\frac{t'}{T'} = \frac{2d/D}{h}$	$\frac{t'}{T'} = \frac{d/D}{h}$
	(3)	Enter Figure 16 with $h = T'/T$ and find corresponding value of $d/\sqrt{DT} \equiv \rho$	
	(4)	Calculate:	
		$\frac{D}{T} = \left[\frac{\rho}{d/D}\right]^2$ , for selected h and $\frac{d}{D}$	
<b>(</b> b)	Nozz	zle reinforcement (T = T')	
	(1)	Select values of $g = t'/t$ and $d/D$	
	(2)	Calculate corresponding value of $t'/T' = t'/T$ by:	
		$\frac{t'}{T'} = g \times 2 \frac{d}{D}$	$\frac{t'}{T'} = g \times \frac{d}{D}$
	(3)	Enter Figure 16 with $T'/T = 1.0$ and $t/T'$ from Step 2 and find correspond- ing value of $d/\sqrt{DT} \equiv \rho$	
	<b>(</b> 4)	Calculate:	
		$\frac{D}{T} = \left[\frac{\rho}{d/D}\right]^2, \text{ for selected g and } \frac{d}{D}.$	
			an a

Another significant comparison is that of the required length of reinforcing. The reinforcing lengths compare as follows:

4	Phase Report No. 1 Nozzles in Spheres	Phase Report No. 2 Nozzles in Cylinders	UK-ISO Proposal		
On nozzle	$\sqrt{dt'}$	$\sqrt{dt'}$	√dt′		
On shell	0.7 $\sqrt{\text{DT}'}$	$\sqrt{\text{DT}'}$	Smaller of d/2 or √DT′		

The principal discrepancy in the above is the "d/2" length permitted for reinforcing on the shell by the UK-ISO proposal. For small values of d/D, this can lead to quite small areas of reinforcing. For example, in Figure 19 at D/T = 100, d/D = 0.04, both the UK-ISO proposal and the rules given herein require h = T'/T of 1.2. However, the area of reinforcing required by the rules given herein is essentially 100 percent of the cut out area dT, whereas the UK-ISO proposal, using the reinforcement length of d/2, requires an area of only 20 percent of dT. Available theory and test data indicate that  $\sqrt{DT}$  is a more realistic dimension for reinforcing length if uniform wall shell theory is used as the basis of design; as is the case with both the UK-ISO proposal and Phase Report Nos. 1 and 4.

### German Rules, AD-Merkblatt B9

The design rules established in AD-Merkblatt<sup>(11)</sup> are based, in a general sense, upon a limit design concept. The rules are based on a fairly large number of tests in which strain gages were used to determine that pressure which produced a permanent strain of 0.2 percent. The AD-Merkblatt B9 graph is reproduced herein as Figure 21. The German rules, like the UK-ISO proposal, use the dimensional parameters  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/T}$  and t'/T'.



FIGURE 21. AD-MERKBLATT B9 GRAPH FOR REINFORCING OF FLUSH NOZZLES IN SPHERES OR CYLINDERS

Comparisons of the German rules with those given herein are shown in Figures 22 and 23 for reinforcing on the shell and nozzle, respectively. It should be noted that the graph representing the German rules (Figure 21 herein) is difficult to read accurately for the range of variables covered herein. It was assumed that the line for t'/T' = 0 intersects the coordinates  $V_a = 0$ ,  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/T'} = 0$ . With this assumption, there is no line obtainable from Figure 21 which corresponds to the h = g = 1 lines. However, as shown by Figure 22, the German rules and those given herein are quite close to each other for h = 1.1 to 1.5. This is also the case when comparing the German rules with the UK-ISO proposal.

Similar comparisons were made between the German rules and the rules given in Phase Report No. 1 for nozzles in spherical shells; these are contained in Figures 25 and 26 of Phase Report No. 1. It may be noted that, for the German rules as for the UK-ISO proposal rules, the reinforcement requirements (in terms of T'/T or t'/t) are different for nozzles in spheres than for nozzles in cylinders.

The length of reinforcing required by the German rules is the same as that in the proposed rules; i.e.,  $\sqrt{dt'}$  on the nozzle;  $\sqrt{DT'}$  on the shell. Both the German rules and the UK-ISO proposal rules permit the use of welded-on pads for reinforcing on the shell, whereas the proposed rules do not include this kind of reinforcement.

The proposed design procedure is essentially based on a limit pressure analysis. The generally good agreement between these rules and the German rules, which are based on a limiting plastic strain from test data, makes these comparisons highly significant because it further confirms the validity of the limit pressure analysis.



FIGURE 22. COMPARISON OF SHELL THICKNESS REQUIREMENTS, PROPOSED RULES WITH GERMAN RULES, AD-MERKBLATT B9



FIGURE 23. COMPARISON OF NOZZLE THICKNESS REQUIREMENTS, PROPOSED RULES WITH GERMAN RULES, AD-MERKBLATT B9

## Nozzles in Spheres vs Nozzles in Cylinders

Phase Report No. 1 (Figure 2 therein) gives graphs for h- and gfactors for nozzles in spheres. These are shown as dashed lines on Figures 24 (reinforcing on shell) and Figure 25 (reinforcing on nozzle).

In both Phase Report Nos. 1 and 4, the line for h = g = 1 has been adjusted downward from the limit pressure analysis so that it is given by the equation:  $d = 0.1414 \sqrt{DT}$ . Accordingly these lines on Figures 24 and 25. coincide with each other. For values of h or g greater than unity, the curves for nozzles in spheres are quite similar, both qualitatively and quantitatively, to the corresponding curves for nozzles in cylinders. In view of this fairly close agreement, it may be desirable to use a single set of curves applicable to both nozzles in cylinders and nozzles in spheres.



FIGURE 24. COMPARISON OF SHELL THICKNESS REQUIREMENTS, NOZZLES IN CYLINDERS (PHASE REPORT NO. 4) WITH NOZZLES-IN-SPHERES (PHASE REPORT NO. 1)



FIGURE 25. COMPARISON OF NOZZLE THICKNESS REQUIREMENTS, NOZZLES-IN-CYLINDERS (PHASE REPORT NO. 4) WITH NOZZLES-IN-SPHERES (PHASE REPORT NO. 1)

#### REFERENCES

- ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Section III, Rules for Construction of Nuclear Vessels, published by the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 345 East 47th Street, New York, N. Y.
- (2) Criteria of Section III of the ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code for Nuclear Vessels, published by the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 345 East 47th Street, New York, N. Y.
- (3) Cloud, R. L. and Rodabaugh, E. C., "Approximate Analysis of the Plastic Limit Pressures of Nozzles in Cylindrical Shells", ASME Paper No. 67-WA/PVP-4.
- (4) Eringen, A. C., et. al., "Analysis of Stress and Deformation in Two Normally Intersecting Cylindrical Shells Subject to Internal Pressure", General Technology Corporation, Technical Report No. 3-8.
- (5) Rodabaugh, E. C. and Cloud, R. L., "Comparison of Experimental and Analytical Limit Pressures of Nozzles in Cylindrical Shells", Bettis Atomic Power Laboratory Report WAPD-T-2050.
- (6) ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Section I, Power Boilers, published by the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 345 E. 47th Street, New York, N. Y.
- (7) ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel Code, Section VIII, Unfired Pressure Vessels, published by the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 345 East 47th Street, New York, N. Y.
- (8) Code for Pressure Piping, ASA B31.1, American Standards Association, 10 East 40th Street, New York, N. Y.
- (9) API Recommended Rules for Design and Construction of Large, Welded, Low Pressure Storage Tanks, API Standard 620, American Petroleum Institute, 111 West 50th Street, New York, N. Y.
- (10) Leckie, F. A. and Penny, R. K., "Stress Concentration Factors for the Stresses at Nozzle Intersections in Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 90 (September, 1963).
- (11) AD-Merkblatt, B9, Openings in Cylinders, Cones, and Spheres Under Internal Pressure, DK621.642.02.001.24, Design of Pressure Vessels (January, 1960).

# PHASE REPORT NO. 5

on

# STRESSES AT NOZZLES IN CYLINDRICAL SHELLS LOADED WITH PRESSURE, MOMENT OR THRUST

December 22, 1967

to

## UNITED STATES ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION

by

E. C. Rodabaugh AND T. J. Atterbury

Contract No. W-7045-eng-92

Task 16

BATTELLE MEMORIAL INSTITUTE Columbus Laboratories 505 King Avenue Columbus, Ohio 43212

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	
INTRODUCTION	
SUMMARY 2	
Comparison of Theories for Internal	
Pressure Loading.	
Comparison of Eringen's Theory with lest Data	
Test Models with Local Reinforcing.	
Inside Corner Radii	
Outside Fillet Radius	
Stresses at Reinforcing Edges	
Comparison of Lind's Analysis with Test Data 5	
Stresses Due to External Loads Applied to Nozzles 6	
Stresses Due to External Loads on Nozzles Designed	
in Accordance with Phase Report No. 4 6	
Stresses Due to Combined Internal Pressure and	
External Loads Applied to the Nozzle	
Appendix on Stresses from Eringen's Analysis 8	
NOMENCLATURE	12
COMDADICON OF THEODIEC FOD INTEDNAT	
DESCURPTION OF INCOMES FOR INIGHNAL	
PRESSURE LUADING	
12 12	
General Comments.	
Hole-in-Plate Analysis.	
Hole-in-Cylinder Analysis	
Reidelbach Analysis	
Lind Area Method Analysis	
Flat Plate with a Nozzle	
Nozzles in Spherical Shells	
COMPARISON OF ERINGEN'S THEORY WITH TEST DATA	
General Comments	
Steel Test Models	
Cranch Test Data, Attachment No. 2	
Pickett & Grigory Test Data, Nozzle No. 11 44	
Mehringer & Cooper, Appendage E	
Berman & Pai. Nozzles 7 and 8	
Berman & Pai. Nozzle 15.	
Wells, et al. Nozzles K and M.	
Photoelastic Test Models.	
Stresses in the Cylinder	
Strasses in the Nozzles	
Fillet Padius Requirement	
(1) = (0)	

)

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (contd)

Page	
TEST MODELS WITH LOCAL REINFORCING	
Test Data       79         Reinforcing Area       85         Comparisons of Semi-Uniform Wall Nozzles with	
Eringen's Theory	
COMPARISON OF LIND'S ANALYSIS WITH TEST DATA	
STRESSES DUE TO EXTERNAL LOADS APPLIED TO NOZZLE	
Test DataElastic Stresses	
Stress Intensification Factors.       117         In-Plane vs Out-of-Plane Moments, M. vs M.       129         Torsional Moment, M.       130         Force Loads.       130         B16.9 Tee.       131         B31.1-1955 Factors       131         B31.1 Case 53.       131	
Calculated Stresses with Calculated Stresses	
STRESSES DUE TO EXTERNAL LOADS ON NOZZLES DESIGNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH PHASE REPORT NO. 4	
Uniform-Wall Models	
STRESSES DUE TO COMBINED INTERNAL PRESSURE AND EXTERNAL LOADS APPLIED TO THE NOZZLE	
LIST OF REFERENCES	58

# APPENDIX A

STRESSES FROM ERINGEN'S ANALYSIS

#### INTRODUCTION

Phase Report No. 2, "Stresses at Nozzles in <u>Spherical</u> Shells Loaded With Pressure, Moment or Thrust", gives background data on theories used for computation of stresses, comparison of test data with those theories and a discussion of the theories and test results in relationship to current codes and practices. An Appendix gives graphs of calculated stresses for a large range of dimensions; the loadings consisting of internal pressure, moment or thrust applied to the nozzle.

The present Phase Report No. 5 is intended to give analogous data for nozzles in cylindrical shells, to the extent feasible with available theory and test data. The elastic theory used as a basis in this report is that developed by Eringen.<sup>(1)</sup> This theory is at present limited to internal pressure loading only; and dimensionally to uniform-wall, normally intersecting cylindrical shells limited to d/D < 1/3 and  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/T} < 1.1$ ? The area method developed by Lind<sup>(2)</sup> is discussed as a method of extrapolating Eringen's theory for internal pressure to larger values of d/D.

At present, an adequate theory for stresses due to moments or thrust applied to the nozzle is not available. The theory developed by Bijlaard (3,4,5)for distributed loads on the surface of a cylinder is used as a guide herein for empirical correlations of test data giving stresses due to moment or thrust loads. The results obtained by Bijlaard are modified on the basis of test results and replotted in a more readable form as a part of a design manual by Wickman, Mershon, and Hopper<sup>(6)</sup>. The theory for nozzles in spherical shells is also used as a guide for correlation of test data giving stresses due to moment or thrust load.

\* See Nomenclature section of report for definition of d, D, and T.

#### SUMMARY

## Comparison of Theories for Internal Pressure Loading

Numerical comparisons are made between Eringen's analysis for a nozzle in a cylindrical shell with:

- (a) Hole-in-plate analysis
- (b) Hole-in cylinder analysis
- (c) Reidelbach's analysis
- (d) Lind's area method analysis
- (e) Flat-plate with a nozzle.

Eringen's analysis, as reduced to special limits in some of the comparisons, is in satisfactory agreement with the other analyses listed.

Numerical comparisons are also made between Eringen's analysis for a nozzle in a cylindrical shell with the (thin-shell) analysis for a nozzle in a sphere. These comparisons show similarities in trends but significant differences in qualitative magnitudes of the stresses.

#### Comparison of Eringen's Theory With Test Data

No entirely suitable test models are available for comparison with Eringen's analysis. However, 7 steel test models and 8 photoelastic test models were selected as representing the best available test data for comparison with the theory.

The calculated  $\sigma_{\phi}$ -stresses at  $\phi = 0$ ,  $\rho = \rho_{o}$  are in satisfactory agreement with the measured stresses at the inside corner of the nozzle at  $\phi = 0$ . Ratios of  $K_{+}/K_{o}$  ranged from .88 to 1.06 with an average of 0.97.

<sup>\*</sup> See Nomenclature section of report.

Comparisons were also made with "semi-uniform" wall nozzles in which the uniform-wall length of the nozzle was at least equal to  $\sqrt{dt}$ . One photoelastic and 6 steel test models were included in this comparison;  $K_t/K_e$  ranged from .83 to 0.99 with an average of 0.91.

For the 7 steel test models and 8 photoelastic test models, stresses were calculated at  $\emptyset = 0$  and  $\emptyset = \pi/2$  and for appropriate values of  $\rho$  and x. These calculated stresses were compared with corresponding measured stresses, leading to the conclusions that:

- (a) Agreement between theory and test results are reasonably good for stresses on the shell,
- (b) Agreement between theory and test results are poor for stresses in nozzle, particularly at the nozzle-shell junction (x = 0).

The photoelastic test models used for comparison all had significant fillet radii as compared to the nozzle parameter  $\sqrt{\text{rt.}}$  Ratios of  $r_0/\sqrt{\text{rt}}$  ranged from .46 to 4.47. A detailed analysis of the nozzle stresses was made for two test models. By adjusting the calculated stresses for a "normal" nozzle thickness (similar to the comparisons made in Phase Report No. 2 for nozzles in spheres), reasonable agreement was obtained between theory and test data. This analysis indicates that maximum stresses will not necessarily always occur at the inside corner.

#### Test Models With Local Reinforcing

Test data for 10 photoelastic test models and 17 steel test models are summarized. The results from these test models are compared with results

(3)

for analogous models without reinforcing. Some trends observed from this comparison are:

- (1) In test models where d/D is small (d/D < 0.084), the addition of reinforcement on the outside surface produced only small changes in maximum stress ( $\sigma_{\phi}$  at inside corner) as compared to an unreinforced model.
- (2) For larger d/D ratios, addition of the same reinforcement, in terms of the area ratio (A/d<sub>i</sub> T), produced a greater reduction in maximum stress as compared to an unreinforced nozzle.
- (3) A relatively small amount of reinforcing placed on the inside of the shell near the opening was more effective in reducing maximum stresses than an equal reinforcing area placed on the outside surface. Also, this inwardly protruding reinforcement changed the location of the maximum measured stress from the inner corner to about the middle of the shell wall.

Comparisons were made between the area of reinforcing used in test models and the area of reinforcing required by the rules given in Phase Report No. 4. While the direct comparisons are limited, such comparisons as can be made indicate that the maximum elastic stress will be less than 3S for nozzles reinforced in accordance with Phase Report No. 4 rules.

#### Inside Corner Radii

The available test data indicate that Eringen's analysis is reasonably accurate for inside corner radii in the range of  $r_i/T$  between about 1/8 and 1/2.

(4)

#### Outside Fillet Radius

In connection with comparisons between Eringen's theory and test data, the background for the rule in Phase Report No. 4 is discussed; i.e.,  $r_0 = larger of \sqrt{dt} \text{ or } T/2.$ 

# Stresses at Reinforcing Edges

Values of the  $\sigma_{\rho o}$  stress at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$  are tabulated. In many models, this stress approaches the value of the stress of the inside corner and, in two test models, it is the highest measured stress. It is noted that fatigue tests and field failures have shown this area to be a potential location of failure. The rules given in Phase Report No. 4 are considered in relationship to possible high stresses at the edge of the reinforcing with the conclusion that Phase Report No. 4 rules are sufficient to prevent stresses greater than 3S at the reinforcing edges.

### Comparison of Lind's Analysis With Test Data

Eringen's theory is limited to d/D < 1/3 and  $(d/D)/\overline{D/T}$  less than 1.1. For larger values of d/D, Lind's analysis appears to be a useful means of estimating the  $\sigma_{\phi}$  stress at  $\phi = 0$ . Numerical comparisons are given between Lind's analysis and 44 test models. The ranges of the parameters d/D, D/T, and s/S included in the comparisons are quite extensive; in particular d/D ratios up to 1.0 are included. The ratio of K/K<sub>e</sub> ranges from 0.79 to 1.45 with an average of 0.96.

(5)

#### Stresses Due to External Loads Applied to Nozzles

Test data on external loads applied to nozzles in cylindrical shells are summarized. Test data consists of two types: (1) measured (strain gages) stresses and (2) cyclic loading of nozzles to produce fatigue failure. A correlation is established between stress indices (measured stresses) and fatigue stress intensification factors as defined in the ASA Code for Pressure Piping, B31.1. Comparisons are made between measured stress indices and those determined by (a) Bijlaard-Wichman Graphs, (b) Bijlaard Theory, and (c) Nozzle-in-Sphere analogy. For test models within the range  $(d/D) \sqrt{D/T} < 1.1$ , Bijlaard's results (and Bijlaard-Wichman graphs, since there is no difference in this dimensional range) are in reasonably good agreement with measured stresses on cylindrical shells. Measured stresses on nozzles are not available in this dimensional range.

## Stresses Due to External Loads on Nozzles Designed in Accordance with Phase Report No. 4

An attempt was made to establish stress indices for nozzle loads  $M_i$  and  $M_o$  on those nozzles covered in Phase Report No. 4 for internal pressure, i.e., with (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T} \leq 1.1$ . The available test data includes only two models with (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T}$  within the range of Phase Report No. 4, those being close to the upper limit. A few other models not far beyond the limit are also available. Using these test data, along with guidance from all other available test data and theory, the following suggested stress indices for either  $M_i$  or  $M_o$  loading were obtained.

(1) Uniform Wall Reinforcing

For Nozzle-to-cylinder juncture, use larger of:

(a) Stress indices calculated by Bijlaard's analysis, or

(b) Stress indices calculated by nozzle-in-sphere analogy. For Transition from t' to t on nozzle

Stress index = 1.5.

For transition from T' to T on cylinder

Stress index =  $I_1 \left[ \frac{0.75}{h^{1/2} (D/T)^{1/6}} \right]$ 

h = T'/T, given in Phase Report No. 4  $I_1 = 1.8/h_e^{2/3}$  $h_a = 3.3 T/R$ 

(2) For compact reinforcing

Stress index =  $I_1$ , defined above

The stress indices are not accurate but are believed to be conservative.

## Stresses Due to Combined Internal Pressure and External Loads Applied to the Nozzle

It is noted that linear superposition is apparently always conservative, but not much conservative for thick-wall shells.

Consideration of external loads on the nozzle poses a complex problem because of the independence of these loads from each other and from the internal pressure. It is noted that, in test models with (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T} < \sim 1.6$ , the stress due to external loads is relatively small at the point of maximum stress due to internal pressure, i.e., at  $\emptyset = 0$ ,  $\rho = \rho_0$ , inside surface. However, presently available test data is completely inadequate to define the stress fields due to the external loads, even for uniform-wall models with (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T} < 1.1$ . Accordingly, it appears necessary for conservative design to assume that maximum stresses due to pressure are coincident in location and direction with maximum stresses due to external loads.

## Appendix on Stresses from Eringen's Analysis

Tables of membrane, bending and surface stresses are given for the parameters:

D/T from 10 to 250

d/D from .01 to (d/D) $\sqrt{D/T} \approx 1.1$ 

s/S from 1/64 to 4.0

Tables of maximum stress intensities in the shell and in the nozzle are also included.

A brief discussion is presented concerning the location of maximum stresses with respect to  $\emptyset$  and distance from the nozzle-shell juncture.

The use of Eringen's computer program and limitations thereof are briefly discussed.



Shell or cylinder



**Dimensions** 

D = mean diameter of shell, inches d = mean diameter of nozzle, inches = inside diameter of nozzle, inches di Т = wall thickness of shell, inches t = wall thickness of nozzle, inches R = mean radius of shell, inches  $\binom{\rho_{o}}{r}$ = mean radius of nozzle, inches = 0.454 (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T}$  \* βp r<sub>i</sub> = inside corner radius, inches = fillet radius, inches ro = reinforcement area on both sides Α of nozzle, sq.in.

$$\beta = \frac{[3(1 - v^2)]^{1/4}}{2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{RT}}$$

\* For Poisson's ratio = 0.3



(9)

#### NOMENCLATURE (Continued)

## Co-ordinates

- $\emptyset$  = angle around nozzle, see Figure 1
- $\rho$  = distance from center of nozzle on shell
- $\rho'$  = distance from edge of nozzle on shell
- x = distance along nozzle axis measured from nozzle-shell juncture
- y = circumferential direction on nozzle

### Loads

P = internalpressure, psi

 $M_i$  = in-plane moment applied to nozzle, in.-1b

Mo= out-of-plane moment applied to nozzle, in.-1b

L = thrust load applied to nozzle, 1b



#### Stresses

Nominal stresses are designated by S or s; measured or calculated stresses by  $\sigma$ ; with appropriate subscripts.

For pressure loading:

S = PD/2T, psi

s = Pd/2t, psi

The ratio s/S is also used as a dimensional parameter,

	s/S = (d/t)/(D/T) (Torsion)											)			
For	ext	ernal	load	s <b>;</b>		M <sub>i</sub>				M o	Μ	1 <sub>t</sub>		]	L
			S	H	1	м / <u>z</u>				M/Z	м/2	Z		L	/A
								Z	=	$\pi r^2 t$				A =	2πrt
<sup>σ</sup> øo	=	stres	s in	she11	, Ø	- d	irec	tio	n,	outside	surfa	ce,	psi		
°øi	=	n	"	"	, Ø	-	н		,	inside	11	,	11		
σρο	=	11	11	11	, ρ	-	**		,	outside	11	,	41		
$\sigma_{ m pi}$	-	"	11	"	, ρ	-	11		,	inside	IJ	,	11		
σ xo	=	"	11	no% <b>z</b> le	, x	-	n		<b>,</b>	outside	11	,	11		
σ xi	=	ţÌ	11	**	, x	-	30		,	inside	11	,	"		
бyo	=	н	ŧ1	n	, у	-	11		ا و	outside	,,	,	11		
σyi	=	11	11	11	, у	-	"		,	inside	11	,	11		
σ <sub>n</sub> ø	=	membr	ane	stress	in	she	11, 🤇	) -	di	rection	, psi				
<sup>о</sup> ьø	=	bendi	ng	11	"	11	<b>,</b> (	5 -		11	, psi				
$\sigma_{n\rho}$	=	membr	ane	**	'n	11	<b>,</b> {	) -		11	, psi				
σ <sub>b</sub> ρ	=	bendi	ng	**	**	n	> f	) -		11	, psi				
$\sigma_{nx}$	=	membr	ane	11	н	noz	zle,	- 1		ft .	, psi				
$\sigma_{bx}$		bendi	ng	11	43		, >	- 1		11	, psi				
σ ny	-	membr	ane	11	n	н	, 3			11	, psi				
σ by	.=	bendi	ng	11	Ħ	"	<b>,</b>	-		11	, psi				
	_														

Most of the data cited herein give surface stresses using the nomenclature:

## NOMENCLATURE (contd.)

 $\sigma_n$  = stress normal to section  $\sigma_t$  = stress tangential to section

The correlations are:

$$\begin{split} \sigma_n &= \sigma_{\not 0} \text{ on shell} \\ \sigma_n &= \sigma_y \text{ on nozzle} \\ \sigma_t &= \sigma_\rho \text{ on shell} \\ \sigma_t &= \sigma_x \text{ on nozzle.} \end{split}$$

# Stress Indices

$$K_t = \sigma_0/S$$
 at  $\emptyset = 0$ ,  $\rho = \rho_0$ , Eringen's theory  
 $K = stress$  index from Lind's Analysis  
 $K_e = experimentally$  determined stress index

## Material Properties

- E = modulus of elasticity, psi
- v = Poisson's ratio, taken to be 0.3 for all calculations herein.

#### COMPARISON OF THEORIES FOR INTERNAL PRESSURE LOADING

#### General Comments

The analysis of shells of revolution, which include nozzles in spherical shells as a special case, is well advanced and provides a good basis for design of nozzles in spheres. The problem of nozzles in cylindrical shells, however, presents formidable analytical difficulties. Until a few years ago, analytical estimates of stresses in small nozzles  $(d/D \ll 1)$  in cylindrical shells were often obtained by reducing the problem to that of an opening or nozzle in a flat plate with edge loads. Papers by Beskin<sup>(7)</sup> and Waters<sup>(8)</sup> are examples of this kind of approximation. A further step towards the analysis of nozzles in cylindrical shells consisted of the solution of a cylindrical shell with a circular Papers by Lourye<sup>(9)</sup>, Withum<sup>(10)</sup>, Eringen, et al<sup>(11)</sup>, opening. Lekkerkerker<sup>(12)</sup>, Savin<sup>(13)</sup>, and Van Dyke<sup>(14)</sup> give solutions to this problem. The next step consisted of solution of two normally intersecting cylindrical shells. Solutions to this problem are given by Reidelbach<sup>(15)</sup> and Eringen, et  $a1^{(16)}$ .

The analysis and computer program developed by Eringen<sup>(16)</sup> is used in this report as the basis for calculated elastic stresses with internal pressure loading. One purpose of the following discussion is to indicate how Eringen's analysis, as reduced to special limits, agrees with related analyses.

(13)

The analysis methods listed above are mostly limited to small values of d/D. An accurate analysis for large nozzles in cylinders is not available. The approximate analysis by Lind<sup>(2)</sup>, applicable to nozzles with d/D up to unity, is also compared with Eringen's analysis in the following discussion.

## Hole-in-Plate Analysis

The problem of an opening in a cylinder with internal pressure loading approaches a plane-stress problem as the d/D ratio becomes very small. The stresses around a circular hole, normal to a flat plate surface, subjected to tension stresses equal to S in one direction, S/2 in a direction 90 degrees thereto, are well known. In particular, at points corresponding to  $\emptyset = 0$ ,  $\rho = \rho_0$  and  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ ,  $\rho = \rho_0$  (See Figure 1), the stresses tangential to the hole are 2.5S and 0.5S, respectively. For small d/D-ratios combined with small t/T ratios, Eringen's<sup>(16)</sup> analysis for a nozzle in a cylinder would be expected to give these stresses. As can be seen in Table A-1 of the Appendix, the analysis does converge to these membrane stresses in the cylinder for small d/D and t/T. Further, as shown in Table A-3, the bending stresses at these limits are small. Accordingly, agreement between the "hole-in-plate" analysis and Eringen's stresses on the cylinder are good.

The membrane stress in the nozzle,  $\sigma_{ny}$ , should also approach the values of 2.5S at  $\emptyset = 0$ , 0.5S at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$  for small d/D and t/T. As shown in Table A-2, the limit values are approximately met, however,  $\sigma_{ny}$  appears to be larger than expected for a small opening. The reason for this discrepancy is not known.

(14)
#### Hole-in-Cylinder Analysis

The analyses of a circular hole in a cylindrical shell by Lourye<sup>(9)</sup>, Withum<sup>(10)</sup>, Eringen<sup>(11)</sup>, Lekkerkerker<sup>(12)</sup>, and Van Dyke<sup>(14)</sup> all lead to results expressible in terms of the parameter (d/D) $\sqrt{D/T}$ . Figure 2 shows the membrane stress  $\sigma_{n\phi}$  at  $\rho = \rho_{o}$ ,  $\phi = 0$  plotted against (d/D) $\sqrt{D/T}$ . The relationship shown in Figure 2 is obtainable from References (9), (11), and (14)<sup>\*</sup> although the theoretical approaches are not identical.

It would be anticipated that the membrane stress in the cylinder  $(\sigma_{n0} \text{ at } \rho = \rho_0, \phi = 0)$  obtained from Eringen's analysis of a nozzle in a cylinder would approach the values shown in Figure 2 for very thin-wall nozzles; i.e., where s/S is large. As can be seen in Table A-1 of the Appendix, for s/S = 4 the values of  $\sigma_{n0}$  at  $\phi = 0$  are essentially identical to the values given in Figure 2. For example, for D/T = 100, d/D = 0.10, s/S = 4.0 Table A-1 gives  $\sigma_{n0} = 3.73$  S. The corresponding value from Figure 2 for  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/T} = 1.0$  is 3.7S.

## (15)

<sup>\*</sup> Except Lourye<sup>(9)</sup> wherein, according to Lekkerkerker<sup>(12)</sup>, the curvature influence was overestimated by a factor of 2. Making this correction to Lourye's analysis brings it into agreement with the data of Figure <u>2</u>, to the degree of approximation included in Lourye's analysis.





(16)

## Reidelbach Analysis

Reidelbach<sup>(15)</sup> gives an example \* of the application of his analysis. The example is for the parameters:

$$\frac{D}{T} = 19.38$$
,  $\frac{d}{D} = 0.2$ ,  $\frac{s}{S} = 0.563$ 

These parameters were used in Eringen's computer program to obtain directly comparable results. Comparisons are shown in Table 1. General qualitative agreement exists for this particular example and, for the larger stresses, fairly good quantitative agreement exists.

The largest discrepancy between the two analyses is in the values of  $\sigma_{ny} / S$  and  $\sigma_{n0} / S$  at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ . Reidelbach's values of  $\sigma_{ny}$  and  $\sigma_{n0} / \emptyset$  are about the same whereas Eringen's values of  $\sigma_{ny}$  is about 3 times his value of  $\sigma_{n0}$ . In this aspect, Reidelbach's analyses appears to be more self-consistent.

(17)

<sup>\*</sup> For Reidelbach's "3-terms assumption", a system of 22 simultaneous equations must be set up and solved. A computer program would be required to economically make additional comparisons between Eringen's and Reidelbach's analyses.

	' '0'					
	Ø =	: 0	Ø =	• π/4	Ø	= π/2
Stress	Reid.	Erin.	Reid.	Erin.	Reid.	Erin.
$\sigma_{nx}/S$	.166	.307	.288	.290	.381	.238
$\sigma_{\rm bx}^{}/{\rm S}$	-2.78	-2.69	-2.66	-2.29	-2.34	-2.72
σ <sub>ny</sub> /S	2.75	2.63	1.64	1.58	.600	1.10
σ <sub>by</sub> /s	326	301	761	634	-1.24	-1.43
σ <sub>nρ</sub> /s	.212	.201	.160	.144	.115	.150
σ <sub>bρ</sub> /s	.354	.343	.322	.291	.298	.343
σ <sub>n</sub> ø∕s	2.56	2.82	1.56	1.69	.712	.367
σ <sub>bø</sub> ∕s	132	242	.255	.285	.920	.876
σ <sub>xo</sub> /S	2.95	3.00	2.95	2.58	2.72	2.96
$\sigma_{xi}/S$	-2.61	-2.38	-2.37	-2.00	-1.96	-2.48
σ <sub>yo</sub> /S	3.08	2.93	2.40	2.21	1.84	2.53
σ <sub>yi</sub> /S	2.42	2.33	.88	.95	64	33
σ <sub>ρο</sub> /s	.566	.544	.482	.435	.413	.493
σ <sub>ρi</sub> /S	142	142	162	147	183	193
σ <sub>øo</sub> ∕s	2.43	2.58	1.82	1.98	1.63	1.24
σ <sub>Øi</sub> ∕S	2.69	3.06	1.30	1.40	208	.509
¯ <sub>n</sub> ∕s∗	5.03	4.71	3.25	2.95	1.96	2.48
ਰ <sub>c</sub> ∕s∗	2.83	3.20	1.82	1.98	1.63	1.24

TABLE 1. COMPARISON OF REIDELBACH<sup>(15)</sup> AND ERINGEN<sup>(16)</sup> RESULTS FOR EXAMPLE CASE WITH D/T = 19.38, d/D = 0.2, s/S = 0.563,  $\rho = \rho_0$ , x = 0.

\*  $\overline{\sigma}$  = maximum stress intensity in nozzle.

 $\overline{c}$  = maximum stress intensity in cylinder.

## Lind Area Method Analysis

The concept of the "area method" for design of tees and complex branch connections has been used for many years <sup>(17)</sup>. Recently, however, Professor N. C. Lind<sup>(2)</sup> has placed this approach on a quantitative basis. The approach assumes that the "effective" length along the nozzle axis is equal to  $0.4\sqrt{\text{rt}}$  and that the effective length along the cylinder axis is equal to the smaller of  $0.4\sqrt{\text{RT}}$  or 2r/3. These lengths are measured from the nozzle-cylinder junction in the  $\emptyset = 0$  plane. Two equations are developed for computing the stress concentration factor:

$$K = larger of K_a or K_b$$

$$K_{a} = \frac{[1 + 1.77 (d/D)\sqrt{D/T} + (d/D)^{2}/(s/S)] [1 + (T/D)/(s/S)]}{1 + (d/D)^{2}/(s/S)\sqrt{s/S}}$$
(1)

 $K_a$  is based on effective length along cylinder of 0.4  $\sqrt{RT}$ 

$$K_{\rm b} = \frac{\left[1.67\sqrt{s/S}\sqrt{D/T} + 0.565\,(d/D)\right] \left[1 + (T/D)/(s/S)\right]}{0.67\sqrt{s/S}\sqrt{D/T} + 0.565\,(d/D)/(s/S)}$$
(2)

 $K_b$  is based on effective length along cylinder of 2r/3. As  $(d/D) \rightarrow 0$ ;  $K_a \rightarrow 1.0 [1 + (T/D)/(s/S)]$  while  $K_b \rightarrow 2.5 [1 + T/D/(s/S)]$ . The factor [1 + (T/D)/(s/S)], called a "bending factor" by Lind, generally ranges from 1.0 to 1.10; accordingly  $K_b$  converges roughly to 2.5 for small d/D.

Figures 3 through 7 give comparisons of Lind's K with Eringen's  $\sigma_{n} \phi$  at  $\rho = \rho_{o}$ ,  $\phi = 0$ . Comparisons are made for s/S = .25, .5, 1.0, 2.0, and  $\infty$ ; and for D/T = 10 and 100. In general, the qualitative trends

and magnitudes are quite similar. However, there are areas where significant quantitative differences exist. For example, for s/S = 1.0 (Figure 5),  $\frac{D}{T} = 100, d/D = .085$ ; Lind's K = 2.5 whereas  $\sigma_{n} v/S = 3.4$ .

Lind's analysis is applicable to large values of d/D, as contrasted to Eringen's limit of  $(d/D) \sqrt{D/T} = 1.1$ . Lind has made comparisons\* of his analysis with test data for large d/D models and has found good agreement but cautions against routine application of the analysis for branch connections with parameters beyond the range of test results. Nevertheless, in the absense of a theoretical analysis for large d/D-ratios, Lind's analysis appears as perhaps the best guide to estimating stresses in such branch connections.

\* See page 100.









(21)



----- Lind





(22)









(24)



FIGURE 7. COMPARISON OF ERINGEN AND LIND ANALYSES FOR  $s/S = \infty$ 

## Flat Plate with a Nozzle

Eringen's analysis is limited to internal pressure loading of two normally intersecting uniform wall cylinders. The limits on d/D and (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T}$  are such that most nozzles in pressure vessels are included. However, many such nozzles (and perhaps optimum-design nozzles) involve tapered-wall reinforcing and/or significant fillet radii for which the theory for uniform wall cylinders is not applicable. Test data given later herein indicate that such local reinforcing can be quite effective in reducing stresses. Further, most pressure vessel nozzles are subjected to some bending moments and/or axial thrust for which theory is not available. For very small nozzles (d/D < 0.10), some guidance in these areas  $Waters^{(2)}$ may be obtained by using the theory for axisymmetric structures. gives a development involving this approach; since then axisymmetric computer programs have become available which permit investigation of the approach for tapered-wall reinforcing and with either "pressure" or a bending load applied to the nozzle.

To investigate this approach for "pressure" loading, Battelle's MOLSA<sup>\*</sup> computer program was used to calculate stresses in a circular flat plate with a nozzle; comparable to an actual nozzle in a cylin-drical shell with D/T = 250, d/D = .01, s/S = 1.0. The edge loadings applied to the circular plate were:

$$N_{\phi} = \left(\frac{3}{4} - \frac{1}{4}\cos 2\phi\right) PR$$
 (3)

X

(26)

<sup>\*</sup> MOLSA is a multi-layer orthotropic shell analysis computer program for axisymmetric structures with arbitrary loadings.

where  $N_{\phi}$  = stress resultant in the plane of the flat plate

 $\phi$  = location angle as shown in Figure 1

- P = internal pressure
- R = radius of cylinder.

Equation (3) gives the in-plane loading imposed by the internal pressure on an actual nozzle in the cylinder. In addition, an axial force was applied to the end of the nozzle, representing the end thrust of the pressure in the nozzle. Table 2 gives a comparison of the results from the MOLSA computer program with those obtained from Eringen's computer program for nozzles in cylindrical shells. In general, the agreement is satisfactory for the results in both the cylinder and the nozzle.

This approach requires the selection of an outside diameter of the circular plate. For the example shown this diameter was selected as 4 times the diameter of nozzle, based on the attenuation of stresses given by Eringen's results for the model. However, some preliminary calculations indicate the results are not overly sensitive to the selection of the plate diameter.

For bending moments applied to the nozzle, the flat plate analogy will not distinguish between in-plane and out-of-plane moments. According to available test data given later herein, this is not correct for d/D of around 0.2 or larger. No test data is available for very small nozzles, however, the trend of the test data indicates that for d/D < 0.1, the difference between in-plane and out-of-plane bending may be small. TABLE 2. COMPARISON OF MOLSA AXISYMMETRIC STRUCTURE AND ERINGEN RESULTS FOR EXAMPLE CASE WITH D/T = 250, d/D = .01, s/S = 1.0

•

		Stress Resu	lltants, p=p,	0			Stress In	ndex*, p	=p_0
	Ø	0 =	II Ø	π/2		10	0 =	10	π/2
	Erin.	MOLSA	Erin.	MOLSA		Erin.	MOLSA	Erin.	MOLSA
N N	254.	269.	49 <b>.</b> 8	43.6	₫ <sup>u</sup> Ø	2.54	2.69	•50	.44
zd	.116	.127	<b>-</b> .0274	0270	d np	00.	00.	• 00	00.
0 M	.775	1.26	1.62	1.27	$\sigma_{\mathbf{p}} \boldsymbol{\theta}$	•06	60.	.12	.10
Md	.00403	00440	00073	00088	α <sup>bp</sup>	00.	.00	00.	00.
'n	2 <b>.</b> 68	2.83	. 653	.590	o <sup>n</sup> y	2.68	2.83	.65	.59
ц×	.483	.489	.517	.511	م nx	.48	.49	.52	.51
а <sub>У</sub>	.00118	.00131	00019	00025	$\sigma_{by}$	.88	.98	14	19
a <sup>x</sup>	.00403	.00440	00073	00088	σ <sub>bx</sub>	3.02	3.30	55	66

\* Stress index =  $\sigma/S$ .

#### Nozzles in Spherical Shells

Current practice in reinforcing of openings in pressure vessels requires that the cut out area be replaced in a prescribed zone around the opening, regardless of whether the shell is spherical or cylindrical. One set of proposed design rules\* is based on an analysis of nozzles in spherical shells only. It is of interest, therefore, to compare calculated stresses at nozzles in cylindrical shells with the calculated stresses in corresponding nozzles in spherical shells.

The membrane stress tangential to the opening is perhaps the most significant stress. For nozzles in cylinders\*\*, this stress  $(\sigma_{n}\phi)$  is a maximum at  $\rho = \rho_{o}$ ,  $\phi = 0$ . For nozzles in spheres\*\*, the corresponding stress is a maximum at  $\rho = \rho_{o}$ , but is independent of  $\phi$ . Figure 8 (a) gives a comparison of the stress for t/T = 0, i.e., a hole in the shell. For both cylinders and spheres, the stress is a function of  $(d/D) \sqrt{D/T}$ . For the range of dimensions covered, Figure 8(a) indicates that the value of  $\sigma_{n}\phi/S$  for nozzles in cylinders is about 0.5 higher than for the corresponding nozzles in spheres.

Figures 8 (b) and 8 (c) give comparisons for t/T = 0.5 and t/T = 1.0. For nozzles in spheres,  $\sigma_{n\emptyset}$ , is essentially a function of  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/T}$  and t/T only. However, for nozzles in cylinders, as indicated on Figures 8 (b) and 8 (c), as t/T increases the value of  $\sigma_{n\emptyset}$  depends upon d/D. In a rough qualitative sense, however, Figure 8 indicates that the  $\sigma_{n\emptyset}$  stress for nozzles in spheres is about the same as for

(29)

<sup>\*</sup> Proposal by United Kingdom to the International Organization for Standards.
\*\* Here and subsequently in this report, the terminology "nozzles in cylinders" is used to define a structure consisting of a cylindrical nozzle in and with its axis normal to the surface of a cylindrical shell. Stresses described for the structure may occur either in the nozzle or in the cylinder shell as indicated by the subscripts for the stress under consideration. Analogous terminology is used for the structure consisting of a cylindrical nozzle in a spherical shell.



FIGURE 8. COMPARISON OF NOZZLE IN CYLINDERS WITH NOZZLE IN SPHERES,  $\sigma_{n \not o}$  STRESSES

(30)

nozzles in cylinders. This comparison is valid only within the range of Eringen's analysis; i.e.,  $(d/D) \sqrt{D/T} < 1.1$ , d/D < 1/3.

According to Eringen's analysis, the maximum stress for nozzles in cylinders almost always occurs in the nozzle, not in the cylinder<sup>\*</sup>. For nozzles in spheres, the maximum stress occurs in the nozzle if t/T is less than about 0.5. These high stresses arise, in large part, from local bending stresses. Table 3 gives a comparison of the bending stresses for nozzles in cylinders and nozzles in spheres. For nozzles in spheres, the  $\sigma_{by}$  stress is simply Poisson's ratio times the  $\sigma_{bx}$  stress. While there are similarities in the trends, it is apparent from Table 3 that there can be large differences in the nozzle bending stresses of nozzles in spheres as compared to nozzles in cylinders.

\* Comparisons are shown in Table A-7 of the Appendix.

(31)

TABLE 3.	COMPARISONS OF	NOZZLES IN	CYLINDER	WITH NOZZLE
	IN SPHERE, BEN	NDING STRESS	ES' IN THE	NOZZLE

(	1	of	4)

	or hwater of contrast in the	<u> </u>		Nozzles	in Cylind	er	Nozzles in		
T.			Ø	= 0	Ø =	π/2	Sp	here	
D T	d D	<u>s</u> S	σ <sub>bx</sub>	σ <sub>by</sub>	σ <sub>bx</sub>	σ <sub>by</sub>	σ <sub>bx</sub>	σ <sub>by</sub>	
10	.025	.25	.47	-1.24	3.87	2.52	2.55	.77	
ł		.5	1,33	38	2.51	1.53	2.64	.79	
	Ŷ	1.0	1.53	.06	.84	.65	2.05	.61	
	.05	.25	.53	-1.06	3.46	2.23	1.93	.58	
	.5 1. 2. 4.	.5	1.33	37	2.49	1.51	2,46	.74	
		1.	1.57	.07	.87	.66	2.07	.62	
		2.	.74	.02	-1.36	20	.64	.19	
¥	4.	-1.94	68	-4.86	-1.35	-2.42	73		
.10	.25	.50	89	2.67	1.76	.91	.27		
		.5	1.37	36	2.50	1.51	2.05	.61	
		1.	2.04	20	1.03	.73	2.24	.67	
	Į.	2.	.98	08	-1.23	16	.98	.30	
	¥	4.	-1.67	61	-4.79	-1.33	-2.07	62	
	.25	.25	.14	97	1.04	1.30	.13	.04	
		.5	1.12	55	2.51	1.67	.87	.26	
		1.	2.42	.18	2.19	1.27	2.30	.69	
		2.	2.16	<b>.3</b> 6	11	.30	2.44	.73	
	Ŷ	4.	37	26	-3.94	-1.02	24	07	
	.35	.25	.18	-1.02	.60	1.49	.06	.02	
		.5	1.02	66	2.35	1.93	.53	.16	
		1.	2.89	.26	3.36	1.88	1,90	.57	
		1.5	3.51	.62	2.58	1.41			
Ý	¥	2.	3.46	.70	1.44	.93	2.91	.87	

\* All stresses are divided by S. S = PD/2T for nozzles in cylinders, S = PD/4T for nozzles in spheres.

TABLE 3. (Continued)

				(2 of 4)				
				Nozzles ir	ı Cylinder		Nozz	les in
D	d	S	Ø	= 0	Ø = 1	п/2	Sp	nere
T	D	S	σ bx	σ by	σ bx	σ by	σ bx	бу
25	.025	.25	1.98	.03	2.53	1.38	2.78	.84
		.5	2.54	.44	1.38	.73	2.77	.83
	¥	1.	2.39	.55	.03	.17	2.12	.64
	.05	.25	1.93	04	2.50	1.36	2.22	.67
		•2	2.62	.46	1.48	.77	2.80	.84
		1.	2.54	.59	.12	.20	2.34	.70
		2.	1.35	.32	-1.79	46	.84	.25
	¥	4.	-1.57	51	-5.07	-1.48	-2.26	68
	.10	.25	1.65	15	2.30	1.33	1.13	.34
		.5	2.91	.51	1.90	.96	2.66	.80
		1.	3.07	.73	.55	.36	3.03	.91
		2.	1.94	.49	-1.47	34	1.72	.52
	Ý	4.	-1.00	35	-4.87	-1.41	-1.44	43
	.25	.25	1.08	44	1.21	1.55	.23	.07
		.5	3.35	.53	3.00	1.60	1.33	.40
		1.	5.82	1.48	3.28	1.38	3.61	1.08
		2.	5.75	1.59	.66	.41	4.51	1.35
¥	¥	4.	2.47	.64	-3.17	88	1.94	.58
50	.01	.25	2.89	.55	1.75	.84	3.12	.94
		.5	3.12	.77	.79	.40	2.84	.85
	Ý	1.	2.69	.73	31	01	2.10	.63
	.025	.25	2.65	.54	1.80	.86	2.98	.89
		.5	3.18	.79	.85	.42	2.92	.88
		1.	2.78	.75	26	.00	2.73	.67
		2.	1.40	.38	-1.98	56	.69	.21
¥	ł	4.	-1.61	52	-5.12	-1.54	-2.41	72

TABLE 3. (Continued)

<u> </u>			(3	8 of 4)			a da tanan dan dari d	
				Nozzles in	n Cylinder			
			ø	= 0	Ø =	π/2	Nozz1 Sph	es in ere
$\frac{D}{T}$	$\frac{d}{D}$	s S	σ bx	<sup>о</sup> by	σ bx	σъу	σ bx	σ by
50	.05	.25	2.93	.54	1.99	.93	2.54	.76
		.5	3.45	.86	1.11	.51	3.75	.97
Ť		1.	3.10	.84	08	.06	2.74	.82
	station and the	2.	.73	.47	-1.86	52	1.18	.35
	Ŷ	4.	-1.30	41	-5.12	-1.51	-1.98	59
and a subscription	.10	.25	1.74	.42	2.18	1.09	1.44	.43
		.5	4.21	1.05	1.96	.82	3.47	1.04
		1.	4.13	1.13	.74	.35	4.13	1.24
	atten ja	2.	2.75	.77	-1.24	31	2.76	.83
	1	4.	33	12	-4.65	-1.36	53	16
	.15	.25	2.46	.29	2.11	1.23	.84	.25
		.5	5.08	1.28	3.12	1.25	2.98	.89
1	Ÿ	1.	6.13	1.71	1.85	.72	5.05	1.52
100	.01	.25	3.49	.89	1.20	.52	3.20	.96
		.5	3.47	.96	.48	.22	2.88	.86
	Ą	1.	2.87	.82	.47	.10	2.13	.64
	.025	.250	3.61	.91	1.36	.58	3.28	.98
		.5	3.65	1.01	.61	.27	3.18	.95
		1.	3.07	.88	38	07	2.44	.73
1.00		2.	1.60	.46	-2.04	59	.86	.26
	Y	4.	-1.47	44	-5.13	-1.56	-2.26	68
	.05	.25	4.00	1.02	1.83	.74	3.10	.93
		.5	4.29	1.19	1.12	.43	4.03	1.21
		1.	3.68	1.06	.02	.05	3.47	1.04
		2.	2.20	.63	-1.76	50	1.80	.54
¥	¥	4.	91	28	-4.01	-1.49	-1.45	43

9

TABLE 3. (Continued)

14	of	4)	
( -		- <b>T</b>	

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Nozzles in	n Cylinder		à÷	
			ø	= 0	Ø = T	/2	Nozz1 Sph	es in ere
$\frac{D}{T}$	$\frac{d}{D}$	s S	σ <sub>bx</sub>	σ <sub>by</sub>	σ <sub>bx</sub>	σ by	σ bx	о by
100	.10	.25	4.31	1.05	2.73	1.11	1.94	.58
		.5	6.55	1.84	2.57	.93	4.72	1.42
		1.	6.38	1.85	1.15	.43	5.85	1.76
		2.	4.40	1.28	69	18	4.42	1.33
Y	V	4.	1.10	.26	-3.96	-1.22	.93	.28
250	.01	.25	3.97	1.13	.86	.32	3.36	1.01
		.5	3.73	1.09	.30	.12	3.00	.90
		1.	3.02	.89	55	15	2.22	.67
		2.	1.49	•44	-2.18	62	.66	.20
	Ŷ	4.	-1.60	44	-5.24	-1.60	-2.44	73
	.025	.25	4.50	1.28	1.27	.46	4.06	1.22
	-	.5	4.26	1.24	.66	.24	3.91	1.1
-		1.	3.50	1.04	29	07	3.04	.91
		2.	1.96	.51	-1.98	57	1.36	.41
-	Ý	4.	-1.14	35	-5.13	-1.53	-1.84	55
	.05	.0625	1.27	.03	.92	.69		
		.125	3.61	.90	2.31	.90	·	
		.25	5.71	1.62	2.54	.86	4.43	1.33
		.5	5.94	1.73	1.76	.56	5.94	1.78
		1.	4.95	1.46	.58	.20	5.29	1.59
		2.	3.17	.94	-1.24	36	3.36	1.01
	V	4.	03	02	-4.60	-1.38	12	03
	.07	.25	7.52	2.16	3.22	1.08	3.75	1.12
·		.5	9.57	2.82	1.55	.52	7.13	2.14
		1.	8.19	2.43	.23	.10	7.61	2.28
Ý	¥	2.	5.31	1.58	-1.03	29	5.68	1.70

## COMPARISON OF ERINGEN'S THEORY WITH TEST DATA

#### General Comments

The number of test models suitable for comparison with  $E_{ringen}$ 's theory is quite limited. For valid comparisons, the value of  $B\rho_{0}$  of the test model should be less than one-half and the test model should consist of a uniform wall cylindrical nozzle with axis normal to the surface of a uniform wall cylindrical shell. There should be no inward proturberance of the nozzle and the fillet weld or other local reinforcement should be very small. The values of D/T and d/t should be larger than 10. Finally, in order to eliminate stresses due to out-of-roundness and to have uniform wall thicknesses, ideally the model should be machined to close tolerances all over.

There are no test models known to the writers which meet all these requirements, however, 7 steel test models and 8 photoelastic test models have been selected as representing the best available test data for comparison with the theory. The dimensional parameters of these models are listed in Table 4 along with the maximum measured stress and maximum theoretical stress. Comparisons are discussed in detail in the following.

Stresses were calculated at the nozzle-cylinder juncture and away from the juncture on the cylinder at  $\rho' = 0.3$ , 0.6, 1.0, and 2.0 times  $\sqrt{RT}$ ; away from the juncture on the nozzle at x = .3, .6, 1.0, and 2.0 times  $\sqrt{rt}$ . Stresses were calculated at  $\emptyset = 0$ ,  $\pi/8$ ,  $\pi/4$ ,  $3\pi/8$ , and  $\pi/2$ , however, the test data gives stresses only at  $\emptyset = 0$  and  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ or at  $\emptyset = 0$  only. Comparisons of test data with theory are given as functions of  $\rho'/\sqrt{RT}$  or  $x/\sqrt{rt}$  and  $\emptyset$  ( $\rho' \equiv \rho - \rho_0$ ).

(36)

TABLE 4. SUMMARY OF TEST MODELS USED IN COMPARISONS WITH ERINGEN'S THEORY

\* Stresses were not measured at the nozzle-shell juncture nor at the inside corner, however, stresses \* ,96 .93 \*--1.06 .90 1.04 L.00 .97 .89 .90 .88 .88 ×+ Theory Inside Corner r K 2.45 2.87 2.98 3.42 2.45 2.72 3.15 2.94 2.94 2.94 2.94 2.72 2.47 ł ł Stress 2.57\*\* 2.64 Test \* • 2.70 \* 2.80 3.0 ме 2.45 2.90 3.28 3.36 3.32 ຕຸຕຸ ຕຸຕຸ вр**о** 0815 544 .282 408 213 326 521 .107 .114 .252 473 473 473 473 213 048 ,094 45 13 .14 30 .13 20 50 50 50 091 41 비머 7.53 7.53 7.53 7.53 13.1 9.90 9.80 9.26 22.6 13.5 27.8 13.5 12.6 13.0 11.7 4 P 30 .29 .34 .62 .13 .05 .99 1.04 .97 .58 .58 .58 .58 2.01 ဖျပ .043 .058 .203 294 16 .13 .12 05 13 29 29 29 29 .18 PIP 9.35 6.50 11.9 13.0 29.5 13.1 13.1 13.1 13.1 19. AIH 93. 78. (20, 21) (20, 21)(22) (18) (10) (23) (24) Ref. Iden. Att.2 Mode1 7 & 8 C-1A C-2A C-3A E1 0-3C E2 ы 11 5 MΣ EЗ E7

corresponding distances from the nozzle-shell juncture. These two models were included because were measured away from the juncture. Test data are compared herein with Eringen's results at they give some test data check with Eringen's analysis for large values of D/T.

\*\* Average of four tests.

It is well known that shell theory gives anamolous results when applied to structures with discontinuities in wall thickness or curva-The theory involves both of these kinds of discontinuities at the ture. nozzle-cylinder juncture. Figure 9 illustrates the force transfers assumed in shell theory in the o-direction on the cylinder, x-direction on the nozzle. If it is assumed that the cylinder extends to the hole, the theory gives  $\sigma_0$ -stresses on the face of the hole; an obviously ficticious stress since  $\sigma_{\mbox{\scriptsize o}}$  can only be -P on this surface. If it is assumed that the nozzle extends to the inside of the cylinder, the thickness of the nozzle from x = 0 to x = T becomes indeterminate. In the following comparisons, it is assumed that nozzle extends to the outside surface of the cylinder and the cylinder extends to the hole. This is analogous to the assumption made in comparing test data with theory for nozzles in spherical shells, Phase Report No. 2. However, for two of the photoelastic test models, a more detailed and realistic comparison of theory and test data in the neighborhood is the nozzle-cylinder juncture is presented.

#### Steel Test Models

## Cranch<sup>(19)</sup> Test Data, Attachment No. 2

The model consisted of a 48-inch-ID cylinder with 0.625-inch wall thickness into which was welded a 6-inch standard weight pipe, 6.625-inch-OD x 0.280-inch wall. The nozzle was flush with the ID of the cylinder and the external fillet weld appears to have a leg length of around 1/4 inch to 3/8 inch.

(38)



FIGURE 9. ILLUSTRATION OF FORCE TRANSFERS ASSUMED IN SHELL THEORY AT  $\phi = 0$ 

Table 5 shows stresses calculated from Eringen's analysis, along with the stresses determined by use of strain gages. Cranch measured stresses only at  $\varphi = 0$  and  $\varphi = \pi/2$ . In general, the agreement between theory and test data is good. In comparing theory and test data in Table 5, the following points should be considered:

- (1) The presence of the fillet weld might be expected to reduce stresses at the juncture. The maximum experimental stress of 2.2 versus 2.86 theoretical may be due to this effect.
- (2) The stresses given by Cranch at the juncture,  $\rho = \rho_0$ , were extrapolated from strain gage data along the cylinder. The extrapolation may involve significant errors.
- (3) The stresses away from the juncture were picked off of Cranch's Figures 2.013 and 2.014 by the writers. They are, at best, accurate only to  $\pm$  30 percent.
- (4) The test model possibly had thickness variations in the nozzle wall of  $\pm$  10 percent and was possibly out-of-round to some extent.
- (5) Considering the maximum stress readings given by Cranch, along with typical strain gage random errors, one could assume that Cranch's maximum stress values in Table 5 should be accurate to within  $\pm$  10 percent, or an error range of  $\sim \pm$  0.2  $\sigma$ /S. However, the low stress readings could have about the same errors so that a measured stress  $\sigma$ /S = 0.2 should also have a  $\pm$  0.2 to indicate its order of accuracy.

			Membrane	Bending	Membrane	Bending
ρ'		Data	σφ	$\sigma_{\varphi}$	σ <sub>ρ</sub>	σρ
TRT'	φ	Source	S	S	S	S
0.0	0	Test*	2.2	0.2	0.6	0.9
	0	Theory	2.859	0.507	0.218	0.865
	π/2		2.570	0.477	0.197	0.795
	π/4		1.763	0.428	0.157	0.655
	<b>3π/8</b>		0.715	0.411	0.140	0.574
	π/2	¥	0.184	0.402	0.144	0.560
	π/2	Test*	0.8	0.6	0.2	1.0
0.3	0	Test	1.6	0.2	0.6	0.3
	0	Theory	1.811	0.267	_0.482	0.339
	π/8	1	1.657	0.262	0.480	0.343
	π/4		1.244	0.288	0.472	0.358
	<b>3</b> π/8	}	0.754	0.367	0.448	0.380
	π/2	Ŷ	0.526	0.413	0.432	0.392
	π/2	Test	0.8	0.5	0.5	0.5
0.6	0	Test	1.2	0.0	0.6	0.0
	0	Theory	<u>1.388</u>	0.164	0.534	0.168
	π/8	1	1.289	0.167	0.550	0.186
	π/4		1.024	0.214	0.586	0.230
	<b>3π/8</b>		0.720	0.317	0.615	0.276
	$\pi/2$	¥	0.581	0.375	0.623	0.297
	π/2	Test	0.7	0.4	0.8	0.4
1.0	0	Test	1.1	0.0	0.6	-0.2
	0	Theory	1.124	0.103	0.539	0.088
	π/8	1	1.058	0.110	0.570	0.109
	π/4		0.880	0.162	0.648	0.156
	<b>3</b> π/8		0.673	0.266	0.731	0.203
	π/2	Ŷ	0.578	0.324	0.766	0.224
	π/2	Test	0.7	0.3	0.9	0.2
2.0	0	Test	0.9	0.0	0.6	0.0
	0	Theory	0.875	0.0545	0.514	0.033
	π/8		0.839	0.0635	0.562	0.059
	π/4		0.736	0.112	0.689	0.107
	3π/8		0.605	0.197	0.835	0.138
	π/2	Y	0.542	0.243	0.902	0.148
	π/2	Test	0.5	0.0	1.0	0.0
œ	0	∫Membrane \	1.000	0.0	0.500	0.0
	π/2	l Theory∫	0.500	0.0	1.000	0.0

TABLE 5. COMPARISON OF ERINGEN THEORY WITH CRANCH TEST DATA, ATTACHMENT 2, STRESSES IN CYLINDER

\* Extrapolated data.



Table 6 shows theoretical stresses in the <u>nozzle</u> of Cranch's "Attachment 2". The theory predicts that maximum stresses occur in the nozzle; specifically,  $\sigma_{\rm xo}/S = 4.604$  as compared to  $\sigma_{\rm qri}/S = 3.365$ . However, the only significant strain gage on the nozzle was placed about 5/8 inch to 3/4 inch from the juncture with the cylinder. The stress determined from this gage is not given in Cranch's paper. For this model,  $\sqrt{\rm rt} = .945$ ; hence, the nearest gage was about 0.6 to 0.8 times  $\sqrt{\rm rt}$ away from the juncture. As can be seen in Table 6 for  $\rm x/\sqrt{\rm rt} = 0.6$ , the stresses measured at this gage would not be expected to be as high as on the cylinder. If a series of strain gages had been placed along the nozzle and the results extrapolated to the juncture, possibly the highest stress area would have been found to be in the nozzle.

		٥	0 <sub>1</sub>	σ	σ	σ x	/s	σ_/:	5
1rt	φ	<u> </u>	S S	S S	S	Outside	Inside	Outside	Inside
0	0	0.288	-4.316	2.208	-1.249	4.604	-4.028	0.959	3.457
	π/8	0.264	-3.959	1.904	-1.151	4.223	-3.696	0.752	3.055
	π/4	0.151	-3.260	1.393	-0.971	3.411	-3.108	0.422	2.364
	<b>3</b> TT/8	0.0269	-2.860	1.366	-0.894	2.887	-2.883	0.471	2.260
	π/2	-0.0097	-2.804	1.545	-0.901	2.794	-2.814	0.644	2.446
0.3	0	0.350	-1.034	1.996	-0.269	1.384	-0.683	1.726	2.265
	π/8	0.285	-0.997	1.769	-0.267	1.282	-0.711	1.502	2.036
	π/4	0.114	-0.881	1.373	-0.258	0.995	-0.766	1.116	1.631
	<b>3</b> π/8	0,0055	-0.715	1.249	-0.246	0.720	-0.709	1.003	1.495
	π/2	0.0020	-0.628	1.293	-0.242	0.630	-0.626	1.051	1.535
0.6	0	0.380	0.477	1.317	0.184	-0.097	0.857	1.502	1.133
	π/8	0.295	0.375	1,188	0.144	-0.080	0.670	1.331	1.045
	π/4	0.102	0.216	0.954	0.0683	-0.114	0.317	1.022	0.886
	<b>3</b> π/8	-0.0046	0.197	0.833	0.0282	-0.202	0.193	0.861	0,805
	π/2	-0.0020	0.236	0.817	0.0221	-0.239	0.234	0.839	0.795
1.0	0	0.384	0.814	0.573	0.288	-0.432	1.199	0.862	0.285
	π/8	0.295	0.694	0.539	0.239	-0.399	0.989	0.778	0.300
	π/4	0.104	0.472	0.473	0.142	-0.369	0.576	0.615	0.330
	<b>3π/8</b>	-0.0045	0.351	0.412	0.075	-0.356	0.347	0.489	0.338
	π/2	-0.0011	0.332	0.383	0.054	-0,343	0.322	0.438	0.329
2.0	Ö	0.345	0.0600	0.212	0.056	0.056	0.285	0.405	0.269
	π/8	0.275	0.051	0.226	0.042	0.042	0.224	0.326	0.268
	$\pi/4$	0.125	0.022	0.252	0.0068	0.007	0.104	0.147	0.259
	<b>3</b> π/8	0.0156	-0.022	0.258	-0.033	-0.033	0.038	-0.007	0.225
	π/2	-0.0145	-0.047	0.253	-0.052	-0.052	0.032	-0.061	0.201
.00	any	0.145	0	0.290	0	0.145	0.145	0.290	0.290

۰.

TABLE 6.CALCULATED STRESS INDICES (ERINGEN THEORY)IN THE NOZZLE; CRANCH ATTACHMENT 2

The model consisted of a 36-inch-ID cylinder with 2-inch wall thickness into which was welded a 2-inch-ID x 0.188-inch wall nozzle. The external fillet weld appeared to have a leg lenth of about 0.3-inch.

Table 7 shows stresses calculated from Eringen's analysis, along with stresses determined by use of strain gages. In this model,\* the maximum stress occurred at the inside corner;  $\sigma_{\phi i}/S = 2.76$  as compared to  $\sigma_{\phi i}/S = 2.47$  theoretical.

This model included a pair of strain gages on the nozzle placed about 1/2 inch from the outer surface of the cylinder. In terms of the shell length parameter  $\sqrt{rt}$ , the gages were fairly remote from the nozzle-cylinder juncture. The highest measured stress in the nozzle was  $\sigma_{yc}/S = 1.79$ ; the theoretical stress at about this point and surface is  $\sigma_{yi}/S = 1.44$ . In general, it appears that the fillet weld does two things:

- It provides a relatively flexible transition between nozzle and cylinder, thus reducing maximum stresses significantly.
- (2) It tends to shift the moments and forces up along the x-axis.

On the other hand, there is probably a fairly high stress concentration at the toe of the fillet weld where it joins the branch pipe.

Nozzle No. 11 was incorporated in 7 different pressure vessels subjected to cyclic pressure tests at Southwest Research Institute. Fatigue cracks initiated in the nozzle-to-vessel weld on vessels 1 and 2; the location, direction or initiating surface are not reported. Fatigue cracks initiated at the inside corner (point of maximum measured stress)

Nozzle No. 11 in Vessel No. 1. The average value of  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}/S$  was 2.57, See Table 16.

	<u>in in an 12 is de citation</u>	ÓRPUSL <del>E S</del> INGULING	σøο	°Øi	σ	σ <sub>oi</sub>
TRT	ø	Source	S	S	S	S
	Cylinder		0.50	0 1 7	0(0	00.0
0.0	0	Theory	2.50	2.47	.068	.026
0.0		Test		2.76		.27
0,083		Test	.89	1.51	.48	.53
0.25		Test		1.38		.60
0.3	¥	Theory	1.15	1.14	.50	.50
0.0	π/2	Theory	.82	.25	.03	.00
0.0		Test		14		.39
0.083		Test	.70	.46	.76	.70
0.25		Test		.53		.70
0.3	¥	Theory	.63	.51	.82	.80
$\frac{x}{\sqrt{rt}}$	Nozzl <b>e</b>		σ <sub>xo</sub> S	$\frac{\sigma_{xi}}{s}$	<sup>o</sup> yo S	<sup>σ</sup> yi S
0	0	Theory	2.41	-2.36	2.84	2.12
.3			.23	.05	1.69	2.32
.6			57	1.00	.76	1.98
1.0		Ý	55	1.05	.15	1.44
1.1	¥	Test	.31	.02	.70	1.79
0	π/2	Theory	1.96	<b>-</b> .78	1.48	05
.3			1.05	11	1.31	.26
.6			.63	.18	1.16	.26
1.0		¥	.48	.25	1.06	.17
1.1		Test	.20	16	.70	.38

TABLE 7.	COMPARISON	OF .	ERINGEN	THEORY	WITH	PICKETT	&	GRIGORY
	TEST DATA,	NOZ	ZLE NO.	11				

on vessels 4, 6 and 7. No cracks were observed at nozzle No. 11 in vessels 3 and 5. Leak type failures (cracks penetrated through wall) occurred at nozzle No. 11 in vessels 1, 4 and 7. The other observed cracks did not penetrate through the wall prior to termination of the fatigue test for other causes. The failures of nozzle 11 in vessels 1 and 2 presumably were caused by high stresses in the nozzles, however, no explanation is given as to why weld failures occurred in vessels 1 and 2 but not in subsequent vessels. Possibly, the welding technique and/or weld contour details were improved in the later vessels.

From a fatigue standpoint, it might be noted that the theoretical stresses in the nozzle at the juncture in the x-direction are almost pure bending. A fatigue crack started by the  $\sigma_x$ -stresses would encounter a rapidly decreasing stress as it propagated into the nozzle wall, hence might not propagate very much. In the cylinder, however, the  $\sigma_{\phi}$ -stress is almost pure membrane and is high over a large area of metal, hence a fatigue crack would be expected to propagate through the wall relatively easily.

(46)

# Mehringer & Cooper<sup>(18)</sup>, Appendage E

The model consisted of 34.47-inch-ID cylinder with 3/8 inch wall thickness into which was welded a 4.5-inch-OD x .156-inch wall thickness nozzle. The external fillet weld is not clearly indicated but may have had leg lengths of about 3/8 inch.

Table 8 shows stresses calculated from Eringen's analysis, along with stresses determined by strain gages. Gages were not placed at the inside corner; the nearest gage to the bore was about 1.3-inch from the bore, corresponding to about 0.5  $\sqrt{\text{RT}}$ . No stresses are given for the nozzle.

The maximum stress in the cylinder given by the theory is  $\sigma_{\emptyset o}/S = 3.55$ . The (apparently) relatively large fillet weld might have reduced the maximum stresses significantly. As shown in Table 8, the maximum measured stress  $\sigma_{\emptyset o}/S = 1.4$ , is in reasonable agreement with the theoretical stress  $\sigma_{\emptyset o}/S = 1.4$ , is in reasonable agreement with the theoretical stress  $\sigma_{\emptyset o}$  in the region of the strain gage. The principal discrepancy between test and theory appears to be  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}$  at  $\emptyset = 0$ , where  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}/S$  would theoretically be around 1.2 whereas the test data gives  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}/S \cong 0$ ; and at  $\sigma_{\rho i}$  at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ , where  $\sigma_{\rho i}/S$  would theoretically be around 0.3 whereas the test data gives  $\sigma_{\rho i}/S \cong 1.3$ . Otherwise the theory and test are in reasonable agreement.

No measurements of stresses in the nozzle are given. The theoretical stresses in the nozzle of this model are quite high;  $\sigma_{\rm xo}/S = 5.41$  at  $\emptyset = 0$ , x = 0. As in other models, the fillet might have significantly reduced the actual stress since the fillet leg length apparently is around 0.5 to 0.7 times  $\sqrt{\rm rt}$ .

(47)

ρ' 7RT	Ø	Data Source	<u>σφο</u> S	σ <mark>øi</mark> S	σ <sub>ρο</sub> S	$\frac{\sigma_{\rho i}}{S}$
0.0	0	Theory	3,55	2.28	1.08	67
0.3		Theory	1.68	1.49	.82	.12
0.5		Test	~1.4	~ 0	~1.0	~ .25
0.6	Y	Theory	1.61	1.17	.71	.35
0.0	π/2	Theory	.68	20	.63	39
0.3		Theory	1.00	.10	.80	.03
0.5	:	Test	~1.0	~ .3	~1.3	~1.3
0.6	V	Theory	1.01	.18	.91	.31

TABLE 8.COMPARISON OF ERINGEN THEORY WITH MEHRINGER & COOPER<br/>APPENDAGE E EXPERIMENTAL DATA, STRESSES IN CYLINDER

Berman & Pai<sup>(20, 21)</sup>, Nozzles 7 and 8

The model consisted of a 48-inch-ID cylinder with 1.687-inch wall thickness into which were welded 2-inch Sch 80 pipes, 2.375-inch-OD x 0.218-inch wall. Nozzles 7 and 8 were identical in-so-far as the theory is concerned; nozzle 7 was "set-in" for welding whereas nozzle 8 was "set-on" for welding. The fillet weld leg lengths were about 3/8 inch. The nozzles were first tested and results reported in R<sub>e</sub>ference (20); later additional tests were run and results reported on Reference (21).

Table 9 shows stresses calculated from Eringen's analysis, along with stresses determined by use of strain gages. Measurements were made only at  $\emptyset = 0$ . Maximum measured stress occurred at the inside corner of the opening,  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}/S = 2.64$  as compared to  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}/S = 2.45$  by theory.

In the second test series, gages were placed on the nozzle about 1-inch from the surface of the cylinder or roughly 2 times the  $\sqrt{\text{rt}}$  from the surface. Considering the possible influence of the fillet weld, the theory and test data are in reasonable agreement.

(49)

ρ' 7RT	Source	Gage No.	Model No.	ogo S	<sup>♂</sup> Øi S	σ <u>ρο</u> S	σ <sub>ρi</sub> S
0.0	Theory				2.45		.03
	Test	1	.7		2.64		.28
		1	8		2.64		.30
		2	.7		2.42		06
		2	8		2.34		.13 🗸
		3a	7		2.30		17
		3a	8		2.25		.12
		3	7		2.27		.63
V		3	8		2.03		.59
0.15		4	7		1.32		.50
0,15		4	8		1.32		.59
0.31	V	5	8		1.13		.54
0.3	Theory				1.13		.50
0.0	Theory			2.38		.12	
	Test	2a	7	1.93		.10*	
ł		2a	8	2.08		.19*	
0.12	Y	5a	7	.65		.26	
0.3	Theory		<b></b>	1.13		.51	
x <del>/</del> rt	(Nozz	:le)		σ <sub>xo</sub> s	s	σyo S	<u>    yi</u> S
0	Theory			2.46	-2.61	2.72	2.02
2	Theory		-	.09	.25	06	<b>.</b> 68
2	Test	4a, la	7	.13	.41	.23	.79
2	Test	4a, la	8	.09	.51	.11	.82
œ	Theory	æ =	4# 85	.14	.14	.29	.29

TABLE 9. COMPARISON OF ERINGEN THEORY WITH BERMAN & PAI TEST DATA (at  $\emptyset$  = 0), NOZZLES 7 AND 8

\* Tangential, inside of bore; shell theory does not give this stress.
## Berman & Pai<sup>(20, 21)</sup>, Nozzle 15

The model consisted of a 45.5-inch-ID cylinder with 4.187-inch wall thickness with an 8-inch Sch 100 pipe as a nozzle, 8.625-inch-OD x 0.593-inch wall. The fillet weld leg lengths were about 0.8-inch.

Table 10 shows stresses calculated from Eringen's analysis, along with stresses determined by use of strain gages. Measurements were made only at  $\emptyset = 0$ . Maximum measured stress occurred at the inside corner of the opening,  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}/S = 2.70$  as compared to  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}/S = 2.87$  by theory  $(\sigma_{\emptyset o}/S = 2.68$  by theory.)

No measurements of stresses in the nozzle are given. The theoretical maximum stress in the nozzle is  $\sigma_{yi}/S = 3.20$ . The fillet weld leg length is about 0.5  $\sqrt{rt}$  hence the actual maximum stress in the nozzle presumably was significantly less than 3.20S.

ρ /RT	Source	Gage No.	<sup>♂</sup> Øi S	σ <sub>ρi</sub> S
0.0	Theory		2.87	.015
0.0	Test	1	2.70	.05 *
0.0	Test	2	2.67	46 *
0.0	Test	2a	2.48	53 *
0.0	Test	3	2.62	.38
0.3	Theory		1.49	.53
0.4	Test	4	1.60	.68
0.6	Theory	-,-	1.23	.56

TABLE 10. COMPARISON OF ERINGEN THEORY WITH BERMAN & PAI TEST DATA (at  $\emptyset$  = 0), NOZZLE 15

\* Tangential, inside of bore, shell theory does not give this stress.



### Wells, et al, (23) Nozzles K and M

The models consisted of a 40.5" inside diameter cylinder with 4.845" wall thickness. The branch of model K consisted of an 8.25" inside diameter cylinder with 0.938" wall thickness. The branch of model M consisted of a 11.875" inside diameter cylinder with 1.438" wall thickness.

The top portions of Tables 11 and 12 give comparisons of calculated and measured stresses in the <u>cylinder</u>. Agreement between theory and test are generally fairly good. The largest discrepancy appears to be in  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}$  at  $\rho' = 0$ ,  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ , where a negative stress is predicted by theory.

The bottom portions of Tables 11 and 12 give comparisons of calculated and measured stresses in the <u>nozzle</u>. The fillet weld leg lengths were about  $0.75 \sqrt{\text{rt}}$ , hence the high calculated stresses would not be expected to occur, except where the high calculated stress persists for some distance from the juncture; e.g.,  $\sigma_{yi}$  at  $\emptyset = 0$ . The strain gages used in the tests were large compared to the length  $\sqrt{\text{rt}}$ , hence only average stresses would be measured. About all that can be said is that the measured stresses in the nozzle follow the trends predicted by the theory.

(53)

1						
$\frac{\rho}{\sqrt{RT}}$	Ø	Source	σ <sub>øo</sub> /s	σ <sub>¢i</sub> ∕S	σ <sub>ρο</sub> /S	σ <sub>ρi</sub> /S
			Cylinder			
0.0	0	Theory	2.54	2.98	.18	.02
0.3		Theory	1.44	1.59	.43	.53
0.6	Y	Test Theory Test	1.2 1.20 .8	2.1 1.27 1.7	.6 .48 .4	.8 .56 1.
0_0	$\pi/2$	Theory	1.55	45	.12	.00
0.3		Test Theorv	 1.05	.4		.53
		Test	1.0	.9	.8	.8
0,6		Theory	•84 7	.36	.85	.74
			Nozzle			
<u>Vrt</u>	ø	Source	$\sigma_{\rm xo}/S$	σ <sub>xi</sub> /S	σ <sub>yo</sub> ∕s	σ <sub>yi</sub> /S
0	0	Theory	2.36	-1.90	2.93	2.65
. 3		Test	 43	•5 · 33	 1 90	2.6 2.81
• •	đ	Test	• <del>-</del> -	.5		2.5
.6		Theory	30	1.22	1.04	2.49
1.0		Test Theory	•8 - 26	.6 1.26	1.1	2.4 1.96
1.0	Y	Test	.4	1.3	.8	2.2
0	<sup>™</sup> {2	Theory	2.46	81	1.93	10
Ċ		Test	* 1 E 2	.3		1.0
• 2		Test	1.53	15	1.92	.33
.6		Theory	1.00	.22	1.81	.44
1.0		Test	1.0	.2	1.2	1.2
1.0	1	Theory Test	./3	.40	1.67	.44 1.1
	*	<u></u>		ر و 		+ • +
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				

TABLE 11. COMPARISON OF ERINGEN THEORY WITH WELLS, LANE AND ROSE TEST DATA, NOZZLE K

/						
1 RT	ø	Source	σ <sub>øo</sub> /S	σ <sub>φi</sub> ∕S	σ <sub>ρ0</sub> /S	σ <sub>ρi</sub> /S
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
			Cylinder			
0.0	0	Theory	2.44	3.42	.36	04
	1	Test		3.3		$\sim 0$
0.3		Theory	1.55	1.93	.51	.46
0 (		Test		2.2		.9
0.0	×	Theory	1.26	L.4/	.51	.55
	·	Test	• 9	1.0	• 5	C. L
0.0	$\pi/2$	Theory	1.76	86	.39	06
	1	Test	<del>-</del> <del>-</del>	.4		.0
0.3		Theory	1.36	09	.74	. 35
		Test	1.2	.5	1.3	.3
0.6		Theory	1.09	.16	.88	.59
	r	Test	1.0	• 5	1.0	.0
x			<u>Nozzle</u>			
1 rt	Ø	Source	σ /S	σ./S	σ /S	σ./S
		······································	xo		_yo	<u>yı</u>
0	0	Theory	2,61	-1.93	2,97	2.81
	1	Test		.5		2.5
.3		Theory	.51	.46	1.82	2.93
		Test		.6		2.5
.6		Theory	27	1.37	.90	2.54
1 0		Test		•7 1 25		2.3
1.0	4	Theory	21	1.30	.33	1.90
		Test	• •	1. • I	• 0	2.4
0	$\pi/2$	Theory	3,28	-1.96	2.76	30
	1	Test		.3		1.0
.3	1	Theory	1.72	56	2.51	.28
	1	Test		.2		1.0
• 6		Theory	.88	.16	2.13	. 39
1 0		Test	 E1	•0		•9
1.U	Ý	Teet	• J1 5	•40 2	1.3	.33 1 1
		TCOL	• •	÷ 4		

## TABLE 12. COMPARISON OF ERINGEN THEORY WITH WELLS, LANE AND ROSE TEST DATA, NOZZLE M

#### Photoelastic Test Models

Test data for the photoelastic test models are presented by Taylor and Lind<sup>(24)</sup>. In this reference, stresses in the normal and tangential directions are given at  $\emptyset = 0$  and  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ . The  $\sigma_n$ -stresses correspond to  $\sigma_{\emptyset}$  (cylinder) or  $\sigma_y$  (nozzle) stresses of the theory. Except on the inner face of the opening of the cylinder,  $\sigma_t$ -stresses correspond to  $\sigma_0$  (cylinder) or  $\sigma_x$  (nozzle) stresses.

#### Stresses in the Cylinder

Table 13 gives comparisons of calculated\* and measured stresses on the cylinder. The maximum measured stress for all models was  $\sigma_n$  at the inside corner radius at  $\emptyset = 0$ . This is compared, in Table 13, with  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}$  at  $\rho / \sqrt{RT} = 0.0$ ,  $\emptyset = 0$ . There are no comparable  $\sigma_{\emptyset o}$ ,  $\sigma_{\rho o}$ , or  $\sigma_{\rho i}$ -stresses from the test data. At  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ , the  $\sigma_t$  stress at the center of the inside corner radius is shown for comparison with the theoretical  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}$ at  $\rho / \sqrt{RT} = 0.0$ ,  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ .

In general, the theoretical value of  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}$  at  $\rho'/\sqrt{RT} = 0$ ,  $\emptyset = 0$ is reasonably close to the maximum measured stress. The ratio of  $\sigma_{\emptyset i}$  at  $\rho = \rho_0$ ,  $\emptyset = 0$  to the maximum measured stress ranges from .88 to 1.05 with an average of 0.95. The stresses away from the juncture are generally in adequate agreement with the theory. The largest disagreement appears to be the normal stress at the inside corner at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ . For all models

(56)

 <sup>\*</sup> At present, Eringen's computer program is based on a Poisson's ratio of 0.3. All calculated results are based on this value, even though the Poisson's ratio of the photoelastic test models was probably about 0.5. It is believed that the Poisson's ratio effect is small for membrane stresses but may be significant for bending stresses.

except C-1A, the theory predicts a negative stress at this point. The test data, while trending toward a low stress at this point in the normal direction, does not give negative stresses.

					<del>najan (ang dining alam ina</del>	<del>na minani interderina</del>	
Mode1	<u></u>	4		10	19	10	10
NO.	V RT	Ø	Source	$\sigma_{\phi o} / S$	σ <sub>φi</sub> ∕s	σ <sub>ρο</sub> /S	$\sigma_{\rho i}/S$
<b>C-</b> 1A	0.0	0	Theory	2.55	2.45	.02	.01
	0,0	Ĩ	Test		2.45		
	0.3		Theory	1.10	1.08	51	50
	0.3	Ý	Test	0.9	1.0	.5	.4
	0.0	$\pi/2$	Theory	. 36	.69	.00	.00
	0.0	1	Test		.7		
J	0.3		Theory	. 57	.52	. 88	. 86
Y	0.3	Y	Test	.5	.4	.9	.8
C-2A	0.0	Ò	Theory	2.62	2.72	.10	.02
0	0.0	ů.	Test		2.80		
	0.3		Theory	1 36	1 38	46	51
	0.3		Tost	<u>1.50</u>	1 /	6	5
	0.6		Theory	1 15	1 16	48	• J 54
	0.6	Y	Test	.8	1.2	.6	.5
	0.0	,					
1	0.0	π/2	Theory	1.23	16	.04	.00
	0,0	1	Test		•4		
	0.3		Theory	.86	.38	. /0	.62
	0,3		Test	1.	.3	.8	• 3
4	0.6	4	Theory	.70	•44	.86	.81
4	0.6	•	Test	•8	.3	.9	.7
C- 3A	0.0	0	Theory	2.66	3.15	.21	01
	0.0	1	Test		3.0		
	0.3		Theory	1.53	1.73	.41	.56
	0.3		Test	1.2	1.7	.6	. 6
	0.6		Theory	1.25	1.34	.48	.57
	0.6	Y	Test	.9	1.3	.4	.7
	0.0	$\pi/2$	Theory	1.65	64	.12	01
	0.0	1	Test		.2		
	0.3	-	Theory	1.16	.13	.64	.47
	0.3		Test	1.2	.3	.8	.3
	0.6	1	Theory	.94	.29	.83	.69
Ý	0.6	Y	Test	1.0	• 4	9.	.7
C-3C	0.0	0	Theory	2.74	2.72	.03	.01
1	0.0	ì	Test		3.09		
1	0.3	1	Theory	1.38	1.39	.44	.51
	0.3		Test	.9	1.3	.5	.0
	0.6		Theory	1.16	1.16	48	.54
	0.6		Test	.9	1.0	.6	.2
V	1.0		Theory	1.08	1.07	.48	.54
Ý	1 0		mast	1,00			•

• 9

Test

1,0

.9

.6

.3

#### TABLE 13. COMPARISON OF ERINGEN THEORY WITH TAYLOR AND LIND PHOTOELASTIC TEST DATA, STRESS IN CYLINDER (1 of 3)

			( )				
Model No.	$\frac{\rho'}{\sqrt{RT}}$	ø	Source	$\sigma_{4}/S$	σ <u>,</u> ,/S	σ/s	σ_ /S
	• 			φυ	φ1	μο	<u>hT</u>
C-3C	0.0	$\pi/2$	Theory	1.26	15	.00	.01
	0.0	1	Test		.3		
	0.3		Theory	.87	.38	.68	.62
	0.3		Test	1.	.1	.7	2
	0.6	-	Theory	71	. 44	. 86	.81
	0.6	1	Test	.7 1		9	.0_
	1.0		Theory	•0 62	.0	94	. 91
4	1.0	Ŷ	Test	.02	.9	1.	.5
			1000	• /	•••		•
E-1	0.0	0	Theory	2.37	2.94	.77	24
1	0.0	t	Test		3.32		~.0
	0.3		Theory	1.55	1.84	.65	.35
	0.3		Test	1.1	1.6	.7	.7
	0.6		Theory	1.26	1.43	.61	.48
	0.6		Test	1.0	1.4	.4	.8
	1.0		Theory	1.09	1.18	. 58	.50
	1.0	4	Test	.8	~-	.3	
		.•					
	0.0	$\pi/2$	Theory	.97	64	1.07	39
	0,0	i	Test		.0		~.2
	0.3		Theory	1.10	05	.98	.15
-	0.3		Test	1.4	.2	1.0	.0
	0.6		Theory	1.00	.14	1.00	.44
	0.6		Test	1.3	.2	.8	.3
La	1.0		Theory	.89	.25	1.03	.64
Y	1.0	, W	Test	1.	.2	.7	.6
<b>F</b> _2	0.0	Λ	Theory	2.37	2.94	. 77	24
1	0.0		Test		2.90		
1	0.3		Theory	1 55	1.84	. 65	.35
	0.3	-	Test	1.0	23	7	.4
	0.6		Theory	1 26	1 43	61	.48
	0.6		Tost	9	1 9	5	. 7
	1 0		Theory	1 00	1 18	58	50
	1.0	Ý	Test	1.07	1 7	.30	.90
	1.0	•	TEST	•0	1.7	• •	• >
	0.0	$\pi/2$	Theory	.97	64	1.07	39
	0.0	12	Test		.0		
	0.3		Theory	1.10	05	.98	.15
	0.3		Test	1.3	.0	1.0	3
	0.6		Theory	1.00	.14	1.00	.44
	0.6		Test	1.0	.1	1.0	.1
	1.0		Theory	.89	.25	1.03	.64
Ý	1.0	4	Test	.9	.3	.9	.6
		¢	1000	• -	• •	• •	

TABLE 13. (Continued) (2 of 3)

.

TABLE 13. (Continued)

(3 of 3)

Model		Ø	Source	σ. /S	σ. /S	σ /S	σ /S
	<b>V</b>	<b>مع</b>		~¢o'~	°¢i′~	ρο'	ρi/
E-3	0.0	0	Theory	2.39	2.94	.77	24
	0.0		Test	<b></b>	3.28	·	
	0.3		Theory	1.55	1.84	.65	. 35
	0.3		Test	1.2	2.3	.6	• 3
	0.6		Theory	1.26	1.43	.61	.48
	0.6		Test	1.0	1.9	• 4	.7
	1.0	4	Theory	1.09	1.18	.58	.50
	1.0	r	Test	.9	1.7	.4	.9
	0.0	$\pi/2$	Theory	.97	64	1.07	39
	0.0	1	Test		.0		
	0.3		Theory	1.10	05	.98	,15
1	0.3		Test	1.3	.0	1.0	3
	0,6		Theory	1.00	.14	1.00	.44
1	0.6		Test	1.0	.2	1.0	.2
V	1.0	l	Theory	.89	.25	1.03	.64
,	1.0	¥	Test	.8	•4	1.0	.7
E-7	0.0	0	Theory	2.37	2.94	.77	24
	0.0	4	Test		3.36	. <del></del>	
	0.3	1	Theory	1.55	1.84	.65	.35
	0.3		Test	1.5	1.8	.9	.3
1	0.6		Theory	1.26	1.43	.61	.48
	0.6	1	Test	1.0	1.4	.5	.7
	1.0	1	Theory	1.09	1.18	,58	.50
	1.0		Test	.8	1.2	•4	.6
	0.0	$\pi/2$	Theory	.97	64	1.07	39
	0.0	1	Test	, en 44	.1		
	0.3	-	Theory	1.10	05	.98	.15
	0.3		Test	1.3	.1	1.0	2
	0.6		Theory	1.00	.14	1.00	.44
	0.6		Test	1.9	. 2	1.0	.3
	1.0		Theory	.89	.25	1.03	.64
Ŷ	1.0	¥	Test	.9	. 2	1.0	.7

#### Stresses in the Nozzle

In the preceding comparisons, it is shown that the maximum measured stress agrees reasonably well with the maximum theoretical stress in the cylinder. However, as shown in Table 14, the maximum theoretical stresses occur in the nozzle. The question arises as to why the test data does not agree with this aspect of the theory. A partial answer to the question is indicated in Table 14, in which the ratio of the outside fillet radius to the nozzle foundation length,  $\sqrt{rt}$ , is shown in the last column. The fillet radius forms a significant reinforcement of the branch because it extends over about 0.5 to 4.5 times the nozzle foundation length.

The purpose of the following detailed discussion of stresses in the nozzles in two test models (E7 and C-3C) is to illustrate that the calculated stresses are qualitative correct (insofar as shell theory is applicable) and, more important, to indicate conditions under which the calculated nozzle stresses can safely be disregarded.

Phase Report No. 2 discusses the analogous problem of nozzles in spheres. It was found there that the principal effect of the fillet radius on stresses appears to be accountable by its alteration of the thickness of the nozzle. If it is assumed, for relatively small amount of reinforcing added by the fillet, that Eringen's theory gives a good estimate of the stress-resultants at and near the nozzle shell juncture, then the stresses are given by the equations:

(61)

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Maximum Theo:	retical	Stresses	Outside	······································	r
Model No.	σ/S	Identification *	σ/S	Nozzie Identification	Fillet Radius, r <sub>o</sub>	√ rt	V rt
C-1A	2.55	ø, o, o	2.82	у, о, о	.3125	.070	4.47
C-2A	2.72	ø, i, o	3.05	у, о, о	.3125	.189	1.65
C-3A	3.15	ø, i, o	3.38	у, о, о	.3125	.285	1.10
C-3C	2.74	ø, o, o	2.99	у, і, о	.5625	<b>.23</b> 5	2.39
E1, E2, E3, E7	<b>2.</b> 94	ø, i, o	3.42	y, o, π/2	.250	<b>.</b> 542	.46

# TABLE 14. MAXIMUM THEORETICAL STRESSES IN CYLINDER AND NOZZLE AND RATIOS OF $r_0/\sqrt{rt}$ , $r_0$ = FILLET RADIUS

\* Identification of direction and location of maximum stress,

First symbol: stress direction Second symbol: surface, o = outside, i = insideThird symbol:  $\phi = angle location$ . ``

$$\sigma_n = \frac{n}{h}$$
(4)

$$\sigma_{\rm b} = \frac{6m}{{\rm h}^2} \tag{5}$$

where

σ<sub>n</sub> = membrane stress
σ<sub>b</sub> = bending stress
n = membrane stress resultant, Eringen theory
m = bending stress resultant, Eringen theory
h = normal thickness of section.

The thickness h in the transition zone has been somewhat arbitrarily defined as shown in Figure 10. For test models under consideration, planes radiating from the fillet radius center appear to be suitable for use as "normal planes" in the transition zone between cylinder and nozzle. In particular, the plane from the center of the fillet radius through the intersection of the outside surfaces of nozzle and cylinder (point P<sub>o</sub> in Figure 10) is used to determine the starting point of the nozzle  $(x/\sqrt{rt} = 0 \text{ on Figure 10})$ .

Stresses in the nozzle of test model E7 were calculated using Equations (4) and (5) with h as shown in Figure 10 ( $\emptyset$  = 0 section) and Figure 12 ( $\emptyset$  =  $\pi/2$  section). Calculated and test results are shown on Figures 10 through 13. It can be seen that the adjusted theory stresses qualitatively agree with the test results; which are shown in Figure 14. In particular, the second highest peak stress of  $\sigma_{yo}$  at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ ( $\sigma_{yo}/S = 1.86$ ) is reasonably well predicted by the adjusted theory, as well as the peak in the  $\sigma_{xo}$  stress at the same location.

(63)

The largest discrepancy occurs for  $\sigma_{yi}$  at  $\emptyset = 0$ , x = 0 (Figure 11). The calculated  $\sigma_n \emptyset$ -stress in this region, however, is 2.94 S which is about the same as the measured stress in the region.

Model C-3C was selected for detailed analysis because its value of s/S = 2.01 represents the opposite end of the s/S range from Model E7 (for which s/S = .58) and also because the second highest peak stress,  $\sigma_{yo}$  at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ , is approaching the maximum measured stress at the inside corner. Calculations of the stresses, adjusted for the normal thickness h, were made in the same way as described above for model E7. Figure 15 shows the stresses for model C-3C as obtained from the theory. Figures 16 through 19 show the calculated stresses, adjusted for the normal thickness h, and the test results. The  $\sigma_y$ -stresses are also plotted as a function of  $x/\sqrt{rt}$  in Figures 20 and 21. The original test data is shown in Figure 22\*.

It may be noted, in Figure 19 or Figure 21, that the peak stress at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ ,  $\sigma_{yo}/S = 2.52$  measured in the test, is accurately predicted by the adjusted theory. As in model E7, some calculated stresses on the nozzle for  $x\sqrt{rt} = 0$  are lower than test results and are better represented by the calculated stress in the cylinder in that region.

In general, these comparisons indicate that the Eringen's calculated stresses in the nozzle are probably reasonably accurate as applied to a nozzle with no fillet radius\*\* - as assumed in the development of the theory.

(64)

<sup>\*</sup> The test data, at points remote from the juncture, is seemingly inconsistent (for some stresses) as compared with Lame' stresses. The Lame' stresses are shown in parenthesis in Figure 22.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Except, of course, that the shell theory would not give the stress concentration due to the notch-effect if the fillet radius were zero.



FIGURE 10. NOZZLE STRESSES ADJUSTED FOR NORMAL THICKNESS, h, TEST MODEL E7,  $\sigma_x$  OR  $\sigma_t$  STRESSES AT  $\emptyset = 0$ 



FIGURE 11. NOZZLE STRESSES ADJUSTED FOR NORMAL THICKNESS, h, TEST MODEL E7,  $\sigma_y$  OR  $\sigma_n$  STRESS AT  $\phi = 0$ .



FIGURE 12. NOZZLE STRESSES ADJUSTED FOR NORMAL THICKNESS, h, TEST MODEL E7,  $\sigma_x$  OR  $\sigma_t$  STRESS AT  $\phi = \pi/2$ 



FIGURE 13. NOZZLE STRESSES ADJUSTED FOR NORMAL THICKNESS, h, TEST MODEL E7,  $\sigma_y$  OR  $\sigma_n$  STRESS AT  $\phi = \pi/2$ 

(68)



5

4 3 2

1

 $\frac{\sigma}{s}$ 

<u>σ</u> S 3

2

0



MODEL E-7



TEST RESULTS FOR MODEL E7 FROM REFERENCE (24) FIGURE 14:

**(**69)



FIGURE 15: ERINGEN THEORY STRESSES IN THE NOZZLE OF MODEL C-3C

1

2

0

(70)

3



FIGURE 16. NOZZLE STRESSES ADJUSTED FOR NORMAL THICKNESS, h, TEST MODEL C-3C,  $\sigma_x$  OR  $\sigma_t$  AT  $\emptyset = 0$ .



FIGURE 17. NOZZLE STRESSES ADJUSTED FOR NORMAL THICKNESS, h, TEST MODEL C-3C,  $\sigma_y$  OR  $\sigma_n$  AT  $\emptyset = 0$ .

--







FIGURE 18. NOZZLE STRESSES ADJUSTED FOR NORMAL THICKNESS, h, TEST MODEL C-3C,  $\sigma_x \text{ OR } \sigma_t \text{ AT } \phi = \pi/2$ 



FIGURE 19. NOZZLE STRESSES ADJUSTED FOR NORMAL THICKNESS, h, TEST MODEL C-3C,  $\sigma_y$  OR  $\sigma_n$  AT  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ 

(74)





FIGURE 20. NOZZLE STRESSES ADJUSTED FOR NORMAL THICKNESS, h, TEST MODEL C-3C,  $\sigma_y$  - STRESS AT  $\emptyset = 0$ 

(75)





FIGURE 21. NOZZLE STRESS ADJUSTED FOR NORMAL THICKNESS, h, TEST MODEL C-3C,  $\sigma_y$  - stress at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ 

(76)

 $\bigcirc$ 



FIGURE 22: TEST RESULTS FOR MODEL C-3C FROM REFERENCE (24)

#### Fillet Radius Requirement

The summary shown in Table 4 indicates that the maximum stresses measured in test models is reasonably well predicted by the maximum stress in the <u>cylinder</u> given by Eringen's theory. The question arises as to whether the maximum measured stress in nozzles in cylinders (within the range at Eringen's analysis) always occurs at the inside corner. The theory suggests that the maximum stress may occur in the nozzle and that the test results of the models listed in Table 4 do not show this because:

- For some steel models, insufficient strain gages were placed on the nozzle to detect a high stress, if such existed.
- (2) For photoelastic models, test models included a sufficiently large fillet radius to reinforce the nozzle at the critical juncture location.

Examination of the test data and calculated stresses indicates that the maximum stress will <u>not</u> occur in the nozzle if:

- (1)  $r_0 / \sqrt{dt} \ge 1.0$  for s/S from 1.0 to 2.0.
- (2)  $r_0 / \sqrt{dt} \ge s/S$  for s/S less than 1.0.
- (3)  $r_0$  in no case less than T/2.

The second requirement for  $r_0$  permits a smaller fillet radius to be used as t/T becomes larger. Calculations given in Table A7 show that as s/S decreases, the maximum calculated stress in the nozzle approaches that in the cylinder. Accordingly, a smaller fillet radius can be used. The third requirement for  $r_0$  is to insure the absence of high stresses due to a notch; such stresses would not be given by Eringen's theory.

#### TEST MODELS WITH LOCAL REINFORCING

#### Test Data

The preceding comparisons of theory and test data were restricted to test models which consisted of a uniform wall nozzle in a uniform wall cylinder with a fillet radius or fillet weld as the only reinforcing. Additional test data are available in which the test models included various types of local reinforcing, as shown by Figure 23. A summary of this data, for nozzles with small d/D-ratios, is given in Table 15. The test models and test data are briefly discussed in the following.

References (24) and (25) give test data from photoelastic test models. Reference (24) gives data at  $\emptyset = 0$  and  $\emptyset = \pi/2$  while Reference (25) gives data at those two  $\emptyset$ -planes plus other  $\emptyset$ -planes. Models FIW and AIW were actually one model; E6. This model consisted of a cylinder with a tapered wall transition from 0.490" to 0.350". The nozzle was placed in the 0.490" wall section but near the tapered transition such that one part of the model (AIW) can be considered as a nozzle in a 0.490" wall cylinder with reinforcing in the nozzle, the other part of the model (FIW) can be considered as a nozzle in a 0.350" wall cylinder with reinforcing in the run and in the nozzle.

References (20), (21), and (22) give test results on steel test models. References (20) and (21) give data at  $\emptyset = 0$  only. Reference (22) gives data at  $\emptyset = 0$ ,  $\emptyset = 90^{\circ}$  and other  $\emptyset$ -planes.

(79)

REINFORCING
LOCAL
HTIW
MODELS
TEST
15.
TABLE

								-	Measured	Stresses
Model Iden.	Ref. No.	Alti	חוש	ၷ႞ဢ	: 비내		Rein. Type (2)	$\frac{A}{d_1T}$ (3)	σ <sub>n</sub> /S Inside Corner (4)	Reinforcing Edge (5)
F4	(24)	19.0	.33	.76	, 38	.66	A	1.40	2.28	1.85
P-4A		12.5	.42	1.00	.53	.53	В	.45	2.84	2.10
P-4D	u e e in energe e	12.5	.42	1.00	.53	.53	A	. 65	3.07	2.58
FIW		20.2	.16	.68		8 8 1	1 1 1	1.90	1.80	
AIW		14.8	.15	.92	.31	.31	U	.85	2.22	.82
WC-5LB	(22)	13.2	.50	1.00	.56	.80	Q	.65	2.49	2.18
WC-5LA	** <u>********</u>	13.1	.50	1.00	.56	.80	凶	. 65	2.81	1.60
WCN-6C	1440 (1996) (1996)	13.1	.20	1.00	.30	.30	А	.64	(2.18)	1.94
WC-11B		13.2	.20	1.00	.56	.80	A	.63	2.64	1.70
WC-5LM	~~~~~	73.4	.50	66.	.56	.80	Q	. 65	2.23	2.71
ი	(20,21)	29.5	.043	.34	1 5 1	ŋ	Γ	.25	(2.08)	88
10a			.043	.34	.074	<u></u>	D	.60	(2.18)	1
10b	See				.500				2.77*	
11a	Text		,084	.42	.074		U	.70	2.53	I I I
11a'					.074				2.44	8
11b	tir ( a con a c	<u></u>			.500				2.41	3 8 8
12a			.043	.34	.074	7	U	. 75	2.72	8 8 7
12b	<del>al a</del>	<u>~</u> >			.500	u- fittur			2.67	
Contin	ued on nex	t page.					* 2.6 bas	4 appear ed on t	cs to be the cc he reported st	nrrect value, rains.

(80)

(contd)
15.
TABLE

									Measured	Stresses
						ะๆ	Rein.	¥.	$\sigma_{\rm n}^{\rm /S}$ Inside	Reinforcing
Model Iden.	Ref. No.	АŀН	P <b>ا</b> م	လူလ	ᆔᆔ	T (1)	Type (2)	di <sup>1</sup> .	Corner (4)	Edge (5)
13	(20,21)	29.5	.084	.42	8	ល	Ē	. 65	(2.04)	8
14a	-		.084	.42	.074		U	1.00	(2.53)	8 8 9
14a,					.074				(2.53)	8
14b	-				.500				2.44	8
16a			.161	.46	.074		C	.80	2.54	8
16a,					.074				2.57	8
16b					.500			-	2.67	1 1 8
2	(22)	19.0	.27	06.	.25	ល	с С	1.30	2.91	1.29
9	• <del>••••••••</del> •	. <u></u>	.27	06.	.25	.75	A	.75	2.96	1.83
6A	<del>,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,</del>		.27	06.	. 75	• 75	A	.75	2.78	9 1 2
ω			.084	.56	.25	đ	υ	.75	2.60	1.25
6			. 083	1.01	.25	. 15	р	1.10	2.61	1,53
(1) Ré	adius betwe	en nozz.	le or r€	einforc:	ing edge	e and s	shell at	Ø = π/2	2. a = fillet w	veld.

See Figure 23.

Reinforcing area, including excess thickness in nozzle, within a zone  $\sqrt{dt}$  or  $\sqrt{d_a t_a}$  measured along nozzle axis from outside surface of shell. For tapered nozzles,  $d_a \equiv d_1 + t_a$ ,  $t_a \equiv$  average thickness of tapered nozzle in  $\sqrt{d_a t_a}$  zone. Area is given for  $\emptyset = 0$  plane; area at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$  is significantly larger for most models. 33

- Values in parenthesis are not at inside corner, but are approximately at the middle of the shell wall. Maximum stress may be significantly higher. (7)
  - These are  $(\sigma_{to}/S)$ -stresses at the edge of the reinforcing or nozzle at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ . (2)

(81)

(82)





Model Iden.	α degrees	
F	30	3.61
P-4D	30	2.37
WCN-6C	15	1.84
6, 6A	30	2.50







 $\phi = \pi/2$ 

Model Iden.	$\frac{t_1}{T}$	L <u>n</u> T
AIW	0.753	1.48
10	0.434	2.22
11	0.650	2.82
12	0.434	0.96
14	0.650	1.48
16	0.940	3.71
2	1.200	2.00
8	0.572	1.44

\*Fillet weld on all except AIW

FIGURE 23a. TYPES OF REINFORCING FOR MODELS LISTED IN TABLE 15.



F

Model Iden.	α degrees	$\sim rac{L_n}{T}$
WC-5LB	18.3	2.9
WC-11B	18.3	1.8
WC-5LM	18.3	6.7

 $\phi = 0$ 

LN

α

LN

E	a
	T ro

Model Iden.	α degrees	$\sim \frac{L_n}{T}$
WC-5LA	18.3	2.9

Model Iden.	₩ T	<u>t</u> T	$\frac{L_n}{T}$
9	0.22	0.129	0.37
13	0.22	0.511	0.37

FIGURE 23b. TYPES OF REINFORCING FOR MODELS LISTED IN TABLE 15

The test data of Reference (20) and (21) require additional comment. Reference (20) gives the results of tests on several nozzles in a pressure vessel. Subsequently, some modifications were made to part of the nozzles and additional tests were run; the results are given in Reference (21). The modifications consisted of:

- (1) The inner corner radii of Nozzles 10 and 12 were ground from the original 1/8" to 27/32".
- (2) The inner corner radii of Nozzles 11, 14, and 16 were ground from the original 1/8" to 27/32" for Ø from -90° to + 90°; the remaining portion, Ø from 90° to 270°, was left with the original 1/8" radius.
- (3) Nozzle 9 and 13 originally included an inward proturberance of the nozzles of 1-1/8". This protuberance was reduced to 5/8" for the second test series.

Accordingly, in table 15 herein:

- Nozzles 10 and 12 show results for the 1/8" inside corner radius (Ref. 20) and 27/32" radius (Ref. 21).
- (2) Nozzles 11, 14, and 16 show results for the 1/8" inside corner radius (Ref. 20); the results at Ø = 180", 1/8" inside corner radius and at Ø = 0, 27/32" inside corner radius (Ref. 21).
- (3) Nozzles 9 and 13 (nozzles protruding inwardly) in Reference (20) did not have strain gages on the inside of the nozzle bore, midway in the shell thickness. Tests by Leven<sup>(25)</sup> indicate that the maximum stress occurs at about this point. In Reference (21), strain gages were placed at this point

and did give maximum measured stresses. Accordingly, only the results of Reference (21) are shown for these nozzles.

In Reference (22), the nozzles were used in a series of eight different pressure vessels; in each of these models some data were obtained on stresses in the nozzles. The individual results are shown in Table 16. The data shown in Table 15 are the averages of the test data shown in Table 16. The scatter of test data shown in Table 16 may be indicative of variations in the nozzle-vessel construction and/or variations in strain gage placement and accuracy of strain gage results.

#### Reinforcing Area

The ratio of reinforcing area to the cut-out area (d<sub>i</sub>T) is shown in Table 15. It is pertinent to compare the measured stresses in these models with the stresses that would have been expected if no reinforcing had been used. Table 17 shows calculated stresses for analogous test models without reinforcing and, where available, measured stresses from analogous models without reinforcing.

In all but three of the test models in  $T_a$ ble 17, reinforcing was placed on the outside of the shells only. For Model WC-5LM, reinforcing produced a large decrease in stress as compared to the calculated stress of an analogous unreinforced model. For other models, reinforcement on the outside surface produced relatively small decreases in stress. This is most apparent for very small d/D-ratios. For models with d/D < 0.084, the addition of reinforcement on the outside surface seems to have very little effect in reducing the stress on the inside corner.

(85)

					Ves	sel Numbe	er				
No. No.	19.		7	3	4	5	9	<sub>7</sub> (2)	2-1/4 Cr-	•Мо	Avg.
2	$\begin{cases} 0 \\ 180^{\circ} \end{cases}$	3.14	2.98 2.87	2.74 <sup>(3)</sup>	5 8 8 8 8 8	2 <b>.</b> 94	8 8 8 9 9 1	2.70 2.75	2.96	~~~, \Q. •	2.91
Q	{ 0 180°	2.71 <sup>(4)</sup>	2.85(5) 2.84(5)	3.11 3.14	1 8 8 8 8 1	2.73	2.80	8 8 8 8 8 8	3.23	~~~	2.96
6A	{ 0 180°	3 8 8 8 8 8	8 8 5 8 8 8	8 8 8 8 8 8	2.85 2.93		2.66 2.69		88	~~	2.78
ø	90 BB, 80	2.63	8	2.53	1 1 1	I I I	2.57	8	2.66	10	2.60
6	80 50 50	2.59	9	2.50	8 9	1 1 7	2.67	1	2.70	0	2.61
11	8	2.76	60 MM	1 8 9	2.78	1 8 8	2.52	1	2.24	+	2.57
(1) Wit S.	th additi C. Grigor	ons and corr y (11/2/67).	ections as g	iven in priv	ate commur	lications	from J. L	. Mershon	(9/28/67)	and	
(2) Ve	ssel No. 7	also contai	ned Nozzles	2A, 2M, 2G,	and 2B.						
St	ress indic Vozzle 2A:	es and $r_1/T$ $r_2/T = 0.3$	are shown at 175.304 stai	right. nless claddi	ng with au	Is teni ti c	defects	Nozzle No.	ч г	Ø	$\sigma_n^{\rm S}$
E E	Nozzle 2B:	$\mathbf{r}_{\dagger}/\mathbf{T} = 0.0$	, square ins	ide corner	I			2 A	.375	0	2.62
-	Nozzle 2G:	$r_{1}/T = 0.3$	175, 304 stai	nless claddi	gu	•		2M	.375	0 1 2007	2.74
	Nozzle 2M:	r <sub>i</sub> /T = 0.3 (Nozzle 2N s	375, 304 stai ame as Nozzl	nless claddi e 2, r <u>,</u> /T =	ng with mé 0.25)	artensiti	c defects	26	.375	180° 0 180°	2.46 2.46
	-		لط محمد الم محمد المحمد المحم محمد المحمد ا					2B	0	0	3.09*

Footnotes continued on next page

\* Based on an estimated longitudinal strain

Avg. of 2A, 2M, 2G = 2.68

86
Continuation of footnotes to Table 16

- (3) Not "on the corner". This value is not included in the average. The corresponding stress for nozzle 2 in Vessel 1 at this location was 2.80 S as compared to 3.14 S on the corner.
- (4) Not "on the corner". This value is not included in the average.
- Nozzle 6 in vessel 2 was retested with the inside corner radius on the  $180^{\circ}$  side increased by grinding from 0.5" to 1.0" ( $r_i/T$  from 0.25 to 0.50). New strain gages were installed on both the 0° and 180° sides. The results were: (2)

at  $\emptyset = 0^{\circ}$   $\sigma_n/S = 2.81$ at  $\emptyset = 180^{\circ}$   $\sigma_n/S = 2.60$  The value of  $\sigma_n/S$  for  $\emptyset = 180^\circ$  is shown in Figure 24 as Nozzle 6',  $r_i/T = 0.5$ .

Model		<u>A</u>	Measured	Calculate Without Re	d Stress inforcing	Comparable M Without Rein	odels forcing
Iden.	Ref.	d <sub>i</sub> T	(1) (2)	Eringen	Lind	Model Iden.	Stress(2)
F	(24)	1.40	2.28		3,34		
P <b>-</b> 4A	Ì	.45	2.84		3.49	E-4	3.50
P-4D		.65	3.07		3.49	E-4B	3.50
FIW		1.90	1.80	2.9	2.54		
AIW	Ý	.85	2.22	2.9	2.61		
WC-5LB	(25)	.65	2.49		3.84	E-4	3.50
WC-5LA	1	.65	2.81		3.83	E-4B	3.50
WCN-6C		. 64	(2.18)	3.1	2.61	C-3A	3.0
WC-11B		.63	2.64	3.1	2.61	C-3A	3.0
WC-5LM	¥	.65	2.23		7.14		
9	(20,21)	.25	(2.08)	2.45	2.56	7.8	2.64
10	1	.60	2.77	2.45	2.56	7, 8	2.64
11		.70	2.53	2.65	2.52	,	
12		.75	2.72	2.45	2.56	7,8	2.64
13		.65	(2.04)	2.65	2.52		
14		1.00	2.53	2.65	2.52		
16	¥	.80	2.67	3.0	2.51		
2	(22)	1.30	2.91	3.7	3.05		
6		.75	2.96	3.7	3.05		
8		.75	2.60	2.6	2.59		
9	ł	1.10	2.61	2.7	2.60		

(1) Except for values in parenthesis, stresses are  $\sigma_n$  at the inside corner.

(2) Stresses are shown as stress indices,  $\sigma/S$ .

(88)

In three models (WCN-6C of Ref. 25; 9 and 13 of Ref. 20 and 21), part of the reinforcing was placed on the inside. This shifted the maximum stress point from the inside corner to about the mid-wall of the shell. Also, the inside reinforcing was more effective in reducing the maximum stress than an equal amount of outside reinforcing.

The reinforcing area requirements of Phase Report 4, based on plastic collapse pressure considerations, are:

d/D Range	$A/(d_i^T)$
$d/D < 0.1414 \sqrt{T/D}$	0
$0.1414 \sqrt{T/D} < d/D < 0.425 \sqrt{T/D}$	2.65 (d/D) $\sqrt{D/T}$ 375
$d/D > 0.425 \sqrt{T/D}$	.75
Within the limitations: $\frac{d}{D}$ <	$\frac{1}{3}$ and $\frac{d}{D}\sqrt{\frac{D}{T}} < 1.1$

Table 18 gives comparisons of reinforcing areas used in test models with those required by Phase Report No. 4. Phase Report No. 4 does not specify whether the reinforcing must be placed on the inside or the outside. While the direct comparisons available in Table 18 are limited, such comparisons as can be made indicate that the maximum elastic stress\* will be less than 3S for nozzles reinforced in accordance with Phase Report No. 4 rules, even if all of the reinforcing is placed on the outside.

It may be noted that no test data giving stresses at the inside corner are available within the range of Eringen's analysis for either a reinforced or unreinforced model with large D/T; i.e., greater than 29.5.

(89)

<sup>\*</sup> The elastic stress limit of 3S is one of two criteria used in establishing Phase Report No. 4 rules.

			A/d	i <sup>T</sup>	
Model Iden.	D T	d D	Required P.R. 4	Used in Model	Measured Stress σ/S (1)
FIW	20.2	.16	.75	1.90	1.80
AIW	14.8	.15	.75	.85	2.22
WCN- 6C	13.1	.20	.75	.64	(2.18)
WC-11B	13.2	.20	.75	.63	2.64
9	29.5	.043	.24	.25	(2.08)
10		.043	.24	.60	2.77
11		.084	.75	.70	2.53
12		.043	.24	.75	2.72
13		.084	.75	. 65	(2.04)
14		.084	.75	1.00	2.53
16	Y	.161	.75	.80	2.67
2	19.0	.27	.75	1.30	2.91
6		.27	.75	.75	2.96
8		.084	.59	.75	2.60
9	¥	.083	•58	1.10	2.61

TABLE 18. COMPARISON OF REINFORCING AREA USED IN TEST MODELS WITH THE REINFORCING AREA REQUIRED BY PHASE REPORT NO. 4

(1)  $\sigma_n$  at inside corner, except values in parenthesis were at approximately the middle of the shell wall.

#### <u>Comparisons of Semi-Uniform Wall</u> Nozzles with Eringen's Theory

If it is assumed that the effective length of a uniform-wall nozzle is equal to  $\sqrt{dt}$ , then a number of the test models\*listed in Table 15 can be considered to be effectively uniform-wall models and hence directly comparable with Eringen's theory. Table 19 shows such comparisons. The values of s/S and d/D are different than those shown in Table 15 because they are based on the nozzle thickness near the juncture with the shell.

As shown in the last column of Table 19, on the average the theory gives somewhat lower stresses than measured. It is not apparent that this is entirely due to the nozzle-thickness reduction since in some models the uniform-wall nozzles length was considerable greater than  $\sqrt{dt}$ . (e.g., Model 10, in which  $L_n = 2.7 \sqrt{dt}$ .)

# Effect of Inside Corner Radius, r

Eringen's analysis does not give any direct guidance as to the effect of variations in  $r_i$ . This report, in so far as internal pressure loading is concerned, is directed principally to comparisons of Eringen's analysis with test data. It has been shown (see p.61) that the analysis can be highly conservative with respect to stresses in the nozzle of test models with a large (compared to  $\sqrt{rt}$ ) fillet radius or, perhaps, a large fillet weld. A very small (compared to  $\sqrt{rt}$ ) fillet radius might

\* Type C reinforcing as shown in Figure 23.

91

THEORY
ERINGEN'S
WITH
NOZZLES
WALL
SEML-UNIFORM
OF
COMPARISON
19.
TABLE

$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
(24)       14.8       .19       .25       .72       .73       2.22       2.23       .99         ),21)       29.5       .054       .12       1.39       3.75       2.77       2.3       .83         ),21)       29.5       .054       .12       1.39       3.75       2.77       2.3       .83         ),21)       29.5       .054       .12       1.39       1.62       2.72       2.3       .83         ),21)       29.5       .099       .15       2.32       4.75       2.53       2.4       .95         )       .099       .15       2.32       2.50       2.53       2.4       .95         (22)       18       .19       3.76       6.25       2.67       2.5       .94         (22)       19.0       .11       .19       2.14       2.88       2.62       .94         (22)       19.0       .11       .19       2.14       2.88       2.67       2.9       .94		нд	kef. Vo.	ЫH	םןק	ဖျလ	$\sqrt{dt}$	L <sub>n</sub> (1)	Test K e	Calculated K <sub>t</sub> (2)	<sup>™</sup> ™ <sup>®</sup>
$ \left( \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		(24)	14.8	.19	.25	.72	.73	2.22	2.2	66.
(22)       19.0       .15       2.32       4.75       2.53       2.4       .95         (22)       19.0       .11       .12       1.39       1.62       2.72       2.3       .85         (22)       19.0       .11       .19       2.14       2.67       2.55       2.67       2.95         (22)       19.0       .11       .19       2.14       2.88       2.62       2.63       .94	.099       .15       2.32       4.75       2.53       2.4       .95         .054       .12       1.39       1.62       2.72       2.3       .85         .099       .15       2.32       2.50       2.53       2.4       .95         .099       .15       2.32       2.50       2.53       2.4       .95         .099       .16       .19       3.76       6.25       2.67       2.5       .94         (22)       19.0       .11       .19       2.14       2.88       2.62       2.67       .94         (22)       19.0       .11       .19       2.14       2.88       2.62       2.2       .94         (22)       19.0       .11       .19       2.14       2.88       2.62       2.2       .84	3	0,21)	29.5	.054	.12	1.39	3.75	2.77	2.3	.83
.054       .12       1.62       2.72       2.3       .85         .099       .15       2.32       2.50       2.53       2.4       .95         .099       .16       .19       3.76       6.25       2.67       2.5       .94         (22)       19.0       .11       .19       2.14       2.88       2.62       2.25       .84	.054       .12       1.39       1.62       2.72       2.3       .85         .099       .15       2.32       2.50       2.53       2.4       .95         .18       .19       3.76       6.25       2.67       2.5       .94         (22)       19.0       .11       .19       2.14       2.88       2.62       2.67       .94         (22)       19.0       .11       .19       2.14       2.88       2.62       2.2       .84				• 099	.15	2.32	4.75	2,53	2.4	.95
(22)     19.0     .15     2.32     2.50     2.53     2.4     .95       (22)     19.0     .11     .19     2.14     2.88     2.62     2.2     .84	(22)     19.0     .15     2.32     2.50     2.53     2.4     .95       (22)     19.0     .11     .19     3.76     6.25     2.67     2.5     .94       (22)     19.0     .11     .19     2.14     2.88     2.62     2.2.2     .84		-	<del></del>	.054	.12	1.39	1.62	2.72	2.3	.85
↓     ↓     .18     .19     3.76     6.25     2.67     2.5     .94       (22)     19.0     .11     .19     2.14     2.88     2.62     2.2     .84	<ul> <li>19.0</li> <li>19.0</li> <li>11</li> <li>19</li> <li>2.14</li> <li>2.88</li> <li>2.62</li> <li>2.2</li> <li>.84</li> <li>Average</li> <li>.91</li> </ul>				660.	.15	2.32	2.50	2.53	2.4	.95
(22) 19.0 .11 .19 2.14 2.88 2.62 2.2 .84 Average .91	(22) 19.0 .11 .19 2.14 2.88 2.62 2.2 .84 Average .91		~	~	.18	.19	3.76	6.25	2.67	2.5	.94
Average .91	Average .91		(22)	19.0	,11	.19	2.14	2.88	2.62	2.2	.84
										Average	16.

(1) See Figure 23.

(2) Eringen's analysis,  $\sigma_{\emptyset_1}^{}$  at  $\rho = \rho_0$ ,  $\emptyset = 0$ . Obtained by interpolation using Tables Al and A3 of the Appendix.

(92)

increase stresses so that Eringen's analysis would be unconservative. The question also arises; within what range of inside corner radius will Eringen's analysis be reasonably accurate.

Experimental data on the effect of inside corner radius on maximum stresses (which occur on the inside corner) were reviewed by Mershon<sup>(26)</sup>. Since the publication of Reference (26), some additional test data has become available. These additional data, along with part of the data given by Mershon<sup>(26)</sup> are summarized in Figure 24 and will be discussed in the following.

(1) Photoelastic Test Models, Reference (24)

Results are given for four models\* essentially identical to each other except for  $r_i$ . The results are:

Model Iden.	<u>E-1</u>	<u>E-7</u>	<u>E-2</u>	<u>E-3</u>
r <sub>i</sub> /T	0.11	0.34	0.55	1.00
σ <sub>n</sub> /S (original)	3.32	2.92	2.80	3.04
$\sigma_n^{}/S$ (revised)	, <b></b> <sup>1</sup>	3.36	2.90	3.28
σ <sub>Øi</sub> /S (Eringen)	2.94	2.94	2.94	2.94

Because of inconsistencies in some of the original test data, slices from Models E-7, E-2, and E-3 were re-examined in the light of additional experience and practice in the photoelastic "frozen stress" technique. On the average, the revised stresses are 9% higher than the original stresses. Unfortunately, slices from the model with the sharpest corner (E-1) could not be found; in Figure 24 it is assumed that the comparative stress for Model E-1 is 1.09 times the original reported stress.

\* See Table 4 for dimensional parameters of these models.



FIGURE 24. EFFECT OF INSIDE CORNER RADIUS r. ON MAXIMUM MEASURED STRESSES

Models E-4B and E-4E (D/T = 13, d/D = 0.5, s/S = .99,  $r_0/T$  = .67) are beyond the range of Eringen's analysis, but they give additional information of the effect of  $r_i$ . The results are:

Model Iden.	<u>E-4B</u>	<u>E-4E</u>
r <sub>i</sub> /T	0.56	0.34
o <sub>n</sub> ∕S	3.50	3.74

(2) Steel Test Models, Reference (22)\*

There are two sets of data on nozzles with  $r_i/T$  as the only variable. Results are:

Nozzle	6	6 <b>'</b> **	6A	2B	2	2A, 2M, 2G +
r <sub>i</sub> /T	.25	.50	.75	0	.25	.375
σ <sub>n</sub> /S	2.96	2.60	2.78	3.09	2.91	2.68
No. of Tests	7	1	4	1	7	3

The value of  $\sigma_n/S$  is the average of the test data (see Table 16). The single result for the square corner (2B) is based on an estimated longitudinal strain as measured on the corner 180° opposite.

(3) Steel Models, Reference (20, 21)\*\*\*.

There are three sets of data with  $r_i/T$  variable; i.e.,

\* See Table 15 for dimensional parameters of these models.

- \*\* See Footnote (5) of Table 16.

\*\*\* See Table 15 for dimensional parameters of these models.

Nozz1e	11a, 11a'	11b	12a	12ь	16a, 16a'	16b
r <sub>i</sub> /T	.074	.50	.074	.50	.074	.50
$\sigma_n/S$	2.48	2.41	2.72	2.67	2.56	2.67
°øi∕S*	2.4	2.4	2.3	2.3	2.5	2.5

These sets of data do not indicate a large influence of  $r_i$  on maximum stresses. Models 11 and 12 agree with the general trend of test data shown in Figure 24 in that stresses are reduced by increasing  $r_i/T$ in the range from 0 to 0.50. Models 16 give an opposite indication.

### (4) Steel Models, Reference (27)

Tests were run on three nozzles with dimensional parameters as follows:

Model <u>No.</u>		<u>d</u> 	$\frac{r_{i}}{T}$	Reinf. 		σ <sub>n</sub> /S at <u>Inside Corner</u>
R25-1	23.7	.055	.25	B	1.52	2.40
R25-2			.50		1.46	2.33
R25-3		ļ	1.25		1.01	2.59

The only dimensional variable is the inside corner radius,  $r_i$ . The reinforcing type is shown in Figure 23, type B, with  $\alpha = 18^{\circ}$ ,  $L_n = 2.25$  T. The reinforcing area A was calculated as indicated in footnote (3) of Table 15. These nozzles are three of a set of 12 nozzles placed around the circumference of the cylindrical shell. The space between openings is 0.93  $\sqrt{RT}$  (on outside surface), hence some interaction between adjacent nozzles probably occurred. Also, it appears that the nozzles were directly welded to flanges or plugs; possibly these closures also influenced the results. Neither of these conditions would be expected to significantly change the relative values of  $\sigma_n/S$  at the inside corner.

\* Eringen analysis, see Table 19.

λ

(96)

As can be noted in Figure 24, the photoelastic model tests and most of the steel model tests indicate a reasonably consistent trend of  $\sigma_n/S$  with  $r_i/T$ ; a high stress for a sharp corner, decreasing as  $r_i/T$ increases to about 0.5, then increasing as  $r_i/T$  is increased further.

Additional evidence of the effect of a square inside corner is available from the fatigue tests of Reference (22). Vessel 7 contained nozzles 2B and 2N, which differ only in the inside corner radius:

Nozzle	r <sub>i</sub> /T	Cycles-to-Failure <sup>*</sup>
2В	0	147,665
2N	.25	375,357

The ratio of cycles for 2N to 2B is 2.54. Assuming that  $N \propto \sigma^{-5}$ , where  $\sigma$  is the fatigue effective stress, the ratio of cycles-to-failure implies a stress ratio of  $(2.54)^{\cdot 2} = 1.205$ . The measured stress ratios for these nozzles on Vessel 7 is 3.09/2.725 = 1.14.

The only other comparison\*\* in the fatigue tests of Reference (22) is in Vessel 4, Nozzles 6 and 6A. Nozzle 6 leaked at 40,041 cycles at which time both Nozzles 6 and 6A were removed from the vessel. This indicates some qualitative superiority of Nozzle 6A ( $r_i/T = 0.75$ ) over Nozzle 6 ( $r_i/T = 0.25$ ).

<sup>\*</sup> Nozzle 2B did not leak at 147,665 but was removed at that number of cycles to avoid a large fracture. Nozzle 2N leaked at 375,357 cycles. A crack was detected (ultrasonic examination) in Nozzle 2B at 135,233 cycles. No crack was detected in Nozzle 2N prior to the leak at 375,357 cycles. In both nozzles 2B and 2N, at the cycles listed, a smaller crack had also developed at the 180° location, giving some statistical weight to the relative fatigue resistance of these two nozzles.

<sup>\*\*</sup> In Vessel 6, containing both nozzles 6 and 6A, a failure occurred first at Nozzle 6A, however the crack initiated from an arc strike on the outside surface.

It might be remarked that accurate measurement of strains on an inside corner with small  $r_i$  is quite difficult, hence the confirming evidence of the fatigue tests is significant.

The increase in stress with large values of  $r_i/T$  may be the result of removing a substantial amount of reinforcing material in comparison to the total effective reinforcing area. If so, the optimum value of  $r_i/T \cong 0.5$  indicated by Figure 24 may not be correct for larger values of D/T (test data covers D/T from 13 to 30) or for different types of reinforcing.

It appears from the test dated cited above that Eringen's analysis is reasonably accurate for inside corner radii in the range  $r_i/T$  from about 1/8 to 1/2. As pointed out by Mershon<sup>(26)</sup>, for nozzles subjected to rapid temperature variation the sharp inside corner should be removed to reduce thermal stresses. Also, some radius on the inside corner appears desirable to remove any machining tears left at the sharp corner which might be fatigue crack initiation points.

#### Stresses at Reinforcing Edge

In the section, "Comparison of Eringen's Theory with Test Data", it was noted that the maximum measured stress always occured at the inside corner\*. The hypothesis was advanced that with a sufficiently small fillet radius the maximum stress might appear in the nozzle at its juncture with the outside surface of the shell wall. The last column of Table 15 shows the maximum measured stresses at the reinforcing edge. These all occurred on the outside surface, tangential to the shell wall at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ .

(98)

<sup>\*</sup> Models with no inwardly protruding reinforcement. Table 15 shows three test models with inside reinforcing in which the maximum measured stress was not at the inside corner.

It will be noted that in some models this stress is approaching the value of the maximum measured stress and in Model WC-5LM the maximum measured stress was at the reinforcing edge, not at the inside corner. In the following section, "Comparison of Lind's Analysis with Test Data", nozzles with large d/D-ratios are included. In Table 20, Model C-7C is another example of the maximum stress occurring at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ . It should be noted that fatigue tests of welded-on-pad reinforced nozzles<sup>(28)</sup> have shown that the  $\emptyset = \pi/2$  location may be a critical location. Field failures<sup>(28, 29, 30)</sup> of welded-on-pad reinforced branch connections also indicate that stresses at the fillet weld between pad and shell may be the critical location\*. Accordingly, stresses at the edges of reinforcing should not be ignored.

In the rules of Phase Report No. 4, requirements for transitions between reinforcing and the nozzle and/or shell are included. It might be noted that for reinforcing to area requirements (Figures 2e and 2f of Phase Report No. 4), the transition radii are proportioned to the amount of reinforcing area actually used. That is, if the section is heavily over-reinforced (such as at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$  on Model WC-5LM), a correspondingly greater transition fillet radius is required. The data presented herein indicates that the rules of Phase Report No. 4 should be sufficient to prevent the development of high stresses at the reinforcing edges. In this respect, it might be noted that the rules of Phase Report No. 4 are limited to the range covered by Eringen's theory. Both of the test models cited herein which had maximum stresses at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$  also had d/Dratios well above the range covered by Phase Report No. 4; i.e., WC-5LM, d/D = 0.50; C-7C, d/D = .73.

(99)

<sup>\*</sup> However, welded-on pad reinforcing is not permitted in the design rules of Phase Report No. 4.

## COMPARISON OF LIND'S ANALYSIS WITH TEST DATA

Lind<sup>(2)</sup> gives a comparison of the K-factors\* obtained by his analysis with test data for a number of uniform-wall nozzles in cylinders. Table 20 herein includes those comparisons along with comparisons with additional test data. Included in the comparisons are several "semi-uniform" wall nozzles as shown in Figure 23, Type C, with  $L_n > \sqrt{dt}$ . These are: Ref. (24), Model AIW; Ref (20, 21), M<sub>0</sub>dels 10, 11, 12, 14, and 16 and Ref. (24), Models 2 and 8. Also included are five "drawn outlet" nozzles; Models G, H, D, E, and L from Reference (31).

The 44 models listed in Table 20 represent a fairly wide range of the parameters d/D, D/T, and s/S. The ratio of K/K<sub>e</sub> ranges from 0.79 to 1.45, with an average for the 44 models of 0.96. It appears, therefore, that Lind's analysis provides a good method of calculating the normal stress on the inside corner of nozzles similar to those listed in Table 20.

The maximum stress in Model C-7C occurred at the outside surface at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ . Lind's analysis does not give stresses other than the  $\sigma_n$ -stress at the inside corner,  $\emptyset = 0$ .

See page 19.

(100)

TABLE 20.	COMPARISON OF TEST DATA, $\sigma_{\phi i}$ at $\rho = \rho_o$ , $\phi = 0$ ,
	WITH LIND K-FACTOR

Model Iden.	Ref.	D T	d D	s S	Test Ke	Lind K	K Ke	Eringen Theory
C-1A	(24)	13.0	.05	1.04	2.45	2.66	1.09	2.45
C-2A		13.1	.13	.97	2.80	2.64	.94	2.62
C-3A		13.0	.20	1.01	3.0	2.61	.87	3.15
E-4		13.4	.50	.98	3.50	3.84	1.10	
E-4B		13.2	.50	.99	3.50	3.83	1.09	
E-4E		13.3	.50	.98	3.8	3.83	1.01	
C-7A		13.1	.80	.99	4.10	4.42	1.08	
C-8A		13.0	1.00	1.00	4.11	4.51	1.10	
C-3C	-	6.50	.18	2.02	3.09	2.75	.89	2.72
C-5C		6.58	.46	1.96	4.1	3.33	.81	
C-7C		6.50	.73	1.98	4.16*	4.35	1.04	
C-5H		13.1	.57	.42	2.70	2.63	.98	
C-7H		13.0	.91	.41	2.73	2.18	.80	
E-1		13.1	.29	.56	3.32	2./3	.82	2.94
E-Z	l	12.9	.29	. 39	2.90	2.74	.95	2.94
E-3 E 7	ļ	13.0	.29	• 50	3.20	2.74	•04 00	2.94
上= / ATU	Ý	13.3	• 29	.10	2.20	2.74	.02	2.94
ALW 7	(20 21)	14.0 20 5	. 19	.20	2.22	2.00	•99 07	2.2
2 2	(20,21)	29.5	.043	· 34 3/	2.04	2,56	07	2.45
10		29.5	054	12	2.04	2 30	.27	2.45
11		29.5	-00- 000	15	2.53	2.30	.05	2.5
12		29.5	054	12	2.55	2 30	.00	2.4
14		29.5	099	15	2 53	2.18	86	2.3
15		11.9	.16	1,13	2.70	2.64	.98	2,87
16	Ý	29.5	.18	.19	2.67	2.17	.81	2.5
2	(22)	19.0	.32	.26	2.91	2,28	.79	
-8	1	19.0	.11	.19	2.60	2.27	.87	2.2
11	۷	19.0	.058	.62	2.57	2.61	1.01	2.47
G	(29)	19.0	.63	.92	3.70	4.57	1.24	
н	1	19.0	.65	1.74	3.84	5.56	1.45	
D		19.0	.63	.92	4.93	4.57	.93	
Е	1	19.0	.65	1.74	5.08	5.56	1.10	
$\mathbf{L}$		19.0	.33	.76	3.78	3.34	.89	
R		19.0	.63	.92	5.00	4.57	.92	
S	Ý	19.0	1.00	1.00	5.42	5.11	.95	
А	(23)	26.9	.31	.31	2.6	2.75	1.06	
В	1	26.9	.30	.48	3.0	3.22	1.07	
C		26.9	.28	1.23	4.0	3.56	.89	
K		9.35	.20	1.04	3.3	2.67	.81	2.98
М	Ý	9.35	.29	.99	3.3	2.71	.82	3.42
R <b>1</b>	(30)	98.	.34	1.02	5.7	6.42	1.13	
R2	+	98.	.35	.15	2.5	2.46	.98	
	(31)	240.	.50	.50	8.33	8.88	1.07	
					Aver	age	.96	

\* Stress at inside corner; maximum stress was 4.72 S,  $\sigma_{to}$  at  $\phi = \pi/2$ 

#### STRESSES DUE TO EXTERNAL LOADS APPLIED TO NOZZLE

A complete set of external loadings on a branch connection is shown in Figure 25. There are twelve independent forces\*, each of which produce a complex field of stresses in the vicinity of the nozzle-tocylinder juncture. By linear elastic theory, the stress due to any combination of these twelve forces can be obtained if the stress field due to each of the twelve forces is known.

For small nozzles in cylindrical shells, major simplification is possible, because the stresses in the vicinity of the nozzle due to forces applied at (2) are not significantly altered by the relative-magnitude of the reactant forces at (A) and (1). For example,  $M_{2x}$  could be equilibrated entirely by  $-M_{1x}$ ; or by  $M_{1x} = -.5 M_{2x}$  plus  $M_{Ax} = -.5 M_{2x}$ , without significant change in the stress field in the vicinity of the nozzle. The same assumption could not be made where the nozzle is about the same size as the cylindrical shell.

#### Test Data--Elastic Stresses

Available test data on stresses produced by external loadings of uniform wall cylindrical nozzles in uniform wall cylindrical shells are summarized in Table 21\*\*. Available test data for models with local reinforcing are summarized in Table 22. All test data are for forces or moments applied to the nozzle.

(102)

<sup>\*</sup> The set of forces at the anchor (A) and the stresses induced thereby are obtainable from the applied forces at (1) and (2) and their stress fields.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Table 21 includes three "drawn-outlet" tees which are not "uniform-wall" but appear to be best classified as such.





FIGURE 25. GENERAL SET OF EXTERNAL LOADS ON A BRANCH CONNECTION

(103)

ΤO	
APPLIED	CYLINDER
LOADS	A WALL
EXTERNAL	A UNIFORM
OR I	IN
ЧH	Е
DAT	ZZON
TEST	WALL
OF	ž
SUMMARY	A UNIFO
•	
2	
TABLE	

									and the second se		and the second
Ref. No.	Nominal Size (1)	а(н	רוס	ဖျဖ	Load	<sup>⊙</sup> max (2) S	<u>Location δ</u> Shell	ν Direct φ	ion of <sup>C</sup> ma Surface	ax (3) α	o, (4) S
(34)	56x12 (T=1.3")	43	.19	.29	Mí Mo L	2.49 4.11 7.05	Cy1 Cy1 Cy1	0 0 0 0 6	Out Out Out	000	4.1 <sup>(a)</sup> 6.2 <sup>(a)</sup> 9.8 <sup>(a)</sup>
	56x12 (T=2.08")	27	.19	.46	Mi Mo L	1.42 2.54 3.10	Nozzle Cyl Cyl	45 45	Out Out Out	06 - 1	2.1(a) 3.8(a) 4.6(a)
( 35) 	24x4	76	.18	.24	Mi Mo	3.75 7.18	Cy1 Cy1	06	Out(b)	00	4.5 10.
	24x12	76	.53	.66	Mi Mo	2.43 6.22	Cy1 Cy1	30 90	<del>,</del> _,, , , ,	130 0	5.1 12.
>	24x24	76	1.00	1.00	Mi Mo	5.15 11.2	Nozzle Nozzle	06	>	45 90	8.4 14.
(13)	36x4 (E)	63	.12	.30	Mi Mo	1.4 2.7 6.0	<sub>Cy1</sub> (c)	(p)0 06	Out Out Out	000	2.1(a) 3.5 8.1
>	36x6 ( C)	6	.18	.25	Mi Mo L	4.25 8.5 14.0	>	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Out Out Out	000	4.7 10.5 16.7
(36)	10x10	16	1.00	1.00	Mi Mo	2.2 3.4	Nozzle Nozzle	45 67 <b>.</b> 5	Out Out	E Ì	(e) (e)
(37)	48x6(f) (2)	78	.13	.29	Mi Mo L	3.0 9.4 3.4	Nozzle Nozzle Nozzle	0 06	Out Out Out	0 06	3.1(a) 4.4(a) 9.9(a)
(31)	20x6(f) (L)	19	• 32	.76	Mí Mo	1.73 2.19	Trans. Trans.	0 06	Out Out	06	

(104)

(Continued)	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
10	•
ЦΤ	

Ċ	N
	TABLE

σ <sup>1</sup> (4) S	1 1 1 1		111	111	111
ax (3) α	168 90 31	172 175 24 42	06 06	90 24 46	000
lon of <sup>σ</sup> m Surface	Out Out In In	Out Out Out Out	Out Out Out	Out Out Out	Out Out Out
& Direct: 9	30 90 60 90	15 75 75 0	0 0 0 0	0 60 45	60 90 82.5
Location Shell	Trans. Trans. Nozzle Trans.	Nozzle Nozzle Nozzle Trans.	Fillet Nozzle Nozzle	Fillet Cyl Cyl	Fillet Fillet Fillet
omax (2) S	2.70 4.36 8.70 -3.18	2.03 2.33 5.25 3.41	3.53 8.55 12.5	5.2 5.25 23.6	18.5 90. 100.
Load	Mi Mc M	Mi Mc M	Mi No	Mi Mo	Mí Mo L
ωlω	.92	1.74	.92	1.00	• 50
יסום	• 63	. 65	.64	1,00	.50
P	19	19	19	19	230
Nominal Size (1)	20x12(f) (D)	20x12 <sup>(f)</sup> (E)	20x12(f) (R)	20x20 (S)	24x12 (C-1)
Ref. No.	(31)			۶	(33)

(1) Symbols in parentheses under the nominal size give further identification of the test models in accordance with the references cited. o<sub>max</sub> = maximum measured

stress

A = 2πrt

S = L/AL

M<sub>t</sub> s = M<sub>t</sub>/2Z

Mi or Mo S = M/Z Z =  $\pi r^2 t$ (2) S = nominal stress
in nozzle

(105)

TABLE 21. (Continued)

Footnotes to Table 21 (Continued)

(3) Location and Direction of Maximum Measured Stress

fillet means  $\sigma_{\max}$  occurred in the in the radius between cylinder and nozzle. For References (31) and (33) fillet means  $\sigma$  max occurred (ground-off) fillet weaks  $\sigma$  converses (31) and (33) fillet means  $\sigma$ Column <u>Shell</u> identifies whether <sup>Omax</sup> occurred on nozzle, cylinder or the juncture between cylinder For Reference (31) models L, D and E (drawn-outlet tees) (ground-off) fillet weld between cylinder and nozzle. and nozzle.

Column  $\phi$  identifies location around nozzle; see Nomenclature, page 9.

Column <u>Surface</u>, Out means Jmax occurred on outside surface; In means Jmax occurred on the inside surface.

Column  $\underline{\alpha}$  identifies direction of  $\sigma_{max}$  as shown in sketch.



- (4) 0'/S is an approximate extrapolated value of test data to the toe of the fillet weld between cylinder and nozzle. It does not include stress concentrations at the toe of the fillet weld.
- (a) Extrapolated stress in cylinder. Test data is not sufficient to estimate maximum stress in branch pipe; in some models, the maximum stress in the nozzle is probably higher than the stress shown.
- (b) Strain gages on the outside only.
- (c) No data for stresses in nozzle.
- (d) Test data at  $\varphi = 0$  and  $\varphi = 90$  only.
- (e) Data insufficient to extrapolate to maximum stress on either cylinder or nozzle.
- (f) These test models are "drawn-outlet" tees. Contours of Models L and D are shown in Figures 30 and 31.

APPLIED T(	
EXTERNAL LOADS,	REINFORCING
ST DATA FOR 1	LS WITH LOCAL
SUMMARY OF TH	VOZZLE, MODEJ
TABLE 22. S	N

٩	Nominal Size (1)	ЫH	סוס	လ   လ	Load	<sup>⊙</sup> max (2) S	Location & Shell	<u>δ Direct</u> φ	ion of <sup>O</sup> n Surface	<sub>ax</sub> (3) α	σ <mark>σ</mark> (4) S
	24x4(a) (Saddle)	76	.18	•24	Mo	2.6	Cy1	°06	Out	0	4. (g)
	24x8(a) (Saddle)	76	• 35	44.	Mo	4.8	Cy1	°06	Out	0	7. (g)
	24x12(a) (Saddle)	76	•53	. 66	Mo	4.9	Cy1	°06	Out	0	7. (g)
	24x4(b) (Pad)	76	.18	.24	Mo	3 • 3	Cy1	°06	Out	0	5. (g)
	24x8(b) (Pad)	76	. 35	44.	Mo	3.7	Cy1	00 <b>°</b>	Out	0	6. (g)
	24x12(b) (Pad)	76	• 53	• 66	Mo	5.7	Cy1	°06	Out	0	8. (g)
	10x10(c) (Pad)	16	1.00	1.00	Mi Mo	1.7 2.0	Nozzle Nozzle	22.5 61.5	Out Out	1 1	(h) - (h)
	8x8(d) (Tee)	16	1.00	1.00	Шİ	1.4(1)	Cy1	~80	In	ı	ĩ
	48x6(e)	78	.13	.29	Mi Mo L	1.2 4.3 8.5	Nozzle Nozzle Nozzle	0 06	Out Out Out	000	1.4(g) 4.3(g) 8.4(g)
	20x6(f) (F)	19	. 32	.75	Mi Mo L	1.41 1.49 3.28	Nozzle Nozzle Juncture	22.5 67.5 45	Out Out Out	0000	
	20x6(f) (I)	19	• 32	.75	Mi Mo	1.15 1.14	Nozzle Juncture	22.5 90	Out Out	5 90	1.1
	20x6(f) (J)	19	.32	.75	Mi Mo	1.42 1.18	Nozzle Nozzle	22.5 67.5	Out Out	4 7	1 1

(107)

(1) Symbols in parentheses with the references cite	under the nomi ed.	nal size give f	further identification of the test models in accorda
(a) Saddle Dímensions: Ts Ds H <sub>s</sub>	24x4 0.375" 9.625" 2.0"	24x8 0.468" 17.25" 3.0"	24x12 0.468" 23.75" 3.5"
T <sub>S</sub> = Saddle thickne	ss (average), I	D <sub>s</sub> = saddle out	cside diameter, H <sub>s</sub> = height of saddle above cylinder surface.
(b) Pad Dimensions: Tp Dp	24x4 0.375" 7.75"	24x8 0.375" 15.75"	24x12 0.375" 24.5"
Tp = pad thickness,	Dp = pad outsi	ide diameter.	
(c) Pad Dimensions: Tp	= 0.625", Dp =	= 19.875".	
(d) This specimen is def requirement of ASA F	scribed as an 8 316.9 and was t	3" Sch.80 weldi typical of tees	.ng tee. Presumably, it met the dimensional and stre s sold under this standard.
(e) Pad Dimensions: $ extsf{T}_{ extsf{P}}$	= 0.625", D <sub>p</sub> =	= 10.5"	
(f) Dimensions of these	specimens are	shown in Figur	.e 26.
<pre>(2) S = nominal stress in nozzle</pre>	Mi or Mo S = M/Z Z = ⊤r <sup>2</sup> t	$M_{t}^{M}$ = $M_{t}^{L}/2Z$	L O <sub>max</sub> = maximum measured S = L/A stress A = 2mrt
(3) Location and Direction o	of maximum meas	ured stress	
Column <u>Shell</u> identifies nozzle. For Reference (3 cylinder and nozzle.	whether <sup>G</sup> max o 1), models F,	occurred on noz: I, & J, junctu	zle, cylinder or the juncture between cylinder and are means $\sigma_{\max}$ occurred in the radius between
Column $\phi$ identifies loca	tion around no	zzle; see Nomer	nclature, page 9.
Column <u>Surface</u> , Out mean	is Omax occurre	id on outside su	urface; In means $\sigma_{\text{max}}$ occurred on the inside surface

FOOTNOTES FOR TABLE 22.

Stev

(108)

à

Footnotes for Table 22. (Continued)

(3) (Continued)

Column  $\underline{\alpha}$  identifies direction of  $\sigma_{max}$  as shown in sketch



- (4)  $\sigma$ '/S is an extrapolated value of test data to the toe of the fillet weld between cylinder and pad or saddle. It does not include stress concentrations at the toe of the fillet weld.
- Extrapolated stress in cylinder. Test data is not sufficient to estimate maximum stress in nozzle; in some models, the maximum stress in the nozzle is probably higher than the stress shown. Extrapolated stress in cylinder. (g)
- (h) Data insufficient to extrapolate to maximum stress in either cylinder or nozzle.
- (i) Location and direction of  $\sigma_{max}/S$  shown in sketch at right.







Ø = 0

















MODEL J

The location and type of reactant forces are not clearly indicated in most of the references cited. In most of the references, moment loads  $M_i$  and  $M_o$  were actually obtained by forces applied to the nozzle at a distance from the surface of the cylinder. To the extent that this distance was large, the moment at the nozzle-cylinder juncture would be large compared to the shear force and, presumably, the stresses arise almost entirely from the moment.

The signs of the stresses are for the force directions and  $\varphi$ locations as defined in the nomenclature, page 10. In-so-far as the behavior of the test models is linear and elastic, all stress signs change with a change in force direction.

Some of the test data is based on strain gage results in only one quadrant. For small nozzles, and large nozzles with symmetric reactant forces, the stresses in the other three quadrants would be the same magnitude as those measured; with appropriate sign changes. This assumes, of course, that the test model itself is symmetrical.

Elastic stresses in Tables 21 and 22 are shown as stress indices, the nominal stress being that in the nozzle when the nozzle is subjected to the indicated load. The stress indices are defined in the same manner as those for nozzles in spherical shells, Phase Report No. 2.

## Test Data--Fatigue

Stress intensification factors for branch connections have been given in the ASA Code for Pressure Piping, ASA B31.1<sup>(39)</sup> since 1955. In July, 1963, ASA Code Case 53 was published with deals specifically with branch connections in which the branch is smaller than the run pipe.

(111)

The stress intensification factors given in the ASA Code are for the types of loadings shown in Figure 27. The data given in ASA B31.1-1955 are based upon bending fatigue tests reported by Mark1<sup>(40, 41)</sup> and the equations he developed for the generalization of the test results. The stress intensification factors are related to a basic stress intensification factor of unity for a "typical" girth butt weld in straight pipe.

Three types of tees were tested:

- Forged welding tees meeting the dimensional and strength requirements of ASA B16.9<sup>(42)</sup>
- (2) Fabricated (velded intersection) tees, without reinforcing
- (3) Fabricated tees, with a saddle or pad reinforcing.

All test specimens were made of carbon steel (ASTM A106 Gr B or equivalent). All of Markl's test were on 4-inch nominal size. A few tests by Blair<sup>(43)</sup> are included in Markl's evaluation of his tests; these were 6.5-inch outside diameter by 0.26-inch wall, fabricated reinforced and unreinforced tees. For fabricated tees, tests were made to investigate the effect of diameterto-wall thickness ratio; i.e., wall thicknesses of 0.237-inch, 0.203-inch, and 0.053-inch.

The loading conditions are shown in Figure 27. For any one kind of tee, the first and second loading positions of Figure 27 gave practically identical results. The third loading position of Figure 27 gave higher fatigue cycles; data from it were disregarded in arriving at average stress intensification factors.

(112)

LOADING OUT-OF - PLANE IN-PLANE 2 M<sub>o3</sub> M<sub>13</sub>  $\bigcirc$ <u>6</u> δ 1 Mti Mil THRU-BRANCH m m mMol Mil 2 **8** 8 M<sub>t3</sub> Mi3 त्तीत तोत THRU-RUN Mol M<sub>II</sub> M<sub>i2</sub> M<sub>o2</sub> 3 111 111 ંિ 8 OUT-OF-PLANE IN-PLANE Indicates deflection perpendicular Indicates deflection in  $\odot$ 

FIGURE 27. TYPES OF LOADINGS, REFERENCE (40), FATIGUE TESTS ON TEES

plane of paper

to plane of paper

(113)

Analysis of the fatigue tests of tees by Markl indicated that the general equation for fatigue life developed for girth butt welds in pipe and for welding elbows could also be applied to tees; i.e.:

$$i_{f}SN^{2} = 245,000$$
 (6)

where

- i<sub>f</sub> = fatigue stress intensification factor
   (i<sub>f</sub> = 1.0 for typical girth butt weld in pipe)
- S = nominal stress = M/Z
- M = applied moment
- Z = section modulus of pipe
   (for these tests nozzle size and run pipe size were equal)
- N = number of cycles to failure.

Because of the similarity of location and direction of fatigue failures in elbows, miter bends and tees, Markl based his empirical correlation equation for tees on an analogy with elbows. For elbows, the elastic stress intensification factor is known from theory; an asymptotic solution is of the form:

$$i_e = constant/h^{2/3}$$
 (7)

where

i<sub>e</sub> = elastic stress intensification factor
h = t R/r<sup>2</sup>
t = elbow wall thickness

R = elbow bend radius

r = elbow cross-section radius

(114)

Markl's equation for the stress intensification factor for tees is:

$$i_{f} = \frac{0.9}{h_{e}^{2/3}}; \ge 1$$
 (8)

$$h_e = c t_e R_e / R^2$$
 (9)

where

$$t_e = T$$
 for unreinforced fabricated tees, of a thickness equal to  
that of the matching pipe

T = thickness of matching pipe

 $R_e = R + r_c$  for <u>welding tees</u>, where  $r_c$  designates the crotch radius

 $R_e = R$  for <u>fabricated tees</u>.

In a foot note in Reference (41), Markl stated: "For welding tees conforming to ASA Standard B16.9, assumption of  $R_e = 1.35$  R and  $t_e = 1.60$  T usually will produce conservative estimates of i on the basis of representative measurements". This <u>assumption</u> was used to derive the equation for h given in the ASA Code, i.e.,

$$h_{e} = \left(\frac{t_{e}}{T}\right)^{1.5} \left(\frac{t_{e}^{R}e}{R^{2}}\right) = (1.6)^{1.5} \left(\frac{1.6 \text{ T x } 1.35 \text{ R}}{R^{2}}\right) = 4.4 \frac{T}{R}$$
(10)

For unreinforced fabricated tees, Equation (9) with the definitions given reduces to:

$$h_{e} = \frac{T}{R}$$
(11)

and similarly for reinforced (pad or saddle) fabricated tees:

$$h_{e} = \left[\frac{T + T_{p}/2}{T}\right]^{1.5} \left[\frac{(T + T_{p}/2)R}{R^{2}}\right] = \frac{(T + T_{p}/2)^{5/2}}{T^{3/2}R}$$
(12)

where

 $T_p = pad or saddle thickness.$ 

The stress intensification factors from fatigue tests on full size tees may be summarized as:

$$i_f = 0.9/h_e^{2/3}$$

ASA B16.9 tees  $h_e = 4.4 \text{ T/R}$ Fabricated unreinforced tees  $h_e = \text{T/R}$ Fabricated reinforced tees  $h_e = (\text{T} + \text{T}_p/2)^{5/2}/(\text{T}^{3/2}\text{R})$ 

ASA B31.1 states that stress intensification factors were obtained from tests on full size outlet connections and that, for outlets less than full size, the full size factors should be used until more applicable factors are developed\*. In 1959, Markl prepared a report<sup>(44)</sup> which served as

\* However, the required value of the section modulus is not defined.

(116)

the basis for ASA B31 Code Case 53, which is reproduced herein as Figure 28. The report considered test data on elastic stresses due to external loads available at that time, plus cyclic bending tests<sup>(45)</sup> on reduced-outlet, saddle reinforced branch connections.

A summary of available fatigue tests on nozzles in cylinders, other than those in Reference (40), is given in Table 23.

## Correlation of Elastic Stress Indices with Fatigue Stress Intensification Factors

Elastic stresses in welding elbows can be calculated from available theory; which theories have been adequately confirmed by strain-gage measurements on elbows. The elastic stress index for elbows turns out to be almost exactly twice the fatigue stress intensification factor. The reason for this factor of two arises principally from the use of unity for the fatigue stress intensification factor of a "typical" girth butt weld in pipe whereas, as compared to fatigue tests of a polished bar, such welds have fatigue stress intensification factors of around two at 10<sup>5</sup> cycles to failure.

The combination of elastic stress measurements on three test models (L, D, and R) reported in Reference ( $^{31}$ ) and the bending ( $^{M}$ ) fatigue tests on these same three test models reported in Reference (77) gives another correlation between elastic stress indices and fatigue stress intensification factors. The fatigue test results from Reference (47) are summarized in Figure 29. The details of the test specimens, location of fatigue failure and location and magnitude of the maximum measured elastic stress are shown in Figures 30, 31, and 32. A comparison of elastic stress indices with fatigue stress intensification factors is tabulated below.

(117)

#### INTERPRETATIONS OF CODE FOR PRESSURE PIPING

(118)

#### **Case 53 Stress Intensification Factor**

Inquiry: Par. 621 (d) of ASA B31.1-1955, by reference to Fig. 2, provides a direct method for computing stress-intensification factors for full-size tees and fabricated branch connections. Application of the same factor to reducing-outlet connections, as recommended as a pro tem solution in Footnote 6, is believed to lead to gross over-evaluation of the stress range. Clarification and relief from an apparently unnecessarily severe requirement are desired.

*Reply:* The somewhat indefinite and conservative approach recommended by Footnote 6 reflects lack of theoretical or experimental data at the time of its formulation. Isolated test results which have since become available warrant modifying the present rules for full-size tees and branch connections and extending them to cover reducing-outlet tees and branch connections as follows by reference to ASA B31.1-1955:



effective branch section modulus in bending  $Z_6$  used in Equation (53-3) is a fictitious value used for purposes of test correlation:

where

 $r_B =$  mean branch cross-sectional radius  $t_e$  = lesser of  $t_H$  and  $i_o t_B$  = effective branch wall thickness Determine in-plane bending moment  $M_i$ , out-of-plane bending moment  $M_o$ , and torsional moment  $M_i$  at the branch junction for each of the three legs and combine the resultant bending stress  $S_b$  and torsional stress  $S_i$  by Equation (13) in Par. 622 (b), where:

$$S_i = \frac{M}{2Z}$$
 for header and branch. (53-1)

$$S_b = \frac{[(i_iM_i)^2 + (i_oM_o)^2]^{1/2}}{Z} \text{ for header}$$
(legs 1 and 2).....(53-2)

$$S_b = \frac{[(i_iM_i)^2 + (i_oM_o)^2]^{1/2}}{Z_o} \text{ for branch} (leg 3)..(53-3)$$

The value  $i_o$  of the out-of-plane stressintensification factor appearing in Equations (53-2) and (53-3) equals the value ipresently computed using the dimensions of the pipe matching the run of a tee or the header pipe.\* The value  $i_i$  of the inplane stress-intensification factor is modified as follows:

$$i_i = 0.75 i_o + 0.25 \dots (53-4)$$

The section modulus Z in Equations (53-1) and (53-2) is the section modulus of the header or branch pipe, for whichever the stress is being calculated. The

 $t_H$  = thickness of pipe matching run of tee or header exclusive of reinforcing elements

 $t_B$  = thickness of pipe matching branch

<sup>\*</sup> Note that T should not be taken as greater than 1.5t in formula for h for pad or saddle reinforced fabricated tee; this limitation was inadvertently omitted from the Code.

		TABLE 23.	DATA	RY OF RI OTHER TI	SULTS OF	FATIGUE IN REFE	TESTS OF TH RENCE (40)	GES,		-
Ref. No.	Nominal Size	Reinforcing (1)	이번	키면	ၜႃႋၹ	Load	No. of Specimens	if, Test Data	Code <sup>(3)</sup> if	Case 53 if
(45)	12x4	Saddle <sup>(a)</sup>	67.	• 34	• 39	Mi Mo	らた	1.19 4.18	3.70	2.20 2.65
(46) 	16x6	Pad(b)	31.	.41	.73	Mi Mo	13(f) 4	3.6 2.8	2.85 2.85	1.34 1.60
	16x6	Saddle <sup>(c)</sup>	31.	.41	.73	Mi Mo	3 3 13	2.4 2.8	2.85 2.85	1.34 1.60
	16x6	None(d)	31.	.41	.73	Mí	7	4.4	{2.08(g) 5.60	$\left\{ \begin{array}{c} 1.02^{(g)} \\ 3.14 \end{array} \right\}$
	16x6	None(d)	15.	.42	1.50	Mi	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	2.4	${1.28 \atop 3.45}$	1.00 {1.00
(47)	20x6 (L)	None(d)(e)	19.	.32	.76	Мо		1.2	{1.50 {4.04	{ 1.77
1	20x12 (D)	None(d)(e)	19.	. 63	.92	Mo	Ħ	2.5	1.50 { {4.04	{2.78
>	20x12 (R)	None (e)	19.	• 63	.92	Мо	7	3.9	4.05	2.78
(1) (a) (b) (c) (c) (d) (d) (e)	Saddle dimens Pad dimension Saddle dimens Drawn outlet Details of th	ions: 0.368" thic is: 0.500" thick ions: 0.500" thic tee. tee models are sh	zk x 7.3 x 12.12 zk x 11.0 nown in 1	125" 0.I 5" 0.D. 525" 0.I figures	). x 1.25 ). x 1.5" 30, 31,	" height height and 32.	above cylir above cylinc	nder surface. der surface.		
(2) Val	ue of if in Eq	uation (6); 1 <sub>f</sub> SN	M = 245,	.000						
(3) Val Lim	ues of i <sub>f</sub> from itation that T	n ASA B31.1-1955, p (reinforcing th	with S nickness	(nomina] ) 1.5	l stress) T was us	taken a ed.	s M/Zn, Zn =	<pre>section mod</pre>	lulus of n	ozzle.
(f) Par psi spe	t of the fatig for D/T = 31; cimens with pr	the tests were run $6000 \text{ for } D/T = 1$ essure and those	n with 80 15. No a without	00 psi s signific pressur	static in Sant diff Se.	ternal p erence i	ressure (nom n fatigue li	ninal pressun Lfe was obsen	re stress ( rved betwee	of 12,500 en those
(g) Toi foi	) line is if c: ced tee.	alculated as an A(	SA B 16.	9 tee; 1	bottom li	ne is if	calculated	as a fabric	ated, unre	in-

(119)



\$



(120)

## (121)



FIGURE 3'9. DIMENSIONS, FATIGUE FAILURE LOCATION AND MAXIMUM MEASURED STRESS LOCATIONS, REFERENCE (47) MODEL L



DIMENSIONS, FATIGUE FAILURE LOCATION AND MAXIMUM MEASURED STRESS LOCATIONS, REFERENCE (47) MODEL D FIGURE 31 .

(122)




FIGURE 32 . DIMENSIONS, FATIGUE FAILURE LOCATION AND MAXIMUM MEASURED STRESS LOCATIONS, REFERENCE (47) MODEL R

Model	i <sub>e</sub>	i <sub>f</sub>	<u>'e'i</u>
20 x 6, Drawn Outlet, Model L	2.2	1.2	1.8
20 x 12, Drawn Outlet, Model D	4.4	2.5	1.8
20 x 12, Fabricated, unreinforced,	8.6	3.9	2.2
Model K			

The ratio of elastic stress indices to fatigue stress intensification factors is approximately equal to two. This is the same ratio found for elbows. In general, therefore, one would expect the fatigue stress intensification factors given by ASA B31.1 and ASA Code Case 53 to be one-half of the measured elastic stress indices.

Failure locations for Models D and R in the fatigue tests were reasonably close to the points of maximum measured stress. In Model L, fatigue cracks started at the location of maximum stress, however, the crack that penetrated the wall first was at the weld. Nominally, the weld was at a lower stress level but the stress intensification due to the weld was sufficiently high to cause failure at the weld.

Before proceeding with comparisons of measured elastic stresses with fatigue test factors, it is pertinent to review certain implications of Table 23. The last two columns of this table show values of i<sub>f</sub> calculated by:

(1) Equations given in ASA B31.1-1955 (Equations 8 through 12 herein) with (for less than full size nozzles) the nominal stress S defined as  $S = M/Z_n$ , where  $Z_n = section modulus$  of the nozzle.

(2) Equations given in ASA B31 Code Case 53.

In comparing  $i_f$  from test data with  $i_f$  by Case 53, it will be noted that (with the exception of Reference (43),  $M_i$ ) Case 53 is unconservative.

With regard to the four "drawn-outlet" tees included in Table 23, it might be noted that such tees are not covered in ASA B31.1-1955. They should be better than fabricated unreinforced tees because they do not have an intersection weld in a zone of high stress. They would not be as good as ASA B16.9 tees (of the type tested by Mark1) because they do not have as large a transition radii nor the local reinforcement in the transition zone present in B16.9 tees. Accordingly, one would expect their  $i_f$ -factors to be between these calculated for a fabricated reinforced tee and an ASA B16.9 tee. As shown in Table 23, the test results for drawn outlet tees (with the exception of Reference (47), Model L) do lie between calculated values for fabricated unreinforced tees and ASA B16.9 tees.

Table 24 gives comparisons between measured elastic stresses and ASA B31.1 and ASA B31. Code Case 53. It can be seen in Tables 21 and 22 that, for all tests except References (31) and (33), and the "B16.9 tee" of Reference (36), maximum stresses were not measured; they are estimated by extrapolation of the test data. These extrapolated maximum stresses occur at the toe of a fillet weld which discontinuity itself presumably increases the local elastic stress.

Markl's tests on fabricated branch connections also contained fillet welds and, in most cases, fatigue failure occurred at the toe of these fillet welds. Accordingly, to obtain a valid comparison it is necessary to multiply  $\sigma'/S$  by a factor representing the stress concentration

(125)

TABLE 24.	COMPARISON	OF	MAXIMUM MEASUI	RED	STRESS	INDICES
	FATTGHF STR	F.S.S	TNTENSTFICAT	ION	FACTORS	

MITH

Ref.         Nominal Size(1) $\overline{D}$ $\overline{G}$ $\overline{Load}$ $\overline{S}$ $\overline{Load}$ $\overline{S}$ $\overline{Led}$ $(2)$ (34) $\overline{Sex12}$ (T = 1.3 <sup>u</sup> )         43 $\cdot 19$ $\cdot 29$ Mi $4\cdot 1$ $8\cdot 2$ (35) $\overline{Sex12}$ $27$ $\cdot 19$ $\cdot 29$ Mi $\overline{4}\cdot 1$ $8\cdot 2$ (35) $\overline{Z4x4}$ $76$ $\cdot 18$ $\cdot 24$ Mi $\overline{4}\cdot 5$ $9\cdot 0$ (35) $\overline{Z4x4}$ $76$ $\cdot 18$ $\cdot 24$ Mi $\overline{4}\cdot 5$ $9\cdot 0$ (35) $\overline{Z4x4}$ $76$ $\cdot 18$ $\cdot 24$ Mi $\overline{4}\cdot 5$ $9\cdot 0$ (38) $\overline{Z4x4}$ $76$ $\cdot 18$ $\cdot 24$ Mi $\overline{4}\cdot 5$ $9\cdot 0$ (38) $\overline{Z4x4}$ $76$ $\cdot 18$ $\cdot 24$ $Mi$ $\overline{4}\cdot 5$ $9\cdot 0$ (38) $\overline{Z4x4}$ $76$ $\cdot 18$ $\cdot 24$ $Mi$ $\overline{4}\cdot 7$ $24$ $24x4$ $76$ $\cdot$				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						11
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Ref. No.	Nominal Size(1)	미난	יסום	ωIω	Load	¢ v	i Weld (2)		2 if Code
$ \begin{pmatrix} 56x12 \\ (T = 2.08'') \\ (T = 2.18'') \\ (T = 2.1$	(34)	56x12 (T = 1.3")	43	.19	.29	Mi Mo	4.1 6.2	8.2 12.4		4 4 •
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		56x12 (T = 2.08")	27	.19	.46	Mi Mo	2.1 3.8	4.2 7.6	нц	0.2
24x12 $76$ .53       .66       Mi       5.1       10.2 $7$ $24x24$ $76$ 1.00       1.00       Mi       8.4       16.8 $24x24$ $76$ $1.8$ $24$ Mo $14.$ $28.$ $24x24$ $76$ $1.8$ $24$ Mo $4.$ $8.4$ $16.8$ $24x24$ $76$ $.18$ $.24$ Mo $4.$ $8.$ $14.$ $28.$ $24x8(a)$ $76$ $.35$ $.44$ Mo $7.$ $14.$ $24x12(a)$ $76$ $.18$ $.24$ Mo $7.$ $14.$ $24x4(b)$ $76$ $.18$ $.24$ Mo $7.$ $14.$ $24x2(b)$ $76$ $.18$ $.24$ Mo $7.$ $14.$	(35)	24x4	76	.18	.24	Mi Mo	4.5 10.	9.0 20.	20	4.
V $24x24$ 76       1.00       1.00       Mi       8.4       16.8         (38) $24x4^{(a)}$ 76       .18       .24       Mo       4.       8.         (38) $24x4^{(a)}$ 76       .18       .24       Mo       4.       8.         24x12(a)       76       .35       .44       Mo       7.       14.         24x12(a)       76       .18       .24       Mo       7.       14.         24x8(b)       76       .18       .24       Mo       5.       10.         24x8(b)       76       .18       .24       Mo       6.       12.         24x8(b)       76       .18       .24       Mo       6.       12.         24x12(b)       76       .53       .66       Mo       8.       16.         (18) $36x4$ 93       .12       .30       Mi       2.1       4.2         (18) $36x6$ 93       .18       .25       Mi       4.7       9.4         (18) $36x6$ 93       .18       .25       Mi       4.7       9.4	una vystałyczy zakonania c	24x12	76	• 53	• 66	Mi Mo	5.1 12.	10.2 24.	20 20	4.4
(38) $24x4^{(a)}$ 76.18.24Mo4.8. $\left  \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		24x24	76	1.00	1.00	Mí Mo	8.4 14.	16.8 28.	20 20	44
$ \left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(38)	24 <sub>X4</sub> (a)	76	.18	.24	Mo	.4	8.	6	6.
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		24x8(a)	76	.35	.44	Mo	7.	14.	8	4
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c } & 24x4^{(b)} & 76 & .18 & .24 & Mo & 5 & .10 \\ \hline & 24x8^{(b)} & 76 & .35 & .44 & Mo & 6 & .12 & .24x12^{(b)} & 76 & .53 & .66 & Mo & 8 & .16 & .68 & .68 & .68 & .68 & .68 & .68 & .68 & .20 & .68 & .20 & .$	<u> </u>	24x12(a)	76	.53	•66	Мо	7.	14.	ø	4.
$ \begin{pmatrix} 24x8(b) & 76 & .35 & .44 & Mo & 6. & 12. \\ 24x12(b) & 76 & .53 & .66 & Mo & 8. & 16. \\ 18) & 36x4 & 93 & .12 & .30 & Mi & 2.1 & 4.2 \\ (18) & 36x6 & 93 & .18 & .25 & Mi & 4.7 & 9.4 \\ 36x6 & 93 & .18 & .25 & Mi & 4.7 & 9.4 \\ 0 & 0 & 10.5 & 21. \\ \end{pmatrix} $		24 <sub>X4</sub> (b)	76	.18	.24	Mo	• • •	.01	6	5
$\begin{pmatrix} 18 \\ 24x12^{(b)} \\ 18 \\ 18 \\ 18 \\ 18 \\ 18 \\ 12 \\ 12 \\ 12$		24x8(b)	76	.35	•44	Mo	6.	12.	6	5
(18) $36x4$ 93 .12 .30 Mi 2.1 4.2 (E) Mo 3.5 7.0 36x6 93 .18 .25 Mi 4.7 9.4 Mo 10.5 21.	>	24x12(b)	76	.53	• 66	Мо	ŝ	16.	9	5
36x6 93 .18 .25 Mi 4.7 9.4 (C) Mo 10.5 21.	(18)	36x4 (E)	63	.12	.30	Mi Mo	2•1 3•5	4.2 7.0	23. 23.	
		36x6 (C)	93	.18	.25	Mi Mo	4.7 10.5	9.4 21.	23. 23.	

(126)

(Continued)
24.
TABLE

Ref. No.	Nominal Size(1)	미터	חק	<b>ო   თ</b>	Load	<mark>s d</mark>	i Weld(2)	2 if Code	2 if Case 53
(36)	10x10(c)	16	1.00	1.00	Mi	2.2+ 2.2+	4++ 4-4+	7.2	5.9 7.2
·					OM	- <del>1</del> + +	10.0	<b>3</b> •1	7 • 1
	10x10(d)	16	1.00	1.00	Mî	1.7+	3.4+	6.0	5.1
• <u>-</u>					Мо	2.0+	4.0+	6.0	6.0
~~	8 <sub>x8</sub> (e)	16	1.00	1.00	Мi	1.4	1.4*	1.72	1.54
(37)	48x6	78	.13	.29	Mi	3.1	6.2	20.6	7.1
<u> </u>	(2)				Mo	4.4	8.8	20.6	<b>6</b> •3
	48x6	78	.13	.29	Мi	1.4	2.8	10.5	3.8
<b>,</b>	(3)				Мо	4.3	8.6	10.5	4.7
(31)	20x6	19	.32	.76	Mi	1.7	1.7*	3.0(f) {8.1	{2.0(f) {2.8
<u></u>	(ד)				Мо	2.2	2.2*	{3.0 {8.1	[2.0 [3.5
	20x12	19	.63	. 92	Mi	2.7	2.7*	8.1 8.1	{2.0 {4.2
<u></u>	(1)				Mo	4.4	4.4*	{3.0 {8.1	{ <b>5.1</b> 5.6
					Mt	3.2	3.2*	{2.0 {2.0	{2.0 2.0
<u>    .                                </u>	20x12	19	. 65	1.74	Mi	2.0	2.0*	83.0 88.1	{2.5
	(E)				Mo	2.3	2.3*	{3.0 {8.1	{2.0 {3.1
					Mt	3.4	3.4*	[2.0 [2.0	{2.0 <b>\</b>
	20x12	19	. 64	.92	Mi	3.5	7.0	8.1	4.5
- <u></u>	(R)				Мо	8.5	17.	8.1	5.6
	20x20	19	1.00	1.00	Mi	5.2	10.4	8.1 0.1	6.3 8.1
	(S)				ЮМ	C7•C	<b>C•</b> 01	1.0	1.0
(33)	24x1 2 (C-1)	230	.50	• 20	Mi Mo	18.5 90.	37. 180.	42. 42.	32. 42.

(127)

Ċ

FOOTNOTES TO TABLE 24.

- (1) Symbols in parentheses under the nominal size give further identification of the test models in accordance with the references cited.
- Saddle reinforced (a) Saddle reinforc(b) Pad reinforced
  - - Unreinforced ()
- (d) Pad reinforced(e) Probably a tee typical of ASA B16.9 tees.
- values of  $\sigma_{max}/S$  (extrapolated to toe of weld) are multiplied by 2.0 as an approximation of the additional stress due to the fillet weld. Models in which  $\sigma_{max}/S$  is not associated For models in which the maximum measured stress occurred at the toe of a fillet weld, the with a fillet weld are marked with an asterisk. (2)
- Q (f) Top line is  $2i_f$  calculated as an ASA B16.9 tee; bottom line is  $2i_f$  calculated as fabricated, unreinforced tee.

due to the weld. In the comparisons of Table 24, a factor of two has been used. This factor gives the elastic stress indices shown in Table 24 under the column "i<sub>e</sub>, weld". As discussed previously, agreement between measured stresses and stress intensification factors would be indicated by agreement between the value of i<sub>e</sub>-weld (or  $\sigma'/S$ , where the maximum stress is not at a weld) and two times the code values (2i<sub>f</sub>). Several observations concerning the correlations of Table 24 are given below.

# In-Plane vs Out-of-Plane Moments, M, vs M

Stress intensification factors given in B31.1-1955 do not differentiate between in-plane and out-of-plane. Actually, Markl's tests (on full-size tees) indicated a relatively small difference between in-plane and out-of-plane; the out-of-plane factor being about 20 percent higher than the in-plane factor for B16.9 tees; around 3 percent higher for fabricated tees. For simplicity, the difference was ignored in B31.1-1955. There are four full size tees listed in Table 24 for which  $M_i$  vs  $M_o$  stresses can be compared. The ratios of out-of-plane to in-plane i-factors are 1.67, 1.54, 1.18, and 1.05. The best set of data, Reference (31) Model S, agrees with Markl's fatigue data in that there is not much difference in maximum stresses for full size tees and D/T of around 20.

Case 53, in-so-far as full size tees are concerned, introduces a difference in stress intensification factors depending upon the bending plane. The relationship is:

$$i_i = 0.75 i_0 + .25.$$
 (13)

(129)

where

 $i_i$  = stress intensification for  $M_i$  $i_o$  = stress intensification for  $M_o$  $i_o$  = value given in ASA B31.1-1955.

For reduced-size nozzles, the data of Table 24 indicates large differences between  $i_i$  and  $i_o$ , particularly for large values of D/T. The difference is most significant in Reference (33), Model C1, for which the ratio of  $i_o/i_i$  is 4.9. There is some indication from the test data that  $i_o/i_i$  increases as D/T increases and that for a given D/T ratio,  $i_o/i_i$  is not constant but rather reaches a maximum value at a d/D ratio between 0.5 and 1.0.

(130)

# Torsional Moment, M<sub>t</sub>

Both B31.1-1955 and Case 53 gives a stress intensification factor of unity for torsional moment on the nozzle; i.e.,  $S = M_t/2Z$ . However, if one looks at Figure 27, loading position 2, out-of-plane, it appears that the test represents a torsional moment on the nozzle--for which the stress intensification factor was found to be greater than unity. Table 24 includes two models with  $M_t$ -loading, Reference (31), Models D and E, both tests give a significantly greater than unity stress index for torsional loading.

# Force Loads

The ASA Code does not give stress intensification factors for force (as distinguished from moment) loads. As shown in Tables 21 and 22, an axial load on the nozzle can produce significantly high stress indices. However, in most piping systems the forces are usually small compared to the moments. Table 24 includes one "ASA B16.9 tee" similar to those tested by Markl. It is interesting to note that the maximum stress for inplane bending agrees fairly well with the fatigue stress intensification factor and that the location and direction of that stress (See footnote i of Table 22) agrees with the location and direction of fatigue failures reported by Mark1.

#### B31.1-1955 Factors

Considering the several rough approximations involved in the comparisons shown in Table 24, the agreement between stress indices and stress intensification factors is, for the most part, reasonably good. There are several gross exceptions. For Reference (18) Model E, the Code stress intensification factor is significantly higher than indicated by the stress indices. For Reference (33) Model C-1, the Code stress intensification factor for out-of-plane bending is significantly lower than indicated by the stress indices.

# B31.1 Case 53

The maximum stress intensification factor from Case 53 is obtained from Equation (53-3) of Case 53. The relationship between stress factors of B31.1-1955 (with S defined as  $M/Z_n$ , where  $Z_n$  = section modulus of nozzle) and Case 53 Equation (53-3), can be summarized as follows:



	(i <sub>i</sub> ) <sub>53</sub>	(i <sub>0</sub> ) <sub>53</sub>
T < i t	$(.75 i_0 + 0.25) \frac{t}{T}$	i <sub>o</sub> t T
$(Z_e = \pi r^2 T)$		
T > i <sub>o</sub> t	$.75 + \frac{0.25}{i_o}$	1.0
$(Z_e = \pi r^2 i_o t)$		

In the above:

- t = nozzle wall thickness
- T = cylinder wall thickness

(i<sub>o</sub>)<sub>53</sub> = stress intensification factor for M<sub>o</sub> applied to nozzle, Case 53

Case 53 gives stress intensification factors either lower than or equal to those given in B 31.1-1955. The comparisons shown in Table 24 indicate that, on the average, Case 53 factors agree better with measured stress than the B 31.1-1955 factors. However, Case 53 tends to be unconservative in many cases. This may be more apparent for smaller values of t/T than represented by the test models. A similar tendency of Case 53 to be unconservative is also apparent in Table 23. Accordingly, in the writers' opinion, Case 53 should not be used if a conservative evaluation of stresses is desired. Comparisons of Measured Stresses With Calculated Stresses

# Bijlaard and Bijlaard-Wichman Comparisons

At present, an accurate analytical method for calculating stresses due to external loads on nozzles is not available. Bijlaard (3,4,5) gives an analytical method for calculating stresses in a cylindrical shell due to distributed loads on the surface of the shell, as shown in Figure 33. For lack of a more applicable analysis, Bijlaard's results have been used to compute stresses in a cylindrical shell with a cylindrical nozzle, the nozzle being loaded by a moment or a radial thrust. To the extent that the stiffness of the nozzle is equivalent to the stiffness cut-out by the opening, this analysis might be expected to give some indication of the stresses in the cylindrical shell; of course the analysis does not give any information as to stresses in the nozzle.

Wichman, Mershon & Hopper<sup>(6)</sup> compared Bijlaard's results with some of the test data listed in Table 21 (in particular, Reference (31) Model R and Reference (33) Model C-1); these comparisons indicated that Bijlaard's results are unconservative when used to predict stresses for nozzles in cylinders with large D/T and/or d/D-ratios. Wichman, et.al. have modified Bijlaard's results, based on test data; in addition to presenting Bijlaard's data in more useable form. Table 25 gives comparisons with Wichman et.al. as well as with stresses obtained directly from a computer program based on Bijlaard's analysis.

With regard to location of the calculated stresses, Bijlaard's stresses are calculated for the following points:

(133)





In - Plane Bending



**Bijlaard** Assumptions



Out-of-Plane Bending

FIGURE 33. COMPARISON OF BIJLAARD'S ASSUMPTIONS WITH ACTUAL GEOMETRY OF NOZZLES IN CYLINDRICAL SHELLS WITH MOMENT LOADING

TABLE 25.	COMP ARISON	OF MEASURED	STRESSES	(EXTERNAL I	OADS	ON NOZZLE)	HLIM
	CALCULATED	STRESSES					

Ref. No.	Nominal Síze	<b>рі</b> н	םןק	ဖုလ	Load	<u>σ</u> '(1)	Bijlaard <b>(2)</b> Wichman	Bijlaard <sup>(3)</sup>	Nozzle-in <sup>(4)</sup> sphere
(34)	56 x 12	43	.19	.29	M.	4 <b>.</b> 1	3.0	4.05	7.81
	(T = 1.3'')				' z'	6.2	4.8	5.92	7.81
					° ц	9,8	11.8	11.7	9.14
<u></u>	56 x 12	27	.19	•46	, M	2.1	1.6	1.86	5.65
}	(T = 2,08")				' z	3 <b>.</b> 8	2.1	2.42	5,65
~					, ч	4.6	5 • 3	5.43	6•99
(35)	24 x 4	76	.18	•24	М,	4.5	6.0	6.02	10.6
					ч М	10.	9.4	10.5	10.6
	24 x 12	76	• 53	• 66	M.	5.1	7.5	3,53	8.43
					ч М	12.	23.1	14.2	8.43
(18)	36 x 4	93	.12	.30	, M	2.1	3.5	3.64	12.1
	(E)				• يە ك	3.5	4.7	5.09	12.1
					' <sub>г</sub>	8.1	11.4	11.7	14.3
	36 x 6	93	.18	.25	M.	4.7	6.6	6•49	12.1
	(c)				ر عر	10.5	11.1	12.2	12.1
					, LJ	16.7	22.3	21.5	13.2
(37)	48 x 6	78	.13	.29	M.	3.1	3.2	3.50	11.0
	(2)				м	4.4	4.5	4.84	11.0
					, LT	6.6	10.4	11.3	13.1

(135)

					TABLE 25	5. contd.			
Ref. No.	Nominal Size	Аŀ	TIA	ဖူလ	Load	σ1 (1) S	Bijlaard-(2) Wichman	Bijlaard(3)	Nozzle-in <sup>(4)</sup> Sphere
(31)	20 x 6	19	.32	.76	M,	1.73	1.7	1.77	5.13
	(T)				<sup>-</sup> ¤ິ	2.19	2.4	2.80	5.13
	20 x 12	19	• 63	.92	M.	2.70	2.9	2.43	4.23
	(a)				ן בי	4.36	6.4	5.99	4.23
gaar taala ay ka saa ay					° പ	8.70	ŧ	6.71	4.20
	20 x 12	19	• 65	1.74	м,	2.03	1.7	1.30	4.15
	(E)				י ד א	2.33	3 <b>.</b> 8	3.27	4.15
					Ъ	5 • 25	1	3.60	4.11
<del></del>	20 x 12	6т	• 63	.92	, M	3 • 53	2.9	2.43	4.23
<del>.</del>	(R)				- 1 2	8.55	6 <b>.</b> 4	5.99	4.23
~					ч	12.5	8	6.71	4.20
(33)	24 x 12	230	.50	1.00	, M	18.5	14.5	2.77	14.5
	(C-1)				ן א א	.06	65.	29.7	14.5
	~ ~				ЪЧ	100.	1	21.2	14.7
Ī		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	ficd in	rahla 21					

(1) These stresses are identified in Table 21.

Calculated indices using the graphs of Reference (6) without local stress concentration factor. (2)

...

Calculated indices using a computer program based on Reference (3). (E)

Calculated indices using a computer program based on a nozzle in a spherical shell. Computed maximum stresses occurred in the nozzle, not the sphere. (†)

(136)

)

Load	Location
M	ρ = 0.875r,Ø = 0
Mo	$\rho = 0.875 r, \emptyset = 90^{\circ}$
L	$\rho = 0$

The signs of the calculated stresses given in Table 25 for  $M_i$ and  $M_o$  loadings are all positive on the outside surface on the side of the nozzle for which  $M_i$  or  $M_o$  gives a nominal tensile stress in the nozzle. The signs of calculated stress for the axial load (which is defined as giving nominal tensile stresses in the nozzle) are also all positive on the outer surface.

The measured stresses and calculated stresses agree as to sign and surface. That is, with one exception, all measured stresses shown in Table 25 are tension on the outside surface. The one exception occurs in Reference (31) Model (L) with axial load on the nozzle, for which the maximum measured stress was on the inside surface.

In-so-far as agreement of stress location and direction, the calculated stresses imply that the maximum stress locations is at  $\emptyset = 0$  for M<sub>i</sub>,  $\emptyset = 90^{\circ}$  for M<sub>o</sub>. For M<sub>i</sub>, small d/D,  $\alpha = 0^{*}$  i.e., the maximum stress is in the  $\rho$ -direction; for large d/D,  $\alpha = 90^{\circ}$ , i.e., the maximum stress is in the  $\emptyset$ direction. For M<sub>o</sub>,  $\alpha = 0$ , i.e., the maximum stress is in the  $\emptyset$ -direction. Comparison of these directions with the directions shown in Table 21 ( $\emptyset$ - and  $\alpha$ -columns) indicates a general tendency to agree with the calculated stress location and directions. However, in those models which were more completely strain-gaged (as a function of  $\emptyset$ ), the maximum stresses were usually found to be located somewhere between  $\emptyset = 0$  and  $\emptyset = 90^{\circ}$ . It might be noted that Markl's fatigue tests, as well as the fatigue tests listed in Table 23, also indicate that the maximum stress does not occur at  $\emptyset = 0$ or 90 for either M<sub>i</sub> or M<sub>o</sub>.

\*  $\alpha$  is defined in footnote (3) of Table 21.

(137)

In comparing "Bijlaard-Wichman" (Reference 6) stress indices with "Bijlaard" stress indices of Table 25 it should be noted that differences arise from three sources:

- Reference (6) graphs are modified, in a conservative direction, for larger values of D/T and d/D.
- (2) Reference (6) procedure is based on using the outside radius of the nozzle. The calculated values (Bijlaard-column) are based on the mean radius of the nozzle--as are all other calculations given in this report.
- (3) The calculated stresses are somewhat dependent upon the assumed ratio of length to radius of the cylindrical shell. Reference (6) graphs are based on a ratio of 4 for M<sub>i</sub> and M<sub>o</sub>; 8 for L. The calculated results are based on actual shell lengths where known [Reference (33) and Reference (34) models]; on a ratio of 4 for other models.

For test models within the limits of Phase Report No. 4 rules  $(d/D \sqrt{D/T} < 1.1)$ , Bijlaard's results are in reasonably good agreement with the test data,  $\sigma'/S$ .

For larger values of  $(d/D) \sqrt{D/T}$ , Reference (6) graphs are in better accord with test results ( $\sigma$ '/S) than Bijlaard's analysis. In addition, Reference (6) method for establishing maximum stresses includes the use of stress concentration factors based on the fillet radius  $r_0$ . In adjusting Bijlaard's theoretical curves, Reference (6) used a stress concentration factor of 1.4 for Reference (31), Model R and Reference (33), Model C-1. Application of this same factor, of course, brings Bijlaard-Wichman into good agreement with the test results; i.e.,

(138)

Model Iden.	Load	<u><u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u></u></u>	Bijlaard-Wichman with Stress concentration factor of 1.4
20 x 12	M,	3.53	4.1
<b>(</b> R <b>)</b>	M	8.55	9.0
24 x 12	M,	18.5	20.3
(C-1)	M	90.	90.

The fillet radius of the drawn outlet tees (Reference 31, Models L, D, and E) are not well defined, particularly at  $\emptyset = 90^{\circ}$ . The effective fillet radius is probably in the range of T to 3T, implying a stress concentration factor of about 1.4 to 1.2 according to Reference (6), Figure B-2. For the other models considered in Table 25, there was a fillet weld rather than a fillet radius. Following the philosophy of Reference (6), a stress concentration factor for the fillet weld of 2.0 or larger might be used. With these stress concentration factors, the procedure of Reference (6) would give calculated stresses equal to or greater than the values of  $\sigma'/S$  listed in Table 25.

#### Nozzle-in-Sphere Comparisons

Table 25 also shows calculated stress indices for nozzles-inspheres. Of course, this analytical model cannot differentiate between M<sub>i</sub> and M<sub>o</sub> loadings; however, it does give stresses in the nozzle. For the models of Table 25, the maximum calculated stress was in the nozzle; not in the sphere. It should be noted that measured stresses in the nozzle are not



The very-thin wall model of Reference (33) had high stresses in relation to any of the comparison calculation methods used herein. It was thought that the nozzle-in-sphere analogy might indicate high nozzle stresses for the test model; such is not the case. An additional test on the same cylinder with a smaller nozzle (say d/D = .07, so that it would be within the range of Eringen's theory for internal pressure) would contribute significantly to available test data.

#### Nonuniform-Wall Models

Table 25 is restricted to "uniform-wall" test models. A few cross-comparisons can be made between the test data of Table 21 and that of Table 22. These are shown in Table 26. In the group "A" models of Table 26, addition of a reinforcing saddle or pad reduced  $\sigma'/S$  in the cylinder The test data is not sufficient to determine if stresses were also reduced in the nozzle. In the group "B" models of Table 26, addition of local reinforcing reduced  $\sigma_{max}/S$  significantly. The location of maximum measured stresses are shown in Figure 26. It seems probable that the maximum stresses measured in Group "B" models were highly dependent upon the transition radii and transition tapers used in the models; the reference cited does not specify the transition radii.

(140)

TABLE 26. COMPARISON OF UNREINFORCED AND REINFORCED TEST MODELS

٢

1.49 1.15 1.14 1.18 1.41 1.42 8.4 NO<sup>-</sup> **1.**4 4.3 2. 5 8 4 7. .0 Reinforcing (1)<sup>(1)</sup> (1)<sup>(b)</sup> Reinforced (F)<sup>(b)</sup> Sadd1e Saddle Saddle Pad Pad Pad Pad Ref. No. (38) (31) (37) 1.73<sup>(a)</sup> Unreinforced 2.19 I.73 2.19 2.19 00 1.73 6°6 4°4 3.1 12 . 12. 10. 10. Ref. No. (31) (35) (35) (37) (35) (35) ł l Load ъ ъ ع° μ° ۳o дo .н Д д° ≥° ъ ц ъo ъ́г л. Д Ц .66 .75 .75 •24 .44 .29 .75 ဖျပ .18 .35 .53 .13 .32 .32 .32 PIP 76 76 76 78 19 19 19 AH Size (1) Nominal 24 x 12 20 x 6 4 8 9 20 x 6 20 x 6  $(\mathbf{F})$ E 5 × × × 24 24 48 Group щ

Further identification of these models is given in Tables 21 and 22. E

- Comparison is made with the 20 x 6 drawn outlet tee, Model L. As shown in Table 25, the measured stresses agree quite well with Bijlaard's analysis. They do not agree with the nozzle-in-sphere analogy, nozzle stresses, presumably because of the transition radius and gradual change in thickness. (a)
- (b) Reinforcing is shown in Figure 26.

(141)

# STRESSES DUE TO EXTERNAL LOADS ON NOZZLES DESIGNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH PHASE REPORT NO. 4

#### Uniform-Wall Models

It was noted that Bijlaard's analysis for uniform-wall models is in reasonable agreement with measured stresses in the cylinder within the range of (d/D) $\sqrt{D/T} < 1.1$ . This, of course, is the range covered by Phase Report No. 4, "Proposed Design Procedure for Radial Nozzles in Cylindrical Shells with Internal Pressure". Accordingly, stress indices for external loads M<sub>i</sub> and M<sub>o</sub> were calculated for the nozzle designs covered by Phase Report No. 4.

In these calculations, it should be noted that the stress index is based on the thickness of the nozzle, t; where t = (d/D)T. For designs with reinforcing on the nozzle (Figure 3a of Phase Report No. 4), the use of this stress index assumes that the nozzle thickness t' = gt extends for a short distance, then tapers down to t. The index stress is then for the pipe with thickness t attached to the nozzle; that pipe is assumed to be designed for the same internal pressure as the cylindrical shell; i.e., D/T = d/t.

The calculations showed that the stress indices are almost always less than 1.0; for most dimensional parameters the stress indices are much less than 1.0. The few dimensional parameters for which the stress indices are greater than unity are shown in Table 27. For reinforcing on the cylinder (Figure 3b of Phase Report 4), the stress indices are always less than unity. For reinforcing on the nozzle (Figure 3a of Phase Report No. 4), stress indices greater than unity were calculated for the right-hand limit of some of the g-curves; the largest calculated stress index was 1.52. TABLE 27. CALCULATED STRESSES IN MODELS AT RIGHT HAND LIMIT OF APPLICABILITY OF PHASE REPORT NO. 4, FIGURE 3b

					. (3)	
				omax	/s/~/	
e	f	τ	Bijlaa	<sub>ird</sub> (3)	Nozzle-in-S	phere <sup>(4)</sup>
02 []	⊐IH	₽I₽	м. Т	мо М	Sphere	Nozzle
e	15	•29	1.01	1.40	.98	1.38
4	25	.225	1.00	1.38	1.02	1.31
ŝ	40	.18	1.01	1.42	1.06	1.32
9	55	.15	66°	<b>1.</b> 34	1.04	1.28
8	06	.12	1.02	<b>1.</b> 39	1.11	1.20
10	120	•00	<b>.</b> 84	1.10	06.	1.09
10	100	.12	1.09	1.52	<b>1.</b> 26	• 89
12	150	.07	. 68	.82	.72	•98
12	125	.10	1.00	1.37	1.15	.81
16	220	• 05	•54	•58	.56	•86
16	155	60•	1.01	1.40	1.19	• 59
20	300	•037	14.	0.46	•43	•76
(1)	$g = t^{t}/t; t =$	= (d/D) =				
(2)	σ <sub>max</sub> = maximu S = M/πr <sup>2</sup> t	<pre>m calculated : (not t')</pre>	stress			
(3)	Stresses obt: for distribut For M <sub>1</sub> : <sup>G</sup> max For M <sub>0</sub> : <sup>G</sup> max For M <sub>0</sub> : <sup>G</sup> max	tined from a ted loads on at $\emptyset = 0$ , p is on outsi at $\emptyset = 0$ , p is on outsi	<pre>computer pro a cylinder. = 0.875 r de surface i = 0.875 r de surface i </pre>	gram based on n Ø-direction n p-direction	Bijlaard's an	alysis
(†)	Stresses obta spherical s	tined from an	alysis of a	moment applied	l to a nozzle	in a
	Values under Values under <sub>Omax</sub> is on	"sphere" are "nozzle" are the outside a	for $\sigma_{\max}$ in for $\sigma_{\max}$ in surface in a	the spherical the nozzle in tangential di	shell. the spherica rection.	l shell.

(143)

Table 27 also gives the stress indices for the same group of models calculated on the nozzle-in-sphere analogy. This group of models is characterized by the relationship t  $\cong$  T. For these models, the stresses calculated by Bijlaard's analysis are not too different than those calculated by the nozzle-in-sphere analogy. However, for models with t < < T, the nozzle-in-sphere analogy indicates relatively high stresses in the nozzle. Of course, Bijlaard's analysis does not give any information as to stresses in the nozzles.

Because, for most of the dimensional range covered by Phase Report 4, Bijlaard's analysis gives stress indices significantly less than unity, it is obvious that the analysis does not give maximum stresses; the nominal stress in the pipe attached to the nozzle is never less than unity.

Some guidance on stresses in the nozzles may be obtained from the nozzle-in-sphere analogy. Figures 34 (a) and (b) show the stress indices so calculated. The maximum calculated stress is almost always in the nozzle--not the sphere. The highest stresses occur when reinforcing is placed on the sphere; the nozzle thickness t = (d/D)T is relatively thin compared to T' = hT hence high stresses occur in the nozzle. The highest stress index is 3.2, for h = 1.5, D/T = 300, d/D = .07.

The above calculations were all based on the assumption that the cylinder thickness was everywhere equal to T' for Bijlaard's analysis; the sphere thickness was everywhere equal to T', nozzle thickness equal to t' for the nozzle-in-sphere analogy. Phase Report No. 4 requires that these increased thicknesses extend for a distance  $\sqrt{DT'}$  for T',  $\sqrt{dt'}$  for t'. It is believed that these distances are sufficient so that stresses at the nozzle-cylinder juncture are calculatable as if the increased thickness

(144)

Figure 34(a). Reinforcing on Shell, h = T'/T4 h = 1.5 3 h=1.4 h = 1.3  $\frac{\sigma_{max}^2}{S}$ h=1.1 h=1.2 h=1.0 I. 80. D\b .2 .3 :5 .01 .02 .03 .04 .05 .06 .4 .6 Figure 34(b). Reinforcing on Nozzle, g = t'/t2 4  $\frac{\sigma_{\max}}{S}$ 5 g=6 10 g=3 16 12 g=2 .8 20 3 .6 5 .4 .3 8 g=10 12 g=20 - <u>16</u> .2



.08

.1

d/D

.05 .06

.04

.3

.4

.5

6

.2

.ıL .0i

.02

.03

existed everywhere. It is not apparent, however, that the preceding calculations indicate the magnitude of stresses at the juncture of the reinforcing with the shells. For the juncture on the nozzle from t' to t (for which a 1:3 transition taper is required), a stress index of 1.5 is believed to be adequate. Stress indices for transition on the cylinder from T' to T are discussed in the next section of this report.

#### Nonuniform-Wall Models

The design procedure of Phase Report No. 4 permits the use of compact reinforcing; provided (a) the cross sectional area of the reinforcing meets certain requirements (for larger values of (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T}$ , the reinforcing area must equal or exceed 0.75 dT), (b) the reinforcing area be placed within a presented zone given by  $L_c = 0.75 (T/D)^{2/3}D$ , and (c) prescribed transition radii and tapers are used. The test data shown in Table 26, Group B, indicates that local reinforcing is effective in reducing maximum stresses. However, this is an isolated piece of test data, i.e., for D/T = 19, d/D = 0.32, s/S = .75.

The test data of Table 26, Group A, is significant with respect to stresses at the edge of a reinforced section on the cylinder. It should be noted that the maximum stresses for the reinforced models in Group A are extrapolated values on the cylinder to the toe of the fillet weld between reinforcement and cylinder. The lengths of reinforcing along the cylinder,  $L_c = 0.75 (T/D)^{2/3}D$  and  $\sqrt{DT}$  are shown below.

(146)

1	1	t.	7	١
- L	r	4	1	,

Model	Reinforcing Length on Cylinder	L <sub>c</sub>	$\sqrt{\text{DT'}}$ *
24 x 4, Saddle reinforced	2.31	.98	4.0
24 x 4, Pad reinforced	1.37	.98	4.0
24 x 8, Saddle reinforced	3.56	.98	4.0
24 x 8, Pad reinforced	4.31	•98	4.0
48 x 6, Pad reinforced	1.94	.2.0	7.8

The reinforcement lengths used in these models, except for the 24 x 8 models, are significantly less than  $\sqrt{DT'}$ ; the length required by Phase Report 4 for uniform-wall reinforcing on the cylinder. However, the measured stress intensities shown in Table 26 suggest that, for thin-wall cylinders, the maximum stress may occur at the reinforcing-to-cylinder juncture even with a reinforcing length equal to  $\sqrt{DT'}$ . The reinforcing length of the 48 x 6 model happens to be equal to that permitted in Phase Report 4 for compact reinforcing, hence it is a useful guide as to the stress indices for such designs.

Some further information might be obtained by using Bijlaard's<sup>(5)</sup> suggestions for a reinforcing pad; or by using the nozzle-in-sphere analogy, for which the effect of any desired contour of reinforcing can be calculated. Time and funds do not permit investigation along these lines and, in any event, additional confirmation by tests would seem desirable if not essential. Accordingly, it appears necessary to use a conservative approach at this time. It is suggested that, for nozzles designed in accordance with Phase Report No. 4, Figure 2d, 2e, or 2f, the value of  $\sigma_{max}/S$  forM<sub>1</sub> or M<sub>0</sub> be obtained by the equation:

<sup>\*</sup> T' is taken as the sum of the cylinder and reinforcing thickness, even though they are not integral.

(148)  
$$\sigma_{\max} = \frac{1.8}{h_e^{2/3}}$$
(14)

where  $h_e = 3.3 \text{ T/R}$ .

Comparisons of test data and Equation (14) are shown in Table 28. None of these test models are within the dimensional range covered by Phase Report rules because (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T}$  is greater than 1.1. Also, models in Group A and C do not meet the rules because the reinforcing is not integral with the shells. It is not known if the transition radii of Group B models meet the Phase Report 4 rules.

In Table 28, Group A, Equation (14) is conservative for measured stresses in the cylinder and probably conservative with respect to stresses in the nozzle. In Table 28, Group B, Equation (14) is conservative. Table 28, Group C, is a comparison of fatigue tests (Table 23) with Equation (14). There are several comparisons which are not conservative, however, these models are not only well beyond the dimensional range of Phase Report 4 rules, but also fatigue failures occurred at the fillet weld between the pad or saddle and the shell.

Equation (14) is, of course, of the same form used in the ASA piping code. The following tabulation may aid in putting Equation (14) in perspective with other components.

Component	he	Relative <u>i-factors</u>
ASA B16.9 Tees	4.4 T/R	1.00
Nozzles per Phase Report 4, Compact Reinforcing	3.3 T/R	1.21
ASA B16.9 Elbows (Bend radius = 3 times cross section radius)	3.0 T/R	1.29
Fabricated, reinforced tees with T <sub>p</sub> = T	2.76 T/R	1.36
Fabricated, unreinforced tees	T/R	2.68

NOZZLES
REINFORCED
NO
DATA
TEST
HTTW
(14)
EQUATION
OF
COMP AR I SON
28.
TABLE

			and the second			and the second		
Group	Ref. No.	Nominal Size(1)	위단	חןקי	ဖူလ	Load	<sub>σ</sub> '(2)	σ <sub>max</sub> /S <sup>(3)</sup> Eq. (14)
¥ —	(38)	24 x 4 (Saddle)	76	.18	•24	о Ж	• 7	9.2
		24 x 8 (Saddle)	76	•35	•44	о М	7.	9.2
		24 x 4 (Pad)	76	.18	•24	o	• 9	9•2
		24 x 8 (Pad)	76	.35	• 44	м М	ő	9•2
	(37)	48 x 6	78	.13	•29	M,	<b>1.</b> 4	<b>9</b> •4
≻		(Pad)				్ల	4.3	<b>9.</b> 4
ß	(31)	20 x 6	19	.32	.75	M	1.41	3.6
	<u></u>	(F)				" <sup>20</sup>	1.49	3.6
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		20 x 6	19	.32	•75	, M	1.15	3.6
		(I)				ہ ا	1.14	3.6
>	j	20 x 6	19	.32	• 75	M.	1.42	3.6
*		(ſ)				ц Д	I.18	3.6
U	(45)	12 x 4	67	.34	.39	M.	(2 if) 2.4	8.4
		(Saddle)				' <sup>E</sup> 0	8.4	8.4
	(97)	16 x 6	31	.41	•73	, T	7.2	5.1
		(Pad)				ы	5.6	5.1
>	(97)	16 x 6	31	.41	• 73	Ч. Ч	4.8	5.1
<b>1</b>		(Saddle)				о М	5.6	5.1

(149)

TABLE 28. FOOTNOTES

- These models are further described in the footnotes to Table 22 and  $23_{\,\circ}$ (E)
- $\sigma^{\text{I}}/S$  is identified in Table 22. Values of  $i_f$  are derived from fatigue tests as shown in Table 23. (2)
  - (3)  $\sigma_{\text{max}}/\text{S} = 1.8/h_e^{2/3}$ , where  $h_e = 3.3 \text{ T/R}$ .

The remaining question to be discussed concerns an appropriate stress index at the edge of the reinforcing-to-cylinder transition for Phase Report 4 designs, Figure 2b, for which the required length of rein-

forcing is equal to  $\sqrt{\text{DT}'}$ . No directly applicable test data is available, however, a crude but probably conservative approximation can be developed as follows.

Bijlaard's analysis indicates that maximum stresses can be conservatively estimated as being in inverse ratio to the pad diameter,  $d_p$ . This implies an equation of the form:

$$\frac{\sigma_{\max}}{S} = I_1 \left[ k_1 \frac{d}{d_p} \right]$$
(15)

To be consistent with Equation (14),  $k_1$  should be such that when  $d_p$  is equal to  $L_c$ , the quantity  $(k_1 d/d_p)$  should be equal to unity. Since  $d_p$ , for Phase Report 4 Figure 2b designs, is equal to  $\sqrt{DhT}$  and  $L_c = 0.75(T/D)^{2/3}D$ , this leads to the equation:

$$\frac{\sigma_{\text{max}}}{S} = I_1 \left[ \frac{0.75}{h^{1/2} (D/T)^{1/6}} \right] = I_p$$

I<sub>p</sub> for h of: D T 1.0 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5 .99 10 1.21 1,15 1.10 1.06 1.03 20 1.72 1.64 1.57 1.51 1.45 1.40 2.42 40 2.31 2.21 2.12 2.06 1.97 3.43 80 3.27 3.13 3.00 2.92 2.80 100 3.85 3.67 3.35 3.37 3.27 3.14 200 5.45 5.20 4.97 4.78 4.64 4.45 300 6.67 6.36 6.09 5.85 5.68 5.45

Values of  $I_{D}$  are tabulated below

# Summary

The suggested stress indices for Phase Report No. 4 designs subjected to either M or M loads are:

(1) Uniform Wall Reinforcing

Nozzle-to-cylinder juncture: Use larger of:

(a) Stress indices calculated by Bijlaard's analyses, or

(b) Stress indices calculated from nozzle-in-sphere.

Transition from t' to t on nozzle

Stress index = 1.5.

Transition from T' to T on cylinder

Stress Index = 
$$I_1 \left[ \frac{0.75}{h^{1/2} (D/T)^{1/6}} \right]$$
  
 $I_1 = 1.8/h_e^{2/3}$   
 $h_e = 3.3 T/R$ 

(2) Compact Reinforcing

Stress Index =  $I_1$ , defined above.

The stress indices are not accurate but are believed to be conservative.

# STRESSES DUE TO COMBINED INTERNAL PRESSURE AND EXTERNAL LOADS APPLIED TO THE NOZZLE

This section of the report is based on the assumption that stresses due to internal pressure can be linearity combined with the stresses due to external loads. The subject of linear superposition is discussed in Phase Report No. 2 (pp 162-163). It was concluded, on the basis of available theory and test data, that linear superposition is apparently always conservative, and reasonably accurate for D/T values up to 50 and d/D up to 0.5. The discussion covers both nozzles in spherical shells and nozzles in cylindrical shells.

Even with linear superposition, the determination of maximum stresses due to combinations of pressure and external loads is difficult. The problem arises, in part, because the pressure and each external load are independent of each other. At a given point on the nozzle-cylinder, both the magnitude and direction of the maximum principal stress varies as a function of the load ratios, i.e.,  $P/M_i$ ,  $P/M_o$ ,  $M_i/M_o$ , etc. Also, of course, the point at which the maximum principal stress occurs is dependent upon these load ratios. If there existed sufficient test data to establish the stress magnitudes and directions at each point on a nozzle-cylinder structure for each of the loads, or if a theory existed which would give such information, it would be a relatively simple task to develop a computer program to compute maximum stresses due to any combination of pressure and external loads. While a theory does exist for internal pressure (limited to small d/D, uniform-wall nozzle and cylinders), neither the test data nor available theories for external load are adequate. However, it appears from the preceding section of this report that available test data and theory do give a reasonably good estimate of the magnitude of the maximum stress due to certain types of external loads (with some reservations concerning stresses in the nozzles). The location and direction of those principal stresses is not well established. The only apparent conservative approach at this time, therefore, appears to consist of the assumption that maximum stresses due to pressure and external loads occur at the same point and in the same direction.

For most test models, the maximum stress due to internal pressure occurs at the inside corner,  $\emptyset = 0$ ,  $\rho = \rho_0$ . Detailed examination of the test data, for models with (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T} < 1.1$ , indicates that the stresses due to external loads (M<sub>i</sub>, M<sub>o</sub>, L) are quite small at this particularly location. On the other hand, the stresses due to internal pressure are not negligible at points of maximum stress due to external load. For Reference (33) Model C-1, with (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T} = 7.6$ , the maximum stress due to pressure occurred at essentially the same location and direction as the maximum stress due M<sub>i</sub>. Accordingly, while this approach usually involves significant conservatism, in some cases the conservatism may not be large.

Whether the degree of conservatism is intolerable may depend upon how the designer estimates the external loads that will be imposed on the nozzle. This estimate is often necessary because the piping system is not laid out at the time the vessel is designed. If the designer assumes that the load on the nozzle will be as much as the pipe can transmit to it, then the designer may indeed find the conservatism intolerable. However, there are several inherent limitations in most piping systems which prevent such loads from being imposed. These are discussed in Phase Report No. 2 (pp 164-171) and are equally applicable to nozzles in cylinders.

(154)

#### LIST OF REFERENCES

- Eringen, A. C., et al., "Analysis of Stress and Deformation in Two Normally Intersecting Cylindrical Shells Subject to Internal Pressure", General Technology Corporation, Technical Report No. 3-8, (Dec. 1965).
- (2) Lind, N. C., "Approximate Stress Concentration Analysis for Pressurized Branch Pipe Connections", Progress Report to the PVRC Subcommittee on Reinforced Openings and External Loadings (Feb. 22, 1967).
- (3) Bijlaard, P. P., "Stresses from Local Loadings in Cylindrical Pressure Vessels", Trans. ASME (August, 1955).
- (4) Bijlaard, P. P., "Stresses from Radial Loads and External Moments in Cylindrical Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Supplement (Dec., 1955).
- (5) Bijlaard, P. P., "Additional Data on Stresses in Cylindrical Shells Under Local Loading", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 50 (May, 1959)
- (6) Wichman, K. R., Mershon, J. L., and Hopper, A. G., "Local Stresses in Spherical and Cylindrical Shells Due to External Loadings", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 107 (August, 1965).
- (7) Beskin, Leon, "Strengthening of Circular Holes in Plates Under Edge Loads", J. of App. Mechanics (Sept., 1944).
- (8) Waters, E. O., "Theoretical Stresses Near a Circular Opening in a Flat Plate with a Cylindrical Outlet", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 51 (June, 1959).
- (9) Lourye, A. I., "Concentration of Stress in the Vicinity of an Aperture in the Surface of a Circular Cylinder", ASTIA AD 250308 (Nov., 1960).
- (10) Withum, D., "The Cylindrical Shell with a Circular Hole under Torsion", Ingr.-Arch., <u>26</u>, 435-446 (1958).
- (11) Eringen, Naghdi and Thiel, "State of Stress in a Circular Cylindrical Shell with a Circular Hole", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 102 (January, 1962).
- (12) Lekkerkerker, J. G., "Stress Concentration Around Circular Holes in Cylindrical Shells", Proceedings Applied Mech. Conference, Munich, Germany (1964).
- (13) Savin, G. N., "Concentration of Stresses Around Curvilinear Holes in Plates and Shells", Proceedings Applied Mech. Conference, Munich, Germany (1964).
- (14) Van Dyke, Peter, "Stresses About a Circular Hole in a Cylindrical Shell", AIAA Journal, <u>3</u>, (9) (Sept., 1965).

(155)

# (156)

### LIST OF REFERENCES (contd)

- Reidelbach, W., "The State of Stress at the Perpendicular Intersection of Two Right Circular Tubes", Ingenieur-Archiv, <u>30</u>, (5), 293-296. Translated by M. W. Stamisic, General Technology Corporation, Tech. Note No. 3-1 (April, 1962).
- (16) Eringen, Naghdi, Mahmood, Thiel and Ariman, "Stress Concentrations in Two Normally Intersecting Cylindrical Shells Subject to Internal Pressure", General Technology Corp. Technical Report No. 3-9 (January, 1967).
- (17) <u>Design of Piping Systems</u>, M. W. Kellogg Co., Published by John Wiley & Sons, New York, Second Edition, 1957, page 71.
- (18) Mehringer, F. J., and Cooper, W. E., "Experimental Determinations of Stresses in the Vicinity of Pipe Appendages to a Cylindrical Shell", S.E.S.A. Proceedings, <u>XIV</u>, (2), 1957.
- (19) Cranch, E. T., "An Experimental Investigation of Stresses in the Neighborhood of Attachments to a Cylindrical Shell", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 60 (May, 1960).
- (20) Berman, I., and Pai, D. H., "An Experimental Investigation of Stresses in an HY-80 Marine Boiler Drum", Welding Research Supplement (July, 1962).
- (21) Berman, I., and Pai, D. H., "An Experimental Investigation of Stresses in an HY-80 Marine Boiler Drum with Added Attachments", Welding Research Supplement (January, 1963).
- (22) Pickett, A. G., and Grigory, S. C., "Studies of the Fatigue Strength of Pressure Vessels, Technical Summary Report, Part I. Cyclic Pressure Tests of Full-Size Pressure Vessels", Southwest Research Institute, San Antonio, Texas (Sept., 1966).
- (23) Wells, Lane & Rose, "Stress Analysis of Nozzles in Cylindrical Pressure Vessels", Proceedings of the Symposium on Pressure Vessel Research Towards Better Design, Published by the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, London (1962).
- (24) Taylor, C. E., and Lind, N. C., "Photoelastic Study of the Stresses Near Openings in Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 113 (April, 1966).
- (25) Leven, M. M., "Photoelastic Determination of the Stresses in Reinforced Openings in Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 113 (April, 1966).
- (26) Mershon, J. L., "PVRC Research on Reinforcement of Openings in Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 77 (May, 1962).
- (27) Stepanek, S., "Stress Concentrations in the Nozzle Ring of a Pressure Vessel", Nuclear Structural Engineering, Vol. 2, pp 211-223 (1965).
- (28) Rodabaugh, E. C., and George, H. H., "Design and Strength of Welded Pipe Line Branch Connections", Proc. ASCE, 83, No. PL1 (March, 1957).

# LIST OF REFERENCES (contd.)

- (29) Babecki, A. J., and Puzak, P. P., "Fabrication and Service Factors Involved in a Failure of Welded Steam Receivers", Welding Research Supplement (July, 1958).
- (30) Puzak, Babecki and Pellini, "Correlations of Brittle-Fracture Service Failures with Laboratory Notch-Ductility Tests", Welding Research Supplement (Sept., 1958).
- (31) Hardenbergh, Zamrik and Edmondson, "Experimental Investigation of Stresses in Nozzles in Cylindrical Pressure Vessels", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 89 (July, 1963).
- (32) Rose, R. T., "Stress Analysis on Nozzles in Thin-Walled Cylindrical Pressure Vessels", British Welding Research Association Report No. D3/22/63 (March, 1964).
- (33) Riley, W. F., "Experimental Determination of Stress Distributions in Thin-Walled Cylindrical and Spherical Pressure Vessels with Circular Nozzles", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 108 (Sept., 1965).
- (34) Schoessow, G. J. and Kooistra, L. F., "Stresses in a Cylindrical Shell Due to Nozzle or Pipe Connection", ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, June, 1945.
- (35) Jackson, et.al., "Stresses in Unreinforced Branch Connections", Battelle Memorial Institute Report to the American Gas Association, September 30, 1953.
- (36) Lane, P.H.R. and Rose, R. T., "Design of Welded Pipe Fittings", British Welding Research Association, Abington Hall, Abington, Cambridge, November, 1959.
- (37) Cranch, E. T., "An Experimental Investigation of Stresses in the Neighborhood of Attachments to a Cylindrical Shell", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 60, May, 1960.
- (38) McClure, G. M., Sweeney, J. A., and Gross, H. J., "Investigation of Stresses in Pipeline Branch Connections", Battelle Memorial Institute Report to the American Gas Association, March 30, 1956.
- (39) American Standards Association <u>Code for Pressure Piping</u>, ASA B31.1-1955. Published by the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 345 East 47th Street, New York, N. Y.
- (40) Markl, A.R.C., "Fatigue Tests of Piping Components", Trans. ASME, 1952.
- (41) Markl, A.R.C., "Piping Flexibility Analysis", Trans. ASME, 1955.
- (42) American Standards Association, "Wrought Steel Buttwelding Fittings", ASA B16.9-1964. Published by the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 345 E. 47th Street, New York, N. Y. 10017

(157)

#### LIST OF REFERENCES (contd)

(43) Blair, J. S., "Reinforcement of Branch Pieces, Engineering London, England, 1947.

(158)

- (44) Markl, A.R.C., "Bending Stress Intensifications in Reducing-Outlet Branch Connections", Tube Turns (Div. of Chemetron), Report No. 8.032, Louisville, Ky., Feb. 1959.
- (45) Rodabaugh, E. C., "Cyclic Bending Tests of a Half-Scale Model of an 8" x 24" Saddle Reinforced Branch Connection", Tube Turns (Div. of Chemetron) Report No. 8.011, Louisville, Ky., 1953.
- (46' Mills, E. J., Atterbury, T. J., and McClure, G. M., "Study of Effects of Cyclic Bending Loads on Performance of Branch Connections", Battelle Memorial Institute Report to the American Gas Association, Columbus, Ohio, May, 1962.
- (.7) Pickett, A. G., et.al., "Low Cycle Fatigue Testing of One-Half Scale Model Pressure Vessels", Progress Reports No. 9 through 12, July 1964 through January, 1965. Southwest Research Institute, San Antonio, Texas (Contract No. AT(11-1)-1228, U.S. Atomic Energy Commission)
APPENDIX A

#### STRESSES FROM ERINGEN'S ANALYSIS

Stresses at Nozzle-Shell Juncture

Numerical solutions were obtained\* for the parameters:

D/T from 10 to 250 d/D from .01 to (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T} \cong 1.1$ s/S from 1/64 to 4.0

The stresses at the nozzle-shell juncture at  $\emptyset = 0$  and  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ obtained from this parametric study are given in Tables Al through A7. An attempt was made to show these results by means of graphs, however, no accurate way of reducing the dimensional parameters involved was found. In particular, the parameter (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T}$  does not reduce the dimensional parameters from 3 to 2, except for small values of t/T. Figure 8 shows the  $\sigma_{n} \phi$ -stress at  $\emptyset = 0$ ,  $\rho = \rho_{o}$ , plotted against (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T}$ .

The parametric study gives stresses at  $\emptyset = 0$ ,  $\pi/8$ ,  $\pi/4$ ,  $3\pi/8$ , and  $\pi/2$ . Maximums of individual stress components were found to be either at  $\emptyset = 0$  or  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ . The minimums of individual stress components may be between  $\emptyset = 0$  and  $\emptyset = \pi/2$ .

#### Stresses Away from Juncture

The parametric study results include stresses as a function of  $\rho$  in the shell, x in the nozzle. While maximum stresses in both the nozzle and the shell occur at the juncture, maximums of individual stress

<sup>\*</sup> The parametric study includes those cases of the parametric study given in Reference (1) which are within the limitation (d/D)  $\sqrt{D/T} < 1.1$ , plus 68 additional cases within that limitation.

components may not be at the juncture. (See, for example, Figure 15;  $\sigma_{yo}$  at  $\emptyset = \pi/2$  is a maximum at  $x/\sqrt{rt} \cong 1.3$ , but the maximum stress in the nozzle is  $\sigma_{yo}$  at  $\emptyset = 0$  at the juncture.)

#### Use of Eringen's Computer Program

Eringen's computer program, as modified for use at Battelle, consists of two separate programs, identified as program I and Program II. The input data to program I consists of the values of the three parameters:  $\beta \rho_0$ ,  $t/\rho_0$ , and  $\rho_0/R$ . The output of program I consists of punched cards containing the constants of the analytical series solution. The input to program II is the punched cards from program I. The output from program II consists of:

- (a) Eringen's stress resultants for
  Ø = 0, π/8, π/4, 3π/8, and π/2.
  ρ/ρ<sub>0</sub> = 1.0, 1.3, 1.6, 2.0, and 3.0.
  x/ρ<sub>0</sub> = 0, .3, .6, 1.0, and 2.0.
- (b) Membrane, bending and surface stress indices (σ/S) for
  Ø = 0, π/8, π/4, 3π/8, and π/2.
  (ρ-ρ<sub>0</sub>)/√RT = 0, .3, .6, 1.0, 2.0.
  x/√rt = 0, .3, .6, 1.0, 2.0.

The relationship between stress indices ( $\sigma/S$ ) and Eringen's stress resultants are summarized in Figure Al.

The running time for both programs on a Control Data Model 3400 computer is about 3 minutes per case; on a Control Data 6400 computer the central processor time is about 30 seconds per case, with another 30 secs of peripherial equipment time. For both computers, running times quoted are after compilation and production of a binary deck. FIGURE A1. EQUATIONS FOR CONVERTING STRESS RESULTANTS OF REFERENCE (1) TO STRESSES

#### Nomenclature:

D = cylinder (lower shell) mean diameter

- T = cylinder wall thickness
- d = nozzle (upper shell) mean diameter =  $2\rho_0$
- t = nozzle wall thickness
- P = internal pressure
- S = PD/2T
- s = Pd/2t
- $\nu$  = Poisson's ratio assumed to be 0.3
- n (subscript) = membrane stress
- b (subscript) = bending stress

σ/S	Equation for Stress	Bending Stress Sign
σ <sub>nφ</sub>	$\frac{\overline{N}_{\varphi}}{2} + \cos^2 \varphi + 0.5 \sin^2 \varphi$	
σ bφ	± 0.91 m g	+ outside
σ <sub>nρ</sub>	$\frac{\overline{N}_{\rho}}{2}$ + 0.5 cos <sup>2</sup> $\phi$ + sin <sup>2</sup> $\phi$	
σ <sub>b</sub> ρ	± 0.91 m <sub>p</sub>	+ outside
σ nx	$\frac{\overline{n}}{2} \cdot \frac{T}{t} + 0.5 \frac{s}{s}$	
σ bx	$\pm 0.91 (\frac{T}{t})^2 \overline{m}_{x}$	+ inside
σ <sub>ny</sub>	$\frac{\overline{n}y}{2} \cdot \frac{T}{t} + \frac{s}{s}$	
σ <sub>by</sub>	$\pm 0.91 \left(\frac{T}{t}\right)^2 \bar{m}_y$	+ inside
$\overline{N}_{\varphi}, \overline{M}_{\varphi}$	$, \overline{N}_{\rho}, \overline{M}_{\rho}, \overline{n}_{x}, \overline{m}_{x}, \overline{n}_{y}, \text{ and } \overline{m}_{x}$	are stress y
res	ultants as defined in Refer	ence (1)





σ

The applicability of the analysis is limited by Eringen to:  $D/T \ge 20$ ,  $d/t \ge 20$  and d/D < 1/3. These restrictions follow from the use of thin-shell and shallow shell theory. In addition, because of the truncation of the Fourier series in the boundary conditions,  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/T}$ is limited to about 1.1. It will be noted that most of the experimental models used for comparisons have D/T and d/t ratios less than 20. Judging by the theory-test comparisons, the D/T or d/t restrictions do not appear to be very rigid. However, the necessity of the restriction that  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/T}$ < 1.1 is apparent from the computer program output. For values of  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/T}$ of about 1.5, the results appear to be inconsistent with results for lower values of  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/T}$  and at  $(d/D)\sqrt{D/T} = 2.0$ , the program output shows very high stresses at points remote from the juncture, with no evidence of attenuation towards nominal stresses.

A-4

### TABLE OF STRESSES

The following tables are included in this Appendix.

Table	Title
A1	Membrane Stresses in Cylinder at $\rho = \rho_0$ , $\emptyset = 0$ , and $\pi/2$ .
A2	Membrane Stresses in Nozzle at $x = 0$ , $\emptyset = 0$ , and $\pi/2$ .
A3	Bending Stresses in Cylinder at $\rho = \rho_0$ , $\emptyset = 0$ , and $\pi/2$ .
A4	Bending Stresses in Nozzle at $x = 0$ , $\emptyset = 0$ , and $\pi/2$ .
A5	Maximum Stress Intensity in Cylinder at $\emptyset$ = 0 and $\pi/2$ .
A6	Maximum Stress Intensity in Nozzle at $\phi = 0$ and $\pi/2$ .
A7	Maximum Surface Stresses in Cylinder and Nozzle

In all of these tables, stresses are shown as divided by the nominal stress, S. The signs of the bending stresses (Tables A3 and A4) are positive (tension) for the outside surface.

A- 5

D	d	S	ø	= 0	φ =	• π/2
Ť	D	Ī	σ <sub>nø</sub>	o ng	onø	σnρ
10	.01	1.	2.49	.00	.51	.00
	.025	.0625	1.34	05	.76	.96
		.125	1.84	08	.74	.52
		.25	2.27	.03	.58	.14
		.5	2.43	.03	.53	.03
		1.0	2.48	.01	.52	.00
	V	1.5	2.50	.00	.51	.00
	.05	.0625	1.12	.09	.72	1.05
		.125	1.56	02	.76	.71
		.25	2.10	.05	. 64	.26
	an an a far a far an	.5	2.38	.05	.56	.05
		1.	2.48	.02	.53	.00
	-	2.	2.52	.00	.52	.00
	V	4.	2.54	.00	.51	.00
	.10	.0625	.93	.23	.69	1.12
	-	,125	1.32	.08	.77	.83
		.25	1.87	.11	.70	•42
		.5	2.33	.10	.59	.11
		1.	2.54	.04	.55	.02
		2.	2.61	.01	.52	.00
	Ý	4.	2.64	.00	.51	01
	.25	.25	1.68	.16	.49	.80
		.5	2.34	.23	.52	.36
		1.	2.89	.13	.51	.11
		2.	3.16	.04	.49	.02
	V	4.	3.26	.00	.47	.01
	.35	.25	1.67	.20	22	1.28
	1	•5	2.31	.28	.00	.64
		1.	3.06	.21	• 25	.24
		1.5	3.44	.13	.36	.11
¥	V	2.	3.63	.08	.38	.07

1 of 5

2	of.	5	
~ ~	OT.	<u> </u>	

D	d	S	¢ =	= 0	ø	= <sub>11</sub> /2
T	D	S	σnø	σ <sub>nρ</sub>	<sup>o</sup> nø	σ <sub>nρ</sub>
25	.025	.0625	1.62	.03	.73	. 63
		.125	2.13	.09	. 60	.21
		.25	2.37	.06	.54	.05
		.5	2.47	.03	.52	.01
		1.	2.50	.01	.51	.00
	Y	1.5	2.51	.00	.51	.00
	.05	.0625	1.36	.12	.76	.75
		.125	1.90	.16	. 65	.35
		.25	2.30	.12	• 57	.10
		.5	2.48	.05	.54	.02
		1.	2.56	.02	.51	.00
		2.	2.58	.00	.50	.00
	¥	4.	2.59	.00	.50	.00
	.10	.125	1.71	.23	. 67	.49
		.25	2.24	•22	.56	.19
		• 5	2.60	.11	.53	.05
		1.	2.77	.04	.51	.01
		2.	2.84	.01	.49	.00
	¥	4.	2.86	.00	.48	.0Ô
	.25	.125	1.70	.29	52	1.29
	-	.25	2.20	. 35	40	.58
		.5	2.76	. 27	02	• 25
	-	1.	3.51	.16	.32	.06
		2.	4.02	.06	.37	.01
¥	V	4.	4.20	.01	. 27	.01

)

'n	A	G	$\phi = 0$		$\phi = \pi/2$	
Ť	D	S	<sup>o</sup> nø	σ <sub>nρ</sub>	σnø	σnρ
50	.005	1.	2.50	.00	.50	.01
	.01	.015625	1.22	.06	.73	. 98
	1	.03125	1.71	.01	.71	.57
		.0625	2.17	.08	.58	.17
		.125	2.38	.05	.53	.04
		.25	2.46	.02	.52	.01
		•2	2.49	.01	.51	.00
		1.0	2.50	.00	.50	.00
	<u> </u>	1.5	2.50	.00	.50	.00
	.025	.03125	1.35	.13	.76	.75
		.0625	1.87	.16	. 64	.35
		.125	2.25	.13	.56	.10
		.25	2.43	.06	.53	.02
		.5	2.50	.02	.51	.00
		1.	2.53	.01	.50	.00
		2.	2.54	.00	.50	.00
	Y	4.	2.55	.00	.50	.00
	.05	.0625	1.64	• 24	.70	.46
		.125	2.13	• 22	.58	.18
8		.25	2.44	.12	.54	.05
		۵5	2.60	.04	.52	.01
		1.	2.66	.01	.50	.00
		2.	2.68	.00	.49	.00
	<u> </u>	4.	2.69	.00	.49	.00
	.10	.0625	1.68	• 24	.27	.83
		.125	2.15	.29	.36	.34
		.25	2.56	.22	•44	.12
		.5	2.91	.10	.47	.03
		1.	3.09	.04	.46	.00
		2.	3.15	.01	• 44	.00
	¥	4.	3.17	.00	.44	.00
	.15	.125	2.23	.33	27	.56
		.25	2.62	.27	.03	• 24
		• 5	3.16	.17	.33	.08
		1.	3.60	.07	.42	.01
V	Ý	1.5	3.74	.04	.39	.00

			4 of 5		مبندة فتريب وتعادات	
D	đ	ė	ø =	= 0	ø =	= <sub>π</sub> /2
T	D	S	$\sigma_{n} \phi$	σ <sub>nρ</sub>	°nø	σ
100	.01	.015625	1.42	.10	.75	.73
		.03125	1.94	.14	. 62	.30
		.0625	2.27	.10	.55	.08
		.125	2.42	.05	.53	.02
		.25	2.48	.02	.51	.00
		.5	2.50	.01	.50	.00
		1.	2.51	.00	.50	.00
	<u> </u>	1.5	2.51	.00	.51	.00
	.025	.015625	1.12	.26	.75	.87
		.03125	1.61	• 24	.71	.46
		.0625	2.07	.21	.58	.18
		.125	2.36	.12	.54	.05
		.250	2.50	.05	.52	.01
		.5	2.61	.02	.50	.00
		1.	2.58	.00	.50	.00
		2.	2.59	.00	.49	.00
	V	4.	2.60	.00	.49	.00
	.05	.0625	1.96	.30	.56	.26
		.125	2.34	.21	.52	.10
		.25	2.64	.10	.51	.03
		.5	2.78	.04	.49	.01
		1.	2.84	.01	.48	.00
		2.	2.86	.00	.47	.00
	Ý	4.	2.86	.00	<b>.</b> 47	.00
	.10	.0625	2.17	.33	25	.61
		.125	2.50	.27	.00	.27
		.25	2.89	.19	• 28	.12
		۰5	3.34	.10	.44	.02
		1.	3.60	.03	•42	.00
		2.	3.70	.01	. 38	.00
ł	Ý	4.	3.73	.00	.34	.00

TABLE A1. (Continued)

# TABLE Al. (Continued) 5 of 5

л	d		$\phi = 0$		ø =	= π/2
Ť	D	ŝ	°nø	σ <sub>np</sub>	∽nø	σ <sub>nρ</sub>
250	.001	1.	2.50	.00	.50	.00
	.005	.015625	1.99	.17	.60	• 24
		.03125	2.29	.10	.55	.07
		.0625	2.42	.05	.53	.02
		.125	2.48	.02	.51	.00
		.25	2.50	.01	.50	.00
		• 5	2.51	.00	.50	.00
		1.	2.51	.00	.50	.00
	4	1.5	2.51	.00	.50	.00
	.01	.015625	1.75	.24	. 67	.34
		.03125	2.15	.18	.57	.12
		.0625	2.37	•09	.54	.04
		.125	2.47	.04	.52	.01
		.25	2.51	.01	.50	.00
]		.5	2.53	.00	.50	.00
	1	1.	2.54	.00	.50	.00
		2.	2.54	.00	.50	.00
-	<u> </u>	4.	2.54	.00	.50	.00
	.025	.015625	1.51	. 37	.63	.53
	1	.03125	1.95	.30	.60	.20
		.0625	2.29	.19	.55	.08
		.125	2.54	.09	.52	.03
		.25	2.66	.03	.50	.01
		.5	2./1	.01	.49	.00
	1	1.	2.73	.00	.48	.00
	-	2.	2.73	.00	•48	.00
	<u> </u>	4.	2.73	.00	• 48	.00
	٥5ء	.0625	2.55	• 22	.13	• 22
	1	.125	2.78	.15	.33	.10
		.25	3.05	.07	.45	.00
(		.5	3.21	. 30	.45	.00
		1.	3.27	.00	.43	.00
		2.	3.30	.00	.41	.00
	¥	4.	3.30	.001	.41	.00
	.07	.0625	2.42	.28	04	.27
	1	,125	2.71	. 20	.22	.14
		.25	3.21	.13	•44	.05
		.5	3.63	.06	.50	.00
	}	1.0	3.84	.02	.42	.00
		1.5	3.89	.01	. 37	.00
Ŷ	¥	2.0	3.92	.01	. 35	.00

	d	S	ø	= 0	ø	<b>=</b> π/2
Ť	<u>ā</u>	Ŝ	σ <sub>nx</sub>	σ <sub>ny</sub>	σ <sub>nx</sub>	ony
10	.01	1.	. 22	2.55	.78	.74
	.025	.0625	09	1.33	.15	.52
		.125	16	1.82	. 28	. 67
		.25	19	2.20	• 44	.67
		.5	09	2.39	.59	.70
		1.0	<b>.2</b> 0	2.54	.80	.76
	V	1.5	.49	2.64	1.01	.82
	.05	.0625	09	1.06	.14	.45
		.125	14	1.53	.75	.63
		.25	18	2.02	.43	.69
		.5	10	2.33	. 60	.73
		1.	.18	2.53	.82	.78
		2.	.75	2.75	1.24	. 90
	V	4.	1.84	3.09	2.16	1.16
	.10	.0625	06	.84	.12	.40
		.125	13	1.26	• 24	.61
		.25	16	1.79	.40	.71
		.5	10	2.27	. 60	.76
		1.	.15	2.56	.85	.83
		2.	.72	2.83	1.28	. 93
	Ý	4.	1.98	3.19	2.18	1.20
	.25	.25	04	1.42	.29	1.13
	Ì	.5	.06	2.17	.43	1.06
		1.	.32	2.90	. 69	1.01
		2.	.84	3.39	1.19	1.09
	<u> </u>	4.	1.89	3.83	2.14	1.33
	.35	.25	.06	1.26	• 34	1.80
	1	.5	.19	1.97	.41	1.95
		1.	.49	2.96	.55	1.66
		1.5	.78	3.54	.80	1.44
Y	V	2.	1.06	3.87	1.06	1.34

n	đ	ć	ø	$\phi = 0$		π/2
T	Ď	S	σ <sub>nx</sub>	σ <sub>ny</sub>	$\sigma_{\mathbf{nx}}$	σ <sub>ny</sub>
25	.025	.0625	17	1.56	.23	.61
1		.125	22	2.03	. 35	.64
		.25	19	2.30	.43	.66
		.5	02	2.45	.52	. 68
		1.	.31	2.59	. 69	.72
	Y	1.5	.61	2.69	.89	.78
	.05	.0625	13	1.29	.19	. 60
		.125	<b></b> 17	1.80	.30	. 64
		.25	15	2.22	.40	.66
		.5	01	2.46	.51	.69
		1.	.31	2.64	.69	.73
		2.	.88	2.85	1.12	.85
	¥	4.	1.93	3.17	2.07	1.13
	.10	.125	07	1.57	.18	. 68
		.25	.00	2,16	.25	.64
		.5	.12	2.60	. 38	.66
		1.	.39	2.80	.61	.72
		2.	.94	3.12	1.06	.84
	<u> </u>	4.	1.98	3.45	2.03	1.12
	•25	.125	.08	. 97	.18	1.54
		.25	.21	1.53	.14	1.88
		.5	.41	2.33	.12	1.76
		1.	.83	3.56	.16	1.05
		2.	1.57	4.54	.55	. 28
¥	¥	4.	2.70	4.98	1.51	.50

•

TABLE	A2.	(Continued)	3	of	5
-------	-----	-------------	---	----	---

מ	đ	d s	$\phi = o$		$\phi = \pi/2$	
Ť	$\frac{\overline{D}}{\overline{D}}$	<u></u> <u>S</u>	σ <sub>nx</sub>	σ <sub>ny</sub>	σ <sub>nx</sub>	σ <sub>ny</sub>
50	.005	1.	.40	2.62	.60	.68
	.01	.015625	11	1.17	.12	.48
		.03125	18	1.65	.21	. 60
		.0625	25	2.07	.31	. 62
		.125	24	2.29	.36	.63
		.25	13	2.41	. 38	.63
		.5	.07	2.51	.43	. 64
		1.0	.39	2.62	.61	. 68
	Ý	1.5	. 67	2.71	.83	.75
	.025	.03125	13	1.27	.16	.59
		.0625	19	1.76	.25	.62
		.125	19	2.16	.32	.63
}		.25	11	2.38	.36	.64
		.5	.07	2.52	.42	.64
		1.	.39	2.65	.61	.69
		2.	.94	2.82	1.06	.81
	Y	4.	1.97	3.14	2.03	1.11
	.05	.0625	08	1.53	.14	. 62
		.125	05	2.04	.18	. 60
		.25	.00	2.41	. 25	. 60
		.5	.14	2.62	.36	.63
		1.	.43	2.78	.57	. 68
		2.	. 97	2.97	1.03	.81
	V	4.	1.99	3.28	2.01	1.10
	.10	.0625	.01	1.02	.08	1.05
	1	.125	.06	1.63	.07	1.04
		.25	.17	2.33	.06	.80
		.5	.36	2.92	.13	. 64
		1.	.66	3.26	.34	.61
		2.	1.18	3.50	.83	.73
	Ý	4.	2.16	3.81	1.85	1.02
	.15	.125	.11	1.26	.08	1.63
1	ł	.25	.23	1.88	.04	1.61
		.5	.45	2.89	.02	1.14
		1.	.87	3.85	.12	.47
V ·	¥	1.5	1.22	4.15	.30	.36

<del>م نو چند به معرفه</del>			4 of 5			
'n	a	g	ø	= 0	ø	= <sub>11</sub> /2
Ť	D	S	$\sigma_{nx}$	<sup>ơ</sup> ny	$\sigma_{\mathbf{nx}}$	σ <sub>ny</sub>
100	.01	.015625	15	1.34	. 17	.58
		.03125	22	1.83	. 25	.61
		.0625	23	2.17	.29	.62
		.125	18	2.35	.30	.61
		.25	05	2.46	.30	.60
		• 5	.15	2.54	.35	.61
		1.	.44	2.64	.56	. 67
	v	1.5	.71	2.73	.79	.74
	.025	.015625	05	1.02	.06	.51
		.03125	09	1.51	.12	.61
		.0625	09	1.98	.15	.58
		.125	07	2.30	.19	.59
		.250	.01	2.50	• 24	.59
		.5	.18	2.61	.32	. 60
		1.	.46	2.72	.54	.66
		2.	. 98	2.89	1.02	.80
	V	4.	1.99	3.19	2.01	1.10
	.05	.0625	.02	1.71	.04	.72
		.125	.08	2.24	.03	.59
		.25	.17	2.64	.07	.55
		.5	.32	2.86	.18	.55
		1.	.58	3.01	.42	.61
-		2.	1.08	3.18	.92	.75
	Ý	4.	2.07	3.48	1.93	1.06
	.10	.0625	.05	1.02	.03	1.45
		.125	.13	1.50	.01	1.61
		.25	.25	2.27	02	1.37
		.5	.50	3.34	03	.66
		1.	.91	3.95	.08	. 28
		2.	1.53	4.20	.49	.40
ł	Ý	4.	2.51	4.49	1.51	.76

TABLE A2. (Continued)

D	d	S	ø =	• 0	φ =	π/2
Ť	D	Ŝ	σ <sub>nx</sub>	ony	σnx	σ ny
250	.001	1.	.48	2.64	.52	.66
	.005	.015625	21	1.88	.22	. 60
		.03125	22	2.19	. 25	.61
		.0625	18	2.35	.24	.59
		.125	08	2.45	. 20	.5/
		.25	.04	2.51	.21	.57
		ی ک ۱	•21	2.57	.29	.59
		15	•48 70	2.65	• 52	.00 72
	1		.73	2.13	• / #	.75
	.01	.015625	11	1.65	.12	. 60
		.03125	11	2.06	.14	. 58
		.0625	10	2.31	.17	.58
		.125	05	2.45	.17	.57
		.25	.06	2.52	.19	.56
		.5	.21	2.58	.29	.59
		1.	.48	2.68	. 52	.66
		2.	.99	2.84	1.01	.80
	Ý	4.	2.00	3.14	2.00	1.10
	.025	.015625	01	1.20	.02	.70
	1	.03125	.01	1.76	.01	.67
		.0625	.05	2.21	.00	.57
		.125	.10	2.53	.02	.53
		.25	.18	2.70	.07	.52
		• 5	. 32	2.80	.18	.54
		1.	. 20	2.89	.43	.01
		Z • 1.	2.04	3.05	1 96	1.06
	<u> </u>	4 o	2.04	J.J.J.	1.90	1.00
	.05	.0625	.07	1.41	.00	1.55
		.125	.14	2.00	02	1.36
		.25	. 27	2.81	03	.85
		• 5	.49	3.29	06	.54
		1.	.83	3.52	.16	.50
		2.	1.35	3.70	. 65	. 62
	<u> </u> ¥	4.	2.30	4.00	1.70	.93
	٥٥7	.0625	.07	1.25	01	1.61
		.125	.14	1.77	02	1.63
		.25	.27	2.89	05	.98
		•2	.54	4.19	08	29
		1.0	1.00	4.50	02	44
		1.5	1.37	4.50	.13	19
γ	¥	2.0	1.68	4.53	.33	.00

TABLE A3. BENDING STRESSES IN CYLINDER AT  $\rho = \rho_0$ ,  $\phi = o$  and  $\pi/2$ 1 of 5

	a	<u>م</u>	¢ =	= 0	$\phi = \phi$	π/2
Ť	D D	<u>s</u>	σ <sub>b</sub> ø	σ <sub>bρ</sub>	<sup>σ</sup> bø	σ <sub>bρ</sub>
10	.01	1.	.00	.00	.01	.00
	.025	.0625	11	.10	32	. 35
		.125	01	.00	12	.16
		.25	.00	.00	.01	.04
		.5	.01	.00	.04	.01
		1.0	.02	.00	.04	.00
	V	1.5	.02	.00	.04	.00
	.05	.0625	26	.21	51	.59
		.125	08	.06	31	.42
		.25	03	.02	.01	.14
		.5	.01	.01	.12	.03
		1.	.04	.00	.13	.00
		2.	.05	.00	.13	.00
	V	4.	.06	.00	.12	.00
	.10	.0625	28	.13	27	.45
		.125	25	.12	40	.72
		.25	17	.08	02	.43
		.5	08	.05	. 34	.10
		1.	.03	.02	.40	.01
-		2.	.08	.00	. 38	.00
	¥	4.	.10	.00	. 37	.00
	.25	.25	41	.14	04	1.03
		.5	48	. 28	. 62	. 63
		1.	28	.15	1.23	.14
		2.	25	.04	1.38	.00
	¥	4.	18	.00	1.36	02
	.35	.25	29	.35	14	1.17
		.5	40	.50	.43	1.15
		1.	32	.36	1,50	.41
		1.5	27	.19	1.98	.14
¥	V	2.	24	.11	2.16	.04

ח	đ	s	ø	$\phi = 0$		$\phi = \pi/2$	
Ť	D	ŝ	σ <sub>b</sub> ø	ϭႦρ	σ <sub>b</sub> ø	σ <sub>bρ</sub>	
25	.025	.0625	12	.06	31	. 44	
		.125	07	.04	.00	.13	
		.25	02	.02	.09	.03	
		.5	.02	.01	.09	.00	
		1.	.04	.00	.09	.00	
	ł	1.5	.04	.00	.09	.00	
	.05	.0625	30	.09	39	.75	
		.125	25	.12	04	.42	
		.25	12	.08	.25	.10	
		•2	.01	.03	.29	.01	
		1.	.07	.01	.27	.00	
		2.	.09	.00	.26	.00	
	¥	4.	.09	00	. 25	.00	
	.10	.125	39	.18	03	.81	
		.25	32	.26	.41	.37	
		•2	12	.12	. 69	.08	
		1.	.01	.03	.72	.01	
		2.	.07	.00	.71	.00	
	¥	4.	.09	00	.70	.00	
	.25	.125	.10	.76	.02	.93	
		.25	.11	1.08	.20	1.21	
		.5	.26	.84	.72	.75	
		1.	.48	.36	1.59	. 20	
		2.	.40	.09	2.26	.01	
Ý	¥	4.	.08	.01	2.62	01	

)

n	A	5	$\phi = 0$		$\phi = \pi/2$	
Ť	D	<u>s</u>	ு¢	σ <sub>Ъρ</sub>	₫Ъø	бър
50	.005	1.	.01	.00	.01	.00
	.01	.015625	23	.17	51	.59
	1	.03125	09	.04	25	.33
	1	.0625	05	.03	02	.09
		.125	02	.01	.04	.02
		.25	.01	.00	.04	.00
		.5	.02	.00	.03	.00
		1.0	.02	.00	.03	.00
	<u> </u>	1.5	.02	.00	.03	.00
	.025	.03125	31	.08	43	.75
		.0625	26	.12	12	.42
		.125	14	.08	.14	.10
		.25	02	.03	.18	.02
		.5	.04	.01	.16	.00
		1.	.06	.00	.15	.00
		2.	.06	.00	.15	.00
	Y	4.	.07	.00	.14	.00
	.05	.0625	41	.14	13	.76
	1	.125	33	. 25	.21	.35
- -		.25	12	.12	.43	.08
		.5	.03	.03	.45	.01
		1.	.09	.01	.43	.00
		2.	.11	.00	.42	.00
	<u> </u>	4.	.12	.00	.42	.00
	.10	.0625	16	.14	07	.82
		.125	21	.43	.04	.79
		•25	08	.43	.43	.35
		.5	.07	.17	.79	.08
		1.	.07	.04	.97	.01
		2.	.02	.01	1.06	.00
	<u> </u>	4.	03	.00	1.10	.00
	.15	.125	.11	.93	27	.56
	1	.25	.21	.88	.03	• 24
1		.5	.43	.46	.83	.28
		1.	.45	.14	1.36	.04
V	¥	1.5	. 34	.05	1.58	.01

.

,s		TABLE	A3. (Co 4 of 5	ntinued)		
		φ = ο			φ =	π/2
$\frac{D}{T}$	d D	<u>s</u> S	σbφ	σ <sub>Ъρ</sub>	σ <sub>b</sub> φ	σъρ
100	.01	.015625	27	.09	47	.69
		.03125	21	.09	12	.30
		.0625	11	.05	.06	.07
		.125	03	.02	.08	.01
		.25	.01	.01	.07	.00
		.5	.03	.00	.06	.00
		1.	.03	.00	.06	.00
	<u> </u>	1.5	.03	.00	.06	.00
	.025	.015625	30	02	16	.57
		.03125	42	.11	19	.73
		.0625	36	.23	.09	.33
		.125	15	.12	.27	.08
		.250	.00	.04	.28	.01
		.5	.07	.01	.26	.00
		1.	.09	.00	.25	.00
		2.	.09	.00	.25	.00
	¥	4.	.09	.00	.25	.00
	.05	.0625	28	.41	.04	.62
		.125	15	•40	.24	.29
		.25	.05	.16	.50	.07
		.5	.12	.04	. 60	.01
		1.	, 12	.01	.65	.00
		2.	.10	.00	.68	.00
	V	4.	.10	.00	.69	.00
	.10	.0625	.14	.89	04	.70
		.125	.21	1.04	.02	.75
		.25	.42	.69	.37	•44
		•2	.60	.26	.85	.10
		1.	.51	.06	1.22	.01
		2.	.23	.01	1.55	.00
ł	¥	4.	03	.00	1.80	.00

# TABLE A3. (Continued)

n		_	φ =	0	φ =	π/2
T T	1 D	<u>s</u> S	σЪφ	σ <sub>b</sub> ρ	σЪφ	σъρ
250	.001	1.	.00	.00	.00	.00
ĺ	.005	.015625	26	.11	08	.28
		.03125	13	.06	.06	.06
		.0625	04	.02	.07	.01
		.125	.00	.01	.05	.00
		. 20	.02	.00	.04	.00
		• J 1	.02	.00	.04	.00
	Ŷ	1.5	.02	.00	.04	.00
	.01	.015625	45	.15	18	.61
		.03125	33	.19	.08	.22
	-	.0625	13	.08	.17	.05
	ļ	.125	01	.02	.15	.01
		.25	.04	.01	.13	.00
		.5	.05	.00	.12	.00
		1.	.06	.00	.12	.00
		2.	.06	.00	.12	.00
	<u> </u>	4.	.06	•00	.12	.00
	.025	.015625	20	.09	10	.54
	1	.03125	27	.42	09	.48
		.0625	.14	.41	.10	.24
:		.125	.06	.16	•31	.08
		.25	.14	.04	.41	.01
		•5	.15	.01	.45	.00
		1.	.13	.00	•47	.00
		2.	.12	.00	•49	.00
	<u> </u>	4.	.12	.00	.49	.00
ł	.05	.0625	.099	.82	09	.59
1	1	.125	.262	.58	.14	.37
		.25	.433	.23	•48	.10
		• 5	.408	.06	.72	.02
		1.	.247	.01	.93	.00
		2.	.051	.00	1.11	.00
	¥	4.	074	.00	1.25	.00
	.07	.0625	.36	1.47	10	.48
	-	.125	.51	1.18	.07	.58
		.25	.82	.59	.51	.25
		• 5	.98	.19	.91	.03
		1.0	.82	.04	1.25	.00
		1.5	.60	.02	1.49	.00
Ŷ	¥	2.0	•42	.01	1.66	.00

1		E
	OT	<b></b>
÷.	· · ·	-

	d	c	φ	= 0	φ	= π/2
T T	D	S	σ <sub>bx</sub>	<sup>о</sup> by	<sup>о</sup> bх	<sup>о</sup> by
10	.01	1.	1.53	.06	.83	.65
	.025	.0625		<b></b>		
		.125	.07	-1.43	3.92	-2.59
		.25	.47	-1.24	3.87	2.52
		.5	1.33	38	2.51	1.53
		1.0	1.53	.06	.84	.65
	<u>¥</u>	1.5	1.20	.09	36	.16
	.05	.0625	.33	33	.92	.68
		.125	.35	87	2.63	1.71
		.25	.53	-1.06	3.46	2.23
9		.5	1.33	37	2.49	1.51
		1.	1.57	.07	.87	.66
		2.	.74	.02	-1.36	20
	V	4.	-1.94	68	-4.86	-1.35
	.10	.0625	05	31	.18	.35
		.125	.19	66	1.13	.98
		.25	.50	89	2.67	1.76
		•5	1.37	36	2.50	1.51
		1.	2.04	20	1.03	.73
		2.	.98	08	-1.23	16
	Ý	4.	-1.67	61	-4.79	-1.33
	.25	.25	.14	97	1.04	1.30
		.5	1.12	55	2.51	1.67
		1.	2.42	.18	2.19	1.27
		2.	2.16	.36	11	.30
	Y	4.	37	26	-3.94	-1.02
	.35	.25	.18	-1.02	.60	1.49
		.5	1.02	66	2.35	1.93
		1.	2.89	.26	3.36	1.88
		1.5	3.51	.62	2.58	1.41
¥	V	2.	3.46	.70	1.44	.93

## TABLE A4. (Continued)

	L	_	φ	= 0	φ =	·π/2	
D T		<u>s</u> S	σ <sub>bx</sub>	σ <sub>by</sub>	σ <sub>bx</sub>	σ <sub>by</sub>	
25	.025	.0625	.37	90	2.75	1.81	-
1		.125	.98	76	3.35	2.04	
		.25	1.98	.03	2.53	1.38	
		•2	2.54	•44	1.38	.73	
		1.	2.39	•55	.03	.17	
	Y	1.5	1.84	•44	96	18	
	.05	.0625	.14	71	1.18	1.07	-
		.125	.74	70	2.59	1.66	
		.25	1.92	04	2.50	1.36	
		•5	2.62	•46	1.48	.77	
		1.	2.54	.59	.12	.20	
		2.	1.35	.32	-1.79	46	
	4	4.	-1.57	51	-5.07	-1.48	_
	.10	.125	.28	77	1.28	1.19	
		.25	1.65	15	2.30	1.33	
		• 5	2.91	.51	1.90	.96	
		1.	3.07	.73	•55	.36	
		2.	1.94	.49	-1.47	34	
	¥	4.	-1.00	35	-4.87	-1.41	
	.25	.125	.19	95	.23	1.44	
		.25	1.08	44	1.21	1.55	
		۰5	3.35	.53	3.00	1.60	
		1.	5.82	1.48	3.28	1.38	
		2.	5.75	1.59	.66	.41	
¥	Ý	4.	2.47	.64	-3.17	88	

(Continued) 3 of 5 TABLE A4.

			φ =	= 0	φ =	= π <b>/2</b>
D T	d D	<u>s</u> S	<sup>о</sup> bх	<sup>о</sup> by	σ <sub>bx</sub>	σ <sub>by</sub>
50	.005	1.	2.68	.72	31	01
	.01	.015625	.41	43	1.43	.97
	1	.03125	.39	-1.01	3.22	2.09
		.0625	1.07	76	3.55	2.14
		.125	2.16	.03	2.71	1.43
		.25	2.89	.55	1.75	.84
		.5	3.12	.77	.79	.40
		1.0	2.69	.73	31	01
	<u> </u>	1.5	2.03	•56	-1.19	30
	.025	.03125	.12	70	1.17	1.07
		.0625	.73	67	2.60	1.66
		.125	1.61	.00	2.58	1.37
		.25	2.65	•54	1.80	.86
		.5	3.18	•79	.85	.42
		1.	2.78	.75	26	.00
		2.	1.40	•38	-1.98	56
	Ý	4.	-1.61	52	-5.12	-1.54
	.05	.0625	.22	72	1.18	1.12
	ļ	.125	1.45	13	2.16	1.24
		.25	2.93	•54	1.99	.93
		.5	3.45	.86	1.11	.51
		1.	3.10	.84	08	.06
		2.	.73	.47	-1.86	52
	Ý	4.	-1.30	41	-5.12	-1.51
	.10	.0625	.05	92	.32	1.11
	l	.125	.75	47	1.23	1.13
		.25	1.74	•42	2.18	1.09
		.5	4.21	1.05	1.96	.82
		1.	4.13	1.13	.74	.35
		2.	2.75	•77	-1.24	31
	¥	4.	33	12	-4.65	-1.36
,	<b>.</b> 15	.125	.65	58	.68	1.28
	1	.25	2.46	.29	2.11	1.23
		.5	5.08	1.28	3.12	1.25
		1.	6.13	1.71	1.85	.72
¥	¥	1.5	5.53	1.57	.63	.30

	TABLE A4. (Continued) 4 of 5						
		<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	$\varphi = o$			= π/2	
D T	d D	<u>s</u> S	σ <sub>bx</sub>	₫Ъу	σ <sub>bx</sub>	σ <sub>by</sub>	
100	.01	.015625	.22	73	1.68	1.29	
		.03125	.88	67	2.94	1.81	
		.0625	2.10	.03	2.69	1.41	
		.125	3.02	.59	1.94	.90	
		.25	3.49	.89	1.20	.52	
		.5	3.47	.96	.48	.22	
		1.	2.87	.82	.47	.10	
	<u> </u>	1.5	2.16	. 62	-1.30	36	
	.025	.015625	01	60	.22	.66	
		.03125	.16	71	1.14	1.09	
		.0625	1.46	14	2.08	1.19	
		.125	2.89	•55	2.01	•92	
		.250	3.61	.91	1.36	•58	
		.5	3.65	1.01	.61	.27	
		1.	3.07	.88	38	07	
		2.	1.60	.46	-2.04	59	
	<u> </u>	4.	-1.47	44	-5.13	-1.56	
	.05	.0625	.63	40	.97	.89	
		.125	2.52	.41	1.80	.90	
		.25	4.00	1.02	1.83	.74	
		• 5	4.29	1.19	1.12	.43	
		1.	3.68	1.06	.02	.05	
		2.	2.20	.63	-1.76	50	
	Y	4.	91	28	-4.01	-1.49	
	.10	.0625	.35	65	.28	1.08	
		.125	1.63	.05	1.17	.91	
		.25	4.31	1.05	2.73	1.11	
		۰5	6.55	1.84	.257	.93	
		1.	6.38	1.85	1.15	.43	
		2.	4.40	1.28	69	18	
+	¥	4.	1.10	.26	-3.96	-1.22	

()

	_		φ	= 0	φ	= π <b>/</b> 2
T T		<u>s</u> S	°bx	σ <sub>by</sub>	σ <sub>bx</sub>	₫Ъу
250	.001	1.	2.94	.87	<b></b> 57	16
	.005	.015625	1.11	48	2.75	1.64
		.03125	2.41	.24	2.47	1.23
		.0625	3.31	.74	1.83	.80
		.125	3.80	1.01	1.26	.51
		.25	3.91	1.11	.80	.30
		.5	3.66	1.07	.27	.11
		1.	2.96	.87	57	15
	1	1.5	2.21	• 65	-1.37	40
	.01	.015625	.38	60	1.48	1.15
	ł	.03125	1.90	.10	2.11	1.10
		.0625	3.17	.70	1.86	.81
		.125	3.81	1.01	1.34	.53
		•25	3.97	1.13	.86	.32
		•5	3./3	1.09	.30	.12
		1. 2	3.02	•89		15
		2. 4	-1.60	•44 - 1/1	-2.10	-1 60
	<u> </u>	-r ø		• • • •	5.24	1.00
	.025	.01562 <b>5</b>	.03	67	.21	.74
	1	.03125	.66	.27	.75	.70
		.0625	2.55	.50	1.50	.71
		.125	4.07	1.09	1.69	.65
		.25	4.50	1.28	1.27	.46
		• <b>)</b> 1	4.26	1.24	.66	•24
		2	3.50	1.04	-1.08	07
		4	-1 14	• JI - 35	-1.90	-1.53
	<u> </u>		* • **		- 5.15	- L • J J
	.05	.0625	1.27	.03	.92	.69
		.125	3.61	.90	2.31	.90
		.25	5.71	1.62	2.54	.86
	1	.5	5.94	1.73	1.76	.56
		1.	4.95	1.46	•58	.20
		2.	3.17	.94	-1.24	36
	<u>¥</u>	4.	03	02	-4.60	-1.38
	.07	.0625	1.17	.01	.38	.55
		.125	3.76	.94	1.85	.78
		.25	7.52	2.16	3.22	1.08
		• 5	9.57	2.82	1.55	• 52
		1.0	8.19	2.43	.23	.10
		1.5	6.59	1.96	36	09
Ŷ	γ	2.0	5.31	1.58	-1.03	29

	inenio e constante 1		Ø =	0	Ø =	π/2
D T	D	s S	σ	Iden.	σ	Iden.
10	.01	1.	2.68	Øi	0.69	Øi
	.025	.0625	1.65	Øi	1.39	ρο
		,125	2.05	Øi	1.05	Øi
		.25	2.46	Øi	.77	Øi
2. 		.5	2.61	Øi	. 69	Øi
		1.0	2.66	Øi	.67	Øi
	V	1.5	2.67	Øi	.67	Øi
	.05	.0625	1.58	Øi	1.64	ρο
		.125	1.84	Øi	1.27	Øi
		.25	2.32	Øi	.83	Øi
		.5	2.57	Øi	.68	Øo
		1.	2.64	Øi	.66	Øo
		2.	2.67	Øi	.65	0-0
	V	4.	2.68	Øi	.64	0-0
	.10	.0625	1.41	Øi	1.56	ρο
		,125	1.77	Øi	1.55	ρο
		.25	2.24	Øi	.92	Øi
		.5	2.61	Øi	.93	Øo
		1.	2.71	Øi	.95	Øo
		2.	2.73	Øi	.91	0-0
	Ý	4.	2.74	Øi	.88	0-0
	.25	.25	2.30	Øi	1.84	ρο
		.5	3.02	Øi	1.14	Øo
		1.	3.47	Øi	1.74	Øo
		2.	3.62	Øi	1.87	Øo
	¥	4.	3.64	Øi	1.83	Øo
	.35	.25	2.16	Øi	2.81	0-0
		•5	2.91	Øi	1.78	ρο
		1.	3.59	Øi	1.75	ρο
		1.5	3,90	Øi	2,33	Øo
¥	V	2.	4.07	Øi	2.56	Øo

TABLE A5. MAXIMUM STRESS INTENSITY<sup>\*</sup>IN CYLINDER AT  $\phi = 0$ AND  $\pi/2$  (1 of 6)

\* See footnote on Sheet 6.

TABLE	Α5.	(Continued)
-------	-----	-------------

7	J		Ø =	0	Ø =	π/2
T T		<u>s</u> S	σ	Iden.	σ	Iden.
25	.025	.0625	1.82	Øi	1.12	Øi
		.125	2.27	Øi	.68	Øi
		.25	2,47	Øi	.63	Øo
		.5	2.52	Øi	.61	Øo
		1.	2.55	Øi	.60	Øo
	ł	1.5	2.55	Øi	.59	Øo
	.05	.0625	1.75	Øi	1.50	ρο
		.125	2.22	Øi	1.37	Øo
		.25	2.49	Øi	.81	Øo
		.5	2.55	Øi	.82	Øo
		1.	2.62	Øo	.78	Øo
		2.	2.67	Øo	.76	Øo
	4	4.	2.69	Øo	.75	Øo
	.10	.125	2.18	Øi	1.30	ρο
	1	.25	2.64	Øi	.98	Øo
		.5	2.80	Øi	1.22	Øo
		1.	2.84	Øi	1.23	Øo
		2.	2.91	Øo	1.20	Øo
	ł	4.	2.94	Øo	1.18	Øo
	.25	.125	1.80	Øo	2.72	0-0
		.25	2.31	Øo	1.99	0-0
		•5	3.02	Øo	1.00	ρο
		1.	3.99	Øo	1.91	Øo
		2.	4.42	Øo	2.63	Øo
¥	¥	4.	4.28	Øo	2.89	Øo

)

)	d	s	Ø =	0	$\phi = \frac{1}{17}/2$	
Ť	<u> </u>	ŝ	<u>र</u>	Iden.	σ	Iden
50	.005	1.	2.53	Øo	.53	Øo
	.01	.015625	1.56	i-i	1.57	ρο
		.03125	1.83	Øi	1.01	Øi
		.0625	2.27	Øi	.64	Øi
		.125	2.44	Øi	.57	Øo
		.25	2.49	Øi	.55	Øo
		.5	2.52	Øi	.54	Øo
		1.0	2.52	Øi	.54	Øo
	V	1.5	2.53	Øi	.53	Øo
	.025	.03125	1.70	Øi	1.23	Øi
		.0625	2.17	Øi	.83	i-i
		.125	2.43	Øi	.71	Øo
		.25	2.49	Øi	.71	Øo
		.5	2.54	Øo	.68	Øo
		1.	2.59	Øo	.66	Øo
		2.	2.61	Øo	.65	øo
	Y	4.	2.61	Øo	.64	Øo
	.05	.0625	2.04	Øo	1.22	ρο
		.125	2.50	Øi	.78	Øo
		.25	2.60	Øi	.96	Øo
		.5	2.63	øo	.96	Øo
		1.	2.75	Øo	.93	Øo
		2.	2.79	Øo	.92	0-0
	<u> </u>	4.	2.80	Øo	.91	0-0
	.10	.0625	1.89	Øi	1.64	ρο
		.125	2.56	i-i	1.12	ρο
		•25	2.86	i-i	.87	Øo
		•2	2.97	Øo	1.26	Øo
		1.	3.16	Øo	1.43	Øo
		2.	3.17	Øo	1.50	Øo
-	¥	4.	3.19	Øi	1.54	Øo
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	.15	.125	2.73	i-i	1.79	0-0
	ļ	.25	3.04	i-i	1.00	ρο
1		.5	3.58	Øo	1.16	Øo
		1.	4.05	Øo	1.78	Øo
V	Y	1.5	4.08	Øo	1.98	Øo

.

# TABLE A5. (Continued)

-			Ø = (	)	Ø = T	т/2
D T		s S	σ	Iden.	σ	Iden
100	.01	.015625	1.71	Øi	1.41	ρο
		.03125	2.17	Øi	.76	Øi
		.0625	2.40	Øi	.62	Øo
		.125	2.46	Øi	.61	Øo
		.25	2.49	Øi	.58	Øc
		.5	2.53	Øo	.57	Øo
		1.	2.54	Øo	.56	Øo
	4	1.5	2.55	Øo	.56	Øo
	.025	.015625	1.43	Øi	1.44	ρο
		.03125	2.05	Øi	1.18	ρ <b>ο</b>
		.0625	2.45	Øi	.67	Øo
		.125	2.53	Øi	.82	Øo
		.250	2.53	Øi	.80	Øo
		.5	2.68	Øo	.77	Øo
		1.	2.67	Øo	.75	Øo
		2.	2.69	Øo	.74	Øo
	4	4.	2.69	Øo	.74	Øo
	.05	.0625	2.34	i-i	.96	i-i
		.125	2.68	i-i	.76	Øo
		.25	2.69	Øo	1.00	Øo
		.5	2.91	Øo	1.09	Øo
		1.	2.96	Øo	1.13	Øo
		2.	2.96	Øo	1.15	Øo
	Ý	4.	2.96	Øo	1.16	Øo
	.10	.0625	2.58	i-i	1.60	0-0
		.125	3.06	i-i	1.01	ρο
		.25	3.31	Øo	.65	Øo
		.5	3.94	Øo	1.29	Øo
		1.	4.12	Øo	1.65	Øo
	8					
		2.	3.93	Øo	1.92	0-0

TABLE A5. (Continued) (4 of 6)

# TABLE A5. (Continued)

n T	d	s	Ø =	0	Ø =	= π/2
Ť	D	S	σ	Iden.	a	Iden.
250	.001	1.	2.51	Øi	.51	Øi
	.005	.015625	2,26	Øi	.73	i-i
		.03125	2.42	Øi	.61	Øo
		.0625	2.46	Øi	.59	Øo
		.125	2.48	Øi	.56	Øo
		.25	2.52	Øo	.55	Øo
		.5	2.53	Øo	<b>.</b> 54	Øo
	-	1.	2.53	Øo	.54	0-0
	Y	1.5	2.53	Øo	•54	0-0
	.01	.015625	2.21	Øi	1.11	i-i
		.03125	2.49	i-i	.65	Øo
		.0625	2,50	Øi	.71	Øo
		.125	2.49	Øi	.67	Øo
		.25	2.55	Øi	.64	Øo
		<b>.</b> 5	2.58	Øi	.62	Øo
		1.	2.59	Øi	.62	0-0
		2.	2.60	Øi	• 62	Øo
	V	4.	2.60	Øi	.62	0-0
	.025	.015625	1.71	Øi	1.07	ρο
		.03125	2.35	i-i	.98	i-i
		.0625	2.65	i-i	•64	Øo
		.125	2.60	Øo	.83	Øo
		.25	2.80	Øo	.90	Øo
		.5	2.85	Øo	.94	Øο
	:	1.	2.86	Øo	.95	0-0
		2.	2.85	Øo	.97	0-0
		4.	2.85	Ø0	.97	0-0
	.05	.0625	3.05	i-i	• 82	ρο
		.125	3.05	Øo	• 49	ρο
		.25	3.48	Øo	.93	ρο
		۰5	3.63	Øo	1.17	ρο
		1.	3.52	Øo	1.37	ρο
		2.	3.35	Øo	1.55	ρο
	¥	4.	3.38	Øi	1.66	ρο
	.07	.0625	3.26	i-i	.88	0-0
		.125	3.22	Øo	.72	ρο
		.25	4.03	Øo	.94	Øo
		•5	4.60	Øo	1.41	Øo
		1.0	4.65	Øo	1.67	Øo
J.		1.5	4.49	Øo	1.86	Øo
¥	¥	2.0	4.34	Øo	2.01	Øo

# TABLE A5. (Continued) (6 of 6)

$$\overline{\sigma} = \text{stress intensity}$$

$$\overline{\sigma} = \text{maximum of:} | \sigma_{\phi i} - p |, | \sigma_{\rho i} - p |, | \sigma_{\phi i} - \sigma_{\rho i} |$$

$$| \sigma_{\phi o} |, | \sigma_{\rho o} |, | \sigma_{\phi o} - \sigma_{\rho o} |$$

p = radial stress due to internal pressure, p = -2/(D/T)

Identification:

$$\phi \mathbf{i} = \| \sigma_{\phi \mathbf{i}} - \mathbf{p} \|$$

$$\phi \mathbf{o} = \| \sigma_{\phi \mathbf{o}} \|$$

$$\rho \mathbf{o} = \| \sigma_{\rho \mathbf{o}} \|$$

$$0 - \mathbf{0} = \| \sigma_{\phi \mathbf{o}} - \sigma_{\rho \mathbf{o}} \|$$

$$\mathbf{i} - \mathbf{i} = \| \sigma_{\phi \mathbf{i}} - \sigma_{\rho \mathbf{i}} \|$$

		A1 Ø	$= 0 \text{ AND } \pi/$	۷. 		
n	a	0	Ø =	0	<b>Ø</b> = π.	/2
<del>D</del> T	D	S	σ	Iden.	ਰ	Iden.
10	.01	1.	3.81	i-i	1.62	xo
	.025	.0625	2.50	i-i	2.31	xo
		.125	3.48	i-i	4.19	xo
		.25	4.10	i-i	4.31	xo
		.5	4.20	i-i	3.09	xo
		1.0	3.81	i-i	1.64	xo
	V	1.5	3.26	i-i	1.57	xi
	.05	.0625	1.81	i-i	1.14	уо
		.125	2.89	i-i	2.88	xo
		.25	3.81	i-i	3.89	xo
		.5	4.14	i-i	3.09	xo
		1.	3.86	i-i	1.69	xo
		2.	2.76	yo	2.60	xi
	V	4.	3.77	уо	7.02	xi
	.10	.0625	1.26	<u>i-i</u>	0.75	уо
		.125	2.23	i-i	1.59	yo
		.25	3.35	i-i	3.07	xo
		.5	4.11	i-i	3.10	xo
		1.	4.06	i-i	1.88	xo
		2.	3.01	i-i	2.51	xi
	ł	4.	3.80	уо	6.97	xi
	.25	.25	2.56	i-i	2.42	уо
		.5	3.78	i-i	2.94	xo
		1.	4.82	i-i	2.88	xo
-		2.	4.36	i-i	1.39	уо
	¥	4.	4.08	yo	6.08	xi
	.35	.25	2.40	i-i	3.29	уо
	1	.5	3.47	i-i	3.88	уо
		1.	5.11	i-i	3.92	xo
		1.5	5.66	i-i	3.38	xo
¥	V	2.	5.58	i-i	2.50	xo

TABLE A6. MAXIMUM STRESS INTENSITY IN NOZZLE AT  $\phi = 0$  AND  $\pi/2$ 

\* See footnote on Sheet 6.

			(2 01 0)			
D T	d D	<u>s</u> S	φ = σ	• O Iden.	ø = <del>.</del>	π/2 Iden.
25	.025	.0625	3.00	i-i	2.98	xo
		.125	3.99	i-i	3.69	xo
		.25	4.49	i-i	2.96	xo
		.5	4.57	i-i	1.90	xo
		1.	4.12	i-i	.89	уо
	¥	1.5	3.49	i-i	1.94	xi
	.05	.0625	2.27	i-i	1.67	уо
		.125	3.41	i-i	2.89	xo
		.25	4.32	i-i	2.90	xo
		.5	4.63	i-i	1.99	xo
		1.	4.28	i-i	.93	yo
		2.	3.17	yo	2.91	xi
	/	4.	3.68	уо	7.13	
	.10	.125	2.68	i-i	1.87	уо
		.25	3.96	i-i	2.54	xo
		5	4.88	i-i	2.28	xo
		1.	4.82	i-i	1.16	xo
		2.	3,63	i-i	2.54	xi
	¥	4.	3.80	уо	6.89	xi
	.25	.125	2.02	i-i	2.98	yo
	1	.25	2.85	i-i	3.43	yo
		.5	5.80	i-i	3.37	ÿo
		1.	7.08	i-i	3.44	xo
		2.	7.32	xo	1.21	xo
¥	¥	4.	5.62	yo	4.67	xi

TABLE A6. (Continued)

(2 of 6)

(3 of 6)						
	د		Ø =	• 0	Ø =	π/2
D T	D	S	٩	Iden.	σ	Iden.
50	.005	1.	4.17	1-1	<b>,</b> 95	xi
	.01	.015625	2.12	i-i	1.55	хо
		.03125	3.23	i-i	3,43	xo
		.0625	4.15	i-i	3.86	xo
		.125	5.07	i-i	3.07	xo
		.25	4.88	i-i	2.12	xo
		.5	4.78	i-i	1,22	xo
-		1.0	4,19	i-i	.95	xi
		1.5	3.51	i-i	2.06	xi
	.025	.03125	2.24	i-i	1.66	уо
		.0625	3.31	i-i	2.84	xo
		.125	4.34	i-i	2.89	xo
		.25	4.82	i-i	2.16	xo
		.5	4.84	i-i	1.27	xo
		1.	4,29	i-i	.69	уо
		2.	3.20	уо	3.04	xi
	$\checkmark$	4.	3.65	yi	7.16	xi
	.05	.0625	2.56	i-i	1.74	уо
		.125	3.78	i-i	2,34	хо
		.25	4.80	i-i	2.24	xo
-		.5	5.07	i-i	1.47	xo
		1.	4.60	i-i	.74	yo
		2.	3.44	уо	2,90	xi
		4.	3.70	yi	7.14	xi
	.10	.0625	2.00	i-i	2.16	yo
		.125	2.79	i-i	2.16	уо
		.25	4.46	i-i	2.24	xo
		.5	5.73	i-i	2.09	xo
		1.	5.60	i-i	1.08	xo
		2.	4.31	i-i	2.07	xi
	V ·	4.	3.94	yi	6.49	xi
	.15	.125	2.38	i-i	2.91	уо
	1	.25	3.83	i-i	2.84	yo
		.5	6.23	i-i	3.14	xo
1 - A		1.	7.40	i-i	1.96	xo
V	$\downarrow$	1.5	6.89	i-i	.93	xo
	-	~ • • •				

TABLE A6. (Continued) (3 of 6)

TABLE	A6.	(Continued)
-------	-----	-------------

<b>(</b> 4	of	6)

ŭ	d	c	Ø = 0		$\phi = \pi/2$	
Ī	D	S	σ	Iden.	σ	Iden.
100	.01	.015625	2.45	i-i	1.87	уо
ł		.03125	3.60	i-i	3.19	xo
		.0625	4.47	i-i	2.98	xo
		.125	4.96	i-i	2.24	xo
		.25	5.11	i-i	1.49	xo
		.5	4.90	i-i	.83	уо
		1.	4,25	i-i	1.04	xi
		1,5	3.54	i-i	2.09	xi
	.025	.015625	1.66	i-i	1.17	уо
		.03125	2.48	i-i	1.70	уо
		.0625	3.66	i-i	2.23	xo
		.125	4.72	i-i	2.20	xo
		.250	5.18	i-i	1.60	xo
		.5	5.07	i-i	.93	xo
		1.	4.46	<b>i-i</b>	.92	xo
		2.	3.35	yo	3.06	xo
	$\downarrow$	4.	3.64	yi	7.13	xi
	.05	.0625	2.73	i-i	1.61	уо
		.125	4.27	i-i	1.83	xo
		.25	5.46	i-i	1.90	xo
		.5	5.64	i-i	1.30	xo
		1.	5.04	i-i	<u> </u> 66	уо
		2.	3.81	yo	2.68	xi
	1	4.	3.76	yi	6.94	xi
	.10	.0625	1.97	i-i	2.53	уо
		.125	2.96	i-i	2.52	уо
		.25	5.26	i-i	2.75	xo
		.5	7.55	i-i	2.64	xi
		1.	7.56	i-i	1.24	xo
		2.	5.93	xo	1.18	xi
$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	4.	4.75	уо	5.47	xi

 $\bigcirc$ 

D T	d D	s S	ø =	0 Iden.	= Ø T	π/2 Iden.
250	.001	1.	4.24	i-i	1.10	xi
	.005	.015625	3.68	i-i	2.97	xo
		.03125	4.58	i-i	2.73	xo
		.0625	5.10	i-i	2.07	xo
		.125	5.31	i-i	1.47	xo
		.25	5.26	i-i	1.01	xo
		.5	4.96	i-i	.70	yo
		1.	4.26	i-i	1.09	xi
	Ŷ	1.5	3.55	i-i	2.13	xi
	.01	.015625	2.73	i-i	1.75	vo
	1	.03125	3.96	i-i	2.25	xo
		.0625	4.89	i-i	2.03	xo
		.125	5.30	i-i	1.51	xo
		.25	5.31	i-i	1.05	xo
		•5	5.02	i-i	.71	yo
		1.	4.33	i-i	1.11	yi
		2.	3.27	yo	3.18	xi
	V	4.	3.60	xo	7.24	xi
	.025	.015625	1.91	i-i	1.44	уо
	1	.03125	2.68	i-i	1.37	уо
		.0625	4.21	i-i	1.50	xo
		.125	5.42	i-i	1.71	xo
		.25	5.75	i-i	1.36	xo
:		: 5	5.50	i-i	.84	xo
		1.	4.80	i-i	.68	yi
		2.	3.62	yo	2.92	xi
	<u> </u>	4.	3.70	yi	7.08	xi
	.05	.0625	2.59	i-i	2.24	уо
	1	.125	4.58	i-i	2.82	i-i
	]	.25	6.60	i-i	2.56	i-i
		۰5	7.01	i-i	1.70	xo
		1.	6.17	i-i	.74	xo
		2.	4.64	уо	1.89	xi
	¥	4.	4.02	yi	6.30	xi
	.07	.0625	2.34	i-i	2.16	уо
		.125	4.44	i-i	2.41	уо
		.25	7.97	i-i	3.27	xi
		.5	10.40	i-i	1.63	xi
		1.0	9.25	i-i	.54	yi
		1.5	7.76	i-i	.49	xi
	¥	2.0	6.58	i-i	1.36	xi
$$\sigma = \text{stress intensity}$$

$$\overline{\sigma} = \text{maximum of:} | \sigma_{xi} - p |, | \sigma_{yi} - p^{\parallel}, | \sigma_{xi} - \sigma_{yi} |$$

$$| \sigma_{xo} |, | \sigma_{yo} |, | \sigma_{xo} - \sigma_{yo} |$$

p = radial stress due to internal pressure; p = -2/(D/T)

Identification:

 $xo = | \sigma_{xo} |$   $xi = | \sigma_{xi} - p |$   $yo = | \sigma_{yo} |$   $yi = | \sigma_{yi} - p |$   $i-i = | \sigma_{xi} - \sigma_{yi} |$ 

TABLE A7	MAXTMIM	SURFACE	STRESSES	TN	CYLINDER	AND	NOZZLE*	•
10000000		DORLHOH	01100000	TT.	OTHTRDUK	T TTTD	1102222	

(1 of 6)

T	đ	e	Cyli	nder	Nozz	zle
Ť	D	<u>s</u>	$\sigma_{\rm m}$	Iden.	σ <sub>m</sub>	Iden.
10	.01	1.	2.49	Øo	2.61	уо
1	.025	.0625	1.45	Øi		
		.125	1.85	Øi	4.19	×0 +
		.25	2.27	Øo	4.31	xo +
	-	.5	2.44	Øo	3.09	.xo +
		1.0	2.50	Øo	2.60	уо
	V	1.5	2.52	Øo	2.73	уо
	.05	.0625	1.38	Øi	1.39	yi
		.125	1.64	Øi	2.88	xo <sup>7</sup>
		.25	2.12	Øi	3.89	xo f
		.5	2.39	Øo	3.09	xo +
		1.	2.52	Øo	2.60	yo
		2.	2.58	Øo	2.76	уо
	V	4.	2.59	Øo	7.02	/
	.10	.0625	1.21	Øi	1.15	yi
		.125	1.57	Øi	1.91	yi ,
		.25	2.04	Øi	3.07	xo †
		.5	2.41	Øi	3.10	xo f
		1.	2.56	Øo	2.67	уо
		2.	2.70	Øo	2.91	уо
		4.	2.74	Øo	6.97	/
	.25	.25	2.10	Øo	2.42	yo t
		.5	2.82	Øo	2.94	xo f
		1.	3.27	Øo	3.08	yo
		2.	3.42	Øo	3.75	уо
	ł	4.	3,44	Øo	6.08	*i *
	.35	.25	2.45	ρo +	3.29	yo f
	١	.5	2.72	Øi	2.76	xo f
		1.	3.39	Øi	3,91	xo +
		1.5	3.70	Øi	4.29	xo
¥	V	2.	3.87	Øi	4.57	уо

\* See footnote on Sheet 6.

.

TABLE A7. (Continued)

(2	of	6)	
----	----	----	--

D d		<u> </u>	Cylinder		Nozzle	
Ť	<u>d</u>	<u>s</u>	<u></u>	Iden.	σ <sub>m</sub>	Iden.
25	.025	.0625	1.74	Øi	2.98	/
		.125	2.19	Øi	3.69	<sub>xo</sub> /
		.25	2.39	Øi	2.96	x0 +
		.5	2.49	Øo	2.89	уо
		1.	2.54	Øo	3.15	yo
	ł	1.5	2.56	Øo	3.14	уо
	.05	.0625	1.67	Øi	2.00	yi
		.125	2.14	Øi	2.89	xo f
		.25	2.41	Øi	2.90	xo +
		.5	2.49	Øo	2.92	уо
		1.	2.62	Øo	3.23	уо
		2.	2.67	Øo	3.17	уо
	4	4.	2.69	Øo	7.13	ź
	.10	.125	2.10	Øi	2.34	yi
1	1	.25	2.56	Øi	2.54	x0 +
		.5	2.72	Øi	3.11	yo
		1.	2.79	Øo	3.61	уо
		2.	2.91	Øo	3,60	уо
	¥	4.	2.94	Øo	6.89	xi
	.25	.125	2.23	<b>ρ</b> ο <sup>7</sup>	2.98	yo +
		.25	2.31	Øo	3.43	yo +
		•5	3.02	Øo	3.76	xo
		1.	4.00	Øo	6.65	xo
		2.	4.42	Øo	7.32	xô
¥	¥	4.	4.28	Øo	5.62	уо

٠,

TABLE	Α7.	(Con	tinued)	
	(3 c	of 6)		

D	đ	s	Cylinder		Nozzle	
T	Ū	ŝ	σm	Iden:	σ <sub>m</sub>	Iden.
 50	.005	1.	2.51	Øo	3.34	уо
	.01	.015625	1.57	ρο 7	1.60	yi
		.03125	1.79	Øi	3.44	xo +
	× .	.0625	2.23	Øi	3.86	xo f
		.125	2.40	Øi	3.07	xo f
		.25	2.46	Øo	-3.02	xi
		.5	2.51	Øo	3.28	уо
		1.0	2.52	Øo	3.35	уо
	¥	1.5	2.52	Øo	3.26	уо
	.025	.03125	1.66	Øi	1.98	yi ,
		.0625	2.13	Øi	2.84	xo f
		.125	2.39	Øi	2.89	xo f
		.25	2.45	Øi	-2.99	xi
		.5	2.54	Øo	3.31	уо
		1.	2.59	Øo	3.40	yo
		2.	2.61	Øo	3.20	уо
	$\checkmark$	4.	2.61	Øo	7.16	xo f
	.05	.0625	2.04	Øo	2.26	yi (
		.125	2.46	Øi	2.34	xo f
		.25	2.56	Øi	2.95	yo
		.5	2.63	Øo	3.59	xo
		1.	2.75	Øo	3.62	уо
		2.	2.79	Øo	3.45	уо
	•	4.	2.80	Øo	7.14	xi f
	.10	.0625	1.85	Øi	2.16	yo +
		.125	2.36	Øi	2.17	yo f
		.25	2.64	Øi	2.91	xo
		.5	2,97	Øo	4.57	xo
		1.	3.16	Øo	4.79	xo
		2.	3.17	Øo	4,27	уо
	¥	4.	. 3.19	Øi	6.49	*
	.15	.125	2.34	Øi	1.84	yi ,
		.25	2.83	Øo	2.84	yo +
		• 5	3.58	Øo	5.53	xo
		1.	4.05	Øo	7.01	xo
۷	¥	1.5	4.08	Øo	6.76	xo

TABLE	Α7.	(Continued)
	<b>(</b> 4	of 6)

			Cvlinder		Nozzle	
D T		s S	σ <u></u>	Iden.	σ	Iden.
100	.01	.015625	1.69	Øi	2.07	yi
1		.03125	2.15	Øi	3.19	xo +
		.0625	2.38	Øi	2.98	x0 +
		.125	2.44	Øi	-3.20	xi
		.25	2.49	Øo	-3.54	xi
		• 5	2.53	Øo	3.61	xo
		1.	2.54	Øo	3.46	уо
	$\downarrow$	1.5	2.55	Øo	3.35	уо
	.025	.015625	1.44	ρο <i>†</i>	1.62	yi
		.03125	2.03	Øi	2.22	yi
		.0625	2.43	Øi	2,23	xo f
		.125	2.51	Øi	-2.96	xi
		.250	2.51	Øo	3.61	xo
		.5	2.68	Øo	3.83	xo
		1.	2.67	Øo	3.60	уо
		2.	2.69	Øo	3,35	уо
	$\downarrow$	4.	2.69	Øo	7.13	xi 4
-	.05	.0625	2.24	Øi	2.11	yi
	s .	.125	2.49	Øi	2.65	yo
		.25	2.69	Øo	4.17	xo
		.5	2.91	Øo	4.61	xo
		1.	2,96	Øo	4.26	xo
		2.	2.96	Øo	3.82	уо
	$\downarrow$	4.	2.96	Øo	6.94	xi f
	.10	.0625	2.32	Øo	2.53	yo 7
		.125	2.72	Øo	2.52	уо <i>†</i>
		.25	3.31	Øo	4.56	xo
		.5	3.94	Øo	7.05	xo
		1.	4.12	Øo	7.29	xo
		2.	3.93	Øo	5.93	xo
Ţ		4.	3.77	Øi	5.47	xi f

)

п	d	c	Cylir	nder	Nozz	zle
Ť	<u><u>u</u> D</u>	5	$\sigma_{\rm m}$	Iden.	σ <sub>m</sub>	Iden.
250	.001	1.	2.50	Øo	3.51	уо
	.005	.015625	2.26	Øi	2.98	xo +
	1	.03125	2.42	Øi	2.73	xo f
		.0625	2.46	Øi	-3.49	xi
		.125	2.48	Øo	-3.88	xi
		25	2.52	Øo	3.95	xo
		.5	2.53	Øo	3.87	xo
		1.	2,53	Øo	3,52	yo
	Y	1.5	2.53	Øo	3.38	уо
	.01	.015625	2.21	Øi	2.25	yi,
	1	.03125	2.48	Øi	2.25	xo f
		.0625	2.50	Øi	-3.28	xi
		.125	2.48	Øi	-3.86	xi
		.25	2.55	Øo	4.03	xo
		.5	2.59	Øo	3.95	xo
		1.	2.59	Øo	3.57	уо
		2.	2.60	Øo	3.27	yo,
	Ý	4.	2.60	Øo	7.25	xi <sup>r</sup>
	.025	.015625	1.71	Øi	1.87	yi
		.03125	2.22	Øi	2.03	yi
		.0625	2.44	Øi	2.71	уо
1		.125	2.60	Øo	4.17	XO
		.25	2.80	Øo	4.68	xo
	Į	.5	2.86	Øo	4.58	xo
	ļ.	1.	2.86	Øo	4.07	xo
		2.	2.85	Øo	3.62	yo 1
	Ý	4.	2.85	Øo	7.08	xi '
	.05	.0625	2.65	Øo	2.24	yo f
	1	.125	3.05	Øo	3.76	xo
		.25	3.48	Øo	5.98	xo
		.5	3.63	Øo	6.44	xo
		1.	3.52	Øo	5.78	xo
		2.	3.35	Øo	4.64	уо д
	Y	4.	3.38	Øi	6.30	xi <sup>7</sup>
	.07	.0625	2.78	Øo	2,16	yo 4
	1	.125	3.22	Øo	3.90	xo
		25	4.03	Øo	7.80	xo
	ł	<u>5</u>	4.60	Øo	10.11	xo
	1	1.0	4.65	Øo	9.19	xo
		1.5	4.49	Øo	7.96	xo
¥	¥	2.0	4.34	Øo	6.99	xo

 $\sigma_m$  = maximum surface stress.

Maximum surface stress is at  $\phi = 0$ , except where an  $\neq$  is shown, for which maximum surface stress is at  $\phi = \frac{1}{17}/2$ .

#### Identification:

Øo	=	stress	in	Ø-direction,	outside surface
Øi	=	stress	in	Ø-direction,	inside surface
ρö	=	stress	in	ρ-direction,	outside surface
ρi	=	stress	in	ρ-direction,	inside surface

хо	=	stress	in	x-direction,	outside surface
xi	=	stress	in	x-direction,	inside surface
yo	=	stress	in	y-direction,	outside surface
yi	Ħ	stress	in	y-direction,	inside surface.

PHASE REPORT No. 6

on

#### FLEXIBILITY OF NOZZLES IN CYLINDRICAL SHELLS

December 22, 1967

to

#### UNITED STATES ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION

E. C. Rodabaugh and T. J. Atterbury

Contract No. W-7405-eng-92 Task 16

BATTELLE MEMORIAL INSTITUTE Columbus Laboratories 505 King Avenue Columbus, Ohio 43201 Section 6

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
INTRODUCTION	• 1
SUMMARY	. 3
NOMENCLATURE	. 4
DEFINITION OF FLEXIBILITY FACTOR	. 5
TEST DATA	. 7
THEORY	. 10
COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH BIJLAARD'S THEORY	. 12
EMPIRICAL EQUATION	. 15
SIGNIFICANCE OF FLEXIBILITY OF NOZZLES	. 25
REFERENCES	. 28

#### INTRODUCTION

Nozzles in pressure vessels are quite often attached to a piping system; the loads applied to the nozzle by that piping system depend upon the flexibility of the piping system. At present it is customary to assume that the nozzle in the vessel forms a rigid anchor to the end of the piping system. This assumption is conservative but, in some cases, it may be highly overconservative and lead to unnecessary cost in the piping system. This point arises because the nozzle in a pressure vessel is not a rigid anchor; its flexibility may contribute significantly to the overall flexibility of the piping system, thereby reducing the loads in the piping system arising from thermal expansion of the piping or movement of end connections to the piping system.

Phase Report No. 3, "Flexibility of Nozzles in Spherical Shells", gives a definition of flexibility factors for nozzles in spherical shells for either moment or thrust loads. Factors are calculated and results given in graphical form for a range of dimensional parameters. The factors are based on Bijlaard's<sup>(1)\*</sup> theoretical analysis of a nozzle in a spherical shell. The present Phase Report is intended to provide analogous data for nozzles in cylindrical shells. However, at this time no theoretical analysis is available for nozzles in cylindrical shell with moment or

\* References are listed on page 28.



thrust loads applied to the nozzle. In this report, an empirical equation is derived from test data, guided by Bijlaard's<sup>(2)</sup> analysis for distributed load on the surface of a cylinder. Because test data is almost all limited to moment loads applied to the nozzle, only such loads are considered herein.

#### SUMMARY

Available test data on the flexibility of nozzles in cylindrical shells are presented in the form of flexibility factors. Test data are almost entirely limited to in-plane or out-of-plane bending moments applied to the nozzle. For nozzles with small d/D ratios, the flexibility under such loading is probably the only significant flexibility in-so-far as the contribution of the nozzle to the attached piping system.

An empirical equation is given which follows the same general trends as given by Bijlaard's theory for distributed loads on a cylinder shell but gives lower flexibility. The empirical equation for the flexibility factor of nozzles in cylinders gives flexibility factors which are:

- (a) For in-plane bending, lower than for a nozzle in a sphere,
- (b) For out-of-plane bending, higher than for a nozzle in a sphere.

The significance of the flexibility of nozzles in cylinders is relatively small for thick-wall cylinders but can become large for thinwall cylinder. For "tight" piping system, examples are cited in which, if the nozzle flexibility is ignored, moments at the nozzle can be overestimated by factors of 10 to 30.



FIGURE 1. NOMENCLATURE ILLUSTRATION

- D = mean diameter of cylinder, in.
- T = wall thickness of cylinder, in.
- d = mean diameter of nozzle, in.
- t = wall thickness of nozzle, in.
- k = flexibility factor  $\theta/(Md/EI_n)$
- $\Theta$  = rotation in direction of applied moment, radians
- M = moment applied to nozzle, in-1b
- E = modulus of elasticity, psi
- $I_n = moment of inertia of nozzle = \pi d^3 t/8, in^4.$

Other symbols defined in the text where used

#### DEFINITION OF FLEXIBILITY FACTOR

For small nozzles  $(\frac{d}{D} < 1/3)$  in pressure vessels, application of a moment to the nozzle produces local displacements in the shell and nozzle near the shell-nozzle juncture. These local displacements result in a rotation of the nozzle axis with respect to the shell surface. For small nozzles, the displacements of the shell remote from the nozzle can be disregarded since their contribution to the movement of the nozzle will be small. Accordingly, it is convenient to define an angle  $\theta$  as:

θ = rotation of axis of nozzle (in the direction of the applied moment) with respect to the surface of the shell, radians and a flexibility factor k as

$$k = \frac{\theta}{Md/EI_{p}}$$
(1)

where

- M = moment applied to nozzle, in-1b
- d = mean diameter of nozzles, inches
- E = modulus of elasticity, psi

 $I_n = moment of inertia of nozzle cross section, in<sup>4</sup>.$ 

The quantity  $(Md/EI_n)$  in Equation (1) is simply the rotation of a nozzle of one-diameter length loaded by a moment M. The utility of a flexibility factor as defined by Equation (1) arises from two considerations:

 The value of k, for a given nozzle and piping system, immediately indicates whether the flexibility of the nozzle is significant. For example, if k = 2 and the length

of the pipe attached to the nozzle is 50d, then the local flexibility of the nozzle will have only a small effect on the flexibility of the piping system. If, on the other hand, k = 10, and the length of pipe attached to the nozzle is 2d, then the local flexibility of the nozzle may have a very significant effect on the flexibility of the piping system.

(2) The use of a flexibility factor as defined by Equation (1) is analogous to the flexibility factor for elbows or curved pipe presently given in the ASA Code for Pressure Piping and generally used in piping flexibility analyses.

While the flexibility factor for a nozzle in a cylinder, as defined by Equation (1) is analogous to the flexibility factor of an elbow, it should be noted that the flexibility of the nozzle is inherently a lumped parameter. The flexibility of an elbow or curved pipe is inherently a distributed parameter associated with a unit length and, for accurate results, an integration over the elbow or curved pipe length must be carried out. The rotation  $\theta$ , as defined and used herein, arises from local deformations at the nozzle-cylinder juncture. For small values of d/D,  $\theta$  is independent of the reaction loads on the cylinder, provided only that those reaction loads are applied at a sufficient distance from the nozzlecylinder juncture such that the local displacements at the juncture are not influenced by the reaction loads.

#### TEST DATA

Available data on displacements of nozzles in cyliders are relatively limited. Available data are summarized in Table 1. All of the data were obtained as incidental measurements taken as part of other test data; as a preliminary to fatigue tests in Reference (3) and as a part of obtaining measured strains in the other references.

All of the references except (7) and (9) provide measurements of the displacement of the branch pipe as a function of the load applied to the nozzle. The displacement zero point for the measurements is not clearly indicated in all test data, however, in all cases it was assumed that zero displacement was at an anchor of the cylinder.

The value of  $\theta$ , where displacements of the nozzle are given, was obtained by subtracting out that part of the displacement attributable to nominal displacements of the cylinder and nozzle between the anchor point (or points) and point of nozzle displacement measurement. Where the d/D is small (e.g. < 0.5) and t is not greater than T, the contribution of nominal displacements of the cylinder to the measured displacements of the nozzle are small because the rotation (torsional or bending) is inversely proportional to the cylinder radius cubed.

It should be noted that  $\theta$  represents the rotation of the nozzle due to local displacements of the cylindrical shell and nozzle and hence  $\theta$  is not dependent upon the cylinder length or nozzle length used in the test models; provided only that those lengths were sufficient to avoid end effects from anchors or load applicative points on the behavior of the nozzle-cylinder junction junction region.

u L		¢	η	4	E		ц Ц	ď	к н Ө	(Md)/EI
Ker. No.	size	ЭIH	٥I٩	н <b>і</b> н	L, in.	Type of Nozzle	p. in.	in.	In-Plane	Out-of-Plane
(3)	12x 4	68	.35	. 88	. 188	Saddle Reinforced	.368	7-5/16	4.5	18.
(4)	24x 4	76	.18	.76	.312	Fabricated,	I T	8	17.	31.
	24x12 24x24		.53	.80 1.00	: 	unreiniorcea "		1 1 7 1	8.4 17.	44. 16.
(5)	24x 4 24x 8 24x12 24x12 24x 4 24x 8		.18 .53 .18 .18	.76 .80 .80 .76		Saddle Reinforced " " Pad Reinforced	.344 .437 .437 .375 .375	9-5/8 17-1/4 25-1/2 7-3/4	1.5 2.8 3.4 .7 8	15. 22. 20. 28.
	24x12		.53	.80	>	j.	.375	25	5.6	18.
(9)	16x 6 16x 6 16x 6 16x 6 16x 6	31 31 31 15	.41 .41 .41 .42	.56 .56 .28	•5 •5 1.0	Drawn Outlet Pad Reinforced Saddle Reinforced Drawn Outlet	 .500 	 12-1/8 11-5/8 	2.7 1.5 1.3 1.1	11.8 8.4 3.0 1.7
(1)	48x 6 48x 6	78 78	.13 .13	.45 .45	.625 .625	Fabricated, unreinforced Pad Reinforced	 . 625	 10-1/2	5.6 1.6	11. 10.
(8)	20x 6 20x12 20x12	19 19 19	.33 .64 .64	.43 .69 .69	1.0 1.0 1.0	Drawn Outlet (L) Drawn Outlet (D) Fabricated, unreinforced (R)		: : :	1.1 1.8 1.8	2.3 3.5 -1
(6)	36x 4 36x 6	93 93	.12 .18	.42 .75	.375 .375	Fabricated, unreinforced "	8 <sup>-</sup> 8 8 8	1 1	4.0 8.0	10. 27.
н <sup>д</sup> б	thickness ( liameter of	of pad ( ? pad or	or saddle : saddle							

TABLE 1. SUMMARY OF DIMENSIONAL RATIOS & TEST DATA, FLEXIBILITY FACTORS OF NOZZLES

8

.

References (7) and (9) provide measurements of the local displacement of the cylindrical shell near the nozzle when moments were applied to the nozzle. With some extrapolation of these displacements to the edge of the nozzle, and assuming the nozzle itself has negligible displacements along its axis, these measurements can be converted to the rotation  $\theta$  by  $\theta = \delta/r$ , where  $\delta$  = measured shell displacement at the edge of the nozzle and r = radius of the nozzle.

The load applied, in Reference (7), (8), and (9) tests, was a pure moment. In the other references, the load applied was a force, however, the point of load application was sufficiently remote from the nozzle-shell juncture so that the forces at the juncture were negligible compared to the moments at the juncture.

The last two columns of Table 1 summarize the available test data on flexibility or nozzles in cylinders in the form of flexibility factors.

#### THEORY

An adequate theory for nozzles in cylinders with bending loads applied to the nozzle is not available at this time. Dr. A. C. Eringen's analysis is understood to be complete, however, the theory must be programmed for a digital computer to obtain numerical results and this programming is not completed.

In view of the similar results obtained for nozzles in spheres as compared to nozzles in cylinders for internal pressure loading (see Phase Report No. 5), some guidance may be obtained from the theory for nozzles in spheres with moment loading. Also, Bijlaard's<sup>(2)</sup> theory for a distributed load on a cylinder may provide guidance. Figure 2 shows Bijlaard's loadings on the surface of a cylinder and the analogous moment loading of a nozzle in a cylinder. To the extent that the nozzle stiffness replaces the stiffness of the cut-out, Bijlaard's theory might reasonably predict the flexibility on the nozzle.







Out-of Plane Bending





#### **Bijlaard's Assumptions**

In-Plane Bending

FIGURE 2. COMPARISON OF BIJLAARD'S ASSUMPTIONS WITH ACTUAL GEOMETRY OF NOZZLES IN CYLINDRICAL SHELLS WITH MOMENT LOADING

#### COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH BIJLAARD'S THEORY

Test data for uniform-wall<sup>\*</sup> test models is plotted in Figures 3 and 4. The test data is in qualitative agreement with Bijlaard's theory in that:

1. The flexibility factor increases as D/T increases,

- 2. The flexibility factors are larger for out-of-plane bending than for in-plane bending,
- 3. There appears to be a maximum in the value of k/(t/T) as a function of d/D; at d/D in the general range of 0.2 to 0.5, depending upon D/T and the bending plane.

In a quantitative sense, Bijlaard's theory consistently overpredicts the actual flexibility factors as compared to available test data.

<sup>\*</sup> The term "unreinforced" is used here as referring to test models which consisted of a uniform-wall nozzle welded into a uniform-wall cylinder without local reinforcing other than that provided by the fillet welds. This includes the "drawn-outlet" models of Table 1.

	13	Т	est Data	
		Symbol	D/T	Ref. No.
Biilaard Theory		0	93	9
bijiaald incoly			78	7
		Δ	76	4
		X	31	6
		+	19	8
			15	6



COMPARISON OF BIJLAARD THEORY AND TEST DATA, FLEXIBILITY FACTORS FOR <u>IN-PLANE</u> BENDING FIGURE 3.



FIGURE 4. COMPARISON OF BIJLAARD THEORY AND TEST DATA, FLEXIBILITY FACTORS FOR <u>OUT-OF-PLANE</u> BENDING

#### EMPIRICAL EQUATION

While the available test data represents a rather motley array of sizes, dimensions, and types of reinforcing, in conjunction with Bijlaard's analysis certain consistent trends in the data for small d/D appear. Bijlaard's theory indicates that, for small d/D, k/(t/T) is roughly proportional to  $(D/T)^{3/2}$  and is also roughly proportional to d/D. A simple equation that fits the data for uniform-wall test models is:

$$k = C (D/T)^{3/2} (t/T)(d/D)$$
 (2)

C = 0.09 for in-plane bending

C = 0.27 for out-of-plane bending

The test models with saddle or pad reinforcing can be included in Equation (2) if the run thickness T in the  $(D/T)^{3/2}$  term is replaced by an equivalent thickness,  $T_e$ .  $T_e$  is defined as:

$$T_e = T + \frac{A}{d}$$
 for in-plane bending, in.  
 $T_e = T + \frac{A}{2d}$  for out-of-plane bending, in.

A = cross sectional area of reinforcing (in the plane containing the nozzle and cylinder axes) provided by the pad or saddle, in<sup>2</sup>.

The empirical Equation (2) is compared with the test data of Table 1(for all models with d/D less than 0.5), in Figures 5 and 6. As



FIGURE 5. COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH EQUATION (2), FLEXIBILITY FACTORS FOR <u>IN-PLANE</u> BENDING



FIGURE 6. COMPARISON OF TEST DATA WITH EQUATION (2), FLEXIBILITY FACTORS FOR <u>OUT-OF-PLANE</u> BENDING

can be seen in these Figures, Equation (2) is a fairly good average of the test data and, considering the variety of test data involved, the scatter is fairly small.

Equation (2) is compared with Bijlaard's theory for distributed loads on a cylinder in figures 7 and 8. As necessary to conform with the test data, Equation (2) gives lower values than Bijlaard's theory but otherwise has the same trends for small d/D as exhibited by the theory.

Equation (2) is compared with flexibility factors for nozzles in spheres in Figures 9 through 12. The dashed lines in Figures 9 through 12 are from Phase Report No. 3, "Flexibility of Nozzles in Spherical Shells". For most of the dimensional parameters covered in Figures 9 through 12, the flexibility of a nozzle in a sphere is bracketed by flexibility factors for in-plane and out-of-plane bending of a nozzle in a cylinder; i.e., the flexibility of a nozzle in a cylinder with <u>in-plane</u> bending is <u>lower</u> than for a nozzle in a sphere while the flexibility of a nozzle in a cylinder with <u>out-of-plane</u> is <u>higher</u> than for a nozzle in a sphere.





FIGURE 7. COMPARISON OF <u>IN-PLANE</u> FLEXIBILITY FACTORS; EQUATION (2) WITH BIJLAARD THEORY FOR DISTRIBUTED LOAD ON A CYLINDER



FIGURE 8. COMPARISON OF <u>OUT-OF-PLANE</u> FLEXIBILITY FACTORS; EQUATION (2) WITH BIJLAARD THEORY FOR DISTRIBUTED LOAD ON A CYLINDER



Empirical Equation:  $k = c \left(\frac{D}{T}\right)^{3/2} \left(\frac{t}{T}\right) \left(\frac{d}{D}\right)^{2/3}$ (for d/D < 1/3)



FIGURE 9. COMPARISON OF FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, EQUATION (2) WITH THEORY FOR A NOZZLE IN A SPHERE, D/T = 10.







FIGURE 10. COMPARISON OF FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, EQUATION (2) WITH THEORY FOR A NOZZLE IN A SPHERE, D/T = 25.



Empirical Equation:  $k = c \left(\frac{D}{T}\right)^{3/2} \left(\frac{t}{T}\right) \left(\frac{d}{D}\right)$ (for d/D < 1/3)



FIGURE 11. COMPARISON OF FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, EQUATION (2) WITH THEORY FOR A NOZZLE IN A SPHERE, D/T = 50.



FIGURE 12. COMPARISON OF FLEXIBILITY FACTORS, EQUATION (2) WITH THEORY FOR A NOZZLE IN A SPHERE, D/T = 100.

t/T

.1

.5

1.0

3.

.05

.01

#### SIGNIFICANCE OF FLEXIBILITY OF NOZZLES

Phase Report No. 3, "Flexibility of Nozzles in Spherical Shells" shows that in "tight" piping systems, the moment on a nozzle may be overestimated by a factor of six or more if the flexibility of the nozzle is ignored. Table 2 shows calculated results\* for a "tight" piping system involving out-of-plane bending of a nozzle. For these systems, the moment at the nozzle could be over-estimated by a factor of 12 if the nozzle flexibility factor is ignored. These examples are, of course, for extremely tight systems and illustrate, more-or-less, the maximum errors introduced by ignoring the nozzle flexibility.

(10) Stevens, Groth, and Bell illustrate the affect of nozzle flexibility for two sample piping systems. The two examples given involve flexibility of nozzles in heads and in cylinders. The flexibility for a nozzle in a head used in the examples is based on Bijlaard's theory; which is the same as given in Phase Report No. 3. Flexibility of a nozzle in cylinders is also based on Bijlaard's theory; for the particular parameters and bending plane involved in the examples, Bijlaard's theory and Equation (2) are in fairly close agreement. With respect to moments at the nozzles, the results are:

Example 1	Example 2
$(M_n)_o/(M_n)_k$	$(M_n)_o/(M_n)_k$
4.35	29.1
1.44	

### Nozzle in cylinder Nozzle in head

<sup>\*</sup> Calculations are based on a k-factor of 11.8 taken directly from test data. By Equation (2), k = 10.7.

# where $(M_n)_0$ = calculated moment at nozzle with nozzle <u>flexibility</u> factor <u>ignored</u>.

## $\binom{M}{n}_{k} =$ calculated moment at nozzle with nozzle <u>flexibility</u> factor <u>included</u>.

Example 1 represents a comparatively "loose" piping system, while Example 2 represents a "tight" piping system. For Example 2, the actual moment of the nozzle would theoretically be over-estimated, ignoring the flexibility of the nozzle, by a factor of 29. It might be noted that the examples given by Stevens, et al, involved thin wall vessels ( $D/T \sim 215$ ) and fairly large nozzles ( $d/D \sim .25$ ). The flexibility factor for the nozzle is around 175. The pipe was 36 inches 0.D.; therefore, the equivalent length of pipe (lumped at the nozzle) was about 520 ft. The total length of the pipe in the piping system was about 31 ft, hence the pronounced effect of the nozzle flexibility.

L <sub>x</sub> , in.	L <sub>y</sub> , in.	$\frac{(\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{x}})_{\mathbf{o}}}{(\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{x}})_{\mathbf{k}}}$	$\frac{(F_y)_o}{(F_y)_k}$	$\frac{(M_a)_o}{(M_a)_k}$	$\frac{(M_n)_o}{(M_n)_k}$
120	24	1.06	1.54	1.02	3.50
96	24	1.07	1.60	1.03	4.08
72	24	1.09	1.68	1.04	5.07
48	24	1.12	1.85	1.06	6.97
24	24	1.24	2.45	1.15	12.4
24	48	1.39	3.25	1.32	11.8
24	72	1.45	3.77	1.40	11.6
24	96	1.47	4.17	1.44	11.4
24	120	1.47	4.50	1.45	11.3

TABLE 2. EFFECT OF THE FLEXIBILITY OF A NOZZLE ON THE CALCULATED END FORCES OF A PIPING SYSTEM

 $(F_x)_o = F_x$  calculated with flexibility of nozzle ignored

 $(F_x)_k = F_x$  calculated with flexibility of nozzle included

Other force ratios are analogous to  $(F_x)_0/(F_x)_k$ 



16" pipe is assumed to be anchored sufficiently close to the 6" branch so that torsional displacements of the 16" run pipe are negligible.
## REFERENCES

- (1) Bijlaard, P. P., "Stresses in a Spherical Vessel from Radial Loads Acting on a Pipe"; "Stresses in a Spherical Vessel from External Moments Acting on a Pipe"; "Influence of a Reinforcing Pad in the Stresses in a Spherical Vessel Under Local Loading", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 49 (April, 1959).
- (2) Bijlaard, P. P., "Stresses from Local Loadings in Cylindrical Pressure Vessels", ASME Transactions (August, 1955).
- (3) Rodabaugh, E. C., "Cyclic Bending Tests of a Half-Scale Model of an 8" x 24" Saddle Reinforced Branch Connection", Tube Turns (Division of Chemetron) Report No. 8.011, Louisville, Kentucky (1953).
- (4) Jackson, L. R., et al. "Stresses in Unreinforced Branch Connections", Battelle Memorial Institute, Columbus, Ohio (September, 1953).
- (5) McClure, G. M., Sweeney, J. A. and Gross, H. J., "Investigation of Stresses in Pipeline Branch Connections", Battelle Memorial Institute, Columbus, Ohio (March, 1956).
- (6) Mills, E. J., Atterbury, T. J., and McClure, G. M., "Study of Effects of Cyclic Bending Loads on Performance of Branch Connections", Battelle Memorial Institute, Columbus, Ohio (May, 1962).
- (7) Cranch, E. T., "An Experimental Investigation of Stresses in the Neighborhood of Attachments to a Cylindrical Shell", Welding Research Council Bulletin No. 60 (May, 1960).
- (8) Pickett, A. G., et al, "Low Cycle Fatigue Testing of One-Half Scale Model Pressure Vessels", Progress Reports 9 through 12, Southwest Research Institute, San Antonio, Texas (July, 1964 through January, 1965).
- (9) Mehringer, F. J., and Cooper, W. E., "Experimental Determinations of Stresses in the Vicinity of Pipe Appendages to a Cylindrical Shell:, S.E.S.A. Proceedings, XIV, No. 2.
- (10) Stevens, P. G., Groth, V. J., and Bell, R. B., "Vessel Nozzles and Piping Flexibility Analysis", Trans. ASME, Series B, <u>84</u> (1962).